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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAEMENTS

Matters discussed in this report may constitutevémdlooking statements. The Private Securities LitigyatReform Act of 199
provides safe harbor protections for forwéwdking statements in order to encourage compéanigsovide prospective information about tl
business. Forwartboking statements include statements concernimgsplobjectives, goals, strategies, future eventpeoformance, ar
underlying assumptions and other statements, wdrielother than statements of historical facts.

TOP SHIPS INC. desires to take advantage of the lsafbor provisions of the Private Securities latign Reform Act of 1995 and
including this cautionary statement in connectidthuhis safe harbor legislation. This report amg ather written or oral statements mad:
us or on our behalf may include forwdabking statements, which reflect our current viewith respect to future events and finar
performance. When used in this report, the wordsicipate,” "believe,” "expect,” “intend," "estinegt "forecast,” "project,” "plan," "potentia
"may," "should," and similar expressions identifyvfard-looking statements.

The forwardlooking statements in this report are based upgiows assumptions, many of which are based, in, tupon furthe
assumptions, including without limitation, managetseexamination of historical operating trenddad=ontained in our records and other
available from third parties. Although we beliebat these assumptions were reasonable when maxejdeethese assumptions are inher
subject to significant uncertainties and contingemevhich are difficult or impossible to predictdaare beyond our control, we cannot as
you that we will achieve or accomplish these exqtéms, beliefs or projection

In addition to these assumptions and matters diecliglsewhere herein and in the documents incdgabiiay reference here
important factors that, in our view, could caustiakresults to differ materially from those dissed in the forwardeoking statements inclu
the strength of world economies and currencieseiggmarket conditions, including fluctuations imacterhire rates and vessel values, che
in demand in the shipping market, including theeefffof changes in OPEC's petroleum production ¢egatl worldwide oil consumption &
storage, changes in regulatory requirements affgatessel operating including requirements for dedtull tankers, changes in TOP SH
INC.'s operating expenses, including bunker prideg-docking and insurance costs, changes in governineés and regulations or actic
taken by regulatory authorities, changes in theepof our capital investments, potential liabilftpm pending or future litigation, gene
domestic and international political conditionsteuuial disruption of shipping routes due to acnigdepolitical events or acts by terrorists,
other important factors described from time to timéhe reports filed by us with the Securities &xhange Commission, or the SEC.




PART |
ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISE RS
Not Applicable.
ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not Applicable.
ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
Unless the context otherwise requires, as useligréport, the terms "Company,” "we," "uafid "our" refer to TOP SHIPS INC. &
all of its subsidiaries, and "TOP SHIPS INC."&ef only to TOP SHIPS INC. and not to its subsidmrWe use the term deadweight to

dwt, in describing the size of vessels. Dwt, exga@$n metric tons each of which is equivalent,@®Q kilograms, refers to the maximum we
of cargo and supplies that a vessel can carry.




A. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth the selected hist@iriconsolidated financial data and other operatiata of TOP SHIPS INC. and
predecessors for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2006, 2007 and 2008. The following informatshould be read in conjunction v
Iltem 5 "Operating and Financial Review and Prosgpeand the consolidated financial statements ateted notes included herein. 1
following selected historical consolidated finanaata of TOP SHIPS INC. and its predecessorseérntdble are derived from our consolid:
financial statements and notes thereto which haemn lprepared in accordance with U.S. generallypdedeaccounting principles, or GA/
and have been audited for the years ended Decedibe&t004 and 2005 by Ernst & Young (Hellas) CextifiAuditors Accountants S.A,
Ernst and Young, and for the years ended Decenthe2d6, 2007 and 2008 by Deloitte, Hadjipavlouj&@ms & Cambanis S.A., or Deloit
both independent registered public accounting firms

Year Ended December 31

Dollars in thousands, except per share data andaye

daily results 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
INCOME STATEMENT DATA

Revenue! $93,82¢ $244,21! $310,04. $252,25! $257,38!
Voyage expense 16,89¢ 36,88¢ 55,35 59,41« 38,65¢
Charter hire expens - 7,20¢€ 96,30: 94,11¢ 53,68
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaselmdck

vessels - (837 (8,110 (15,610 (18,707
Other vessel operating expen 16,85¢ 47,31* 66,08: 67,91« 67,11
Dry-docking cost: 7,36 10,47¢ 39,33 25,09 10,03¢
General and administrative expenses 8,57¢ 23,81¢ 23,01¢ 24,824 31,47:
Foreign currency (gains) losses, 75 (68) 25E 17¢€ (85)
Gain on sale of vesse (2,889 (10,83)) (12,66 (2,967 (29,179
Depreciatior 13,10¢ 47,05¢ 35,26¢ 27,40¢ 32,66¢
Total operating expens 60,99¢ 161,02! 294,82¢ 281,37 195,65°
Operating income (los: 32,83 83,19( 15,21¢ (29,119 61,72:
Interest and finance cos (4,839 (19,430 (27,030 (19,519 (25,769
Gain / (loss) on financial instrumer (362) (747) (2,145 (3,709 (12,029
Interest incomu 481 1,774 3,022 3,24¢ 1,831
Other income (expense), r 80 134 (67) 16 (127)
Net income (loss $28,19: $64,92: $(11,00 $(49,07¢) $25,63¢
Earnings (loss) per share, basic and dil $6.5¢ $6.97 $(1.16€) $(4.09 $1.01
Weighted average common shares outstanding, 4,307,48. 9,308,92. 10,183,42 11,986,85 25,445,03
Weighted average common shares outstanding, di 4,307,48: 9,310,67! 10,183,422 11,986,85 25,445,03
Dividends declared per she $1.8( $2.6¢ $23.1% - -




Dollars in thousands, except per share data andaye

daily results 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
BALANCE SHEET DATA, at end of period

Current assets 141,05: $ 67,57« $ 72,79¢ 102,16: $ 57,08¢
Total assets 533,13t 970,38t 490,88! 776,91 698,37"
Current liabilities, including current portion afric-term

debt 42,81: 76,14: 45,41¢ 153,29( 386,93«
Total lon¢-term debt, including current portic 194,80¢ 564,10: 218,05: 438,88 342,47¢
Common Stocl 27¢ 28C 10¢€ 20t 28¢
Stockholders' equity 315,06: 359,14 161,19¢ 211,40t 292,05
FLEET DATA

Total number of vessels at end of pet 15.C 27.C 24.C 23.C 12.C
Average number of vesse

2 9.€ 21.1% 26.7 22.¢ 18.¢
Total voyage days for fleet (3) 3,21t 7,43¢€ 8,63¢ 7,032 6,09¢
Total time charter days for fleet 1,78C 5,56 6,22 4,72( 5,064
Total spot market days for fleet 1,43¢ 1,86¢ 2,411 2,31 1,03t
Total calendar days for fleet (4) 3,515 7,908 9,741 8,17¢ 6,87¢
Fleet utilization (5) 91.4% 94.1% 88.€% 86.(% 88.7%
AVERAGE DAILY RESULTS

Time charter equivalent (6) 23,92¢ % 27,88. $ 29,49¢ 27,42: % 35,86
Other vessel operating expenses 4,79¢ 5,98¢ 6,78( 8,301 9.76%
General and administrative expenses 2,43¢ 3,01z 2,361 3,03¢ 4,57¢

(1) General and administrative expenses include-manager fees and other general and administraxipenses. During 2004, 2005, 2C
2007 and 2008, we paid to the members of our senaragement and to our directors' aggregate corapensof approximately $4
million, $8.1 million, $4.2 million, $4.8 millionrad $5.6 million respectively

(2) Average number of vessels is the number of vesisatsonstituted our fleet for the relevant periaslmeasured by the sum of the nur
of days each vessel was a part of our fleet dutiegoeriod divided by the number of calendar daythat period

(3) Total voyage days for fleet are the total daysubesels were in our possession for the relevambg@et of off hire days associated v
major repairs, di-dockings or special or intermediate surve

(4) Calendar days are the total days the vessels weoeri possession for the relevant period includiffghire days associated with me
repairs, dr-dockings or special or intermediate surve

(5) Fleet utilization is the percentage of time that wessels were available for revenue generatinggeylays, and is determined by divic
voyage days by fleet calendar days for the relegaribd.




(6) Time charter equivalent rate, or TCE rate, is asueaof the average daily revenue performanceasael on a per voyage basis.
method of calculating TCE rate is consistent wittlustry standards and is determined by dividingt@harter equivalent revenues or 1
revenues by voyage days for the relevant time gefleCE revenues are revenues minus voyage expeviegage expenses primal
consist of port, canal and fuel costs that are umitp a particular voyage, which would otherwisepbe by the charterer under a t
charter contract, as well as commissions. TCE neegrand TCE rate ndBAAP measures, provide additional meaningful infation ir
conjunction with shipping revenues, the most diyecomparable GAAP measure, because it assists Goylgppmanagement in mak
decisions regarding the deployment and use ofi$sels and in evaluating their financial perfornea

(7) Daily other vessel operating expenses, which ireduttew costs, provisions, deck and engine sthiescating oil, insurance, maintenau
and repairs is calculated by dividing other vesgparating expenses by fleet calendar days foreleant time perioc

(8) Daily general and administrative expenses are Gkl by dividing general and administrative exgsnby fleet calendar days for
relevant time perioc




The following table reflects reconciliation of TQEvenues to revenues as reflected in the consetidstiatements of operations
Uculation of the TCE rate (all amounts are exgedsin thousands of U.S. dollars, except for AverBgily Time Charter Equivalent amou
1d Total Voyage Days

2004 200¢ 200¢ 2007 200¢
On a consolidated bas
Revenue! $93,82¢ $244,21! $310,04. $252,25! $257,38I
Less:
Voyage expenses (16,89¢) (36,889 (55,35)) (59,419 (38,65¢)
Time charter equivalent revent $76,93: $207,32! $254,69. $192,84! $218,72
Total voyage day 3,21¢ 7,43¢ 8,63« 7,032 6,09¢
Average Daily Time Charter Equivalent $23,92! $27,88: $29,49¢ $27,42: $35,86.
2004 200¢ 200¢ 2007 200¢
Tanker Fleet
Revenue! $93,82¢ $244,21! $310,04: $248,94. $163,99!
Less:
Voyage expense (16,899 (36,889 (55,35)) (59,259 (34,215
Time charter equivalent revent $76,93: $207,32! $254,69. $189,69: $129,78!
Total voyage day 3,21t 7,43¢€ 8,63¢ 6,991 4,351
Average Daily Time Charter Equivalent $23,92¢ $27,88: $29,49¢ $27,13: $29,78t
2007 200¢
Drybulk Fleet
Revenue! $1,90: $71,59(
Less:
Voyage expense (167) (4,447
Time charter equivalent revent $1,74: $67,14¢
Total voyage day 41 1,742
Average Daily Time Charter Equivalent $42,46! $38,54°
B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not Applicable.
C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Prosgs

Not Applicable.




D. Risk Factors

The following risks relate principally to the indties in which we operate and our business in ggnény of the risk factors cou
materially and adversely affect our business, fongrcondition or operating results and the tradinige of our common stock.

Risks Related to Our Industries

The international tanker and drybulk industries arboth cyclical and volatile and this may lead todugctions and volatility in ou
charter rates when we re-charter our vessels, vegakies and our results of operations

The international tanker and drybulk industriesaich we operate are cyclical with attendant vétgtin charter hire rates, ves
values and industry profitability. For both tankersd drybulk vessels, the degree of charter ralatility among different types of vessels
varied widely. If we enter into a charter when ¢barates are low, our revenues and earnings wildversely affected. In addition, a declir
charter hire rates likely will cause the value of @essels to decline. Our current fleet deploynuamisists mainly of long term time char
and long term bareboat charters which limits sigaiftly our exposure to charter rate volatility arsdeffect on our result of operations. We
nonetheless exposed to changes in spot rates éoofosur drybulk vessels that do not have long teharter coverage. Additionally, change
spot rates in the tanker sector and the drybulkosean affect the value of respective vesselsgitgiven time despite the existence of |
term employment contracts. Our ability toalearter our vessels on the expiration or termimatibtheir current time and bareboat charters
the charter rates payable under any renewal oacepient charters will depend upon, among othegshiaconomic conditions in the tanker
drybulk market.

The factors affecting the supply and demand forvassels are outside our control and are unprddiéctdhe nature, timing, directi
and degree of changes in tanker and drybulk indusinditions are also unpredictable. Factors thiéiiénce demand for tanker and dryt
vessel capacity include:

. demand for refined petroleum products and crudéoitankers and drybulk commodities for drybullssels;

. changes in crude oil production and refining cayaas well as drybulk commodity production and t&sg shifts in trad
flows for crude oil, petroleum product and drybatkmmodities

. the location of regional and global crude oil refopfacilities and drybulk commodities markets th#ect the distance refin
petroleum products and crude oil or drybulk comrtiediare to be moved by s¢

. global and regional economic and political condisig

. the location of regional and global crude oil refanfacilities and drybulk commodities markets thffect the distance refin
petroleum products and crude oil or drybulk comrtiediare to be moved by s¢

. environmental and other regulatory developme




. currency exchange rates; e
. weather,

The factors that influence the supply of oceangeiegsel capacity include:

. the number of newbuilding deliverie

. the scrapping rate of older vess:

. the price of stee

. vessel casualtie

. potential conversion of vessels to alternative

. changes in environmental and other regulationsrttast limit the useful lives of vesse
. port or canal congestio

. the number of vessels that are out of servicegiaten time; anc

. changes in global crude oil and drybulk commodityduction.

The international tanker and drybulk shipping indtises have experienced drastic downturns after esipecing historically higr
charter rates and vessel values in the recent pasil a continued downturn in these markets may hareadverse effect on our earning
impair the carrying value of our vessels and affesmpliance with our loan covenants.

The Baltic Drybulk Index, or BDI, a U.S. dollar Haiaverage of charter rates issued by the LondosedaBaltic Exchange (
organization providing maritime market informatifor the trading and settlement of physical andwdgive contracts) that takes into accc
input from brokers around the world regarding fretsi for various routes, dry cargoes and varioubulkyvessel sizes, declined from a hig
11,793 in May 2008 to a low of 663 in December 2008ich represents a decline of 94%. The BDI fekrn70% during the month of Octol
alone. The decline in charter rates is due to wariactors, including the lack of trade financitg purchases of commodities carried by
which has resulted in a significant decline in caspipments, and the excess supply of iron orehima which has resulted in falling iron
prices and increased stockpiles in Chinese pohs.decline in charter rates in the drybulk marked affects the value of our drybulk vess
which follows the trends of drybulk charter rataad earnings on our charters, and similarly, affectr cash flows, liquidity and compliai
with the covenants contained in our loan agreemdiis BDI has since risen to 4,026 as of June Q@92However, there can be no assur
that the drybulk charter market will continue tqerence recovery over the next several monthstlemanarket could decline from its curr
level.




The Baltic Dirty Tanker Index, a U.S. dollar dadyerage of charter rates issued by the London bBa#iit Exchange that takes il
account input from brokers around the world regagdirude oil fixtures for various routes variousker vessel sizes, declined from a hig
2,347 in July 2008 to a low of 453 in mipril 2009, which represents a decline of 80%. Badtic Clean Tanker Index has fallen over 1,
points, or 77%, since the early summer of 2008. déxdine in charter rates is due to various factoxduding the significant fall in demand
crude oil and petroleum products, the consequairigiinventories of crude oil and petroleum produict the United States and in ot
industrialized nations and the corresponding redndh oil refining, the dramatic fall in the pricé oil in 2008, and the restrictions on crude
production that the Organization of Petroleum EXpgrCountries (OPEC) and other n@REC oil producing countries have imposed i
effort to stabilize the price of oil.

If the current low charter rates in the tanker dngbulk market continue through a significant pdriour earnings may be adver
affected and we may have to record impairment &djeists to the carrying values of our fleet, andmay not be able to maintain complia
with the financial covenants in our loan agreemesn though we have received waivers for certagathes as discussed in "ltem-5
Operating and Financial Review And Prospects - TeahDisclosure of Contractual Obligationdeng term debt". In such a situation, un
our lenders were willing to provide modifications waivers of covenant compliance or modificatioosour covenants, in order to rem
viable, we would sell vessels in our fleet and&elsto raise additional capital in the equity m&sk®ur lenders' interests may be different 1
ours, and we may not be able to obtain our lengenshission or waivers when needed. This may louit ability to continue to conduct ¢
operations, finance our future operations, makaiia@tgpns or pursue business opportunities. A decln charter rates could have a mat
adverse effect on our business, financial condigiod results of operations.

Compliance with environmental laws or regulationsay adversely affect our operations.

The shipping industry in general and our businagss the operation of tankers and drybulk vesselpairticular, are affected by
variety of governmental regulations in the formnoimerous international conventions, national, séat local laws and international, natic
and local regulations in force in the jurisdictiomswhich such tankers and drybulk vessels opeesdeyell as in the country or countrie:
which such tankers and drybulk vessels are regidtdrhese regulations include:

. the United States Qil Pollution Act of 1990, or QR#hich imposes strict liability for the dischargéoil into the 20-mile
United States exclusive economic zone, the obbigato obtain certificates of financial responstyilfor vessels trading
United States waters and the requirement that neamgtructed tankers that trade in United Statdsnwde constructed w

double-hulls;

. the International Convention on Civil Liability f@il Pollution Damage of 1969, as amended in 2@the CLC, entere
into by many countries (other than the United Sfatelating to strict liability for pollution damagcaused by the discharge
oil;

. the International Maritime Organization, or IMO dtlUnited Nations agency for maritime safety and phevention c

pollution by ships), International Convention fdret Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as fified by the relate
Protocol of 1978 relating thereto, or the MARPOLNEention, which has been updated through variousnaments, wit
respect to strict technical and operational reeuénets for tankers

. the IMO International Convention for the Safetyldfe at Sea, or SOLAS Convention, with respect tewcand passenc
safety;




. the International Convention on Load Lines, 1966| b Convention, with respect to the safeguardiridife and propert
through limitations on load capability for vessetsinternational voyages; a

. the United States Marine Transportation Security &@2002, or MTSA

More stringent maritime safety rules have been megan Europe as a result of the oil spill off twast of France in November 2(
relating to the loss of the M/T Prestige, a 26-yelat singlehull tanker owned by a company not affiliated with. Additional laws ar
regulations may also be adopted that could limit ahility to do business or increase the cost af adring business and that could ha
material adverse effect on our operations. In #@wditwe are required by various governmental anasggovernmental agencies to obi
certain permits, licenses, certificates and finahassurances with respect to our vessel operatinrtee event of war or national emerge
our tankers and drybulk vessels may be subjectdaisition by the government of the flag flown Ime tanker or drybulk vessel without
guarantee of compensation for lost profits. We dweliour vessels are maintained in good conditionoimpliance with present regulat
requirements, are operated in compliance with apple safety/environmental laws and regulationsardnsured against usual risks for ¢
amounts as our management deems appropriate. @selseoperating certificates and licenses arewetsi@eriodically during each vess
required annual survey. However, government reguiadf tankers and drybulk vessels, particulariythie areas of safety and environme
impact, may change in the future and require tisdor significant capital expenditures on our shipg&eep them in compliance.

Under local, national and foreign laws, as welirasrnational treaties and conventions, we coutdiimmaterial liabilities, includir
cleanup obligations, natural resource damagestardifarty claims for personal injury or property dansga the event that there is a rele
of petroleum or other hazardous substances fronvessels or otherwise in connection with our cur@nhistoric operations. We could &
incur substantial penalties, fines and other @vitriminal sanctions, including in certain instaaseizure or detention of our vessels, as a
of violations of or liabilities under environmentalvs, regulations and other requirements.

For example, OPA affects all vessel owners shipmithdo, from or within the United States. OPA ali® for potentially unlimite
liability for owners, operators and bareboat charte of vessels without regard to fault for oillptbn in United States waters. Similarly,
CLC, which has been adopted by most countries aeitsf the United States, imposes liability for pdllution in international waters. Of
expressly permits individual states to impose thain liability regimes with regard to hazardous emnitls and oil pollution incidents occurr
within their boundaries. Coastal states in the &thiBtates have enacted pollution prevention lighéihd response laws, many providing
unlimited liability.

Future accidents may be expected in the shippidgsiny, and such accidents or other events mayecéed to result in the adopt
of even stricter laws and regulations, which cdirdt our operations or our ability to do businemsd which could have a material adv:
effect on our business and financial results.




Because the market value of our vessels may fluttusignificantly, we may incur losses when we salssels or we may be requi
to write down their carrying value, which will adveely affect our earnings.

Current market conditions have caused a decrea®ifair market value of our vessels. The fair kpaivalue of our vessels
increase and decrease depending on the followntgra

. general economic and market conditions affectimginternational tanker and drybulk shipping indiest
. prevailing level of charter rate

. competition from other shipping compani

. types, sizes and ages of vess

. other modes of transportatic

. cost of newbuildings

. price of steel

. governmental or other regulations; ¢

. technological advance

If we sell vessels at a time when vessel priceg lfiaen and before an impairment is identified slale may be at less than the ves
carrying amount in our financial statements, ora$sel prices have fallen below the carrying amauiour financial statements, in which ¢
we evaluate the asset for a potential impairmewnt may be required to write down the carrying amoointhe vessels on our financ
statements and incur a loss and a reduction inregnif the estimate of undiscounted cash flowsjugling interest charges, expected ti
generated by the use of the asset is less thaaritging amount.

An increase in the supply of vessel capacity withamn increase in demand for vessel capacity woukglly cause charter rates al
vessel values to decline, which could have a mafeaidverse effect on our revenues and profitability

The supply of vessels generally increases withvdeis of new vessels and decreases with the sorapp older vessels, convers
of vessels to other uses, such as floating proolucind storage facilities, and loss of tonnage assalt of casualties. Currently thert
significant new building activity with respect tartwally all sizes and classes of vessels. If tmant of tonnage delivered exceeds the nu
of vessels being scrapped, vessel capacity witeese. If the supply of vessel capacity increaast®f than the demand for vessel capacit
charter rates paid for our vessels as well as #heevof our vessels could materially decline. Sadakecline in charter rates and vessel vi
would likely have a material adverse effect on mwenues and profitability.
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Our operating results from our tankers are subjeotseasonal fluctuations, which may adversely affear operating results.

Eight of the vessels in our combined fleet are ¢amkWe operate our tankers in markets that hasteridally exhibited seasor
variations in demand and, therefore, charter rdtks seasonality may result in quartergiaarter volatility in our operating results. Thakal
sector is typically stronger in the fall and winteonths in anticipation of increased consumptiomib&nd petroleum products in the nortr
hemisphere during the winter months. As a resuilt,revenues from our tankers may be weaker duhediscal quarters ended June 30
September 30, and, conversely, revenues may hegstrin fiscal quarters ended December 31 and MaitciThis seasonality could materi
affect our results from operations.

Disruptions in world financial markets and the re#ing governmental action in the United States ai other parts of the worl
could have a material adverse impact on our resufsoperations, financial condition and cash flowand could cause the market price
shares of our common stock to declir

Over the last year, global financial markets haxgeeienced extraordinary disruption and volatifitflowing adverse changes in-
global credit markets. The credit markets in thététhStates have experienced significant contractieleveraging and reduced liquidity,
governments around the world have taken significassures in response to such events, includingrthetment of the Emergency Econc
Stabilization Act of 2008 in the United States, amaly implement other significant responses in theré.

Securities and futures markets and the credit msre subject to comprehensive statutes, regofataod other requirements. -
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the, ®f@r regulators, sefegulatory organizations and exchanges have enaeteglorar
emergency regulations and may take other extraargliactions in the event of market emergenciesnaay effect permanent changes in lay
interpretations of existing laws. Recently, a numdsiefinancial institutions have experienced sesidimancial difficulties and, in some cas
have entered into bankruptcy proceedings or amegulatory enforcement actions. These difficultiesre resulted, in part, from declin
markets for assets held by such institutions, palerly the reduction in the value of their mortgand assdtacked securities portfolios. Thi
difficulties have been compounded by a generaligkedh the willingness by banks and other finangiatitutions to extend credit. In additi
these difficulties may adversely affect the finahdnstitutions that provide our credit facilitiesd may impair their ability to continue
perform under their financing obligations to us,iethcould have an impact on our ability to fundremt and future obligations, including
ability to take delivery of our newbuildings.

We face risks attendant to changes in economia@mvients, changes in interest rates and installisecurities markets around
world, among other factors. Major market disrupsi@md the current adverse changes in market conglitind regulatory climate in the Uni
States and worldwide may adversely affect our lassiror impair our ability to borrow amounts under credit facilities or any future financ
arrangements. We cannot predict how long the ctumesrket conditions will last. However, these rdcand developing economic &
governmental factors may have a material advefsetedn our results of operations, financial coiaditor cash flows and could cause the
of shares of our common stock to decline signifilyaor impair our ability to make distributions tar shareholders.
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Compliance with safety and other vessel requirengeimposed by classification societies may be vesstlg and may adversely affe
our business.

The hull and machinery of every commercial vessedtbe classed by a classification society autkdrizy its country of registry. T
classification society certifies that a vessel agesand seaworthy in accordance with the applicalllies and regulations of the country
registry of the vessel and the Safety of Life & SE@nvention. Our vessels are currently enrollat thie American Bureau of Shipping, Lloy
Register of Shipping, Det Norske Veritas and Bur¥auitas each of which is a member of the Inteoral Association of Classificati
Societies.

A vessel must undergo annual surveys, intermediateeys and special surveys. In lieu of a specialey, a vessel's machinery n
be placed on a continuous survey cycle, under wthiermachinery would be surveyed periodically cwdiveyear period. Our vessels are
special survey cycles for hull inspection and cmmius survey cycles for machinery inspection. Ewessel is also required to be dry doc
every two to three years for inspection of the um@¢er parts of such vessel.

If a vessel does not maintain its class and/os faily annual survey, intermediate survey or spsaialey, the vessel will be unable
trade between ports and will be unemployable, whithnegatively impact our revenues and resultsrfroperations.

Our earnings may be adversely affected if we do stcessfully employ our vessels.

Given current market conditions, we seek to deploy vessels on time and bareboat charters in a enahat will help us achieve
steady flow of earnings. As of the date of thisomtpthree of our tanker vessels and four of oybdlk vessels were contractually committe
time charters, and five of our tanker vessels amel af our drybulk vessels were contractually cortedito bareboat charters. Although tt
period charters provide relatively steady stream®weenue as well as a portion of the revenues rgéee by the charterer's deployment of
vessels in the spot market or otherwise, our vessahmitted to period charters may not be availtiespot voyages during an upturn in
tanker or drybulk industry cycle, as the case maywhen spot voyages might be more profitable. §pw market is highly competitive, &
spot market charter rates may fluctuate dramagidesed on the supply and demand for the major amfitras carried internationally by wa
as well as other factors. As of the date of thjgort, we did not have any vessels that wererigati the spot market. If we cannot continu
employ our vessels on profitable time chartergade them in the spot markafitably, our results of operations and operatagh flow ma
suffer if rates achieved are not sufficient to coespective vessel operating and financial expense

World events could adversely affect our resultsopierations and financial condition.

Terrorist attacks such as the attacks on the UrStates on September 11, 2001, the bombings imSpaiMarch 11, 2004 and
London on July 7, 2005 and the continuing respaigbe United States to these attacks, as welhaghreat of future terrorist attacks in
United States or elsewhere, continue to cause taiesr in the world financial markets and may affecr business, operating results
financial condition. The continuing conflict in tfanay lead to additional acts of terrorism and arroenflict around the world, which m
contribute to further economic instability in thielgal financial markets. These uncertainties caldd adversely affect our ability to obtain
additional financing or, if we are able to obtatfdaional financing, to do so on terms favorableuto In the past, political conflicts have ¢
resulted in attacks on vessels, mining of waterwaayd other efforts to disrupt international shigpiparticularly in the Arabian Gulf regic
Acts of terrorism and piracy have also affectedsetstrading in regions such as the South China Agaof these occurrences could ha
material adverse impact on our business, finaroatlition and results of operations.
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Acts of piracy on oceangoing vessels have receinityeased in frequency, which could adversely affear business.

Acts of piracy have historically affected oceangpuessels trading in regions of the world suchhas3outh China Sea and the Gu
Aden off the coast of Somalia. Throughout 2008 2009, the frequency of piracy incidents against memcial shipping vessels increa
significantly, particularly in the Gulf of Aden. Fexample, in November 2008 the M/T Sirius Staigreker not affiliated with us, was captu
by pirates in the Indian Ocean while carrying crodesstimated to be worth $100.0 million. Since theginning of 2009, numerous tanker
drybulk vessels have fallen victim to piracy atseKf the coast of Somalia. For example, in Felyr2009, the M/V Saldanha, a dryb
vessel not affiliated with us, was seized by psathile transporting coal through the Gulf of Aden.

If these piracy attacks result in regions in whatlr vessels are deployed being characterized hyédrs as "war risk" zones, as
Gulf of Aden temporarily was in May 2008, or Joilitar Committee (JWC) "war and strikes" listed argmemiums payable for such insura
coverage could increase significantly and suchrarste coverage may be more difficult to obtainvCcests, including those due to employ
onboard security guards, could increase in suadueistances. In addition, while we believe the @rartremains liable for charter paym
when a vessel is seized by pirates, the charteagrdispute this and withhold charter hire until Hessel is released. A charterer may also «
that a vessel seized by pirates was nothioe* for a certain number of days and it is therefentitled to cancel the charter party, a cldia
we would dispute. We may not be adequately instzezbver losses from these incidents, which coaldeha material adverse effect on u:
addition, detention hijacking as a result of an @fcpiracy against our vessels, or an increaseost, @r unavailability of insurance for «
vessels, could have a material adverse impact phuginess, financial condition, results of openagiand cash flows.

Changes in the economic and political environment China and policies adopted by the government ¢égulate its economy m
have a material adverse effect on our businessafinial condition and results of operations.

The Chinese economy differs from the economies o$tnezountries belonging to the Organization for itrnic Cooperation ai
Development, or OECD, in such respects as strucggmgernment involvement, level of development,vgfo rate, capital reinvestme
allocation of resources, rate of inflation and bak of payments position. Prior to 1978, the Chlénesonomy was a planned economy. £
1978, increasing emphasis has been placed onitizatiadn of market forces in the development of tBhinese economy. Annual and fiyea
plans, or State Plans, are adopted by the Chinegermgment in connection with the development of ¢élsenomy. Although statewnec
enterprises still account for a substantial portdrthe Chinese industrial output, in general, @enese government is reducing the leve
direct control that it exercises over the econohmpugh State Plans and other measures. Thereiig@asing level of freedom and autonc
in areas such as allocation of resources, producpacing and management and a gradual shift iphasis to a "market economy” :
enterprise reform. Limited price reforms were utaeen, with the result that prices for certain comdities are principally determined
market forces. Many of the reforms are unprecedkenteexperimental and may be subject to revisidrange or abolition based upon
outcome of such experiments. If the Chinese goventrdoes not continue to pursue a policy of econamfiorm the level of imports to a
exports from China could be adversely affected hgnges to these economic reforms by the Chinesergment, as well as by change
political, economic and social conditions or othelevant policies of the Chinese government, sscthanges in laws, regulations or export
import restrictions, all of which could, adverselffect our business, operating results and findrcaadition.
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A further economic slowdown in the Asia Pacific riegn could exacerbate the effect of recent slowdovinghe economies of tt
United States and the European Union and may haveaterial adverse effect on our business, financgandition and results of operations

We anticipate a significant number of the port £aflade mainly by our drybulk vessels will contineeinvolve the loading ¢
discharging of drybulk commodities in ports in theia Pacific region. As a result, negative changesconomic conditions in any Asia Pac
country, particularly in China, may exacerbatedffect of recent slowdowns in the economies ofilnéed States and the European Union
may have a material adverse effect on our busitfi@ss)cial position and results of operations, @il &s our future prospects. In recent ye
China has been one of the world's fastest grontog@mies in terms of gross domestic product, whigh had a significant impact on shipg
demand. Through the end of the fourth quarter @82@rowth in China's gross domestic product wag@pmately 4.2% lower than it w
during the same period in 2007, and it is likelgttlChina and other countries in the Asia Pacifgioe will continue to experience slowec
even negative economic growth in the near futurerddver, the current economic slowdown in the eodes of the United States,
European Union and other Asian countries may furdldersely affect economic growth in China anéwlsere. China has recently annour
a $586.0 billion stimulus package aimed in paihateasing investment and consumer spending andtaiging export growth in response
the recent slowdown in its economic growth. Ouribess, financial condition and, results of operasias well as our future prospects,
likely be materially and adversely affected by gtar economic downturn in any of these countries.

Increased inspection procedures and tighter impartd export controls could increase costs and didropr business.

International shipping is subject to various sdguand customs inspection and related procedurestintries of origin and destinati
Inspection procedures can result in the seizumnofents of our vessels, delays in the loadindoadfing or delivery and the levying of custc
duties, fines or other penalties against us. Ipdssible that changes to inspection proceduresdcoupose additional financial and le
obligations on us. Furthermore, changes to inspegrocedures could also impose additional cosdsoltigations on our customers and n
in certain cases, render the shipment of certgiegyof cargo uneconomical or impractical. Any sobhanges or developments may ha
material adverse effect on our business, finar@atlition, and results of operations.

Our vessels call on ports located in countries tlaae subject to restrictions imposed by the Unitétes government.

From time to time, our time charterers or barelbetrterers who make use of our vessels in our ftest call on ports located
countries subject to sanctions and embargoes indgmséhe United States government and countriestifikd by the United States governm
as state sponsors of terrorism. Although thesetigascand embargoes do not prevent our vessels rimaking calls to ports in these countr
potential investors could view such port calls niegdy, which could adversely affect our reputatamd the market for shares of our comi
stock. Investor perception of the value of shafeeus common stock may be adversely affected byctiresequences of war, the effect
terrorism, civil unrest and governmental actionshiese and surrounding countries.
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Risks Related to Our Company

We are in breach of certain financial covenants daimed in our loan agreements, have received nasifem certain of our lender
regarding these covenant breaches, and if we aré successful in obtaining waivers and amendmentshwiespect to covenants breach
our lenders may declare an event of default and elecate our outstanding indebtedness under the vallet agreement, which would impz
our ability to continue to conduct our business.

Our loan agreements require that we maintain icefitg@ancial and other covenants. The current loybdlk and tanker charter ra
and respective drybulk and tanker vessel valuee hffected our ability to comply with covenantsatiglg to vessel values such as asset «
ratio, adjusted net worth and net asset value @wsnA violation of these covenants constitutegwnt of default under our credit faciliti
which would, unless waived by our lenders, prowde lenders with the right to require us to poditidnal collateral, enhance our equity
liquidity, increase our interest payments, pay dawnindebtedness to a level where we are in canpd with our loan covenants, sell ves
in our fleet, reclassify our indebtedness as curliabilities and accelerate our indebtedness amdclose their liens on our vessels, w
would impair our ability to continue to conduct dursiness. Our total indebtedness of $342.5 milisopresented within current liabilities
our audited consolidated balance sheet for the greded December 31, 2008 included in this annyalrtes a result of croskefault provision
within our loan agreements. A crodsfault provision means that if we are in defatthwegards to a specific loan then we are autarabyiin
default of all our loans that contain such provisioFor this reason, we are not able to breakdawrdebt obligations into current and I
term, unless we are able to receive waivers foc@lenants breaches. The amount of long term tabthtas been reclassified from long t
debt and presented together with current liabdiienounts to $290.0 million.

Several of our lenders notified us that we arergabh of certain financial and other covenantgirgjao vessel values such as a
cover ratio, adjusted net worth and net asset vadwenants (as defined by each bank) containedriioan agreements. As of the date of
annual report, we have received certain waivershese covenant breaches from HSH Nordbank and Agrg until March 31, 2010.
addition, we are in the process of drafting amemdm® our agreements with DVB and Emporiki Bargareling covenant breaches and we
in negotiations with RBS with regards to covenamalches. For more details on breaches and waieeréltem 5 -Operating and Financ
Review And Prospects - Tabular Disclosure of Canttral Obligations — Long term debt".

During 2009, we expect to be in breach of covenggitding to the minimum liquidity and EBITDA asfded by each bank.

Breach of our loan covenants, without applicablévera may entitle our lenders to accelerate ourt.ddbour indebtedness
accelerated, it would be very difficult in the aemt financing environment for us to refinance oabtdor obtain additional financing and
could lose our vessels if our lenders foreclosér tiens. Further, as discussed below, our indepahdegistered public accounting firm
issued its opinion with an explanatory paragrapiplesizing that we have prepared our financial statés under the going conc
assumption despite our covenants breaches andngachkpital deficit.
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Our inability to comply with certain financial andther covenants under our loan agreements raisebstantial doubt about ot
ability to continue as a going concern.

As discussed above, we are in breach of certaaméial and other covenants contained in our loaeeagents as a result of the dec
in the drybulk and tanker charter markets and edlatecline in vessel values. We may be unable tet e financial and other covene
contained in our loan agreements for the foreseefalblire and our lenders may choose to acceletatendebtedness. Therefore, our abilit
continue as a going concern is dependent on mareg&snability to successfully generate revenue ¢éethour obligations as they become
and have the continued support of our lenders. ifdependent registered public accounting firm lszsied its opinion with an explanat
paragraph emphasizing that we have prepared oamdial statements under the going concern assumgéspite our covenants breaches
working capital deficit. Our financial statements ot include any adjustments to reflect the pdsditure effects on the recoverability
classification of assets or the amounts and claasibn of liabilities that may result from the oatne of our inability to continue as a gc
concern. However, there is a material uncertaiatgted to events or conditions which raises sigaift doubt on our ability to continue ¢
going concern and, therefore, we may be unabledtize our assets and discharge our liabilitiehénnormal course of business.

If we need to receive waivers and/or amendmentsoto loan agreements in the future, our lenders maypose additione
operating and financial restrictions on us and/oradify the terms of our existing loan agreements.

In addition to certain financial covenants relatiiogour financial position, operating performancel diquidity, in connection wit
future waivers or amendments that we may needelsmay impose additional restrictions on us. $een'5. Operating and Financial Rev
and Prospects — Liquidity and Capital ResourcBseach of Loan Covenants." Therefore, we may neeskék permission from our lender
order to engage in some corporate actions. Ourelshéhterests may be different from ours and wg mat be able to obtain our lend
permission when needed, which could prevent us fsarsuing a course of action that we deem neceskaagdition to the above restrictio
our lenders may require the payment of additiorasf require prepayment of a portion of our inddtmss to them, or impose other condit
on the issuance of waivers, which could adversictour financial results and hinder our abilityraise capital.

Servicing current and future debt will limit fundsvailable for other purposes and impair our ability react to changes in o
business.

To finance our fleet expansion program, we incursedured indebtedness. We must dedicate a porfimurocash flow fror
operations to pay the principal and interest onindebtedness. These payments limit funds otherensélable for working capital, capi
expenditures and other purposes. As of DecembeR@d8, we had total indebtedness of $346.9 milliexcluding unamortized defer
financing fees of $4.4 million), and a ratio of @&iledness to total capital of approximately 54%. Wik need to take on additior
indebtedness as we expand our fleet, which couwliet@se our debt to equity ratio. Our substantigdllef indebtedness increases the possi
that we may be unable to generate cash sufficiergaly, when due, the principal of, interest on treo amounts due in respect of,
indebtedness. Our substantial debt could also bther significant consequences. For example, ildcou

. increase our vulnerability to general economic diowmums and adverse competitive and industry conukti

. require us to dedicate a substantial portion, if @l of our cash flow from operations to paymeats our indebtedne:
thereby reducing the availability of our cash fleevfund working capital, capital expenditures arideo general corpore
purposes
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limit our flexibility in planning for, or reactingp, changes in our business and the industry ichwve operate

place us at a competitive disadvantage comparedrpetitors that have less debt or better accesaptital;

limit our ability to raise additional financing @atisfactory terms or at all; al

adversely impact our ability to comply with thedimcial and other restrictive covenants in the italengoverning the not

and the credit agreements governing the debts ofsobsidiaries, which could result in an event efadlt under suc
agreements

Furthermore, our interest expense could increag®éfest rates increase because some of the delet the credit facilities of o
subsidiaries is variable rate debt. If we do notehaufficient earnings, we may be required to aafice all or part of our existing debt,
assets, borrow more money or sell more securiti@se of which we can guarantee we will be ableato d

Our loan agreements contain restrictive covenarttatt may limit our liquidity and corporate activite

Our loan agreements impose operating and finanesttictions on us. These restrictions may limit ability to:

incur additional indebtednes

create liens on our asse

sell capital stock of our subsidiari

engage in mergers or acquisitio

pay dividends

make capital expenditures or other investme

change the management of our vessels or termimateaterially amend the management agreement rglatireach vessi
and

sell our vessels

Therefore, we may need to seek permission fromemdters in order to engage in some corporate actioar lenders' interests may
different from ours, and we cannot guarantee thatwill be able to obtain our lenders' permissiorewmeeded. This may prevent us f
taking actions that are in our best interest.

If we fail to manage our planned growth properly eamay not be able to successfully expand our mastere.

We intend to continue to grow our fleet. Our growdi depend on:

locating and acquiring suitable vess:

identifying and consummating acquisitions or joiahtures
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. integrating any acquired business successfully aithexisting operation:

. enhancing our customer ba
. managing expansion; al
. obtaining required financiny

Growing any business by acquisition presents nuogergsks such as undisclosed liabilities and okibge, difficulty in obtainin
additional qualified personnel, managing relatiopshwith customers and suppliers and integratinglyeacquired operations into existi
infrastructures. We cannot give any assuranceweawill be successful in executing our growth plamsthat we will not incur significa
additional expenses and losses in connection thigrew

If the recent volatility in LIBOR continues, it cold affect our profitability, earnings and cash flow

The London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, hasrdly been volatile, with the spread between LIB&HR the prime lending r:
widening significantly at times. These conditiome the result of the recent disruptions in therimagional credit markets. Because the intt
rates borne by our outstanding indebtedness fltetwéh changes in LIBOR, if this volatility were tontinue, it would affect the amount
interest payable on our debt, which in turn, cchdstle an adverse effect on our profitability, eagsiand cash flow.

Furthermore, interest in most loan agreements miralustry has been based on published LIBOR r&esently, however, lends
have insisted on provisions that entitle the leader their discretion, to replace published LIB@Rthe base for the interest calculation
their cost-offunds rate. If we are required to agree to suchogigion in future loan agreements, our lendingt€@suld increase significant
which would have an adverse effect on our profitighiearnings and cash flow.

Our ability to obtain additional debt financing maype dependent on the performance of our then exigticharters and th
creditworthiness of our charterers.

The actual or perceived credit quality of our caets, and any defaults by them, may materiallgcafbur ability to obtain tt
additional capital resources that we will requsgptirchase additional vessels or may significaimtyease our costs of obtaining such caj
Our inability to obtain additional financing at alt at a higher than anticipated cost may matgraffiect our results of operation and our ak
to implement our business strategy.

We may not be able to renew our time charters whiegy expire.

We might not be able to renew our existing timertgra or, if renewed, they might not be at favoeafaites. If, upon expiration of 1
existing time charters, we are unable to obtairetaharters or voyage charters at desirable rategrofitability may be adversely affected.
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In the highly competitive international tanker andrybulk shipping markets, we may not be able to qgate for charters with ne
entrants or established companies with greater neses.

We employ our vessels in a highly competitive matkat is capital intensive and highly fragment&te operation of tanker a
drybulk vessels and the transportation of cargbgsped in these vessels, as well as the shippitgsiny in general, is extremely competit
Competition arises primarily from other vessel owgnencluding major oil companies as well as indefmnt tanker and drybulk shipp
companies, some of whom have substantially greatssurces than we do. Competition for the transpiort of oil and refined petrolet
products and drybulk cargoes can be intense andndispon price, location, size, age, condition dred acceptability of the vessel and
operators to the charterers. Due in part to thalhiffagmented market, competitors with greatepueses could enter and operate larger f
through consolidations or acquisitions that mayblke to offer better prices and fleets than us.

We depend upon a few significant customers for agka part of our revenues. The loss of one or moffetltese customers cou
adversely affect our financial performance.

We have historically derived a significant partoofr revenue from a small number of charterers OBi72and 2008, approximately 3.
and 26%, respectively, of our revenue was deriveoh ftwo charterers. These two charterers, GlenantdePDVSA, respectively provided 2
and 10% of our revenues in 2007 and 17% and 9%iofavenues in 2008. The occurrence of any problegitisthese charterers may adver:
affect our revenues.

We may be unable to attract and retain key managatgersonnel and other employees in the internatrianker and drybull
shipping industries, which may negatively impaceteffectiveness of our management and our resufteperations.

Our success depends to a significant extent upsmlilities and efforts of our management team.HAlee entered into employm
contracts with our President, Chief Executive Gfficand Director, Evangelos Pistiolis, our Chigafidficial Officer and Director, Alexandi
Tsirikos, our Executive Vice President and Direciangelis Ikonomou and our Vice President Demedosiroullas. Our success will dep
upon our ability to hire and retain key membersoaf management team. The loss of any of theseithdils could adversely affect «
business prospects and financial condition. Difficin hiring and retaining personnel could advérsefect our results of operations. We
not intend to maintain "key man" life insuranceamy of our officers.

As we expand our business, we will need to improue operations and financial systems and staff;we cannot improve the:
systems or recruit suitable employees, our perfonoa may be adversely affecte

Our current operating and financial systems mayh®oadequate as we implement our plan to expanditieeof our fleet, and o
attempts to improve those systems may be ineffectiwe are unable to operate our financial anérafions systems effectively or to rec
suitable employees as we expand our fleet, ounpeence may be adversely affected.

Risks involved with operating oceangoing vesselsildoaffect our business and reputation, which woultversely affect ot
revenues and stock price.

The operation of an oceangoing vessel carries @mteisks. These risks include the possibility of:

. marine disaste!
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. piracy;

. environmental accident

. cargo and property losses or damage;

. mechanical failure, human error, war, terrorismlitipal action in various countries, labor strikes adverse weath
conditions.

Any of these circumstances or events could resutteiath or injury to persons, loss of revenuesropgrty, environmental dama
higher insurance rates, damage to our custometiothips, delay or rerouting, and could increase @psts or lower our revenues.
involvement of our vessels in an oil spill or otle@vironmental disaster may harm our reputatioa safe and reliable vessel operator. If or
our vessels were involved in an accident with tbéeptial risk of environmental contamination, tlesulting media coverage could hay
material adverse effect on our business, resultpefations, cash flows and financial condition.

Delays in deliveries of our vessels could harm ayerating results.

The delivery of our last newbuilding product tanleeuld be delayed, which would affect our resultsoperations and financ
condition .

We expend substantial sums during construction @&wbuildings without assurance that they will be cplated.

We are typically required to expend substantial sas progress payments during construction of duising, but we do not deri
any revenue from the vessel until after its deljver

If we are unable to obtain financing required tonptete payments on our newbuilding orders, we cafitdctively forfeit all or .
portion of the progress payments previously madeoffDecember 31, 2008, we had six newbuildingerder with deliveries scheduled dur
2009. As of December 31, 2008, progress paymende roavards these newbuildings totaled $152.0 millio

To fund the remaining portion of existing or futurepital expenditures, we will be required to uashcfrom operations or inc
borrowings or raise capital through the sale ofitamtthl equity securities. Our ability to obtainrdafinancing or to access the capital mar
for future offerings may be limited by our finankcieondition at the time of any such financing ofeoihg as well as by adverse mal
conditions resulting from, among other things, gaheconomic conditions and contingencies and uaigies that are beyond our control. -
failure to obtain the funds for necessary futurpited expenditures could have a material adverferebn our business, results of operat
and financial condition. Even if we are successfudbtaining necessary funds, incurring additiotheibt may significantly increase our inte
expense and financial leverage, which could limit financial flexibility and ability to pursue othbusiness opportunities.
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Due to market conditions, we may not take delivefyour newbuildings or may sell them at a loss

Since the highs reached during the summer of 20@8sel values in both the drybulk and tanker inmiksthave decline
significantly. Some, if not all, of our newbuildja have also declined in value from the price weetagreed to pay for such newbuildings
such vessel values remain depressed or declineefurtive may choose to terminate our contract wheh $hipyard, which may result
termination payments in addition to any forfeitmfepayments already made, or we may sell the nddibgs on the market at a loss, wr
might also include addtional payments. Eithemefse scenarios would affect our cash flow and &iigdrondition.

Rising fuel prices may adversely affect our profits

Fuel is a significant, if not the largest, opergtexpense for many of our shipping operations wh@nvessels are not under pe
charter. The price and supply of fuel is unpredilgtaand fluctuates based on events outside ouralpiricluding geopolitical developmer
supply and demand for oil and gas, actions by OBEC other oil and gas producers, war and unresil iproducing countries and regio
regional production patterns and environmental eamc As a result, an increase in the price of foay adversely affect our profitabili
Further, fuel may become much more expensive mréytwhich may reduce the profitability and comipeginess of our business versus ¢
forms of transportation, such as truck or rail.

Our vessels may suffer damage and we may face ueetqu drydocking costs, which could affect our caftw and financia
condition.

If our vessels suffer damage, they may need tepaired at a drydocking facility, resulting in velsdowntime. The costs of drydc
repairs are unpredictable and can be substantelmay have to pay drydocking costs that our inagaoes not cover. The inactivity of th
vessels while they are being repaired and repositipas well as the actual cost of these repaosg|diwdecrease our earnings. In addition, s
at drydocking facilities is sometimes limited anot @ll drydocking facilities are conveniently loedt We may be unable to find space
suitable drydocking facility or we may be forcedntmve to a drydocking facility that is not convertlg located to our vessels' positions.
loss of earnings while our vessels are forced tit foa space or to relocate to drydocking facilitithat are farther away from the route:
which our vessels trade would decrease our earnings

A drop in spot charter rates may provide an incergtifor some charterers to default on their charters

When we enter into a time or bareboat charter,tehaates under that charter are fixed for the tefrthe charter. If the spot chal
rates in the tanker or drybulk shipping industry applicable, become significantly lower than fiheetcharter equivalent rates that some o
charterers are obligated to pay us under our egistharters, the charterers may have incentiveefault under that charter or attemp
renegotiate the charter. If our charterers faipay their obligations, we would have to attempteaharter our vessels at lower charter ri
which would affect our ability to comply with oundn covenants and operate our vessels profitablye lare not able to comply with our I
covenants and our lenders choose to acceleraiadebtedness and foreclose their liens, we couleqeired to sell vessels in our fleet and
ability to continue to conduct our business wouddrpaired.
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The aging of our fleet may result in increased opéing costs in the future, which could adverselyfext our earnings.

In general, the cost of maintaining a vessel indgoperating condition increases with the age ofviigsel. Our current operating fl
has an average age of approximately nine yearsuAHeet ages, we will incur increased costs. Olassels are typically less fuel efficient
more costly to maintain than more recently conséuivessels due to improvements in engine techgologrgo insurance rates also incr
with the age of a vessel, making older vesselsdesgable to charterers. Governmental regulatimedyding environmental regulations, sa
or other equipment standards related to the ageesfels may require expenditures for alterationsh® addition of new equipment, to
vessels and may restrict the type of activitiesviich our vessels may engage. As our vessels agkemconditions might not justify thc
expenditures or enable us to operate our vessefisginly during the remainder of their useful lives

Purchasing and operating previously owned, or sedband, vessels may result in increased operatingtsand vessels offire,
which could adversely affect our earnings.

While we rigorously inspect previously owned, ocaedhand vessels prior to purchase, this does aronally provide us with tf
same knowledge about their condition and cost gfraquired (or anticipated) repairs that we woudgtdnhad if these vessels had been bui
and operated exclusively by us. Also, we do notikexthe benefit of warranties from the builderth# vessels we buy are older than one
In general, the costs to maintain a vessel in gmgmetating condition increase with the age of theseé As of the date of this report, six of
tanker vessels in our fleet were more than 10 yehege. Older vessels are typically less fuelcadfit and more costly to maintain than n
recently constructed vessels due to improvemen&ngine technology. Cargo insurance rates incredtbethe age of a vessel, making ol
vessels less desirable to charterers. Governmeggalations, safety or other equipment standartige to the age of vessels may rec
expenditures for alterations or the addition of neguipment to our vessels and may restrict the tfpactivities in which the vessels n
engage. As our vessels age, market conditions nmighjustify those expenditures or enable us toratpeour vessels profitably during
remainder of their useful lives. If we sell vessée price for which we sell them might be lowlean their carrying amount at that time wt
would result in a loss.

We may not have adequate insurance to compensatéws lose our vessels.

We procure insurance for our fleet against thogeayof risks commonly insured against by vesselevsvand operators. Tht
insurances include hull and machinery insuranceteption and indemnity insurance, which includesimmmental damage and pollut
insurance coverage, war risk insurance and insarageinst loss of hire, which covers businessrimp¢ions that result in the loss of use
vessel. While we currently have loss of hire inageathat covers, subject to annual coverage liraityf the vessels in our fleet, we may
purchase loss of hire insurance to cover newly iaedwessels. We can give no assurance that wadsguately insured against all risks.
may not be able to obtain adequate insurance cgeexrreasonable rates for our fleet in the futline insurers may not pay particular clai
Our insurance policies contain deductibles for Whiee will be responsible as well as, limitationsdaxclusions which may neverthel
increase our costs or lower our revenue.
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Maritime claimants could arrest our vessels, whicbuld interrupt our cash flow.

Crew members, suppliers of goods and servicesuwesael, shippers of cargo and other parties magntided to a maritime lie
against that vessel for unsatisfied debts, claimdamages. In many jurisdictions, a maritime liddeo may enforce its lien by arrestin
vessel through foreclosure proceedings. The aoreattachment of one or more of our vessels cautleriupt our cash flow and require u:
pay large sums of money to have the arrest liftedaddition, in some jurisdictions, such as Soufhic, under the "sister ship" theory
liability, a claimant may arrest both the vesselalilis subject to the claimant's maritime lien amy "associated" vessel, which is any v
owned or controlled by the same owner. Claimantdcctry to assert "sister ship" liability agaimste vessel in our fleet for claims relatin
another of our ships.

Governments could requisition our vessels duringeriod of war or emergency, resulting in loss ofraigs.

A government could requisition for title or seizer wessels. Requisition for title occurs when aegament takes control of a ves
and becomes her owner. Also, a government couldisigign our vessels for hire. Requisition for hirecurs when a government takes coi
of a vessel and effectively becomes her chartdréictated charter rates. Generally, requisitioosuo during a period of war or emerger
Government requisition of one or more of our vesseluld negatively impact our revenues should weeneive adequate compensation.

Certain existing stockholders, who hold approximbte36.97% of our common stock, may have the povweeexert control over u:
which may limit your ability to influence our actios.

As of June 24, 2009, Sovereign Holdings Inc., oveBeign Holdings, a company that is wholly owned day President, Chi
Executive Officer and Director, Evangelos J. Pl&jand Kingdom Holdings Inc., or Kingdom Holdingscompany owned primarily by ac
relatives of Mr. Pistiolis, own, directly or indiy, approximately 13.17% of the outstanding skafour common stock. In addition, Spf
Investment Corp., Maryport Navigation Corp. and I@eorge Economou own 13.99% of the outstandingeshaf our common stock. Q"
Financial LP, QVT Financial GP LLC and QVT AssoestGP LLC own 9.81% of the outstanding shares ofocaumnmon stock. Sphil
Investment Corp., Maryport Navigation Corp., QVhé&icial LP, QVT Financial GP LLC and QVT Associa@B LLC are entities owned &
controlled by unaffiliated third parties. Togethtitese existing shareholders own 36.97% of our comstock. While these shareholders |
no agreement, arrangement or understanding relttitige voting of their shares of common stock, ttuthe number of shares of our comt
stock they own, they have the power to exert camalole influence over our actions.

Our President, Chief Executive Officer, and DireactoMr. Evangelos Pistiolis, has affiliations with grivate shipping compar
which could create conflicts of interest.

The family of our President, Chief Executive Officand Director, Mr. Evangelos Pistiolis, owns &ate shipping company. Ti
relationship could create conflicts of interestiestn us, on the one hand, and this private shippingpany, on the other hand. These con
may arise in connection with the chartering, puseh@ale and operations of the vessels in ourersus tankers and drybulk vessels man
by this private shipping company. For example, Mistiolis may give preferential treatment to vesdhlat are beneficially owned by t
private shipping company because Mr. Pistiolis mr@inbers of his family may receive greater econdraitefits.

We may have to pay tax on United States source imepwhich would reduce our earnings.

Under the United States Internal Revenue Code 8618r the Code, 50% of the gross shipping incohe @essel owning
chartering corporation, such as ourselves and whbsigiaries, that is attributable to transportatioat begins or ends, but that does not k
and end, in the United States is characterizedrated) States source shipping income and such indsrgbject to a 4% United States fed
income tax without allowance for deduction, unltésst corporation qualifies for exemption from taxder Section 883 of the Code. We ex
that we and each of our subsidiaries will qualdy this statutory tax exemption and we have takengosition for United States federal incc
tax return reporting purposes. However, there actufl circumstances beyond our control that cealase us to lose the benefit of this
exemption and thereby become subject to UnitedeStigderal income tax on our United States sourcenie. Therefore, we can give
assurances on our taxempt status or that of any of our subsidiariesel or our subsidiaries are not entitled to thismaption under Sectit
883 for any taxable year, we or our subsidiariesldide subject for those years to a 4% United Stitderal income tax on our United St
source shipping income. The imposition of this teotacould have a negative effect on our business.
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United States tax authorities could treat us as'passive foreign investment company," which coutdve adverse United Sta
federal income tax consequences to United Statelsiéas.

A foreign corporation will be treated as a "pasdireign investment company," or PFIC, for Unigtdtes federal income tax purpc
if either (1) at least 75% of its gross income day taxable year consists of certain types ofsipasncome” or (2) at least 50% of the ave
value of the corporation's assets produce or dcefbethe production of those types of "passiveome.” For purposes of these tests, "pa
income" includes dividends, interest, and gaiosnfthe sale or exchange of investment propertyrants and royalties other than rents
royalties which are received from unrelated pariresonnection with the active conduct of a tradebosiness. For purposes of these t
income derived from the performance of servicessdua constitute "passive income.” United Stategeholders of a PFIC are subject
disadvantageous United States federal income gimeewith respect to the income derived by the RBY€ distributions they receive from
PFIC and the gain, if any, they derive from thesal other disposition of their shares in the PFIC.

As of March 2009, 67% of the average value of deetfwas employed under bareboat charters thatupeogassive income. If ¢
fleet and charter composition remains the sameyodd likely be treated as a PFIC for our 2009 Hea/ear. Nevertheless, it is managem
intention to take necessary steps in order to aR6ilC status as this would have negative tax careezps for our investors. Remedial act
could involve the sale of passive income produsiassels or the purchase of non passive income pirtglassets.

In this regard, we intend to treat the gross incameederive or are deemed to derive from our timartening activities as servic
income, rather than rental income. Accordingly, bedieve that our income from our time charteringivéties does not constitute "pass
income," and the assets that we own and operatnimection with the production of that income @t econstitute passive assets.

There is, however, no direct legal authority unther PFIC rules addressing our proposed method efatipn. We believe there
substantial legal authority supporting our positaamsisting of case law and United States InteRelenue Service, or IRS, pronouncem
concerning the characterization of income derivethftime charters and voyage charters as servioesrie for other tax purposes. Howe
we note that there is also authority which charégs time charter income as rental income rathan services income for other tax purpc
Accordingly, there is a risk that the IRS or a ¢afrlaw could determine that we are a PFIC. Moegothere is a risk that we could constitL
PFIC for any future taxable year if there were ¢ochanges in the nature and extent of our opestoif our vessels continue to be bare
chartered.

If the IRS were to find that we are or have bedPF¥C for any taxable year, our United States sladehns will face adverse Unit
States tax consequences. Under the PFIC rulessautiiese shareholders make an election availakler the Code (which election could it
have adverse consequences for such shareholdatiscassed below under "Tax Considerationdnrited States Federal Income Taxatio
United States Holders"), such shareholders woaldidble to pay United States federal income tathatthen prevailing income tax rates
ordinary income plus interest upon excess distidagtand upon any gain from the disposition of @mmon stock, as if the excess distribu
or gain had been recognized ratably over the sbétetis holding period of our common stock. Seax'Considerations—United State
Federal Income Taxation of United States Holdés'a more comprehensive discussion of the UnitiadeS federal income tax conseque
to United States shareholders if we are treatedRISIC.

Because we generate all of our revenues in U.S.afsl but incur a portion of our expenses in otheuencies, exchange ra
fluctuations could hurt our results of operation:

We generate all of our revenues in U.S. dollarsibetir approximately 16% of our expenses in curienother than U.S. dolla
mainly Euros. This difference could lead to fludtaas in net income due to changes in the valu¢hefU.S. dollar relative to the otl
currencies, in particular, the Euro. During 200f Euro appreciated versus the US dollar more itharer has for the past five years, reac
almost 1.6 US dollars to 1 Euro during the sumnie20®8. Should the Euro further appreciate relatovéhe U.S. dollar in future periods,
expenses will increase in U.S dollar terms, therdbgreasing our net income. We have not hedgee ttiglss. Our operating results cc
suffer as a result.
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Risks Relating to Our Common Shares

There is no guarantee of a continuing public marktr you to resell our common shares.

Our common shares commenced trading on the Nasdtgnidl Market, now the Nasdaq Global Select Marikejuly 2004. An activ
and liquid public market for our common shares mat/continue. The price of our common shares maydigtile and may fluctuate due
factors such as:

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quartend annual results and thcof other public companies in our indust
. mergers and strategic alliances in the drybulkghgpindustry;

. market conditions in the drybulk shipping industnd the general state of the securities mar

. changes in government regulatit

. shortfalls in our operating results from levelsefaist by securities analysts; ¢

. announcements concerning us or our competi

You may not be able to sell your common sharekérfiture at the price that you paid for them aalbtin addition, if the price of o
common shares falls below $1.00, we may be invahilgtdelisted from the Nasdaq Global Select Market

Future sales of our common shares could cause tharket price of our common shares to decline

Sales of a substantial number of our common sharé® public market, or the perception that thesles could occur, may depress
market price for our common shares. These saldg ed&p impair our ability to raise additional cagbithrough the sale of our equity secur
in the future.

We are incorporated in the Republic of the Marsh#dlands, which does not have a well-developed boflgorporate law.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our Artidéfncorporation and Bylaws and by the Marshakhigls Business Corporations /
or BCA. The provisions of the BCA resemble prouwsi®f the corporation laws of a number of statebénUnited States. However, there t
been few judicial cases in the Republic of the Malisislands interpreting the BCA. The rights aiu€iary responsibilities of directors un
the law of the Republic of the Marshall Islands ot as clearly established as the rights and iédycesponsibilities of directors under stat
or judicial precedent in existence in certain UditStates jurisdictions. Security holder rights ndiffer as well. While the BCA do
specifically incorporate the nostatutory law, or judicial case law, of the Stat®elaware and other states with substantially Isimiegislative
provisions, our security holders may have moreidiffy in protecting their interests in the face aiftions by the management, director
controlling shareholders than would security haddefra corporation incorporated in a United Statesdiction.

25




A small number of our stockholders effectively conitthe outcome of matters on which our stockholdeare entitled to vote.

Entities affiliated with Mr. Evangelos PistiolisyioChief Executive Officer, currently own, directly indirectly, approximately 9.57
of our outstanding common stock as of June 24, 200@ddition, entities affiliated with Mr. Geordéconomou currently own, directly
indirectly, approximately 13.99% of our outstando@mmon stock as of June 24, 2009. While, as faveaare aware, those stockholders |
no agreement, arrangement or understanding reltitige voting of their shares of our common stdlsky will effectively control the outcor
of matters on which our stockholders are entitteddte, including the election of directors andesthignificant corporate actions. The inter
of these stockholders may be different from yoteriests.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documentould have the effect of discouraging, delaying preventing a merge
amalgamation or acquisition, which could reduce tinearket price of our common shares.

Several provisions of our Amended and Restatedtl&giof Incorporation and our Amended and Resttgaws could make it difficult for o1
shareholders to change the composition of our badrdirectors in any one year, preventing them frohanging the composition
management. In addition, the same provisions magodrage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisitiat shareholders may consi
favorable.

These provisions include:

. authorizing our board of directors to issue "blahkck" preferred stock without shareholder apprc

. providing for a classified board of directors witfaggered, thre-year terms

. prohibiting cumulative voting in the election ofeittors;

. authorizing the removal of directors only for caasel only upon the affirmative vote of the holdefsat least 80% of tt

outstanding shares of our capital stock entitledote for the directors

. prohibiting shareholder action by written consemieas the written consent is signed by all shadsdrslentitled to vote on t
action;

. limiting the persons who may call special meetiofyshareholders; ar

. establishing advance notice requirements for notioing for election to our board of directors or fooposing matters tr

can be acted on by shareholders at shareholdemms:

In addition, we have entered into a StockholdehRighAgreement that will make it more difficult farthird party to acquire us withe
the support of our board of directors and princiglareholders. These atdkeover provisions could substantially impedeahdity of public
shareholders to benefit from a change in contrdl @s a result, may reduce the market price ofcoormon stock and your ability to real
any potential change of control premium.

The market price of our common shares has fluctuadteidely and may fluctuate widely in the future

The market price of our common shares has fluctatelely since our common shares and warrants bégaing in the Nasd:
National Market, now the Nasdaq Global Select MarikeJuly 2004
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ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
A. History and Development of the Company

Our predecessor, Ocean Holdings Inc., was formea earporation in January 2000 under the laws efRepublic of the Marshi
Islands and renamed TOP TANKERS INC. in May 2004 Diecember 2007, TOP TANKERS INC. was renamed TOIPS INC. Ou
common stock is currently listed on the NASDAQ Glbiselect Market under the symbol "TOPS". The aurrddress of our princig
executive office is 1 Vas. Sofias and Meg. Alexand8tr, 15124 Maroussi, Greece. The telephone nuotbeur registered office is +30 2
812 8000.

On July 23, 2004, we completed our initial publiffedng. The net proceeds of our initial public erfihg, approximate
$124.6 million, were primarily used to finance thequisition of 10 vessels, comprising of eight &t&ss doubldwll Handymax tankers a
two double-hull Suezmax tankers. The total coshefacquisition was approximately $251.3 million.

On November 5, 2004, we completed a follow-on affgrof our common stock. The net proceeds of odiovicon offering
approximately $139.5 million, were used primarity finance the acquisition of five doubedl Suezmax tankers. The total cost of
acquisition was approximately $249.3 million.

During 2005, we acquired five double-hull Handynzaed four doubldrull Suezmax tankers at a total cost of $453.4ioniland sol
one double-hull Handymax and our last single-huwhHlysize tanker. We sold and leased-back five @édulll Handymax tankers for a per
of seven years.

From April 2006, until July 2006, we issued throwgtcontrolled equity offering" 1,302,454 sharesofmmon stock, par value $0.
The net proceeds totaled $26.9 million.

During 2006, we sold and leased-back on a fixedtehaasis four double-hull Handymax, four doubigtiSuezmax and five double-
hull Suezmax tankers for periods of five yearsefixears and seven years, respectively. Additionatly sold three doubleull Handyma
tankers, and we entered into an agreement with Spbuilding Co., Ltd. of the Republic of Korea, 8PP, for the construction of
product/chemical tankers.

In May 2007, we reacquired four Suezmax tankers that we sold in 20@6 earlier sale and leaseback transaction andrtated th
respective bareboat charters. Thacgquisition price was $208.0 million and was pétiinanced by the early redemption of the sedleredi
of $20.6 million associated with the 2006 sales laadeback transactions, along with secured dedning and cash from operations.

From June 2007 until July 2007, we issued througtoatrolled equity offering" 1,435,874 shares ofranon stock, par value $0.!
The net proceeds totaled $29.4 million.

During July and August 2007, we agreed to acquie Supramax, one Handymax and four Panamax drytasikels at a total cost
$370.1 million. The Handymax and two of the foum&aax drybulk vessels were delivered to us durirg fourth quarter of 2007. T
Supramax and the remaining two Panamax drybulkelesgere delivered to us during the first two geieriof 2008.

In December 2007, we completed a follow-on offeriofj our common stock. The net proceeds of thisofelbn offering

approximately $68.9 million, were used primarilyrepay outstanding secured debt and to partiatignice the acquisition of the six dryb
vessels mentioned above, one of which we have sioide
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During 2007 we sold one Suezmax tanker, we agreextlt one Suezmax tanker that we later delivenedanuary 2008 to its ni
owners, and we terminated the bareboat chartetearee Handymax tankers that we sold in 2006 in aatkleaseback transactions, due t
sale of the vessels by their owners to third psrtie

During 2008, we took delivery of one Supramax digluessel and two Panamax drybulk vessels, whicthag agreed to acquire
2007 as mentioned above. Additionally, during 2088,sold seven owned Suezmax tankers and one Parthgtalk vessel and we arrang
the sale of six chartered-in vessels, under bateth@aters, and terminated the respective charters.

On March 20, 2008, we effected a three-doe reverse stock split of our common stock. Thweas no change in the numbel
authorized common shares. As a result of the revetsck split, the number of outstanding shareofaMarch 20, 2008 decreased
20,705,380, while the par value of our common shaemained unchanged at $0.01 per share.

In April 2008, we privately placed with various estors 7.3 million unregistered shares of commackstpar value $0.01, f
aggregate proceeds of approximately $51.0 millidme 7.3 million shares were sold for $7.00 per shathich represents a discount of :
percent based on the closing share price of $828pil 23, 2008. In July 2008, we filed a regitiva statement on Form 8-with respect 1
these 7.3 million shares.

As of December 31, 2008, our fleet consisted ofltevevessels -seven Handymax tankers, one Supramax drybulk veese
Handymax drybulk vessel, and three Panamax drybedisels, with total carrying capacity of 0.7 miflidwt (including five tankers sold a
leased back), as compared to 23 vessels, with taraying capacity of 2.4 million dwt (including ltankers sold and leased back), &
December 31, 2007.

In February 2009, the Company took delivery of Mi&&rilena and Lichtenstein from SPP. Miss Marilamal Lichtenstein are two ¢
of six 50,000 dwt product / chemical tankers schedito be delivered in 2009. Miss Marilena and téctstein entered into bareboat time-
charter employment for a period of 10 years atily date of $14,400 and $14,550, respectively.

On March 19, 2009, the Company took delivery ofidonwave and Tyrrhenian Wave from SPP. lonian Waawve Tyrrhenian Way
are the third and fourth out of the six 50,000 gwdduct / chemical tankers discussed above. lowWame and Tyrrhenian Wave entered
bareboat time-charter employment for a period wéreyears at a daily rate of $14,300, with threzcessive ongear options at a higher de
rate.

In April 2009, we agreed with the owners of the Mi&lentless to terminate the bareboat chartesllyitentered into as part of the <
and leaseback deal in 2005. Under this agreementyilkredeliver the vessel to its owners and pagranination fee of $2.5 million during t
third quarter of 2009. The bareboat charter woaldehexpired in 2012.

On May 22, 2009, the Company took delivery of Britom SPP. Britto is the fifth out of the six 50@dwt newbuilding produc

chemical tankers scheduled to be delivered in 2B8i&o entered into bareboat tinolarter employment for a period of ten years aiby date
of $14,550.
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On June 24, 2009, we terminated the bareboat chatel redelivered the vessels M/T Faithful, th& dbubtless, the M/T Spotle
and the M/T Vanguard to their owners after payind.$5 million in termination fees and expensesadidition to the termination fees ¢
expenses, we have forfeited our right to receieeddller's credit of $10.0 million from the initishle of the vessels, which would have |
received upon the expiration of the bareboat chaated we have undertaken to pay for the divgk of the M/T Spotless which is currently
progress. The bareboat charter would have expiré2Di1. We will remain the managers of these vessetil the expiration of their curre
time charters, in early 2010, and will be reimbdrbg the owners for all expenses incurred. Thege te last leased vessels in our fleet.

B. Business Overview
Business Strategy

We are a provider of international seaborne trartafion services, carrying petroleum products, erwd for the oil industry ar
drybulk commodities for the steel, electric utiligonstruction and agricultufeed industries. We employ our tanker and drybudksels und
time charters, bareboat charters, or in the spattehmarket. Three of our tankers and four of dnybulk vessels are currently employec
time charters and five of our tankers and one ofdsybulk vessels are employed on bareboat chaMéesactively manage the deploymer
our fleet between time charters and bareboat disasghich last from several months to several yea8%6 of our fleet by dwt are sister sh
which enhances the revenue generating potentiauoffleet by providing us with operational and sblleng flexibility. Sister ships als
increase our operating efficiencies because teahhkicowledge can be applied to all vessels in @&sesnd create cost efficiencies
economies of scale when ordering spare parts, gimgpand crewing these vessels.

As of the date of this report, our tanker fleet @nchanagement consists of 12 owned (seven tankdrfive drybulk vessels) and ¢
charteredn tanker vessel from a sale and leaseback trapsatttat we completed in 2005. The purpose of #ile and leaseback transac
was to take advantage of the high asset price @mvient prevailing in the market at the time anchtintain commercial and operations cor
of the vessels for a period of five to seven years.

However, the vessels sold and leased back provadwe higher operating expenses due to the inatazsed for regular repairs ¢
maintenance. In addition, freight market conditiateteriorated during the years ended December @17 2nd December 31, 2008. At
inception of the lease period we had assumed eatidn rate of approximately 90% for those vessklewever, most of these ves:
underwent their drydockings in 2006 and early 208If.of these drydockings required significantly mactime and expense than origin.
anticipated because of the unexpected, increasedrarof works required and overbooking of the Ch@ehipyards at which the vessels \
drydocked, which caused significant delays. Thesmimstances decreased the utilization rate toceqpately 71%. As a result of the abc
the transaction proved uneconomical and had a ivegatpact on our operating results.

The charteredh vessels constituted the majority of the fleeR2006, but soon thereafter we initiated a processmtvind a number
bareboat agreements. We have successfully unwdlbdraboat charter agreements, either baaeuiring tankers previously sold and lee
back, initiating the sale process by the lessorthital parties or by terminating the leases in exge for a termination fee. Our last lee
vessel will be redelivered to its owners in thedtguarter of 2009.

During 2006 we ordered six newbuilding product &nskin the SPP shipyard in the Republic of Koreardrer to modernize our tan!
fleet. Five of these tankers have already beewveleld to us during the first two quarters of 2088 ¢he sixth one is expected to be deliv
during the summer of 2009.

In addition, during 2007 we diversified our fleairolio by acquiring drybulk vessels, beginningthvthe acquisition of six drybu
vessels, one of which we subsequently sold.
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We intend to continue to review the market for mlnd drybulk vessels to continue our programoofuaing suitable vessels

accretive terms.

We believe we have established a reputation irirttegnational ocean transport industry for opeat@md maintaining our fleet w
high standards of performance, reliability and saf@/e have assembled a management team comprisextoutives who have extens
experience operating large and diversified fleétiaokers and drybulk vessels, and who have sttimsgto a number of national, regional

international oil companies, charterers and traders

Our Fleet

The following table presents the Company's fle#tdnd employment as of the date of this report:

Eight Tanker Vessels
Relentless (A
Dauntless (B)

loannis P (B

Miss Marilena (B)
Lichtenstein (B}
lonian Wave (B
Thyrrhenian Wave (B
Britto (B)

One Newbuilding Product
Tanker
Hull S-1033

Total Tanker dwt

Five Drybulk Vessels
Cyclades (B

Amalfi (B)

Voc Gallant (B)
Pepito (B)

Astrale (B)

Total Drybulk dwt

TOTAL DWT

Dwt

47,08¢
46,16¢

46,34¢

50,00(
50,00(
50,00(
50,00(
50,00(

50,00(
439,59¢
75,68
45,52¢
51,20(
75,92¢
75,93¢
324,26¢

763,86¢

Year

Built Charter Type
1992 Time Chartel
199¢ Time Charter
2002 Time Chartel
200¢ Bareboat Charte
200¢ Bareboat Charte
200¢ Bareboat Charte
200¢ Bareboat Charte
200¢ Bareboat Charte
200¢ Bareboat Charte
200C  Time Chartel
200( Time Chartel
200z Bareboat Charte
2001 Time Chartel
200( Time Chartel

A. Vessel sold and leased back in September 2005 period of 7 year:

B. Owned vessel:
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Expiry

Q2/2009
Q1/2010

Q4/2010

Q1-2/2019
Q1-2/2019
Q1-2/2016
Q1-2/2016
Q1-2/2019

Q1-2/2019

Q2/2011
Q2/2009
Q2/2012
Q2/2013
Q2/2011

Daily Base
Rate

$14,00(
$16,25(

$18,00(

$14,40(
$14,55(
$14,30(
$14,30(
$14,55(

$14,55(

$54,25(
$10,00(
$24,00(
$41,00(
$18,00(

Profit Sharing

Above Base Rate (2009)

50% thereafte

100% first $1,000 + 50
thereafte

100% first $1,000 + 50
thereafte

None

None

None

None

None

None

None
None
None
None
None




Management of the Fleet

Since July 1, 2004, TOP Tanker Management InCT@P Tanker Management, our whotlyvned subsidiary, has been responsibl
all of the chartering, operational and technicalnegement of our fleet, including crewing, mainteregnrepair, capital expenditur
drydocking, vessel taxes, maintaining insurance athér vessel operating expenses under managergesgnaents with our vessel own
subsidiaries. TOP Tanker Management has built aagement team with significant experience in opegatarge and diversified fleets
tankers and drybulk vessels and has expertisd mspects of commercial, technical, managementfimadcial areas of our business. Pric
July 1, 2004, the operations of our fleet were rngadaby Primal Tankers Inc., which was whatlyned by the father of our Chief Execu
Officer.

As of December 31, 2008, TOP Tanker Managementshasontracted the day-ttay technical management and crewing of
Handymax tankers to V. Ships Management Limitedshgp management company Additionally, TOP Tankerndigment has al
subcontracted the crewing of three Handymax tanker¥. Ships Management Limited and has also suibaored the crewing of tv
Handymax tankers and four drybulk vessels to Imtend Maritime Enterprises Inc. TOP Tanker Managetrpays a monthly fee of $11,¢
per vessel for technical management and crewirteofwo vessels and $3,550 per vessel for the ogewi three vessels under its agreen
with V. Ships Management, and a monthly fee of 8Q,@er vessel for the six vessels under its agraenweéth Interorient Maritime Enterpris
Inc.

Crewing and Employees

As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, TOP SHIPS ING foar employees, while our whollywned subsidiary, TOP Tanl
Management, employed 92 employees in 2007 and gfogees in 2008, all of whom are shdrased. TOP Tanker Management ensure:
all seamen have the qualifications and licensesimed) to comply with international regulations atdpping conventions, and that our ves
employ experienced and competent personnel.

During 2008, V. Ships Management, Hanseatic Ship@ompany and Interorient Maritime Enterprises here responsible for t
crewing of the fleet. Such responsibilities inclutening, transportation, compensation and insteaof the crew.

All of the employees of TOP Tanker Management afgjext to a general collective bargaining agreencenering employees
shipping agents in Greece. These agreements sedtipavide minimum standards. We have not had any labololems with our employe
under this collective bargaining agreement and iden®ur workplace and labor union relations tabed.

The Industry - Tankers
The international tanker industry represents, wiebe, the most efficient and safest method ofgpamting large volumes of crude

and refined petroleum products such as gasolirsetfi fuel oil, gas oil and jet fuel, as well asblloils and chemicals. Over the past
years, seaborne transportation of petroleum preches grown substantially, although it declinedrau2008.
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Freight rates in the tanker shipping industry aetedmined by the supply of product tankers anddémaand for crude oil and refir
petroleum products transportation. Factors thacafthe supply of product tankers and the demandrdmsportation of crude oil and refir
petroleum products include:

Demand

general economic conditions, including increasesdetreases in industrial production and transportain which China he
played a significant role since it joined the WofFlchde Organizatior

oil prices;

environmental issues or concer

climate;

competition from alternative energy sources;

regulatory environmen

the number of combined carriers, or vessels capahidarrying oil or drybulk cargoes, carrying odrgoes
the number of newbuildings on order and being éeéd;

the number of tankers in l-up, which refers to vessels that are in storagg-docked, awaiting repairs or otherwise
available or out of commission; a

the number of tankers scrapped for obsolescenselject to casualtie
prevailing and expected future charterhire re

costs of bunkers, fuel oil, and other operatings;

the efficiency and age of the world tanker fle

current shipyard capacity; ai

government and industry regulation of maritime $gortation practices, particularly environmentabtpction laws ar
regulations
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Developments in the International Tanker Market

The Baltic Dirty Tanker Index, a U.S. dollar dailyerage of charter rates issued by the London dakid Exchange (an organizat
providing maritime market information for the tradiand settlement of physical and derivative catgjawhich takes into account input fr
brokers around the world regarding crude oil figifor various routes various tanker vessel stadjned from a high of 2,347 in July 200t
a low of 453 in midApril 2009, which represents a decline of 80%. Badtic Clean Tanker Index has fallen over 1,16pmior 77%, sinc
the early summer of 2008. The decline in chartézsras due to various factors, including the sigaifit fall in demand for crude oil a
petroleum products, the consequent rising inveasoof crude oil and petroleum products in the Whiéates and in other industrialized nat
and the corresponding reduction in oil refiningg tiramatic fall in the price of oil in 2008, anct trestrictions on crude oil production that
Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, ®ET and other no®PEC oil producing countries have imposed in aarefb stabilize th
price of oil.

The price of crude oil rose sharply in the firsif led 2008. From a starting point of $99 per baatthe turn of the year, spot prices
West Texas Intermediate, or WTI, a specific typeibfrose to peak prices above $145 per barrduiy. The rise in prices caused OPE!
continue increasing crude oil production in thetfseven months of 2008, driving tanker earningbedhighest levels withessed since late .
in most markets. After July, oil prices declinecgily as a result of the deterioration in the wartdbnomy, the collapse of financial mark
declining oil demand and bearish market sentim&hé fall in prices and in demand and rising oiléntories led OPEC to reduce crude
production and exports resulting in lower, albéit kistorically high, tanker earnings in the sadadhalf of the year. In the first quarter of 2
oil prices stabilized in a trading range of $35-$&% barrel as OPEC continued to reduce produtgioels.
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The Industry — Drybulk Vessels

Drybulk cargo is cargo that is shipped in quargised can be easily stowed in a single hold witle liisk of cargo damage. Accord
to industry sources, approximately 3,065 milliomdoof drybulk cargo was transported by sea, cdngistf iron ore, coal and grai
representing 27.5%, 25.87% and 10.24% of the ttddulk trade, respectively.

The demand for drybulk vessel capacity is deterthimgthe underlying demand for commodities trangabmn drybulk vessels, whi
in turn is influenced by trends in the global eamyo Between 2001 and 2007, trade in all drybulk cwdities increased from 2,108 milli
tons to 2,961 million tons, an increase of 40.4&e of the main reasons for that increase in dkytrade was the growth in imports by Cr
of iron ore, coal and steel products during the ¢&ght years. Chinese imports of iron ore alorerdased from 92.2 million tons in 2001
approximately 382 million tons in 2007. In 2008 ecadl trade in all drybulk commodities increasedinfr2,961 million tons in 2007 to 3,C
million tons, an increase of 3.5%. However, demfamdirybullk shipping decreased dramatically in segond quarter of 2008 evidenced by
decrease in Chinese iron ore imports which decceisen a high of 119.5 million tons in the secondadger of 2008 to a low of 96.2 milli
tons during the fourth quarter of 2008 represengintecrease of 19.5%.

The supply of drybulk vessels is dependent on #evety of new vessels and the removal of vesselsifthe global fleet, eith
through scrapping or loss. The orderbook of nevbdily vessels scheduled to be delivered in 200%smts approximately 28.3% of the w
drybulk fleet. The level of scrapping activity iergerally a function of scrapping prices in relationcurrent and prospective charter me
conditions, as well as operating, repair and surv@sts. Drybulk vessels at or over 25 years oldcaresidered to be scrapping candi
vessels.

Developments in the International Drybulk Shippingindustry

The Baltic Drybulk Index, or BDI, a US dollar daiywerage of charter rates issued by the Londondb@akic Exchange which tak
into account input from brokers around the worldarging fixtures for various routes, dry cargoed garious drybulk vessel sizes, decli
from a high of 11,793 in May 2008 to a low of 663December 2008, which represents a decline of 9%.BDI fell over 70% during tl
month of October 2008 alone. The decline in chardes is due to various factors, including thek la€ trade financing for purchases
commodities carried by sea, which has resultedsigmificant decline in cargo shipments, and theegg supply of iron ore in China, which
resulted in falling iron ore prices and increasetigiles in Chinese ports. The decline in charéées in the drybulk market also affects
value of drybulk vessels which follow the trendsdofbulk charter rates. During 2009, the BDI hagmito 4,026 as of June 17, 2009.
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Environmental Regulation

Government regulation significantly affects the @nship and operation of our vessels. We are subjettternational conventior
national, state and local laws and regulationied in the countries in which our vessels may aigeor are registered relating to safety
health and environmental protection, including gherage, handling, emission, transportation andhdigge of hazardous and nonhazar
materials, the remediation of contamination, amadbility for damage to natural resources. Complianitd such laws, regulations and ot
requirements entails significant expense, includiagsel modifications and implementation of certgerating procedures.

A variety of governmental and private entities sabjour vessels to both scheduled and unschedweddétions. These entities incl
the local port authorities (U.S. Coast Guard, harbaster or equivalent), classification societitsy state administration (country of regis
and charterers, particularly terminal operators eihdompanies. Certain of these entities requséaiobtain permits, licenses and certific
for the operation of our vessels. Failure to mamteecessary permits, certificates or approvaldccoequire us to incur substantial cost
temporarily suspend the operation of one or moreuofvessels.

We believe that the heightened level of environmleahd quality concerns among insurance underwritegulators and charter
have lead to greater inspection and safety reqeinésnon all vessels and may accelerate the scippiolder vessels throughout the indu:
Increasing environmental concerns have createdene for vessels that conform to the stricter emvitental standards. We are require
maintain operating standards for all of our ves@s$ emphasize operational safety, quality maemer, continuous training of our officers
crews and compliance with United States and inteynal regulations. We believe that the operatibowr vessels is in substantial complia
with applicable environmental laws and regulatiansl that our vessels have all material permitenBes, certificates or other authorizat
necessary for the conduct of our operations. Howewecause such laws and regulations are frequeh#ipged and may impose increasi
stricter requirements, we cannot predict the ultenwst of complying with these requirements, erithpact of these requirements on the r¢
value or useful lives of our vessels. In additianfuture serious marine incident that results gnigicant oil pollution or otherwise caus
significant adverse environmental impact could tasuadditional legislation or regulation that ¢dunegatively affect our profitability.

International Maritime Organization

The International Maritime Organization, or IMO dtlunited Nations agency for maritime safety andphevention of pollution k
ships), has adopted the International Conventioritfe Prevention of Marine Pollution from Ships,789as modified by the Protocol of 1¢
relating thereto, which has been updated througlows amendments, or the MARPOL Convention. The NPER Convention implemer
environmental standards including oil leakage dltisg, garbage management, as well as the handlimdisposal of noxious liquids, harn
substances in packaged forms, sewage and air emssdinder IMO regulations, in order to trade imtpaf IMO member nations, a newbt
tanker of 5,000 dwt or above must be of double-boiistruction or a mid-deck design with doubided construction or be of another appr«
design ensuring the same level of protection agaihpollution if the tanker:

. is the subject of a contract for a major conversiooriginal construction on or after July 6, 19
. commences a major conversion or has its keel laidrafter January 6, 1994;
. completes a major conversion or is a newbuildinlyyeeed on or after July 6, 199
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Since the enactment of these regulations, the I®dtcelerated the timetable for the phase-oungfeshull oil tankers. We do n
currently own any single-hull tankers.

In December 2003, the Marine Environmental Probec€ommittee of the IMO, or MEPC, adopted an amesmnto the MARPO
Convention, which became effective in April 200lieTamendment revised an existing regulation 13@leaxating the phase-out of sindie
oil tankers and adopted a new regulation 13H onptieention of oil pollution from oil tankers whearrying heavy grade oil. Under
revised regulation, singlledll oil tankers were required to be phased outater than April 5, 2005 or the anniversary of tade of delivery ¢
the ship on the date or in the year specified infthlowing table:

Category of Oil Tankers Date or Year for Phase Oul

Category 1- oil tankers of 20,000 dwt and above carn
crude oll, fuel oil, heavy diesel oil or lubricagimil as cargo, and
30,000 dwt and above carrying other oils, which i comply
with the requirements for protectively located segted balla
tanks

April 5, 2005 for ships delivered on April 5, 198Rearlier
2005 for ships delivered after April 5, 1982

Category z- oil tankers of 20,000 dwt and above carn

crude oil, fuel oil, heavy diesel oil or lubricagimil as cargo, and  April 5, 2005 for ships delivered on April 5, 1987 earlier
30,000 dwt and above carrying other oils, whichcdenply witt 2005 for ships delivered after April 5, 1977 butdse January 1, 1978

the protectively located segregated ballast tagkirements 2006 for ships delivered in 1978 and 1979
2007 for ships delivered in 1980 and 1981
and 2008 for ships delivered in 1982

2009 for ships delivered in 1983
Category 3 -oil tankers of 5,000 dwt and above but 2010 for ships delivered in 1984 or later
than the tonnage specified for Category 1 and Reta:

Under the revised regulations, a flag state maynfterontinued operation of certain Category 2 dakers beyond their phase
date in accordance with the above table. Underlatign 13G, the flag state may allow for some nesiaglehull oil tankers registered in
country that conform to certain technical spectfmas to continue operating until the earlier of #inniversary of the date of delivery of
vessel in 2015 or the 25th anniversary of theiiveey. Under regulations 13G and 13H, as descrhieddw, certain Category 2 and 3 tan!
fitted only with double bottoms or double sides nieyallowed by the flag state to continue operationtil their 25th anniversary of delive
Any port state, however, may deny entry of thosglsthull oil tankers that are allowed to operate uratey of the flag state exemptions. Tt
regulations have been adopted by over 150 natiodsiding many of the jurisdictions in which ounteers operate.
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Revised Annex | to the MARPOL Convention enteret iiorce in January 2007. Revised Annex | incorpesasarious amendme
adopted since the MARPOL Convention entered intoefan 1983, including the amendments to regulali8® (regulation 20 in the revis
Annex) and Regulation 13H (regulation 21 in theiged Annex). Revised Annex | also imposes constuctequirements for oil tanke
delivered on or after January 1, 2010. A furtheeadment to revised Annex | includes an amendmetitealefinition of heavy grade oil ti
will broaden the scope of regulation 21. On Auguys2007, regulation 12A (an amendment to Annexae into effect requiring oil fuel tar

to be located inside the double-hull in all shipghvan aggregate oil fuel capacity of 600rand above, and which are delivered on or
August 1, 2010, including ships for which the biritgl contract is entered into on or after Augus2@Q7 or, in the absence of a contract, ¢
for which a keel is laid on or after February 1020

In September 1997, the IMO adopted Annex VI toMAERPOL Convention to address air pollution fromphiAnnex VI was ratifie
in May 2004 and became effective in May 2005. Ankésets limits on sulfur oxide and nitrogen oxiglmissions from all commercial ves
exhausts and prohibits deliberate emissions of ezdepleting substances (such as halons and chloroflarbons), emissions of vola
compounds from cargo tanks, and the shipboardenation of specific substances. Annex VI also idekia global cap on the sulfur conter
fuel oil and allows for special areas to be esghlgld with more stringent controls on sulfur emissioWe believe that all our vessels
currently compliant in all material respects wittese regulations. Additional or new conventiongsland regulations may be adopted
could require the installation of expensive emissiontrol systems and could adversely affect ogirtass, cash flows, results of operations
financial condition. In October 2008, the IMO adeppamendments to Annex VI regarding particulatetenanitrogen oxide and sulfur oxi
emissions standards that will enter into force Jyl010. The amended Annex VI would reduce aitugioh from vessels by, among ot
things, (i) implementing a progressive reductiorsifur oxide emissions from ships, with the globalfur cap reduced initially to 3.50% (frt
the current cap of 4.50%), effective from Januargd12, then progressively to 0.50%, effective frémmuary 1, 2020, subject to a feasikt
review to be completed no later than 2018; ande@jablishing new tiers of stringent nitrogen oxafaissions standards for new ma
engines, depending on their date of installationcéthese amendments become effective, we may auais to comply with these revit
standards. The United States ratified the Annexaviendments in October 2008, thereby rendering &irS2missions standards equivaler
IMO requirements.

The IMO has also adopted the SOLAS Convention had_.t Convention, which impose a variety of stamidaio regulate design
operational features of ships. SOLAS Convention lahdConvention standards are revised periodicaie believe that all our vessels ar
substantial compliance with SOLAS Convention andQdnvention standards.

Under Chapter IX of the SOLAS Convention, the reguients contained in the International Safety Manant Code for the S
Operation of Ships and for Pollution Prevention]®¥ Code, promulgated by the IMO, also affect operations. The ISM Code requires
party with operational control of a vessel to depehn extensive safety management system thaties/among other things, the adoption
safety and environmental protection policy setfimigh instructions and procedures for operatingyéssels safely and describing procedure
responding to emergencies.

The ISM Code requires that vessel operators otdasafety management certificate for each vessel dperate. This certifica
evidences compliance by a vessel's managementthéthSM Code requirements for a safety managemgstes. No vessel can obtai
certificate unless its operator has been awardeédcament of compliance, issued by each flag statder the ISM Code. We have obtai
documents of compliance for our offices and safenagement certificates for all of our vesselswbich the certificates are required by
IMO. As required by the ISM Code, we renew theseudoents of compliance and safety management cetgf annually.
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Noncompliance with the ISM Code and other IMO ragjohs may subject the shipowner or bareboat afegirte increased liabilit
may lead to decreases in available insurance cgedma affected vessels and may result in a tasiklemial of access to, or detention in, s
ports. Both the U.S. Coast Guard and European Uaighorities have indicated that vessels not ingl@nce with the ISM Code by t
applicable deadlines will be prohibited from traglin U.S. and European Union ports, as the caselmay

The IMO has negotiated international conventiorat fimpose liability for oil pollution in internati@l waters and a signatot
territorial waters. Additional or new conventiofaws and regulations may be adopted which could lmr ability to do business and wh
could have a material adverse effect on our busiaed results of operations.

The IMO adopted an International Convention for @entrol and Management of Ships' Ballast Water &adiments, or the BW
Convention, in February 2004. The BWM Conventiamplementing regulations call for a phased intrdituc of mandatory ballast wa
exchange requirements (beginning in 2009), to paced in time with mandatory concentration limitke BWM Convention will not becor
effective until 12 months after it has been adofte@®0 states, the combined merchant fleets of ivhépresent not less than 35% of the ¢
tonnage of the world's merchant shipping tonnageddte, there has not been sufficient adoptiohisfatandard for it to take force.

Although the United States is not a party to themeventions, many countries have ratified and felthe liability plan adopted by t
IMO and set out in the International ConventionQiwil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage of 1969,saamended in 2000, or the CLC. Ur
this convention and depending on whether the cguntrwhich the damage results is a party to the21P®otocol to the CLC, a vess
registered owner is strictly liable for pollutioamage caused in the territorial waters of a cotitrgstate by discharge of persistent oil, sul
to certain defenses. The limits on liability oudlthin the 1992 Protocol use the International MaryeEund currency unit of Special Draw
Rights, or SDR. Under an amendment to the 19920Pobthat became effective on November 1, 2003yémsels between 5,000 and 140
gross tons (a unit of measurement for the totalosed spaces within a vessel), liability is limitedapproximately $6.92 million (4.51 milli
SDR) plus $970 (631 SDR) for each additional grimssover 5,000. For vessels of over 140,000 gross,tliability is limited to $138.(
million (89.77 million SDR). As the convention calates liability in terms of a basket of currencitdsese figures are based on curre
exchange rates of 0.65046 SDR per U.S. dollar oe 1, 2009. The right to limit liability is forfieid under the CLC where the spill is cat
by the shipowner's actual fault and under the 1®@ocol where the spill is caused by the shipotgriatentional or reckless conduct. Ves
trading with states that are parties to these aaimes must provide evidence of insurance covetimggliability of the owner. In jurisdictiol
where the CLC has not been adopted, various l¢igislachemes or common law govern, and liabilitimposed either on the basis of faul
in a manner similar to that of the convention. Wiidve that our protection and indemnity insurandk cover the liability under the ple
adopted by the IMO.

IMO regulations also require owners and operatdrgessels to adopt Ship Oil Pollution EmergencynBlar SOPEPs. Perioi
training and drills for response personnel and/éssels and their crews are required.

The IMO continues to review and introduce new ratgiahs. It is impossible to predict what additiomegulations, if any, may
passed by the IMO and what effect, if any, suchile@ns might have on our operations.
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U.S. Oil Pollution Act of 1990 and Comprehensive @ronmental Response, Compensation and LiabilitytAc

In 1990, the United States Congress enactedJtBe Oil Pollution Act of 1990, ofOPA to establish an extensive regulatory
liability regime for environmental protection aniéanup of oil spills. OPA affects all owners ancgiors whose vessels trade with the Ui
States or its territories or possessions, or wivessels operate in the waters of the United Stateish include the United States territorial
and the 200 nautical mile exclusive economic zaoerad the United States. The Comprehensive Enviemnah Response, Compensation
Liability Act, or CERCLA, imposes liability for cln-up and natural resource damage from the releaBazsirdous substances (other thar
whether on land or at sea. Both OPA and CERCLA thpar operations.

Under OPA, vessel owners, operators and bareb@atechrs are "responsible parties" who are joirgbyerally and strictly liab
(unless the spill results solely from the act otission of a third party, an act of God or an acivaf) for all containment and cleaip-costs ar
other damages arising from oil spills from theiss®els. These other damages are defined broadigltae:

. natural resource damage and related assessmesit

. real and personal property dama

. net loss of taxes, royalties, rents, profits ongays capacity

. net cost of public services necessitated by a gsbonse, such as protection from fire, safetyeaith hazards; ar
. loss of subsistence use of natural resoul

Under amendments to OPA that became effective nlly 2006, the liability of responsible partisslimited with respect to tank
vessels to the greater of $1,900 per gross torl610%million per vessel that is over 3,000 grosst@nd with respect to non tanker vesse
the greater of $950 per gross ton or $0.8 millienessel (subject to periodic adjustment for iidla). On September 24, 2008, the U.S. C
Guard proposed adjustments to the limits of ligpilhat would increase the limits for tank vesgelthe greater of $2,000 per gross ton or $
million per vessel that is over 3,000 gross tond &or non tank vessels to the greater of $1,000goess ton or $848,000 and establi:
procedure for adjusting the limits for inflationexy three years. The comment period for the pragposke closed on November 24, 2008,
the adjustments will become effective after pultiama as final regulations. OPA specifically permitslividual states to impose their o
liability regimes with regard to oil pollution ind&nts occurring within their boundaries, and sotages have enacted legislation providing
unlimited liability for discharge of pollutants wih their waters. In some cases, states that haseted this type of legislation have not
issued implementing regulations defining tanker emshresponsibilities under these laws.

CERCLA, which applies to owners and operators afseds, contains a similar liability regime and pdeg for cleanup, removal &
natural resource damages. Liability under CERCLAinsted to the greater of $300 per gross ton or0$illion for vessels carrying
hazardous substance as cargo and the greater @p®8@ross ton or $0.5 million for any other vésse

These limits of liability do not apply, however, gre the incident is caused by violation of appliedh.S. federal safety, construct
or operating regulations, or by the responsibléyfsmgross negligence or willful misconduct. Thésdts also do not apply if the responsi
party fails or refuses to report the incident orctmperate and assist in connection with the sobstaemoval activities. OPA and CERC
each preserve the right to recover damages undgmexlaw, including maritime tort law.
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OPA also requires owners and operators of vesselastablish and maintain with the U.S. Coast Guaritlence of financi
responsibility sufficient to meet the limit of thedotential strict liability under the act. On Ob&r 17, 2008, the U.S. Coast Guard regul:
requirements under OPA and CERCLA were amendeddvire evidence of financial responsibility in amtauthat reflect the higher limits
liability imposed by the July 2006 amendments toAQ&s described above. The increased amounts beeff@otive on January 15, 2009. L
Coast Guard regulations currently require evidesfcBnancial responsibility in the amount of $2,2p6r gross ton for tankers, coupling
current OPA limitation on liability of $1,900 perass ton with the CERCLA liability limit of $300 peyross ton. Under the regulatic
evidence of financial responsibility may be demmatsd by insurance, surety bond, sefurance or guaranty. Under OPA regulation:
owner or operator of more than one tanker is reguio demonstrate evidence of financial resporntsibfidr the entire fleet in an amount eq
only to the financial responsibility requirementtbe tanker having the greatest maximum strictilligbhunder OPA and CERCLA. We ha
provided such evidence and received certificatefinahcial responsibility from the U.S. Coast Guéwd each of our vessels required to t
one.

We insure each of our vessels with pollution lidpiinsurance in the maximum commercially availablmount of $1.0 billion. .
catastrophic spill could exceed the insurance @megavailable, in which event there could be a retedverse effect on our business.

The U.S. Clean Water Act

The U.S. Clean Water Act, or CWA, prohibits thectisrge of oil or hazardous substances in U.S. ablégwaters unless authori:
by a dulyissued permit or exemption, and imposes strictilitgtin the form of penalties for any unauthorizeélischarges. The CWA al
imposes substantial liability for the costs of remlp remediation and damages and complements thedies available under OPA
CERCLA.

The United States Environmental Protection Agenc\EPA, has enacted rules governing the regulatidrallast water discharges ¢
other discharges incidental to the normal operatibmessels within U.S. waters. Under the new rulesich took effect February 6, 20
commercial vessels 79 feet in length or longergothan commercial fishing vessels), or Regulatedséls , are required to obtain a C
permit regulating and authorizing such normal disgkes. This permit, which the EPA has designatedhasVessel General Permit
Discharges Incidental to the Normal Operation o63&s, or VGP, incorporates the current U.S. CGastrd requirements for ballast w
management as well as supplemental ballast wajaireanents, and includes limits applicable to sfiedischarge streams.

Although the VGP became effective on February ®92@he VGP application procedure, known as thedsatf Intent, or NOI, h¢
yet to be finalized. Accordingly, Regulated Vessgil effectively be covered under the VGP from Fedry 6, 2009 until June 19, 2009
which time the "eNOI" electronic filing interfaceililbecome operational. Thereafter, owners and atpes of Regulated Vessels must file t
NOIs prior to September 19, 2009, or the Deadliey Regulated Vessel that does not file a NOI by Beadline will not be allowed
discharge into U.S. navigable waters until it hegamed a VGP. Our fleet is composed entirely efiated Vessels, and we intend to su
NOIs for each vessel in our fleet as soon aftee Afh 2009 as practicab
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Owners and operators of vessels visiting U.S. satgélt be required to comply with this VGP programface penalties. Compliar
with the VGP may require the installation of equegrhon our vessels to treat ballast water befoig discharged or the implementatior
other port facility disposal arrangements or praced at potentially substantial cost, and/or otlisgwestrict our vessels from entering |
waters. In addition, the CWA requires each statedrtify federal discharge permits such as the VGertain states have enacted n
stringent discharge standards as conditions ta etification of the VGP. The VGP and its stapecific regulations and any sim
restrictions enacted in the future will increase tsts of operating in the relevant waters.

The U.S. National Invasive Species Act, or NISAsvemacted in 1996 in response to growing reportsaofful organisms bei
released into U.S. ports through ballast waterrntaleby ships in foreign ports. NISA establishdehfiast water management program for s
entering U.S. waters. Under NISA midean ballast water exchange is voluntary excepthips heading to the Great Lakes or Hudson F
or vessels engaged in the foreign export of Alaskanth Slope crude oil. However NISA's reportingdarecord keeping requirements
mandatory for vessels bound for any port in thetéthiStates. Although ballast water exchange igpthmary means of compliance with
act's guidelines, compliance can also be achigwedigh the retention of ballast water looard the ship, or the use of environmentally s
alternative ballast water management methods apdrdy the U.S. Coast Guard. If the noidean ballast exchange is made mand
throughout the United States, or if water treatmegfuirements or options are instituted, the cdstampliance could increase for oc
carriers. Although we do not believe that the co$tsompliance with a mandatory matean ballast exchange would be material, it icdit
to predict the overall impact of such a requiremmmthe shipping industry. In April 2008 the U.Sude of Representatives passed a bill
amends NISA by prohibiting the discharge of ballsater unless it has been treated with specifiethats or acceptable alternatives. Sin
bills have been introduced in the U.S. Senate,writcannot predict which bill, if any, will be enadtinto law. In the absence of fed
standards, states have enacted legislation oratgos to address invasive species through balMastr and hull cleaning management
permitting requirements. For instance, the Stat€alifornia has recently enacted legislation exiegdts ballast water management progra
regulate the management of "hull fouling" organismtached to vessels and adopted regulations tignitie number of organisms in bal
water discharges. Michigan's ballast water managenegislation mandating the use of various techegfor ballast water treatment \
upheld by the federal courts. Other states maygadavith the enactment of similar requirements tloatd increase the costs of operatin
state waters.

Other Regulations

The U.S. Clean Air Act of 1970, as amended by thea Air Act Amendments of 1977 and 1990, or theACequires the EPA
promulgate standards applicable to emissions d@t¥®lorganic compounds and other air contaminddts.tanker vessels are subject to v.
control and recovery requirements for certain casg@hen loading, unloading, ballasting, cleaning @nducting other operations in regul:
port areas. Our tanker vessels that operate in jgothareas with restricted cargoes are equipp#u weipor recovery systems that satisfy tl
requirements. The CAA also requires states to @&dte Implementation Plans, or SIPs, designedt&inanational healtfibased air qualii
standards in primarily major metropolitan and/adustrial areas. Several SIPs regulate emissionstiregsfrom vessel loading and unload
operations by requiring the installation of vapontrol equipment. As indicated above, our tankesseés operating in covered port areas
already equipped with vapor recovery systems th#isfg these requirements. Although a risk existat thew regulations could reqt
significant capital expenditures and otherwise éase our costs, based on the regulations thatlbeame proposed to date, we believe the
material capital expenditures beyond those cuyethtemplated and no material increase in costilaly to be required.
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On October 9, 2008, the United States ratifiedahended Annex VI to the IMO's MARPOL Conventiondiassing air pollutio
from ships, which went into effect on January 8020The EPA and the state of California, howeveweheach proposed more string
regulations of air emissions from ocean-going Jviess€he California Air Resources Board or CARB, hasently adopted clednel
regulations applicable to all vessels sailing witBd4 miles of the California coastline whose itarégs call for them to enter any Califor
ports, terminal facilities, or internal or estuariwaters. The new CARB regulations require suclselsso use low sulfur marine fuels ra
than bunker fuel. By July 1, 2009, such vesselsregeired to switch either to marine gas oil witswfur content of no more than 1.5%
marine diesel oil with a sulfur content of no mtinan 0.5%. By 2012, only marine gas oil and madiesel oil fuels with 0.1% sulfur will t
allowed. CARB adopted the new regulations in spit¢he invalidation of similar regulations by theucts, and more legal challenges to
standards are expected to follow. If CARB prevaitsl the new regulations go into effect as schedateduly 1, 2009, in the event our ves
were to travel within such waters, these new reagna would require significant expenditures on dswifur fuel and would increase (
operating costs. Finally, although the more stnmd@ARB regime was technically superseded wherUthieed States ratified and implemer
the amended Annex VI, on March 27, 2009, the Un@¢ates requested IMO to designate the area exig2di0 miles from the territorial <
baseline adjacent to the Atlantic/Gulf and Padifdasts and the eight main Hawaiian Islands as Eonig3ontrol Areas under the Annex
amendments. If approved by the IMO, more stringamissions standards similar to the new CARB re@gnatwould apply in the Emissi
Control Areas, which would cause us to incur furttests.

Several of our vessels currently carry cargoes.® Waters and we believe that all of our vessedssaitable to meet OPA and ot
U.S. environmental requirements.

European Union Tanker Restrictions

In 2005, the European Union (EU) adopted a directinn shipsource pollution, imposing criminal sanctions fatentional, reckless
negligent pollution discharges by ships. The divectould result in criminal liability for pollutio from vessels in waters of EU countries
adopt implementing legislation. Criminal liabilitgr pollution may result in substantial penaltiedines and increased civil liability claims.

Greenhouse Gas Regulation

In February 2005, the Kyoto Protocol to the Uninations Framework Convention on Climate Changeciviie refer to as the Kyc
Protocol, entered into force. Pursuant to the Kyertotocol, adopting countries are required to impat national programs to reduce emiss
of certain gases, generally referred to as greessth@ases, which are suspected of contributing éomtéirming of the Earth's atmosph
Currently, the emissions of greenhouse gases fndenniational shipping are not subject to the KyBtotocol. A new treaty is expected tc
adopted at the United Nations climate change cenfar in Copenhagen in December 2009, and thereessyre to include shipping. 1
European Union has also indicated that it intendsropose an expansion of the existing E.U. emissitading scheme to include emissior
greenhouse gases from vessels. In the U.S., ot BrR2009, the EPA Administrator signed a propofseding that greenhouse gases thre
public health and safety and that emissions from m®tor vehicle engines contribute to concentratiohgreenhouse gases in the atmosp
Although the proposed finding does not extend tesets and vessel engines, the EPA is separateiidesimg a petition from the Califorr
Attorney General and a coalition of environmentalups to regulate greenhouse gas emissions froangumeng vessels under the Clean
Act. Climate change initiatives are also being adeied by the U.S. Congress in this session.
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Any passage of climate control legislation or ottegulatory initiatives by the IMO, E.U., the U@&.other individual countries whe
we operate that restrict emissions of greenhousesgeould require us to make significant finaneigdenditures that we cannot predict \
certainty at this time.

Vessel Security Regulations

Since the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2@%dre have been a variety of initiatives intendedemhance vessel security.
November 25, 2002, the U.S. Maritime Transporta@turity Act of 2002, or MTSA, came into effecb implement certain portions of 1
MTSA, the United States Coast Guard in July 20@8@dl regulations requiring the implementation otaie security requirements abo
vessels operating in waters subject to the jurigmicof the United States. Similarly, in Decemb862, amendments to the SOLAS Conver
created a new chapter of the convention dealingipealy with maritime security. The new chapteemt into effect on July 1, 2004 ¢
imposes various detailed security obligations osseés and port authorities, most of which are doathin the recently created Internatic
Ship and Port Facility Security Code, or the ISRSI€ The ISPS Code is designed to protect portsraahational shipping against terrori
After July 1, 2004, to trade internationally, a se&lsmust obtain an International Ship Security iieste from a recognized secul
organization approved by the vessel's flag stateog the various requirements are:

. on-board installation of automatic identificatiopseems to provide a means for the automatic trassion of safetyelatec
information from among similarly equipped ships asttbre stations, including information on a shigsntity, position
course, speed and navigational sta

. on-board installation of ship security alert systemiich do not sound on the vessel but only alegsatithorities on shor

. the development of vessel security ple

. ship identification number to be permanently markada vessel's hul

. a continuous synopsis record kept onboard showingsael's history including, name of the ship ahthe state whose fl;

the ship is entitled to fly, the date on which #ép was registered with that state, the ship'stifieation number, the port
which the ship is registered and the name of thistered owner(s) and their registered address

. compliance with flag state security certificati@yuirements
The U.S. Coast Guard regulations, intended to alijh international maritime security standardssmpt from MTSA vessel secur
measures nokkS. vessels that have on board, as of July 1, ,2804lid ISSC attesting to the vessel's compliamite SOLAS Conventio

security requirements and the ISPS Code. We hapteimented the various security measures address®tiTBA, the SOLAS Conventio
and the ISPS Code, and our fleet is in complianitie applicable security requirements.
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Inspection by Classification Societies

Every seagoing vessel must be "classed" by aifitadion society. The classification society ders that the vessel is "in clas
signifying that the vessel has been built and nadéied in accordance with the rules of the clas#ifinn society and complies with applice
rules and regulations of the vessel's country gistey and the international conventions of whibhttcountry is a member. In addition, wt
surveys are required by international conventior @rresponding laws and ordinances of a flag staé classification society will undert:
them on application or by official order, acting loghalf of the authorities concerned.

The classification society also undertakes or retpuether surveys and checks that are require@édpylations and requirements of
flag state. These surveys are subject to agreemeade in each individual case and/or to the reguiatof the country concerned.

For maintenance of the class, regular and extraardisurveys of hull, machinery, including the #&lieal plant, and any spec
equipment classed are required to be performedliasvé:

Annual SurveysFor seagoing ships, annual surveys are conductethéohull and the machinery, including the eleetriplant, an
where applicable for special equipment classeihtatvals of 12 months from the date of commencedmoéithe class period indicated in
certificate.

Intermediate Survey€Extended annual surveys are referred to as intéateedurveys and typically are conducted two aneHuaif
years after commissioning and each class renemtatnhediate surveys may be carried out on the amtas the second or third annual surv

Class Renewal SurveyGiass renewal surveys, also known as special sspagg carried out for the ship's hull, machinargluding
the electrical plant, and for any special equipn@assed, at the intervals indicated by the charadftclassification for the hull. At the spe:
survey, the vessel is thoroughly examined, inclgdindiogauging to determine the thickness of the steatsires. Should the thickness
found to be less than class requirements, theifitadgn society would prescribe steel renewalke Tlassification society may grant a one-
year grace period for completion of the specialeyr Substantial amounts of money may have to katdjor steel renewals to pass a sp
survey if the vessel experiences excessive weateard In lieu of the special survey every fourfige years, depending on whether a g
period was granted, a shipowner has the optionr@nging with the classification society for thessel's hull or machinery to be ol
continuous survey cycle, in which every part of vieesel would be surveyed within a five-year cycle.

At an owner's application, the surveys requiredcfass renewal may be split according to an agsebddule to extend over the er
period of class. This process is referred to asimoous class renewal.

All areas subject to survey as defined by the dflaation society are required to be surveyed asieonce per class period, un
shorter intervals between surveys are prescritssivdlere. The period between two subsequent suofegch area must not exceed five years.

Most vessels are also ddpcked every 30 to 36 months for inspection ofuhderwater parts and for repairs related to ingpest I1

any defects are found, the classification surveyifirissue a "recommendation" which must be fetiby the ship owner within prescrit
time limits.
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Most insurance underwriters make it a conditionif@urance coverage that a vessel be certifiethaddss" by a classification soci
which is a member of the International AssociatibrClassification Societies. All our vessels aretified as being "in class" by the Ameri
Bureau of Shipping, Lloyd's Register of ShippingDet Norske Veritas. All new and secondhand vesselswe purchase must be certi
prior to their delivery under our standard contsaatd memorandum of agreement. If the vessel isertified on the date of closing, we h
no obligation to take delivery of the vessel.

Risk of Loss and Liability Insurance General

The operation of any cargo vessel includes riskf st mechanical failure, collision, property lasa,go loss or damage and busii
interruption due to political circumstances in fgrecountries, hostilities and labor strikes. Imigidn, there is always an inherent possibilit
marine disaster, including oil spills and other iemwmental mishaps, and the liabilities arisingnirawning and operating vessels
international trade. OPA, which imposes virtuallylimited liability upon owners, operators and deeniharterers of any vessel trading in
United States exclusive economic zone for certdipailution accidents in the United States, haslen#ability insurance more expensive
ship owners and operators trading in the UnitedeStmarket. While we carry loss of hire insurar@edver 100% of our fleet, we may not
able to maintain this level of coverage. Furthemnavhile we believe that our present insurance @gee is adequate, not all risks car
insured, and there can be no guarantee that awyfispetaim will be paid, or that we will always lable to obtain adequate insurance cove
at reasonable rates.

Hull and Machinery Insurance

We have obtained marine hull and machinery andrigskiinsurance, which includes the risk of actuatenstructive total loss, gene
average, particular average, salvage, salvage efiasge and labor, damage received in collisiazootact with fixed or floating objects for
of the vessels in our fleet. The vessels in owgtfege each covered up to at least fair marketeyalith deductibles of $100,000 per vesse
incident, for the seven Handymax tankers and fiydualk vessels. We also have arranged increasee \caverage for some vessels. Undel
increased value coverage, in the event of total tdsa vessel, we will recover for amounts not vecable under the hull and machinery pc
by reason of any under-insurance.

Loss of Hire Insurance

We have obtained Loss of Hire Insurance to coveidhs of hire of each vessel for 90 days in exoé8€ days in case of an incid
that is coverable by Hull and Machinery policy.

Protection and Indemnity Insurance

Protection and indemnity insurance is provided lyual protection and indemnity associations, or R&sociations, which covers ¢
third party liabilities in connection with our sipimg activities. This includes third party liabyliand other related expenses of injury or dea
crew, passengers and other third parties, lossmade to cargo, claims arising from collisions vather vessels, damage to other third
property, pollution arising from oil or other sudstes, including wreck removal. Protection and mmaigy insurance is a form of muti
indemnity insurance, extended by protection andefimaity mutual associations, or "clubs." Subjecthe "capping” discussed below,
coverage, except for pollution, is unlimited.
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Our current protection and indemnity insurance cage for pollution is $1.0 billion per vessel pecident. The 13 P&l Associatio
that comprise the International Group insure apipnately 90% of the world's commercial tonnage aadehentered into a pooling agreen
to reinsure each association's liabilities. Each R&€sociation has capped its exposure to this pgadigreement at $4.25 billion. As a men
of a P&l Association, which is a member of the intgional Group, we are subject to calls payabkagoassociations based on its claim rec
as well as the claim records of all other membénhe individual associations, and members of tbel pf P&l Associations comprising t
International Group.

Competition

We operate in markets that are highly competitivé based primarily on supply and demand. We comfpeteharters on the basis
price, vessel location, size, age and conditiothefvessel, as well as on our reputation as aratgree arrange our time charters and vo
charters in the spot market through the use ofdmkwvho negotiate the terms of the charters basedarket conditions. We compete prime
with owners of tankers in the Handymax class saed also with owners of drybulk vessels in the Hamax and Panamax class si.
Ownership of tankers is highly fragmented and vgddid among major oil companies and independergelesvners. The drybulk market is |
fragmented with more small operators.

Seasonality

We operate our vessels in markets that have hisityiexhibited seasonal variations in demand aherefore, charter rates. T
seasonality may affect operating results. Curremthe of our drybulk vessels is not under any Itargn charter employment and as a rest
revenues may be affected by the seasonality ofithleulk market which is typically stronger in thallfand winter months in anticipation
increased consumption of coal and other raw mageria

Legal Proceedings Against Us

In December 2006, the Company and certain of ieetive officers and directors were named as detfetsdin various class acti
securities complaints brought in the United Stddestrict Court for the Southern District of New Yoralleging violations of the Securit
Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 1Blpromulgated thereunder, which were subsequentigalidated under the caption In re Top Tankers
Securities Litigation, Case No. 06-#3761 (CM), which we refer to as the Putative Clason. On December 18, 2007, the Court denie
motion to dismiss brought by the Company and otleéendants in connection with the Putative ClastsoAcOn or about January 18, 2008,
parties reached a settlement agreement in prineipkreby the plaintiff, on behalf of members of @lass who do not opt out, would disn
all claims against the Company with prejudice inteange for a settlement payment of $1.2 million.

On April 28, 2008, the Court entered an order priglarily approving the proposed settlement andctiing that notice be given to all poten
members of the Class of the proposed settlememt.Cldurt ordered a hearing on July 31, 2008 to deter whether the settlement shoulc
approved. The settlement hearing took place asdsté, and Judge McMahon approved the settlemahtavard of attorneys' fees to cl
counsel. The clerk of the court terminated the aaseluly 31, 2008. The settlement was funded byGbmpany's directors and office
insurance carriers.
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C. Organizational Structure

TOP SHIPS INC. is the sole owner of all outstandihgres of the whollpwned subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008. TORPS
INC. is the sole owner of all outstanding sharetheffollowing subsidiaries:

Shipowning Companies with vessels s

1 Olympos Shipping Company Limite
2 Vermio Shipping Company Limited ( "Faithful
3 Kalidromo Shipping Company Limited ("Kalidroma
4 Olympos Shipping Company Limited ("Olympot
5 Rupel Shipping Company Inc. ("Rupe
6 Helidona Shipping Company Limited ("Helidon:
7 Mytikas Shipping Company Ltd. ("Mytikas
8 Litochoro Shipping Company Ltd. ("Litochora
9 Vardousia Shipping Company Ltd. ("Vardousi
10 Psiloritis Shipping Company Ltd. ("Psiloritis
11 Menalo Shipping Company Ltd. ("Menalc
12 Pintos Shipping Company Ltd. ("Pintos
13 Pylio Shipping Company Ltd. ("Pylio’
14 Taygetus Shipping Company Ltd. ("Taygetu
15 Imitos Shipping Company Limited ("Imitos
16 Parnis Shipping Company Limited ("Parni
17 Parnasos Shipping Company Limited ("Parnas
18 Vitsi Shipping Company Limited ("Vitsi"
19 Kisavos Shipping Company Limited ("Kisavo:
20 Agion Oros Shipping Company Limited ("Agion Orc
21 Giona Shipping Company Limited ("Gione
22 Agrafa Shipping Company Limited ("Agraf:
23 Ardas Shipping Company Limited ("Arda
24 Nedas Shipping Company Limited ("Nede
25 Kifisos Shipping Company Limited ("Kifisos
26 Sperhios Shipping Company Limited ("Sperhic
27 Noir Shipping S.A. ("Noir"
Shipowning Companies with sold and leased back gesat December 31, 20(
28 Gramos Shipping Company Inc. ("Grama
29 Falakro Shipping Company Ltd. ("Falakrc
30 Pageon Shipping Company Ltd. ("Pagec
31 Idi Shipping Company Ltd. ("Idi"
32 Parnon Shipping Company Ltd. ("Parno
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Shipowning Companies with vessels in operation®atember 31, 200

33 Lefka Shipping Company Limited ("Lefki

34 llisos Shipping Company Limited ("llisos

35 Amalfi Shipping Company Limited ("Amalf

36 Jeke Shipping Company Limited ("Jek

37 Japan | Shipping Company Limited ("Japan

38 Japan Il Shipping Company Limited ("Japan |

39 Japan Il Shipping Company Limited ("Japan Il
Shipowning Companies with vessels under construetis December 31, 20C

40 Warhol Shipping Company Limited ("Warha

41 Lichtenstein Shipping Company Limited ("Lichtense

42 Banksy Shipping Company Limited ("Banks

43 Indiana R Shipping Company Limited ("Indiana |

44 Britto Shipping Company Limited ("Britto

45 Hongbo Shipping Company Limited ("Hongb
Other Companie:

46 Top Tankers (U.K.) Limite

a7 Top Bulker Management It

48 TOP Tanker Management Inc ((the "Manage

49 lerissos Shipping In

D. Properties, Plants and Equipment

For a list of our fleet see "Business Overview + Blget" above.

In January 2006, we entered into an agreementamtanrelated party to lease office space in Ath@msece. The office is locatec
1, Vasilisis Sofias & Megalou Alexandrou Street]1 5 Maroussi, Athens, Greece. The agreement ia thration of 12 years beginning M
2006 with a lessee's option for an extension ofddys. The current monthly rental is $161,231 (Basethe Dollar/Euro exchange rate a
December 31, 2008) adjusted annually for inflatimrease plus 1.0%.

In addition, our subsidiary TOP TANKERS (U.K.) LIMED, a representative office in London, leasescef§pace in London, from
unrelated third party.

ITEM 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

48




ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following management's discussion and analgsistended to discuss our financial condition, rdiess in financial condition a
results of operations, and should be read in caiom with our historical consolidated financiahtgments and their notes included in
report.

This discussion contains forwaldeking statements that reflect our current viewghwespect to future events and finan
performance. Our actual results may differ matiriitbm those anticipated in these forwdodking statements as a result of certain fac
such as those set forth in the section entitledKRiactors" and elsewhere in this report.

Overview

We are an international provider of seaborne trariafion services, carrying petroleum productsderoil and drybulk commoditi
for the steel, electric utility, construction angriaulture-food industries.

As of December 31, 2008, our fleet consisted of/é&sels (five drybulk vessels and seven tankeri, tatal carrying capacity
approximately 0.7 million dwt (including seven owhand five vessels sold and leased back for a ¢gh@fidive to seven years) as compare
23 vessels (three drybulk vessels and 20 tankeit),total carrying capacity of approximately 2.4llion dwt (including 11 vessels sold &
leased back for a period of five to seven yeardpecember 31, 2007.

Since 2007, we have been seeking to reduce ourirandjoancial expenditure by unwinding or reacquiyithe vessels sold and lea
back during 2005 and 2006.

During 2007, we reacquired four previously sold d&mbked back Suezmax tankers. During 2008, we umivsix leased vessels
assisting their owners in disposing them. To datend 2009, we have managed to unwind or agreeghteind the remaining five leas
vessels by incurring one off termination fees. Hjmdly, as of the date of this report, we havdekvered four out of five leased vessels to |
new owners. The fifth one will be redelivered ie tthird quarter of 2009. After the redelivery oé tlast leased vessel, our company will ret
with a very young tanker fleet of seven produckeas —five built in 2009, one built in 2003 and one built1999, and a relatively you
drybulk fleet, five drybulk vesselstwo Panamaxes built in 2000, one Handymax buiR000, one Panamax built in 2001 and one Supr
built in 2002

Also, in 2007, we diversified our fleet portfolig ladding drybulk vessels to our fleet. This diviesiion significantly added to our r
income during 2008 and is expected to contribusgtipely to our results during 2009.

The termination of the leases which took away qlitess making vessels from our fleet together wittvell timed entrance in t
drybulk sector and the employment of these vesselsharters at above market rates which contribatgudificantly to 2008 results, helg
transform the company from a loss making one in72@a profitable one in 2008. See "Results ofratiens for the fiscal years enc
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008" for more infoionat

Segments

Since the acquisition of drybulk vessels in therflouarter of 2007, we have been analyzing andrtigyg our results of operations
two segments: tanker fleet and drybulk fleet.

Tanker fleet: For the year ended December 31, 2008, revenueghifo segment were $164.0 million and operatingpine $13.
million.

Drybulk fleet: For the year ended December 31, 2008, revenuethifo segment were $71.6 million and operatingopine $26.
million.
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A. Operating results

Factors affecting our results of operations- all segments

We believe that the important measures for anafytriends in the results of our operations for batitkers and drybulk vessels cor
of the following:

» Calendar days. We define calendar days as the nataber of days in a period during which each Jesseur fleet was in ot
possession, including offire days associated with major repairs, dry dagkior special or intermediate surveys. Calendas dag an indicat
of the size of our fleet over a period and affemthithe amount of revenues and the amount of exgehst we record during that period.

* Voyage days. We define voyage days as the totabeumf days in a period during which each vesselunfleet (including vesse
we operate under our lease agreements) was inaasepsion net of offire days associated with major repairs, dry dagkior special «
intermediate surveys. The shipping industry usegsge days (also referred to as available days)dasore the number of days in a pe
during which vessels actually generate revenues.

* Fleet utilization. We calculate fleet utilizatiory llividing the number of our voyage days duringesigel by the number of ¢
calendar days during that period. The shipping stijuuses fleet utilization to measure a compaeffisiency in finding suitable employme
for its vessels and minimizing the amount of ddyat tits vessels are offire for reasons such as scheduled repairs, veggghdes, di
dockings or special or intermediate surveys.

« Spot Charter Rates. Spot charter rates are lehaid fluctuate on a seasonal and yearetar basis. Fluctuations are by imbalanci
the availability of cargoes for shipment and thenber of vessels available at any given time togpant these cargoes.

* TCE revenues. We define TCE revenues as revenuassrmoyage expenses. Voyage expenses primarilystafsport, canal ar
fuel costs that are unique to a particular voyagech would otherwise be paid by a charterer uradéme charter, as well as commissions.
believe that presenting revenues net of voyageresggeneutralizes the variability created by unicpss associated with particular voyage
the deployment of vessels on the spot market acilitédes comparisons between periods on a comgibisis. We calculate daily TCE rates
dividing TCE revenues by voyage days for the reiviane period. TCE revenues include demurragemegewhich represents fees charge
charterers associated with our spot market voyagdes the charterer exceeds the agreed upon timereddo load or discharge a cargo.
calculate daily direct vessel operating expenseb daily general and administrative expenses forrddevant period by dividing the to
expenses by the aggregate number of calendar batyaé owned each vessel for the period.
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In accordance with GAAP measures, we report reveiiueur income statements and include voyage esgeamong our expens
However, in the shipping industry the economic siecis are based on vessels' deployment upon atBdpl CE rates, and industry anal
typically measure shipping freight rates in termhid' GE rates. This is because under tialerter and bareboat contracts the customer u
pays the voyage expenses, while under voyage chdhe shipswner usually pays the voyage expenses, whichadjlpiare added to the h
rate at an approximate cost. Consistent with inglystactice, management uses TCE as it provideganmof comparison between diffel
types of vessel employment and, therefore, as$éstision making process.

Voyage Revenues

Tanker segment

Our voyage revenues are driven primarily by the enmof vessels in our fleet, the number of voyaggsdduring which our vess
generate revenues and the amount of daily chartetiét our vessels earn under charters, whictyrim are affected by a number of fact
including our decisions relating to vessel acqigis and disposals, the amount of time that we dgpasitioning our vessels, the amour
time that our vessels spend in dry dock undergo&pgirs, maintenance and upgrade work, the duratiaghe charter, the age, condition
specifications of our vessels, levels of supply dethand in the global transportation market forppdducts or bulk cargo and other fac
affecting spot market charter rates such as vesgglly and demand imbalances.

Vessels operating on period charters, time chadiebareboat charters, provide more predictabla 8as/s, but can yield lower pro
margins than vessels operating in the skemms, or spot, charter market during periods charamed by favorable market conditions. Ves
operating in the spot charter market generate re®that are less predictable, but may enable gagture increased profit margins du
periods of improvements in charter rates, althowghare exposed to the risk of declining chartees;atvhich may have a materially adw
impact on our financial performance. If we empl@ssels on period charters, future spot market raggsbe higher or lower than the rate
which we have employed our vessels on period tinaeters.

Under a time charter, the charterer typically pays fixed daily charter hire rate and bears ajiage expenses, including the cos
bunkers (fuel oil) and port and canal charges. @feain responsible for paying the chartered vesspésating expenses, including the co:
crewing, insuring, repairing and maintaining thessad, the costs of spares and consumable stomsage taxes and other miscellane
expenses, and we also pay commissions to one a om&ffiliated ship brokers and to limuse brokers associated with the charterer fc
arrangement of the relevant charter.

Under a bareboat charter, the vessel is chartered $tipulated period of time which gives the tdy@r possession and control of
vessel, including the right to appoint the mastet the crew. Under bareboat charters all voyageopedating costs are paid by the chart
During 2009, we have taken delivery of five newbunfy product tankers all of which are on barebdetriers for a period between 7 anc
years. During 2007 and 2008, we also employedele#s the spot market and we may do so againdriuture depending on prevailing mau
conditions at the time our period charters expire.

Drybulker segment

The above discussion for the Tanker Segment alpliespto the drybulker segment with the only diflece being the differe
economics that apply in the global markets fowveilsus the global market for dry products shippelboluilk.

As of the date of this report, four of our drybulkssels were operating under time charters andioder a bareboat charter.
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Revenues for the drybulker segment include amaitizeof fair value of below market acquired timeader liability. Specifically
when vessels are acquired with period charterstathand the rates on such charters are below tamkide acquisition date, we allocate
total cost between the vessel and the fair valubetdw market time charter based on the relativeviaues of the vessel and the liabi
acquired. The fair value of the attached periodteinas computed as the present value of the diffee between the contractual amount 1
received over the term of the period charter andagament's estimates of the market period chaaterat the time of acquisition. The
value of below market period charter is amortizedrahe remaining period of the period charterragarease to revenues.

In November and December 2007 and February 2008acmeired the drybulk vessels M/V Bertram, M/V Afmand M/V Voc
Gallant, respectively, with attached time chart@ntcacts. As a result, the purchase price of thesels was allocated between vessel cos
the fair value of the time charter contracts, iotain aggregate $43.3 million, which is refleciad~air Value of Below Market Time Charter
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.\Antiothe sale of the M/V Bertram, in April 16, 2Q08e then unamortized fair value
below market time charter of $16.1 million was venitoff to the loss from the sale of vessel. For tharyended December 31, 2007 and 2
the amortization of the fair value of the time d¢barcontracts totaled $1.4 million and $21.8 miilieespectively and is included in Revenue
the accompanying consolidated statement of op&satio

Voyage Expenses
Tanker segment

Voyage expenses primarily consist of port chargeduding canal dues, bunkers (fuel costs) and csions. All these expens
except commissions, are paid by the charterer uadéne charter or bareboat charter contract. Theumt of voyage expenses are me
driven by the routes that the vessels travel, theunt of ports called on, the canals crossed amgttice of bunker fuels paid. This category
less significant in 2008 when compared to 2007 theefact that less vessels were operating in tloe sy@rket in 2008. In 2009, voye
expenses are expected to be even less signifivart all our tanker vessels are either on timetehsuor bareboat charters expiring after 2009.

Drybulker segment
Our drybulk vessels are operating under time chamebareboat charter contracts and hence voyagenses primarily consist
commissions on the time charters.

Charter Hire Expenses
Tanker segment

Charter hire expenses consist of lease paymenteefsels sold and leasbdek during 2005 and 2006 for periods between tid
seven years.

Drybulker segment

Not applicable.
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Other Vessel Operating Expenses
Tanker and Drybulker segment

Vessel operating expenses include crew wages aédecosts, the cost of insurance, expensesnglatirepairs and maintenance,
costs of spares and consumable stores, tonnage dadeother miscellaneous expenses for vesselsvéhatvn and vessels that we lease u
our operating leases. Our vessel operating expewbésh generally represent fixed costs, have histly increased as a result of the incre
in the size of our fleet. We analyze vessel opegatixpenses on a $ / per day basis. Additionadigsel operating expenses daictuate due t
factors beyond our control, such as unplanned repaid maintenance which can be quite signifioanfactors which may affect the shipp
industry in general, such as developments relabngsurance premiums, or developments relatingn¢oavailability of crew, may also cai
these expenses to increase.

Dry-docking Costs
Tanker segment

Dry docking costs relate to the regularly schedimgermediate survey or special survey doeking necessary to preserve the qu
of our vessels (see relevant accounting policywadi as to comply with international shipping stands and environmental laws
regulations. Dry docking costs can vary accordmthe age of the vessel, the location where thdatly takes place, shipyard availability, Ic
availability of manpower and material, the billiegrrency of the yard, the days the vessel is o m order to complete its survey and
diversion necessary in order to get from the last pf employment to the yard and back to a pasifar the next employment. In the cas
tankers, dry docking costs may also be affectechdy rules and regulations (see "ltem 4 — Infornmatim the Company B. Busines
Overview — Environmental Regulations).

Drybulker segment

The above discussion for the Tanker Segment alglieapto the drybulker segment. The effect of neles and regulations on cos
lower in the drybulker segment due to the lowelytimn risk this segment has compared to tankers.

Sub Managers Fees
Tanker segment

Historically, we have been outsourcing part ordllour technical functions and crewing to third tgs. Since 2007, Top Tanl
Management, our wholly owned subsidiary has beeateaking a larger role in technical managementethe reducing the dependence
third parties. Given the relatively small size bétcompany our Board of Directors is currently hie process of determining the most
efficient model of management, i.e. liwuse management versus outsourcing. With regard®tving, we will continue to use third parties
to access to larger pools of crew.

Drybulker segment

Top Tankers Management performs the technical nanagt of the drybulk vessels, except crew managgnfram the date «
delivery to us. Given the relatively small sizetbé company our Board of Directors is currentlythie process of determining the most
efficient model of management, i.e.liouse management versus outsourcing. With regard®wing, we will continue to use third parties
to access to larger pools of crew.
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Other General and Administrative Expenses
Tanker and Drybulker segments

Other general and administrative expenses inclbdesalaries and other related costs of senior neemewt, directors and other
shore employees, our office rent, legal and awglittosts, regulatory compliance costs, other migoebus office expenses, loteg#r
compensation costs, non cash stock compensatidnc@porate overhead. Other general and admiristrakxpenses are Euro denomin
except for some legal fees and are therefore affiday the conversion rate of the U.S. dollar veteasEuro.

General and administrative expenses are allocatdiferent segments based on calendar days oélsesperated.

Interest and Finance Costs
Tanker and Drybulker segments

We have historically incurred interest expense famahcing costs in connection with vessekecific debt. Interest expense is dire
related with the repayment schedule of our lodres prevailing LIBOR and the relevant margin.

Recently, however, lenders have insisted on prowssthat entitle the lenders, in their discretimnreplace published LIBOR as
base for the interest calculation with their cosfemds rate which in all cases is higher than LIB@ditionally, as part of our discussic
with banks with regards to certain loan covenaefibhes, we have agreed to increase the margirstaincof our loans (see "B-. Liquidity
and Capital Resources).

Inflation
Tanker and Drybulker segments

Inflation has not had a material effect on our ewgaes given current economic conditions. In the evkat significant globi
inflationary pressures appear, these pressuregiviloeriease our operating, voyage, administrativefarancing costs.

In evaluating our financial condition, we focus thie above measures to assess our historical apgr@girformance and we use fut
estimates of the same measures to assess our fitareial performance. In assessing the futurdoperance of our fleet, the greal
uncertainty relates to the spot market which aff¢lsbse of our vessels not employed on time chartbareboat charter or whose charters
expire. Decisions about future purchases and sélesssel, and the unwinding of the sales leasetradkactions are based on the financia
operational evaluation of such actions and depenthe overall state of the drybulk and tanker migrkéhe availability of relevant purchi
candidates, the availability of financing and oangral assessment of the prospects for the segthanise operate in.

Lack of Historical Operating Data for Vessels Befoe Their Acquisition

Although vessels are generally acquired free oftehawe have acquired (and may in the future aejisome vessels with tir
charters. Where a vessel has been under a voyageehthe vessel is usually delivered to the buses of charter. It is rare in the shipp
industry for the last charterer of the vessel ia flands of the seller to continue as the firsttehar of the vessel in the hands of the buye
most cases, when a vessel is under time chartetharolyer wishes to assume that charter, the hesseot be acquired without the charte
consent and the buyer entering into a separatetdiggeement (a "novation agreement”) with the telhar to assume the charter. The purc
of a vessel itself does not transfer the charteabse it is a separate service agreement betweemsisel owner and the charterer.
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Where we identify any intangible assets or lialgiitassociated with the acquisition of a vessel,all@cate the purchase price
identified tangible and intangible assets or lidib# based on their relative fair values. Faiueails determined by reference to market dat:
the discounted amount of expected future cash floMisere we have assumed an existing charter oldigat entered into a time charter v
the existing charterer in connection with the pasehof a vessel at charter rates that are lessnthgket charter rates, we record a liabi
based on the difference between the assumed chatteand the market charter rate for an equivalessel. Conversely, where we assurnr
existing charter obligation or enter into a timexthr with the existing charterer in connectiontwtiie purchase of a vessel at charter rate
are above market charter rates, we record an dssstd on the difference between the market cheaterfor an equivalent vessel and
contracted charter rate. This determination is matdéne time the vessel is delivered to us, andh sissets and liabilities are amortized
reduction or increase to revenue over the remaipargd of the charter.

In November and December 2007 and February 20@8Ctmpany acquired the drybulk vessels M/V Bertrify/ Amalfi and M/V
Voc Gallant, respectively, with attached time cbadontracts. As a result, the purchase price ®fvéssels was allocated between vesse
and the fair value of the time charter contraattaling in aggregate $43.3 million, which is refext in Fair Value of Below Market Tir
Charter on the accompanying consolidated balaneetsh

During 2009, the Company did not acquire any vass®ich were under existing bareboat or time chadatracts.

When we purchase a vessel and assume or renegotieli@ed time charter, we must take the followsteps before the vessel will
ready to commence operations:

. obtain the charterer's consent to us as the nevep

. obtain the charterer's consent to a new techniealager

. in some cases, obtain the charterer's conseméewavdlag for the vesse

. arrange for a new crew for the vessel, and whegevéissel is on charter, in some cases, the crew lmeuapproved by tl
charterer

. replace all hired equipment on board, such as gaslers and communication equipme

. negotiate and enter into new insurance contracthévessel through our own insurance brokers;

. register the vessel under a flag state and perfoemelated inspections in order to obtain newitigdertificates from the fle
state.

The following discussion is intended to help youerstand how acquisitions of vessels affect ouinegs and results of operatic
Our business is comprised of the following mainredats:

. employment and operation of our tanker and drybelsels; an

. management of the financial, general and adminigéraelements involved in the conduct of our busghand ownership
our tanker and drybulk vesse
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The employment and operation of our vessels redn@dollowing main components:

. vessel maintenance and rep

. crew selection and trainin

. vessel spares and stores sup

. contingency response plannir

. onboard safety procedures auditi

. accounting

. vessel insurance arrangeme

. vessel chartering

. vessel security training and security responsesple8PS).
. obtain ISM certification and audit for each vessihin the six months of taking over a ves:
. vessel hire manageme

. vessel surveying; ar

. vessel performance monitorir

The management of financial, general and adminig&r&lements involved in the conduct of our busihand ownership of our ves:
requires the following main components:

. management of our financial resources, includingkby relationships, i.e., administration of bankns and bank accoun
. management of our accounting system and record§iraarttial reporting

. administration of the legal and regulatory requieais affecting our business and assets;

. management of the relationships with our serviowigiers and customer

The principal factors that affect our profitabiligash flows and shareholders' return on investinehtde:

. Charter rates and periods of charter hire for ankér and drybulk vesse

. Utilization of our tanker and drybulk vessels (eags efficiency);

. levels of our tanker and drybulk vessels' operagixigenses and dry docking co¢
. depreciation and amortization expens

. financing costs; an

. fluctuations in foreign exchange rat
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Results of operations for the fiscal years ended Bember 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008

The following table depicts changes in the respiitsperations for 2008 compared to 2007 and 2007pesed to 2006.

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEOQ7 v YEO06 YEO8 v YEO7

($ in thousands $% $%
Voyage Revenue 310,04: 252,25¢ 257,38( (57,789 -18.6% 5,121 2.C%
Voyage expense 55,35! 59,41+ 38,65¢ 4,06: 7.3% (20,759 -34.9%
Charter hire expensi 96,30z 94,11¢ 53,68¢ (2,184 -2.3% (40,439 -43.(%
Amortization of
deferred gain on sale
and least (8,110 (15,610 (18,707 (7,500 92.5% (3,099 19.6%
Other Vessel operatit
expense! 66,08 67,91« 67,11« 1,832 2.8% (800) -1.2%
Dry-docking cost: 39,33¢ 25,09/ 10,03¢ (14,239 -36.2% (15,05%) -60.(%
Depreciatior 35,26¢ 27,40¢ 32,66¢ (7,85¢) -22.2% 5,25¢ 19.2%
Sut-Manager fee 2,75k 1,82¢ 1,15¢ (927 -33.6% (66%) -36.6%
Other general an
administrative
expense! 20,26! 22,99¢ 30,31« 2,73¢ 13.5% 7,31¢ 31.8%
Foreign currenc
(gains) / losses, ni 25E 17¢€ (85) (79 -31.(% (261) -148.2%
Gain on sale of vesse (12,667 (1,967) (19,179 10,70¢ -84.5% (17,21°) 878.(%
Expenses 294,82¢ 281,37 195,65 (13,45) -4.6% (85,72() -30.5%
Operating income
(loss) 15,21t (29,119 61,72: (44,337) -291.%% 90,84 -312.(%
Interest and finance
costs (27,030 (19,519 (25,76 7,512 -27.8% (6,24¢) 32.(%
Gain / (loss) ot
financial instrument (2,145 (3,709 (22,029 (1,559 72.71% (8,320 224.%
Interest incomt 3,022 3,24¢ 1,831 22€ 7.5% (1,417 -43.6%
Other, ne (67) 16 (127) 83 -123.%% (143) -893.£%
Total other income
(expenses), ne (26,220 (19,959 (36,084 6,262 -23.% (16,126 80.8%
Net income (loss (11,00%) (49,076) 25,63¢ (38,077) 345.9% 74,71t -152.2%
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The table below presents the key measures of damtr segments for the each of the years 2006, 20072008 (also see Iltem 18
Financial Statements: Note 4 — Segment Reportifilg¢. Average TCE ($/day) amounts are reconciled Ad\B measures, (see "ltem 3A-
Selected Financial Data").

12-months ended December 3 change
YEOQ7 v YEO8 v
2006 2007 2008 YEO6 YEOQ7
($ in thousands % %
TANKER FLEET***
Total number of vessels at end of pet 24.C 20.C 7.C -16.71% -65.(%
Average number of vesse 26.7 222 13.¢ -16.8% -37.2%
Total calendar days for fle 9,74 8,11( 5,09t -16.£% -37.2%
Total voyage days for fleet under SP 2,411 2,312 1,03¢ -4.1% -55.2%
Total voyage days for fleet under time char 6,22: 4,67¢ 3,322 -24.8% -29.(%
Fleet utilization 88.€% 86.2% 85.5% -2.7% -0.8%
Average TCE ($/day 29,49¢ 27,13¢ 29,78¢ -8.C% 9.8%
DRY BULKER FLEET
Total number of vessels at end of pet - 3.C 5.C - 66.7%
Average number of vesse - 0.2 4.9 - 2589.(%
Total calendar days for flee - 66 1,78( - 2597.(%
Total voyage days for fleet under time char - 41 1,742 - 4148.%%
Fleet utilization - 62.1% 97.%% - 57.5%
Average TCE ($/day)* - 42,46 38,541 - -9.2%
TOTAL FLEET
Total number of vessels at end of pet 24.C 23.C 12.C -4.2% -47.&%
Average number of vesse 26.7 22.4 18.¢ -16.1% -16.1%
Total calendar days for flee 9,74 8,17¢ 6,87t -16.1% -15.%%
Total voyage days for fleet under SP! 2,411 2,312 1,03t -4.1% -55.2%
Total voyage days for fleet under time char 6,22: 4,72( 5,06¢4 -24.2% 7.2%
Fleet utilization 88.€% 86.(% 88.7% -2.5% 3.1%
Average TCE ($/day)* 29,49¢ 27,424 35,86: -7.C% 30.6%

* Total calendar days for fleet for 2008 includes3Bays of bareboat charter relating to vessel VakiaGt

** Amortization of Time Charter Fair Value is natdluded in the calculation of the Average TCE ($)daf the drybulk fleet, but it is included
in the total fleet consistent with our segment pn¢ation.

*** Includes owned and leased back vessels.
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Year On Year Comparison Of Operating Results

Revenues
Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEOQ7 v YEO06 YEO8 v YEO7

Revenues by Segme (% in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet 310,04: 248,94 163,99! (61,099 -19.7% (84,949 -34.1%
Drybulk Fleet - 1,902 71,59( 1,902 - 69,68¢ 3663.9%
Unallocated - 1,41z 21,79¢ 1,412 - 20,38: 1442 2%
Consolidated

Revenues 310,04: 252,25¢ 257,38( (57,789 -18.€% 5,121 2.C%

Tanker segment
2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, tanker revenues decreased by $84.8omibr 34.1% compared to 2007. This was mainly tlu¢he decrease in the aver
number of tanker vessels that we operated, frord 222007 to 13.9 in 2008, as a result of our laassinding strategy, which resulted in
termination of six leases during 2008, and the shkeven owned vessels during 2008. The decreabe irevenues relating to the vessels
in 2008 amounted to $ 66.4 million. In additionridg 2008 total days operating in the spot marlestrelased by 55.2% which was parti
offset by an increase in average TCE by 9.8%. dtilon during 2008 was lower than 2007 by 0.8% &ssalt of increased downtime du
repairs and maintenance.

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, tanker revenues decreased by $61liomibr 19.7% compared to 2006. This was mainly tlu¢he decrease in the aver
number of tanker vessels that we operated, from 262006 to 22.2 in 2007 as a result of the teatiim of three leases and the sale of
owned vessel during 2007. In addition, the totalage days operating in the spot market decreasddlBy during 2007 compared to 2006
this decrease was further intensified by a decrégaseverage TCE by 8.0%. Utilization during 2007swawer than 2006 by 2.7% due
increased downtime due to repairs and maintenance.

Drybulker segment

2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, drybulk vessel revenues increasedd@®/®million or 3,663.9% compared to 2007. This wase to the fact that the drybulk fl
had its first full year of operation during 2008urdirst three drybulkers were delivered during tharth quarter of 2007, and the remair
three during the first two quarters of 2008 (M/Vr8am which was delivered during 2007 was sold88). Our drybulk fleet is expectec
contribute significantly to our revenues during 20fue to the high charter rates that we have aelien some of our vessels (see Ite
Information on the Company — Fleet List).

2007 Vs 2006
During 2006, we had no drybulk vessels.

Unallocated revenues This amount refers to the amortization of the ¥alue of the time charter contracts of the dridudssels M/V
Bertram, M/V Amalfi and M/V Voc Gallant. This amotis included in the total Revenues but is exclufifeth segment revenue to be
consistent with how management evaluates segmeforpance and allocates resources.
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Expenses

1. Voyage expense

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEOQ7 v YEO6 YEO8 v YEO7
Voyage Expenses by Segme ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet 55,35 59,25 34,21t 3,902 7.0% (25,038 -42.3%
Drybulk Fleet - 161 4,441 161 - 4,280 2658.4Y
Consolidated Voyage Expense 55,35 59,41 38,65¢ 4,06: 7.3% (20,758 -34.9%

Voyage expenses primarily consist of port chargesuding bunkers (fuel costs), canal dues and cmsions.

Tanker segment
2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, voyage expenses decreased by $25i0mil 42.3% compared to 2007 mainly due to therelese of the average number of
tanker vessels by 37.3% and the decrease in vogage operating in the spot market by 55.2%. Theedse was a result of our le
unwinding strategy which resulted in the terminatad six leases during 2008 and the sale of sewared vessels. The decrease in the vo
expenses relating to the vessels sold in 2008 atadua $ 22.7 million.

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, voyage expenses increased by $3.9omir 7.0% compared to 2006, despite the decreasiee average number of tan
vessels that we operated, from 26.7 in 2006 to 222007 and the decrease in the total voyage dftjge fleet in the spot market by 4.1%.
main reason behind the increase in voyage expaveea 9.0% increase in the bunkers expenses frdnd $3illion in 2006 to $36.9 million
2007. In addition, the cost of canal dues increaseihly as a result of a 13.6% increase in canségmfrom 22 in 2006 to 25 in 2007.

Drybulker segment
No year on year comparisons can be made due fathéhat the entrance in the drybulk sector beguhe fourth quarter of 2007 but it mai
affected the results of 2008. Voyage expenses oflgiulk vessels relate to mainly commissionskantime charters.

In 2009, voyage expenses are expected to decredberfas both the tanker and drybulk fleet areesuly on period charters whereby voy
expenses are assumed by the charterers.
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2. Charter hire expenses

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEO7 v YEO06 YEO8 v YEO7
Charter Hire Expense by Segmen ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet 96,30: 94,11¢ 53,68¢ (2,184 -2.3% (40,434 -43.0%
Drybulk Fleet - - - - - - -
Consolidated Charter Hire Expense 96,30: 94,11¢ 53,68 (2,184 -2.3% (40,434 -43.0%

Tanker segment
2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, charter hire expense decreased byl$aion or 43.0% compared to 2007. This was maifile to the termination of six lea
during 2008. As of December 31, 2008 we had fivadyanax tankers under sale and leaseback arrangememipared to six Handymax :
five Suezmax tankers on sale and leaseback arrargsmas of December 31, 2007.

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, charter hire expense decreased by $lidn or 2.3% compared to 2006. As of Decembgr 3007 we had six Handymax i
five Suezmax tankers on sale and leaseback arrarmdermompared to nine Handymax and nine Suezmé&ersuas of December 31, 20
Four sale and leaseback agreements were termilaéteid the second quarter of 2007 and three vegmihated in the third quarter 2007.

Drybulker segment
Not applicable

Latest Developments

In April 2009, we agreed with the owners / lessafrthe M/T Relentless to terminate the bareboattehaUnder this agreement, dur
the third quarter of 2009 we will redeliver the MRelentless to its owners and pay a terminationofe82.5 million. In addition to tt
termination fee we have undertaken to perform generks on the vessel prior to its redelivery whiwill involve additional costs. Tl
bareboat charter would have expired in 2012.

On June 24, 2009, we terminated the bareboat chatel redelivered the vessels M/T Faithful, th& Bbubtless, the M/T Spotle
and the M/T Vanguard to their owners after payiid.$5 million in termination fees and expensesaduition to the termination fees ¢
expenses, we have forfeited our right to receieedséller's credit of $10.0 million from the initishle of the vessels, which would have |
received upon expiration of the bareboat charted, \we have undertaken to pay for the dogk of the M/T Spotless which is currently
progress. The bareboat charter would have expir&2D11. We will remain the managers of these veasdil the expiration of their curre
time charters, in early 2010, and will be reimbdrbg the owners for all expenses incurred. Thege te last leased vessels in our fleet.

As a result of the termination of these five leases,wit incur minimal, if any, charter hire expensesthe second half of 20
depending on the redelivery date of the M/T Retessl
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3. Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaseb&f vessels

Year Ended December 31 change

2006 2007 2008 YEO7 v YE06 YEO8 v YEO7
Amortization of Deferred Gain on Sale and
Leaseback of Vessels by Segment ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet (8,110 (15,610 (18,707 (7,500 92.5% (3,097 19.8%
Drybulk Fleet - - - - - - -
Consolidated Amortization of Deferred Gain on
Sale and Leaseback of Vessels (8,110 (15,610 (18,707 (7,500 92.5% (3,097 19.8%

Tanker segment
2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, amortization of deferred gain was kighy $3.1 million or 19.8% compared to 2007 du¢h unwinding of six leases in 2(
which resulted in the immediate recognition of tiiamortized gain of $27.2 from the initial sale demseback transaction, net of sale expe
of $14.3 million. The 2008 amount also includesykarly deferred gain amortization of $4.4 millievhich is decreased due to the termine

of 7 leases in 2007 and the termination of 6 leas2608.

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, amortization of deferred gain was kigby $7.5 million or 92.5% compared to 2006 duthunwinding of seven leases in 2
which resulted in the immediate recognition of timamortized gain of $8.3 million from the initiale and leaseback transaction.

Drybulker segment
Not applicable

4. Other Vessel Operating Expense

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEOQ7 v YEO6 YEO8 v YEO7
Vessel Operating Expense by Segme ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet 66,08: 67,22t 56,27 1,143 1.7% (10,953 -16.3%
Drybulk Fleet - 68¢ 10,84 68¢ - 10,15: 1473.6Y
Consolidated Other Vessel Operating Expense 66,08 67,91/ 67,11/ 1,832 2.8% (800! -1.2%

Vessel operating expenses include:
- crew wages and related cos
- insurance
- repairs and maintenanc
- spares and consumable stol
- tonnage taxes and VA’

Vessel operating expenses, which generally reptéisend costs, have historically increased as alted the increase in the size of our fleet.
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Tanker segment
2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, vessel operating expenses decreasgdlbly $11.0 million or 16.3% compared to 2007inhaas a result of a 37.3% reduct
in the average number of tanker vessels that weatgérom 22.2 in 2007 to 13.9 in 2008.

On a daily basis, vessel operating expenses irenldas2008 by $2,755 per day, or 33.2%, from 200 increase was partly a result of hig
crew wages and related costs which were highengd08 by $985 per day, or 29.1%, from 2007. Crnewges increased due to a chang
the mix of our crew during the latter part of 20@%her factors that lead to higher crew wages whegeappreciation of the Euro in respect o
US dollar, indemnities paid to seafarers of shigd and changeover costs related to change of ngestibmanagers. Repairs and mainten
during 2008, increased by $1,012 per day, or 44fiéfm 2007. Also, during 2008 the daily insuranostdncreased by $458 per day, or 60
from 2007 as a result of additional P&l insuranecenpiums imposed. Finally, spares and consumablestocreased by $280 per day
14.4% ,during 2008 compared to 2007 as a restiiteoincreased repairs and maintenance.

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, vessel operating expenses increasaclbby $1.1 million, or 1.7%, compared to 2006.

On a daily basis, vessel operating expenses irenlda2007 by $1,509 per day, or 22.3%, from 200& increase was partly a result of hig
crew wages and related costs during 2007 by $6Rtigpeor 22.5% compared to similar costs in 200@wowages increased due to a chan
the mix of our crew during the latter part of 20Yd due to overall increases in crew wages dur@ly Zs a result of the increase in den
for seafarers due to the euphoria in all shippiraykets. Another factor that lead to higher crew egagas the appreciation of the Eun
respect of the U.S. dollar. During 2007, repaird araintenance also increased by $620 per day, .0#@7rom 2006. Spares and consum
stores increased by $277 per day, or 16.5%, d@0@F compared to 2006 as a result of the incregrdrs and maintenance.

Drybulker segment

2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, vessel operating expenses increas&l®y? million or 1,473.6% compared to 2007. Thisnainly a result of the increase in
average number of vessels that we operated in @008 compared to 0.2 in 2007.

2007 Vs 2006
We entered the drybulker segment in late 2007 laedefore no comparisons can be drawn with 2006.

5. Dry-docking costs

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEOQ7 v YEO6 YEO8 v YEO7
Dry-docking Costs by Segmer ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet 39,33 25,09 9,45( (14,239 -36.2% (15,644 -62.3%
Drybulk Fleet - - 58€ - - 58€ -
Consolidated Dry-docking Costs 39,33 25,09/ 10,03¢ (14,239 -36.2% (15,058 -60.0%
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Tanker segment

2008 drydocking costs mainly relate to the special sunafytsvo Suezmax tankers and two Handymax tankersttaméhtermediate survey
one Suezmax tanker that was completed in 2008.

2007 dry-docking costs mainly relate to the spesiabeys of three Suezmax tankers and three Handteméiers that were completed in 2007.
2006 dry-docking costs mainly relate to the spesiabeys of four Suezmax tankers and four Handytaakers that were completed in 2006.

Drybulker segment

During 2008, we completed the intermediate sunfegne Panamax vessel.

6. Depreciation

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEOQ7 v YEO06 YEO8 v YEO7
Deprecation by Segmen ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet 35,26¢ 26,56( 13,867 (8,706 -24.7% (12,693 -47.8%
Drybulk Fleet - 84¢ 18,791 84¢ - 17,94¢ 2116.6Y
Consolidated Depreciation 35,26¢ 27,40¢ 32,66¢ (7,858 -22.3% 5,25¢ 19.2%

Tanker segment
2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, depreciation decreased by $12.7 milllo 47.8% compared to 2007 due to the sale ofrsevened Suezmax tankers wr
decreased the number of owned vessels from nired Becember 31, 2007 to two as of December 31, 28880f December 31, 2008 «
owned fleet consisted of two Handymax tankers.

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, depreciation decreased by $8.7 millwn24.7% compared to 2006. The decrease is atrefuhree sale and leaseb
transactions for a total of 13 tankers which weyeatuded in mid March (eight tankers) and April/éitankers) 2006, the sale of three tar
in the fourth quarter of 2006 and the sale of @mér in April 2007 and partially off set by theuechase of four tankers in May 2007.

Drybulker segment

2008 Vs 2007

Depreciation during 2008 increased by $17.9 million 2,116.6%, from 2007, due to the acquisitiorsiaf drybulk vessels. Our first thi
drybulkers were delivered during the fourth quad&f007, and the remaining three during the fivat quarters of 2008 including the V
Bertram which was delivered during 2007 and thed sp2008.

2007 Vs 2006
We entered the drybulker segment in late 2007 badkfore no comparison can be drawn with 2006.
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7. Sub Managers Fee:

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEOQ7 v YEO06 YEO8 v YEQ7
Sub-Manager Fees by Segmer ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet 2,75¢ 1,821 1,09¢ (934, -33.9% (725] -39.8%
Drybulk Fleet - 7 79 7 - 72 1028.6%
Unallocated - - (16) - - (16) -
Consolidated Sul-Manager Fees 2,75¢ 1,82¢ 1,15¢ (927 -33.6% (669 -36.6%

Tanker segment
2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, submanagers fees decreased by $0.7 million or 39.8%tpaced to 2007 mainly due to the decrease in teeage number
vessels of our fleet and the shift of technical agament from third parties to Top Tanker Managent@pécifically, as of December 31, 2!
the number of vessels under third party technicaagement was two compared to four as of Decenthed(®7. Additionally, as of Deceml
31, 2008 the number of vessels under third crewagament was nine compared to 19 as of Decemb@08Z,

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, submanagers fees decreased by $0.9 million or 33.9%tpaced to 2006 mainly due to the decrease in teeage number
vessels of our fleet and the shift in technical agggment from third parties to Top Tanker Managem@pécifically, as of December 31, 2!
the number of vessels under third party technichagement was four compared to 21 as of Decemh@0B6. However, as of December
2007 the number of vessels under third party cremagement was 19 compared to only three as of Demedi, 2006.

Drybulker segment

2008 Vs 2007

For our drybulker segment, we only outsource crgwinsubmanagers and therefore the increase in the exjeas@sult of the increase in
number of vessels.

2007 Vs 2006
No year on year comparisons can be made fc-manager fees for 2006 and 2007 due to the facbotimagntrance in the drybulk sector be
in the fourth quarter of 2007.

Unallocated sub managers fees
This amount refers to management fees receivalatng to third party vessels.

8. Other General and Administrative Expenses

Other general and administrative expenses inclbdesalaries and other related costs of senior nesineigt, directors and other
shore employees, our office rent, legal and awglitbosts, regulatory compliance costs, other migoebus office expenses, loteg#r
compensation costs, and corporate overhead. Gearadtadministrative expenses are allocated tordiftesegments based on calendar da
vessels operated. As a result, the below analysisti performed by segment.

Year Ended December 31 change

2006 2007 2008 YEO7 v YE06 YEO8 v YEO7
Other General and Administrative Expenses by Segmél (% in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet 20,26 22,72¢ 22,45¢ 2,46¢ 12.2% (271 -1.2%
Drybulk Fleet - 267 7,85¢€ 267 - 7,58¢ 2842.3Y
Consolidated Other General and Administrative
Expenses 20,26 22,99¢ 30,31« 2,73t 13.5% 7,31¢ 31.8%
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2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, our general and administrative expgnsereased by $7.3 million or 31.8%, compared @072 This increase was attribu
primarily to an increase in non cash restrictedlsexpense of $4.2 million, from $0.9 million in@0to $5.1 million in 2008, mainly relatec
senior management and directors pursuant to ouityeincentive plan (See Item 6- Directors, Senioaidgement and Employees
Compensation). Additionally, salaries and relatests increased by $2.6 million during 2008 as alted the shift of technical managem
from sub managers to Top Tanker Management whatest during the last two quarters of 2007 butc#fe salaries mainly during 2008. ~
increase in salaries during 2008 is also attribtitesleverance payments relating to layoffs reletanhe tanker segment due to sale of ts
vessels or unwinding of leases and also to thee&ser in employees supporting the drybulker segmibith we entered late 2007 but affec
our results mainly in 2008. Also, during 2008, aurdit fees were higher by $0.7 million compared2697. Finally, other general ¢
administrative expenses are Euro denominated efaepbme legal fees and during 2008, the Euroexgpted versus the U.S. dollar more 1
it ever has for the past five years, reaching atidsU.S. dollars to 1 Euro during the summer@¥& During 2008, the average exchange
was $1.4709 to 1 Euro. During 2007, the averagbaxge rate was $1.3708 to 1 Euro.

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, general and administrative expense®ased by $2.7 million or 13.5% compared to 2006re specifically, salaries and rela
costs increased by $3.2 million during 2007 assalteof the shift of technical management from swdnagers to Top Tanker Managem
which started during the last two quarters of 280@ additional staff bonus expenses. The increasalaries and related costs was partl
set by a decrease in share based payment compensgpecifically, the share based compensationresgseamounted to $0.9 million in 2(
from $3.7 million in 2006. In addition, our audéeds were higher by $0.3 million compared to 2006oAegal and consulting fees increase
$0.8 million due to increased legal fees and cdaimgufees for SOX compliance. Finally, other gehenad administrative expenses are [
denominated except for some legal fees. During 20@/average exchange rate was $1.3708 to 1 Buring 2006, the average exchange
was $1.2558 to 1 Euro.

9. Gain on sale of vesse

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEOQ7 v YEO06 YEO8 v YEQ7
Gain on Sale of Vessels by Segme ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet (12,667 (1,961 (21,347 (19,386 988.6% 10,70¢ -84.5%
Drybulk Fleet - - 2,16¢ 2,16¢ - - -
Consolidated Gain on Sale of Vesse (12,667 (2,961 (19,178 (17,217 878.0% 10,70¢ -84.5%

Tanker segment

During 2008 we recognized a total gain of $19.4iamlfrom the sale of M/T Edgeless, M/T Ellen P./TM.imitless and M/T Endless, a gain
$1.8 from the sale of M/T Stormless, and a gaifi®6 from the sale of M/T Noiseless.

During 2007, we realized a gain of $2.0 millionrfréhe sale of M/T Errorless.
During 2006, we recognized a total gain of $12.[liom from the sale of M/T Taintless, M/T Soundles®d M/T Topless.

Drybulker segment
During 2008 we recognized a loss of $2.2 millioonfrthe sale of M/V Bertram in April 2008.
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10. Interest and Finance Cost:

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEOQ7 v YEO06 YEO8 v YEQ7
Interest and Finance Costs by Segmel ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Tanker Fleet (27,030 (17,464 (11,888 9,56¢ -35.4% 5,57¢ -31.9%
Drybulk Fleet - (2,054 (13,876 (2,054 - (11,822 575.6%
Consolidated Interest and Finance Cost (27,030 (19,518 (25,764 7,51z -27.8% (6,246 32.0%

Tanker segment
2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, interest and finance costs decreage®56 million or 31.9% compared to 2007. The daseecis mainly due to the Ic
prepayment of $28.2 million in January, 2008 assted with the sale of tanker vessel M/T Noiseldssoan prepayment of $108.7 millior
September, 2008 associated with the sale of tardssels M/T Limitless, M/T Endless, M/T Ellen Pdavi/T Stainless, the loan prepaymer
$31.7 million in July, 2008 associated with theesaf tanker vessel M/T Edgeless and the loan prapay of $29.2 million in June, 20
associated with the sale of tanker vessel M/T Sessnand the fact that the average interest radé Rscember 31, 2008 was 4.54% comp
to 6.12% at December 12, 2007.

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, interest and finance costs decreage@%6 million or 35.4% compared to 2006. This @ase is mainly due to the e:
repayment of $322.2 million in secured debt assediavith thirteen vessels sold and leaseback incMand April 2006, three vessels sol
the fourth quarter of 2006 and one vessel soldndubipril 2007. The effect of debt repayment wadiplly off set by the drawdown of $2(
million during the fourth quarter of 2006 and $&8.Gillion during 2007 ($157.5 million during thexshonths ended June 30, 2007 and $1
million during the fourth quarter of 2007). The eage interest rate as of December 31, 2007 wa®®dinpared to 5.32% at December
2006.

Drybulker segment

2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, interest and finance costs increage&11.8 million or 575.6% compared to 2007. Spealfy, during 2008 we drew do\
$133.1 million in order to finance the acquisitiointhree dry bulk vessels of which $42.0 millionswapaid in April 2008 following the sale
M/V Bertram.

In addition, an amount of $1.2 million was chargedinterest in 2008 related to the drybulk vessAl Wstrale's capital lease entered int
February 2008 for two months before the vesselaggsired by the Company.

2007 Vs 2006

During 2007, we drew down $159.4 million in orderfinance the acquisition of three dry bulk vesseld we prepaid $23.6 million from 1
proceeds of the offering. During 2006 we had nm$o@elating to the drybulker segment.
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Other Income or Expenses Not Allocated to Segments
Our management does not review the gain / (los$nancial instruments and interest income by segme

11. Gain/ (loss) on financial instruments

Year Ended December 31 change
2006 2007 2008 YEO7 v YEO06 YEO8 v YEO7
Gain / (loss) on Financial Instruments ($ in thousands $ % $ %
Fair value change on financial instruments (2,733 (4,904 (10,650 (2,171 79.4% (5,746 117.2%
Swap Interest 58¢ 1,20( (1,374 612 104.1% (2,574  -214.5%
Total Gain / (loss) on Financial Instruments (2,145 (3,704 (12,024 (1,559 72.7% (8,320  224.6%

2008 Vs 2007

During 2008, fair value change in financial instemts increased by $5.7 million or 117.2% compaoe2007. During 2008, we had a nege
change in the fair value of our swaps due to advBustuations of interest rate parameters. Thigatiee change was partly sgff-by the gai
of $5.6 million as a result of the termination oflerivative product in the fourth quarter of 20@&lditionally, during 2008 we entered ii
several new swap agreements in order to hedge xqasare related to the loans of our drybulk vesséBee Item 11 Quantitative an
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk).

During 2008, swap interest changed by $2.6 miltmi$1.4 million additional interest expense fromZtnillion interest income in 2007. T
was a result of the falling interest rates whickqgitated significantly during the last two quastef 2008, and negatively affected inte
income from our swaps.

2007 Vs 2006
During 2007, fair value change in financial instemts increased by $2.2 million or 79.4% compare20@6. This increase is due to the inte
derivative product that the Company entered intNdvember 2007 with a fair value charge of $2.Jianil

During 2007, swap interest income increased by $lon to $1.2 million or 104.1% compared to 2008is increase was due to favor:
flucations of market conditions relative to the pwavith steepening terms that were in effect ferwole year in 2007.

12. Interest Income
2008 Vs 2007
During 2008, interest income decreased by 43.6%4t8 million from $3.2 million during 2007. This clease is mainly due to the decrea:
the amounts kept under time deposits and relewsertdst rates.
2007 Vs 2006
2007 interest income was $3.0 million, at simikardls with 2006.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

As of December 31, 2008, we were in breach of oedavenants contained in our loan agreementsimgléd our overall outstandil
indebtedness of $342.5 million. These constitytetantial event of default and could result in lgveders requiring immediate repayment of
loans. As a result of these breaches, we haveifdalsall our debt as current as discussed in "ItE8n- Financial Statement£ensolidate
Financial StatementsNote 12". During 2009, as of the date of this répee have already received waivers on certain cants from two ¢
our lenders and are in discussions or negotiatwitts the remaining lenders to obtain waivers anstreesture the debt. We expect that
lenders will not demand payment of the loans befoedr maturity, provided that we pay loan instadms and accumulated or accrued inti
as they fall due under the existing credit fa@htiWe do not expect that existing cash resenggstter with cash generated from the opera
of the vessels owned or operated by the Compabyg gufficient to repay the total balance of loandéfault if such debt is accelerated by
lenders. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources -ulatDisclosure of Contractual Obligations - Loegn Debt" below for further information.

During 2009, until the date of this report, we haalken delivery of five newly built 50,000 dwt prart / chemical tankers from Sl
These tankers are the: M/T Miss Marilena, M/T Léfgtein, M/T lonian Wave, M/T Tyrrhenian Wave anfT\Britto. All vessels have enter
into bareboat charter employments for periods betwseven to ten years at a gross average dailpfr&tb4,442 per day per vessel. Our ¢
and final newbuilding product tanker is also schedto be delivered in 2009.

During 2009, until the date of this report we hémeninated or agreed to terminate all five sale laagdeback agreements as disct
under "Item 5 — Operating and Financial Review Amdspects - Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Gitiéims — Operating Leases" .
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B. Liquidity and Capital Resourct

Since our formation, our principal source of furids been equity provided by our shareholders thraguity offerings or at tl
market sales, operating cash flow and lemgn borrowing. Our principal use of funds has beepital expenditures to establish and grow
fleet, maintain the quality of our vessels, compith international shipping standards and environtaelaws and regulations, fund work
capital requirements, make principal repaymentsutstanding loan facilities and pay dividends.

In December 2007 and April 2008 we raised a tot&§120.0 million of equity capital to fund our digfication into the drybulk sect
and our newbuilding program. Additionally, durin@B we sold seven owned Suezmax tankers and onedoRemnamax drybulk vessel for
aggregate sale price of $380.5 million.

We also completed the refinancing of our six riavilding product tankers in 2008 and charteredsidl vessels with three ma
charterers at fixed rates for periods that randedsen seven and 10 years. These charters haveabesgd on a bareboat basis, which not
reduces our long-term market risk relating to thesels, but also eliminates the Company's opegdtitsk for that period.

Our business is capital intensive and its futuierssas will depend on our ability to maintain a higlality fleet through the acquisiti
of newer vessels and the selective sale of oldssels. Our practice has been to acquire tankerslytdilk vessels using a combinatior
funds received from equity investors and bank dmmured by mortgages on our vessels. Future atgpgsare subject to manageme
expectation of future market conditions, our apilid acquire vessels on favorable terms and ouidity and capital resources.

As of December 31, 2008, we had total indebtednegter various senior secured credit facilities 84&9 million, excludin
unamortized financing fees of $4.4 million, withrdenders, the Royal Bank of Scotland, or "RBS" HiSordbank, or "HSH", DVB Bank,
"DVB", ALPHA BANK or "ALPHA" and EMPORIKI BANK or "EMPORIKI", maturing from 2008 through 2015.

Breach of Loan Covenants

As of December 31, 2008, we were in breach of tiemum asset cover ratio and other vessel valuseadlcovenants containec
our loan agreements relating to our overall outlitemindebtedness of $342.5 million. As a resulthefse breaches, and due to crdstul
provisions within our loan agreements, we havesdiies! all our debt as current as discussed in N@t& our consolidated financial statem
included in this annual report. Crodsfault provisions, provide that, if we are in défawith regards to a specific loan then we
automatically in default of all our loans contaigiorossdefault provisions. For this reason, we are no¢ ablbreakdown our debt obligatic
into current and long term unless we are able ¢eive waivers for all covenants breaches. Durin@32@ve expect to be in breach of coven
relating to the minimum liquidity on EBITDA as deéd by each bank (See below Working Capital Remergs and Sources of Capital).

A violation of covenants constitutes an event dadi under our credit facilities, which would, esk waived by our lenders, prov
our lenders with the right to require us to podliidnal collateral, enhance our equity and ligtyidincrease our interest payments, pay ¢
our indebtedness to a level where we are in comgdiavith our loan covenants, sell vessels in agtfand accelerate our indebtedness, v
would impair our ability to continue to conduct dausiness.
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As of the date of this report, we have receivedvesa for certain covenants from two of our lendangl are in discussions
negotiations with the remaining lenders to obtaaiwers and restructure the debt. We expect thaletiders will not demand payment of
loans before their maturity, provided that we pagn installments and accumulated or accrued iritasethey fall due under the existing cr
facilities. We do not expect that existing casteress together with cash generated from the opaisbtf the vessels owned or operated b
Company to be sufficient to repay the total balasideans in default if such debt is acceleratedhgylenders.

For details of credit facilities as of December 3008 and discussion about waivers see ltem 5Fulaalbisclosure of Contractt
Obligations - Long Term Debt".

Working Capital Requirements and Sources of Capital

As of December 31, 2008, we had a working capigdicd (current assets eurrent liabilities) of $329.8 million. This workg capita
deficit was composed of the following (figures iillians):

Cash (non restrictet $46.2
Other current asse $10.9
Total current assets $57.1
Current portion of det $52.5
Current portion of debt (previously categorisedioasg) term) $290.0
Other current liabilitie: $44.4
Total current liabilities $386.9

As of December 31, 2008, our material capital rezqaents for the coming 12 months were as follovgai(és in millions):

Long term deb $ 346.9
Interest payment $ 20.7
Newbuilding instalment $ 133.3
Operating lease $ 20
Lease payments under sale and leasek $ 232
Total requirements: $526.1
The total capital available as of December 31, 2088 as follows (figures in millions

Cash- non restrictec $ 46.2
Undrawn amount from secured financing for newbuijgi $ 132.2
Total available capital: $178.4
Cash shortfall (Total Requirements less Total available cap $347.7

71




We expect that our lenders will not demand paynudrthe loans before their maturity, provided tha pay loan installments a
accumulated or accrued interest as they fall dwkeuthe existing credit facilities. If we adjubetcash shortfall for this assumption ther
cash shortfall becomes $57.7 million.

We believe that, if necessary, banks will allontaisnake use of a certain portion of the restriatash of $52.6 million provided tt
such amount goes towards loan repayments but weotae certain of the amount that we will be alldve use, if at all. If we resort to mak
use of part of our restricted cash then we wilirbéreach of liquidity and minimum cash covenantsler certain of our loan facilities whi
may constitute an event of default. In such a easgould need to get waivers for such a breach.

We intend to make up the shortfall in working cabfrom cash generated from operations as wellra® foroceeds of an equ
offering or at the market sales which will be iaiéd during the second half of 2009. We do not eixpank financing to be available
working capital purposes.

As of the date of this annual report, we have maaments to our banks according to our repayméredides and we have tal
delivery of five newbuilding vessels. Our newbuigs have a positive cash flow effect on our overa#ih position and since their delive
they have helped to make up the shortfall of wagldapital. However, the winding up of leases du20§9, which involved total terminati
payments of $14.25 million, has used up a signifigeart of our available cash and has further ied the financing gap.

Cash Flow Information

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $20.2 milbo$46.2 million as of December 31, 2008 compare26.0 million as ¢
December 31, 2007. That increase resulted primadiyn the net proceeds from the sale of vesselmduhe year as well as positive opera
results.

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIESiAcreased 204.9% for 2008 to $11.8 million compace(11.3) millior
for 2007. This increase was attributed to the di/énarease in operating income by $90.8 milliom, 312.0%, to $61.7 million for 20!
compared to an operating loss of $29.1 millionZ007. Improved operating results during 2008 weainly due to the termination of 6 lea
together with the delivery of our drybulk vesseidich were deployed on time charters at premiurastathe effect of the drybulk vessel
expected to continue during 2009 given the timeatehsiinvolved. Additionally, during 2009 we expeacpositive cash contribution from ot
newbuilding product tankers that have already lmsenmitted to bareboat charters for 7 to 10 years.

NET CASH FROM (USED) IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES2008 ended with net cash inflows of $58.6 milliomainly due to ne
proceeds from the sale of vessels totaling $338llom Specifically, during 2008 we sold seven @unSuezmax tankers and one ow
Panamax drybulk vessel. Also, during 2008, we ste@ $118.1 million upon delivery of two of our Hofk vessels (representing paymer
the remaining purchase price of $115.6 million aagitalized expenses of $2.5 million) and $114.adsnces for vessels acquisitions / u
construction for our six newbuilding product tarkérepresenting payment of the second installnmralf vessels, the third installment for 1
vessels and the fourth installment for two vesselan aggregate amount of $109.2 million and cépéd interest and expenses of §
million). For 2007, we had net cash outflows of &&Lmillion mainly as a result of the repurchas&oézmax tankers that were sold in 20(
a sale-and-leadeack transaction, the acquisition of three drybudissels for $167.6 million, and advances for ves®gjuisitions und
construction.
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NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES2008 ended with net cash outflows of $50.2 milli®uring 2008, th
Company made total loan repayments of $368.6 milliglating to sold vessels. Additionally, the Compalrew $271.2 of new bank loz
relating to the purchase of drybulk vessels anthiimsents of newbuildings. Also, during 2008 then@any privately placed with varic
investors 7.3 million unregistered shares of commstmek for aggregate proceeds of approximatelyG&dillion. For 2007, the Company t
net cash inflows of $325.6 million mainly as a fdesd the drawdown of $10.0 million from the exisgi revolving credit facility to partial
finance the installment for the two newbuildindgse tirawdown of $147.5 million from a new creditifigg to partially finance the repurchase
four Suezmax tankers and the drawdown of $159.4omifor the acquisition of three drybulk vesselg repayment of a loan installment
to cover loan arrangement fees. During 2007 the gamy issued 1,435,874 new shares of common statkuvére sold at the market, unde
shelf registration, for total net proceeds of $2@iion and 8,050,000 new shares of common sthek were sold through a folloan offering
for total net proceeds of $68.9 million. During 20@ve will make use of our secured credit lineselation to our newbuildings. Also duri
2009, we expect to inject new capital in the conypasa result of an equity offering or at the madeades that we are planning to initiate du
the second half of 2009.

C. Research and Development, Patents ahidenses, etc.

Not applicable.
D. Trend Information

For industry trends refer to Business Overview wnddustry information. For company specific trengder to ITEM 5 unde
discussion of operations.
E. Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2008 our total undrawn amoudeuwour newbuildings' financing facilities was $13#illion .

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had agreeld thi¢ lessors of four vessels through a performanarantee deed
irrevocably and unconditionally guarantee the prompd punctual payment of all sums payable by tben@any to the lessors undet

pursuant to the sale and leaseback agreementgeithef the performance guarantee covers the pefitide leases. As of June 24, 2009,
guarantee has expired as a result of the termmafithe respective leases.
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F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our contractual ghlions and their maturity dates as of Decembe2@Q8:

Payments due by perioc

Less than 1 1-3 3-5 More than
Contractual Obligations: Total year years years 5 years
(2) (i) Long term debt (A $346,90 $346,90 - - -
(ii) Interest (B’ $20,71. $20,71.
(2) Newbuildings (C $133,34 $133,34: - - -
(3) Operating leases (I $18,70( $2,00- $2,00- $2,004 $12,68t
(4) Lease payments under sale and leasebacl $57,48: $23,20¢ $23,20¢ $8,10¢ $2,96°
Total $577,141 $526,17. $25,21( $10,10¢ $15,65!

A. Relates to the outstanding balance as of Decer®bg2008, consisting of 1(a) (60.9 million), 1(@) ($53.2 million), 1(b) (ii) ($56.
million), 1(c) (i) ($41.0 million), 1(c) (ii) ($26€. million), 1(d) (i) ($37.0 million), 1(d) (ii) ($2.8 million) and 1(e) ($46.7 millior

discussed belov

B. Interest payments are calculated using the Cagipaaverage going interest rate of 5.97%, as afebBwer 31, 2008, which takes i
account additional interest expense from inter@st swaps, applied on the amortized long term aglpresented in the table abc

C. Relates to the remaining construction installtméor the construction of six newbuilding

D. Relates to the minimum rentals payable for tfiee space

E. Relates to remaining lease payments for theviégsels that were sold and leased back as of Dre3t, 2008
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(1) Long Term Debt:
(a) RBS Revolving Credit Facility:

As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amountntideRBS revolving credit facility was $60.9 nolti, payable in 19 consecut
quarterly installments of approximately $2.1 mitlistarting February 2009, plus a balloon paymerg2if.5 million payable together with -
last installment. As of December 31, 2008, thers m@undrawn amount under the RBS revolving creditity.

Additional terms and conditions of the RBS creditifity are as follows:

During 2007, the interest rate on the RBS creditlifg was 85 basis points over LIBOR. From Mardh, 2008, the interest rate v
adjusted to 125 basis points over LIBOR. The RB&litifacility is collateralized by a first prioritmortgage on each of the M/T loannis P.
M/T Dauntless as of December 31, 2008.

The RBS credit facility contains, among other tlsingarious financial covenants, including i) ségwalue maintenance whereby
market value of the vessels and the market valwnpfadditional security are greater than or etuaB0% of the outstanding loan and the
value of outstanding swaps, ii) market value adjdistet worth is greater than or equal to $250.0ianiand greater than or equal to 359
total assets, and iii) EBITDA is greater than 126f4ixed charges, iv) minimum liquid funds of $10xlillion or $0.5 million per group ves:
and v) a minimum balance of $5.0 million to be ntaiimed in the operating accounts.

The RBS credit facility also contains general carmn that require us to maintain adequate insureogerage and obtain the bai
consent before we incur new indebtedness thatisred by the vessels mortgaged there under. Iniaddihe RBS credit facility prohibits
without the lender's consent, from appointing aeClixecutive Officer, or CEO, other than Evangdhistiolis and requires that the ves
mortgaged thereunder be managed by TOP Tanker Mareyg, which will subcontract the technical managetnof the mortgaged vessel:
V.Ships Management Limited, Hanseatic Shipping CamypLtd., and any other company acceptable toahddr. We will be permitted to
dividends under the RBS credit facility so longagsare not in default of a loan covenant.

Waivers

As of December 31, 2008, we were not in complianith the security value maintenance covenant. Véecarrently in discussio
with RBS in order to receive waivers until March 2010. The outcome of these discussions remaikisoum.

As of December 31, 2008, we had three interestsiagps with RBS, summarized as follows:

0] for a notional amount of $25.4 million, with effact date of June 30, 2005 and for a period of fears, we pay a fixed r:
of 4.66%, in order to hedge portion of the variabkerest rate exposure. As of the date of thizuahreport this SWAP h
expired.

(i) for a notional amount of $10.0 million, with effee date of September 30, 2006 and for a periodesen years, with
initial fixed interest rate of 4.23%, in order tedyge portion of the variable interest rate expas

(iii) for a notional amount of $10.0 million, with effae date of September 30, 2006 and for a periodeskn years, with |
initial fixed interest rate of 4.11%, in order tedge portion of the variable interest rate expas
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For swaps (ii) and (iii) we will pay an initial fed interest rate, as designated above, and wiivea floating interest rate, whict
the 3-month LIBOR, as is determined on the resetsd®uring 2008, the difference between the 10-ge@ap rate and they®ar swap rate w
greater to 8 basis points, and we paid the infbi@d rate and received the floating interest rétbeall subsequent periods, if the differe
between the 10-year swap rate and thee@- swap rate is greater or equal to 8 basis @dinén we will continue to pay the previous rate
continue to receive the respective floating ratehé difference between the 10-year swap ratethad?year swap rate is less than 8 b
points, then we will pay the previous rate, plue¢htimes the difference between 8 basis pointstiaadiifference between the ¥8ar swa
rate and the 2-year swap rate. The interest rateantd will pay for those swaps is capped at 10.25%.

(b) HSH Credit Facilities:

(i) Loan of an initial amount of $95.0 million: As of December 31, 2008, we had a secured termdagstanding of $53.2 millio
which was ultimately part of a $95.0 million sealiierm loan available to partially finance the asijion cost of the M/V Bertram, M/
Amalfi and the M/V Voc Gallant.

The credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plusnargin. Until March 27, 2008 the margin was 100id@a®ints over LIBOR. Fro
March 28, 2008 until March 24 2009 the margin wajsisted to 135 basis points over LIBOR as a rasfute waiver received for our breact
the EBITDA covenant during 2008. From March 24, 20@til March 31, 2010, the margin has been s26@tbasis points over LIBOR as |
of the restructuring discussed under "Breach ofnLGavenants” above. Thereafter the margin will éguced to 100 basis points per an
while each of the Vessels are employed under tingeter party agreements acceptable to the Agemtdoods of at least twelve (12) mor
and 112.5 basis points per annum at all other times

The facility contains, among other things, varidingncial covenants, including i) asset maintenanbereby the fair market value
the vessel and the fair value of swaps are grélader or equal to a required percentage. As peinitial loan agreement the minimum requi
percentage had been set at 130% for the firstyfears and 135% from then on until maturity. Durk@§8 these figures were adjusted to 1
and 145% respectively as a result of the waiveeived for our breach of the EBITDA covenant, ii) nket value adjusted net worth grei
than or equal to $250.0 million and greater tharegual to 35% of total assets, and iii) EBITDA desathan 120% of fixed charges,
minimum liquid funds of $25.0 million or $0.5 miih per group vessel. During 2008 minimum liquiddsnwere adjusted to $30.0 million &
result of waiver received for a breach of the EBA'@ovenant, v) No dividend payout in excess of 7@%et income per year and full divide
restriction in case of breach of covenant.

In addition, the HSH credit facility requires thdéte mortgaged vessels be managed by TOP Tanker gdarent, which me
subcontract the technical management of the moethagssels to V.Ships Management Limited, Hans&ttipping Company Ltd., or a
other company acceptable to the lender. In addiftoprohibits the three borrowers, which are oulbbsidiaries, from declaring or paying i
dividends or making any distributions to Top Shipgxcess of 70% of their net income.

M/V Bertram: The loan of $28.1 million was drawn down on Novem®e2007 (originally amounted to $29.6 million). Decembe

2007, $1.5 million was prepaid from the net proceefithe equity offering. Following the sale of thessel in April 2008, the then outstanc
loan of $26.5 million was fully repaid.
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M/V Amalfi: The loan of $28.7 million was drawn down on Decen®® 2007 (originally amounted to $30.3 milliof). Decembe
2007, $1.6 million was prepaid on this loan frore tiet proceeds of the equity offering. As of Decenfi, 2008 the outstanding amount
$24.8 million, payable in payable in 24 consecutjvarterly installments of approximately $0.53 roill, starting in March 2009, and a balls
payment of $11.9 million payable together with k&t installment.

M/V Voc Gallant: On February 1, 2008, following the delivery of tiessel, $33.2 million, net of a prepayment of &hiflion, was
drawn (originally amounted to $35.1 million). As bEcember 31, 2008 the outstanding amount was $88lidn, payable in 25 consecuti
quarterly installments as follows: (i) one instadint of $1.6 million, starting in February, 2009) our installments of $0.85 million; (i
twenty installments of $0.50 million; and (iv) alloan payment of $13.4 million payable togetherhntlie last installment.

(ii) Loan of an initial amount of $121.3 million: As of December 31, 2008, we had a secured termdagstanding of $56.6 millio
which is part of a $121.3 million loan that was clorled to partially finance the construction of hewidings product tankers S-1025182¢
and S-1031 all scheduled to be delivered in 2009.

The credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plusnargin. Until March 24, 2009 the margin was 175id@®ints over LIBOR. Fro
March 24, 2009 until March 31, 2010, the margin haen set at 200 basis points over LIBOR as pathefrestructuring discussed ur
"Breach of Loan Covenants" above. Thereafter thegimavill be reduced to 175 basis points per anmuntil maturity of the loan while each
the Vessels are employed under time charter pgrgements acceptable to the Agent for periods lefaest twelve (12) months and 112.5 b
points per annum at all other times;"

The facility contains, among other things, varidingncial covenants including i) asset maintenanbereby the fair market value
the vessel and the fair value of swaps are gréfader or equal to a required percentage. As peinttial loan agreement the minimum requi
percentage had been set at 120% for the firstyears and 125% from then on until maturity. Dur@p8, these initial required percent
was adjusted to 125% as a result of waiver receiged breach of the EBITDA covenant, ii) marketueaadjusted net worth greater thai
equal to $250.0 million and greater than or equa83% of total assets, and iii) EBITDA greater tH£0% of fixed charges, iv) minimt
liquid funds of $25.0 million or $0.5 million peraup vessel. During 2008 minimum liquid funds wadgusted to $30.0 million as a resul
waiver received for a breach of the EBITDA covenantNo dividend payout in excess of 70% of netoime per year and full divide
restriction in case of breach of covenant.

In addition, the HSH credit facility requires thtéte mortgaged vessels be managed by TOP Tanker gdarent, which me
subcontract the technical management of the moethagssels to V.Ships Management Limited, Hans&ftipping Company Ltd., or a
other company acceptable to the lender. In addiftoprohibits the three borrowers, which are oulbbsidiaries, from declaring or paying i
dividends or making any distributions to Top Shiipexcess of 70% of their net income.

As of December 31, 2008, we were not in complianite the asset maintenance and adjusted net woktenants for which we ha
received waivers as discussed below.
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M/T Miss Marilena : As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amoust$23.1 million out of a total of $40.1 million (veh is par
of a $121.3 million loan that was concluded to ipdlyt finance the construction of newbuildings S250 S-1029 and 3%031), out of whic
$16.5 million was drawn down in October 2008 and$@illion was drawn down in November 2008. Theayapent schedule involves fo
consecutive installments payable quarterly, in ageand commencing three months from last drawdoiWre amount of each of t
installments shall be as follows: (i) the firstahgh eighth installments shall each be in the amo@i$0.60 million; (ii) the ninth throug
twentieth installments shall each be in the amaifir#0.70 million; and (iii) the twentyirst through fortieth installments shall each betlie
amount of $0.75 million. A balloon of $11.9 milfigpayable together with the last installment. Téayment of the loan started in May 2(
following the delivery of the vessel.

M/T Tyrrhenian Wave : As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amoust$1&.7 million out of a total of $40.6 million (vch is
part of a $121.3 million loan that was concludegb#atially finance the construction of newbuildingsl025, S-1029 and 8331), which we
drawn down in October 2008. The repayment scheitwiglves forty consecutive installments payablertgrdy, in arrears and commenc
three months from last drawdown. The amount of eddhe installments shall be as follows: (i) tirstfthrough eighth installments shall e
be in the amount of $0.60 million; (ii) the nintirdugh twentieth installments shall each be inaim®unt of $0.70 million; and (iii) the twenty-
first through fortieth installments shall each lpethe amount of $0.75 million. A balloon of $12#illion payable together with the I
installment.

During vessel's delivery, the total amount drawrs wdjusted to $29.3 million from $40.6 million asesult of a drop in the vess
value. Following this adjustment, the repayment ant® were adjusted accordingly as follows, starimgune 2009: (i) the first through eig
installments shall each be in the amount of $0.4lBom; (ii) the ninth through twentieth installmenshall each be in the amount of $(
million; (iii) the twentydirst through fortieth installments shall each methe amount of $0.54 million. A balloon of $8.9lllbn payable
together with the last installment.

M/T Britto : As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amourst $46.7 million out of a total of $40.6 million (veh is part of
$121.3 million loan that was concluded to partidilyance the construction of newbuildings S-1028,029 and SE031), out of which $10
million was drawn down in October 2008 and $6.7lioml was drawn down in November 2008. The repaynsafitedule involves for
consecutive installments payable quarterly, in @ageand commencing three months from last drawdoire amount of each of t
installments shall be as follows: (i) the firstahgh eighth installments shall each be in the amo@i$0.60 million; (ii) the ninth throug
twentieth installments shall each be in the amaiir80.70 million; and (iii) the twentyirst through fortieth installments shall each betlie
amount of $0.75 million. A balloon of $12.4 miltligpayable together with the last installment.

During vessel's delivery, the total amount drawrs wdjusted to $35.2 million from $40.6 million asesult of a drop in the vess
value. Following this adjustment, the repayment ant® were adjusted accordingly as follows, startmg\ugust 2009: (i) the first throu
eighth installments shall each be in the amou0052 million; (ii) the ninth through twentieth lafiments shall each be in the amount of $
million; (iii) the twenty{irst through fortieth installments shall each betihe amount of $0.65 million. A balloon of $10.7llion payable
together with the last installment.

As of December 31, 2008, we were not in complianite the asset maintenance and adjusted net wostbnants under this facil
for which we have received waivers as discusseaibel
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Waivers

During May 2009, we received waivers we respeabuo $95.0 million drybulker financing and our $12Imillion product tanke
financing. Specifically, we have received waiverdiluMarch 31, 2010 for asset maintenance clause EBITDA to fixed charges and 1
adjusted net worth. In the case of adjusted nethytre minimum of $250.0 million has been replabg®125.0 million. Following discussic
with regards to a further decrease of minimum adpisiet worth to $75.0 million, HSH has not agréedurther reduce the minimum frc
$125.0 million but they have reassured us that thiype accommodating in providing us with waivées any breaches until March 31, 20
In the case of asset cover ratio for the produdtdafinancing, the required percentage has bemeased from 120% to 125% until March
2010.

The amendatory agreements that we have signedH@th Nordbank provide for the following: (1) a plethamount of $6.5 millic
which will be applied against future installmenfstoe drybulker financing starting from August 20@®% pro rata against the 12 instalm
starting from August 2009, and 50% pro rata agatistemaining instalments of the facility includithe balloon, starting from August 2(
(2) a restructuring fee of $0.15 million, (3) inase in margin of drybulker financing from 1.35%2t60% until March 31, 2010, thereafter
margin will be reduced to 1% per annum while eacthe vessels are employed under time charter pantgements acceptable to the ager
periods of at least 12 months and 1.125% per aratweti other times, (4) increase in margin of prddanker financing from 1.75% to 2.0
until 31 March 31, 2010, thereafter the margin W&l reduced to 1.75% until maturity of the loan le/ld@ach of the vessels is employed u
time charter party agreements acceptable to HSkddpds of at least twelve (12) months and 1.12&¥%annum at all other times (5) in
case of sale of vessels financed by HSH 100% o$dle=proceeds following debt repayment to be aggtiwards full covenant compliance,
in the case of sale of vessels not financed by HS8lwing debt repayment HSH to be allocated aroamt of the remaining sale proce
equal to the proportion of total HSH outstandingrs over our total indebtedness, (7) In the casesefccessful offering, HSH to be alloc:
an amount (on the basis of 50% of offering prockedsal to the proportion of total HSH outstandiogns over our total indebtedness (8)
cash deposits, in addition to the pledged amoushts) be at least equal to $3.7 million (i.e. $0n7ion per vessel) (9) Minimum liquidity h
been redefined as $25.0 million inclusive of aidiied deposits with all banks (10) cross collatabn of the two facilities.

As of December 31, 2008, we had seven interessreds with HSH, summarized as follows:

(i-iii) 3 swaps for a notional amount, as of December 828 2f $11.2 million, with effective date of Deceenld2, 2008 and for
period of two years. We pay a fixed interest rdtd.80% and receive 3 month Libor, in order to teeggrtion of the variab
interest rate exposure of the newbuildings' lo

(iv) for a notional amount, as of December 31, 200&704 million with effective date of March 27, 20@88d for a period of fiv
years. If 3 month Libor is greater than or equatii®42105% or lower than 1.5% we pay a fixed irgerate of 4.6% ar
receive 3 month libor. If 3 month Libor is greatkan or equal to 1.5% and less than or equal #%24.85% we pay 3 mor
Libor multiplied by 0,95 and receive 3 month lib

(v) for a notional amount, as of December 31, 200&1&f1 million with effective date of March 27, 2088d for a period of fiv
years. If 3 month Libor is greater than or equa#ti®42105% or lower than 1.5% we pay a fixed irgerate of 4.6% ar
receive 3 month libor. If 3 month Libor is greatean or equal to 1.5% and less than or equal #42485% we pay 3 mor
Libor multiplied by 0,95 and receive 3 month lib
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(vi) for a notional amount, as of December 31, 200&1&.4 million with effective date of July 15, 2088d for a period of sev
years. We pay 5.55% less a variable which dependatether the 3 month libor is within an upper antbwer limit o
outside these limits and receive 3 month libor. Qurent swap rollover has been fixed at 5.5

(vii) for a notional amount of $15.1 million, with effeet date of June 28, 2010 and for a period of fgemrs. We pay a fix
interest rate of 4.73% and receive 3 month Liborpider to hedge portion of the variable interegé rexposure under 1
Amalfi loan.

(c) DVB Credit Facilities:

(i) M/V Astrale : As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amourst $4.0 million. The loan of $48.0 million was dragown ir
April, 2008 to partially finance the acquisitionst@f the drybulk vessel Astrale.

The repayment schedule involves eighteen consecqgtiarterly installments: the first shall be inaanount equal to the lesser of
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Land $3.5 million; the next shall be in an amounaado the lesser of the aggrec
outstanding principal amount of the Loan and $9ibian; each of the next four of which shall be &am amount equal to the lesser of
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Laagh $2.5 million; each of the next twelve of whithall be in an amount equal to the le
of the aggregate outstanding principal amount efltban and $0.6 million; A balloon of $10.8 millishall be paid together with the |
installment.

The amended repayment schedule of this facilitigsussed under "Waivers" below.

The facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a margithe margin has been agreed at 175 basis poimtanpeum for the peric
commencing on the date of the drawdown and endmdot not including, the first anniversary of thetual Drawdown Date, and 150 be
points annum thereafter.

The facility contains, among other things, varidingncial covenants including i) asset maintenanbereby the fair market value
the vessel is greater than or equal to 140% obthstanding loan for the first two years and 130%reafter, ii) a Net Asset Value that is gre
than $125.0 million, iii) Stockholder's equity te greater than $100.0 million, and iv) minimum chakances of $25.0 million.

In addition, the DVB credit facility prohibits thigorrower without the lender's consent, from deoror paying any dividends
returning any capital to its equity holder and riegmi that the mortgaged vessels be managed by T&Rel Management, which
subcontract the technical management of the moethagssels to V.Ships Management Limited, Hansé&ttipping Company Ltd., or a
other company acceptable to the lender. Finallyp Bbips is not allowed to appoint any chief exemutfficer other than Mr. Evange
Pistiolis without the prior written consent of DVB.

As of December 31, 2008, we were not in complianith the value maintenance and net asset valueneais of this loan for whic
we are in the process of receiving waivers as diset below.

(i) Loan of an initial amount of $80.0 million : As of December 31, 2008, we had a secured team ¢daitstanding of $26.7 millic

which is part of an $80.0 million loan that was claided to partially finance the construction of mewidings product tankers S-1027,183:2
all scheduled to be delivered in 2009.
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The credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plusnargin of 155 basis points per annum. From March2069 the margin for the lo
of the lonian Wave has been set at 175 basis pouwaisLIBOR as part of the restructuring discusseder "Waivers" below.

The facility contains, among other things, varidimancial covenants including i) asset maintenanbereby the fair market value
the vessel is greater than or equal to 110% obthstanding loan for the predelivery period, 115%othe first five years and 125% therea
ii) a Net Asset Value that is greater than $225il0an, iii) Stockholder's equity to be greater th$180.0 million, iv) minimum cash balance:
the higher of $25.0 million or $0.5 million per gy vessel, and (v) Interest cover ratio of no thas 1.2 times (defined as EBITDAR divic
by interest expense) pre delivery and 1.5 times galgvery.

In addition, the DVB credit facility prohibits thigorrower without the lender's consent, from dentgror paying any dividends
returning any capital to its equity holder and riegmi that the mortgaged vessels be managed by T&Rel Management, which
subcontract the technical management of the moethagssels to V.Ships Management Limited, Hans&ftipping Company Ltd., or a
other company acceptable to the lender. Finallyp Bhips is not allowed tappoint any chief executive officer other than Mxangelo
Pistiolis without the prior written consent of DVB.

M/T lonian Wave : As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amourst $1&.7 million out of a total of $40.0 million (veh is par
of an $80.0 million loan that was concluded to iadlyt finance the construction of newbuildings S2Z0and St033) which was drawn down
October 2008. The repayment schedule involves feqgtyal consecutive installments payable quartérlgrrears and commencing six mot
from last drawdown. The amount of each of the ilimnts shall be $0.6 million and a balloon of $Lhkillion payable together with the |
installment.

During vessel's delivery, the total amount drawrs wdjusted to $33.7 million from $40.0 million asesult of a drop in the vess
value. Following this adjustment, the repayment ant® were adjusted accordingly as follows, stariin§eptember 2009: The amount of ¢
of the installments shall be $0.5 million and ddiah payment of $12.7 million payable together with last installment.

M/T Hongbo (Hull 1033) : As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amoust $1#.0 million out of a total of $40.0 million (veh
is part of an $80.0 million loan that was concludegartially finance the construction of newbuilgs S-1027 and $033) which was drav
down in October 2008. The repayment schedule iresfarty equal consecutive installments payabletgtg, in arrears and commencing
months from last drawdown. The amount of each efitistallments shall be 0.6 million and a ballo6$15.0 million payable together with 1
last installment.

The amount of each of the installments shall berdehed upon delivery of the vessel during the semafi 2009 when the amount
the final advance will be determined based on tarédsvant to the market value of the vessel ardhadielivery date.

As of December 31, 2008, we were not in complianith the net asset value covenant as defined uhéefacility and we are in tl
process of receiving waivers as discussed below.
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Waivers
With respect to our $48.0 million drybulker finangiand our $80.0 million product tanker financing, are in the process of receiv
waivers until March 31, 2010 for asset maintenariaase and minimum net asset value. In the casieecfisset maintenance clause, we
agreed the following minimum required value to l@atios with regards to the drybulker financing:
- 100% until March 31, 201

- 105% until March 31, 201

110% until March 31, 201
- 120% thereafte
The asset value maintenance clause for the praaoicers will not change.

The amendatory agreements that we are in the pafesigning with DVB provide for the following: la repayment installmer
moratorium for 11 months commencing at the end @fil2009 following the repayment of a scheduleds®®iillion balloon instaliment, (2)
reduction in scheduled repayments after the maratoincluding 2 quarterly installments of $0.35 lioih, 21 quarterly installments of $(
million and a balloon of $12.6 million, (3) withgards to the drybulker financing, a cash sweep anr@sh for the period commencing after
end of April 2010 until the maturity of the loanragment whereby 60% of any excess cash earnedebyIM Astrale will be applied in tt
inverse order of maturity to the amount outstandinger the loan agreement. Excess cash is defsmadtaearnings less: (i) aggregate oper
expenses and general and administrative capped®0@ per day as adjusted for an annual increds2¥ (ii) scheduled installme
repayments and (iii) interest costs. The cash swasghanism will cease to function in the eventrtit® of the vessel's charter free fair ma
value over the outstanding loan is equal or grethtn 140% for a period of more than 3 consecutieaths, (4) a restructuring fee of $80,(
(5) cross collateralisation of the two facilities.

(d) ALPHA BANK Credit Facilities:

(i) M/V Cyclades: As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amoust$@¥.0 million. The loan of $48.0 million was dradown ol
December 17, 2007 to partially finance the acdoisitost of the drybulk vessel Cyclades.

The repayment schedule involves twenty eight camser quarterly installments, starting in March 20Gas follows: (i) fou
installments of $2.25 million; (ii) four installmenof $1.25 million; (iii) twenty installments ofd$75 million; and (iv) a balloon payment
$8.0 million payable together with the last instaght.

The credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plusnargin of 130 basis points. From April 3, 2009 thargin has been set at 250 b
points over LIBOR as part of the restructuring dssed under "Waivers" below.

The facility contains, among other things, varifiagncial covenants including: i) asset maintenanbereby the fair market value

the vessel is greater than or equal to 130% obtitgtanding loan, ii) market value adjusted nettivgreater than or equal to $250.0 million
book equity (total assets less consolidated deligtgreater than $100.0 million and iv) minimurstchalances of $25.0 million.
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As of December 31, 2008, we were not in complianite the asset maintenance and adjusted net woktenants for which we ha
received waivers as discussed below.

(i) M/T Lichtenstein : As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amourg $24.8 million which was drawn down in Aug:
September and November of 2008. The loan of $3dldmwas entered into on December 17, 2007 tdiplly finance the construction cost
newbuilding S-1026.

The repayment schedule involves forty equal consexguarterly installments of $0.6 million staginn May 2009 and a ballo
payment of $15.0m together with the last installtnen

The credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plusnargin of 165 basis points. From April 3, 2009 thargin has been set at 225 b
points over LIBOR as part of the restructuring dssed under "Breach of Loan Covenants” above.

The facility contains, among other things, vari@inancial covenants including: including i) assetintenance whereby the fair mau
value of the vessel is greater than or equal t&d80the outstanding loan, ii) market value adjdstet worth greater than or equal to $250
iif) book equity (total assets less consolidatebitpis be greater than $100,000, and iv) minimushdaalances of $25,000.

As of December 31, 2008, we were not in complianith the market value adjusted net worth covenantfhich we have receiv
waivers as discussed below.

Waivers

With respect to our $48.0 million drybulker finangiand our $39.0 million product tanker financimg have received waivers ul
March 31, 2010 for asset maintenance clause andtadj net worth.

The amendatory agreements that we signed in Ap€i92with Alpha Bank provide for the following: (&)cash pledge of $ 4.0 milli
to be maintained with Alpha Bank; this amount Vol applied towards the drybulker financing in cateenegotiation or cancellation of
existing time charter agreement of M/V Cyclades03Rillion of the pledged cash will be releasedDetember 31, 2009 subject to the at
and no other event of default. The remaining $2illan will be released on March 30, 2010 giventtra no renegotiation or cancellatior
the existing time charter agreement will be effdatatil then, b) no event of default has occurrethie respective loan facility. (2) increas
margin of the drybulker financing from 1.30% to @b, (3) increase in margin of product tanker finagdrom 1.65% to 2.25%, (4) Minimu
liquidity is reduced to $15.0 million from $25.0lii@n until March 31, 2010, (5) cross collateratisa of the two facilities.

(e) EMPORIKI Credit Facility: As of December 31, 2008 the outstanding amount$4&s7 million. The loan of $50.0million w
entered into in March 2008 in order to partiallyaince the acquisition cost of the drybulk vessél Mépito.

The repayment schedule involves 13 consecutive-aemial installments, starting from March 2009, @dlivs: (i) three installmen

of $3.3 million, starting on September 8, 2008; tén installments of $2.4 million; and (iii) a kan payment of $12.9 million payable toge
with the last installment.
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The credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plusnargin of 110 basis points. From March 31, 20091 itérch 31, 2010, the mar¢
has been set at 250 basis points over LIBOR asopént restructuring discussed under "WaiversbWelThereafter the margin will be redu
to 175 basis points per annum until maturity of lten.

The facility contains, among other things, varifinancial covenants including: (i) the aggregatekeavalue of the mortgaged ves
is equal to at least 125% of the outstanding ppmicamount under the loan, (ii) the leverage réa®defined in the EMPORIKI credit facil
agreement) will not exceed 75% and (iii) the intereover ratio (as defined in the EMPORIKI creditifity agreement) will stand at t
minimum level of 2.5:1.

In addition, the EMPORIKI credit facility prohibitas, without the lender's consent, from appoinin@EO other than Evange
Pistiolis and requires that the mortgaged vessehaéeaged by TOP Tanker Management, which may stfaadrihe technical managemen
the mortgaged vessel to V.Ships Management Limitlthseatic Shipping Company Ltd., or any other camypacceptable to the lender
addition, it prohibits the borrower, which is owbsidiary, without the lender's consent, from dewtaor paying any dividends or making i
distributions to its shareholders.

As of December 31, 2008, we were not in complianith the asset maintenance and leverage ratio emterfor which we are in t
process of receiving waivers as discussed below.

Waivers

With respect to our $50.0 million drybulker finangi we are in the process of receiving waivers uii@irch 31,2010 for ass
maintenance clause and minimum leverage ratio e@fas Total Liabilities divided by Total Assetsiwadgd to FMV of vessels.

The amendatory agreements that we are in the marfesigning with Emporiki Bank provide for the lmlving: (1) an increase
margin from 1.10% to 2.50% until March 31, 2010orArApril 1, 2010 the margin and until maturity betloan the margin will be 1.75%,
an addendum to the first mortgage in form and sutest satisfactory to the bank.

As of December 31, 2008, we had one interest v svith Emporiki Bank, summarized as follows:

(i) for a notional amount of $20.0 million for avem year period, with effective date May 15, 20B8sed on this agreement,
received an upfront amount of $1.5 million. Durithg first year we will receive a fixed rate of 2%nd pay a fixed rate of 5.50%. From
second year, we will receive a fixed rate of 5.2&3 will pay a rate of 5.10%, if two conditions amet: i) the difference between the 10
Euro swap rate and the 2 year Euro swap rate megrer equal than0-:15% and ii) the 6 month USD Libor is between %08nd 6.00%
Otherwise, we will pay the 10.85% less 5.75% muég by the number of days that the above two domt are not met, divided by the t
number of days of the period.
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Other Interest Rate Swaps/Derivative Products:

Interest Rate Swaps:n July 2006, we entered with Egnatia Bank intdraarest rate swap agreement as follows:

(i) for a notional amount of $10.0 million, with effaet date of July 3, 2006 and for a period of seyears. Under this agreement,
pay an initial fixed interest rate of 4.7% and ieee floating interest rate, which is ther®nth LIBOR, as is determined on the reset daf
the difference between the 10-year swap rate am@4lear swap rate is greater or equal to 5 basis gdimen we will continue to pay the ini
fixed rate and continue to receive the respectivatihg rate. If the difference between the 10-y®aap rate and the y&ar swap rate is le
than 5 basis points, then we will pay the initigefl rate, plus two times the difference betwedrags points and the difference between the 10
year swap rate and th-year swap rate. The interest rate that we will isagapped at 8.80%.

Interest Rate Derivative Product: In November 2007, we entered into an interes datrivative product. Under this agreement
received an upfront payment of $8.5million and vablbave to pay five annual interest payments ontimmal amount of $85.0 million. Bas
on the cumulative performance of a portfolio ofteysatic foreign exchange trading strategies, therést payments would have a minin
floor at 0.00% and a cap at 7.50%.

On September 15, 2008, the parent company of thaterparty in this derivative product, announcediritention to file a petitic
under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code withWnited States Bankruptcy Court for the Southgistrict of New York. Soon after tt
announcement, we initiated discussions with thentayparty in order to examine the potential effifdhis bankruptcy on our liability.

As at September 30, 2008, we had classified thditiawithin our current liabilities, as valued @eptember 12, 2008, at $15,215.
December 30, 2008 we signed an agreement withabeterparty terminating the interest rate derivatwoduct against a oro#f terminatior
payment of $5.0 million.

(2) Newbuildings:

In October 2006, the Company entered into an ageaefor the construction of six Handymax ProduGhemical tankers. The to
contract price was $285.4 million, payable in fimstallments as follows: 15% is payable upon areamgnt of the Refund Guarantee, 15
payable upon commencement of steel cutting, 20p@ysble upon keel laying, 20% is payable upon laimgcand 30% upon delivery of 1
vessel.

The first installment for the six vessels of $4tBlion was paid in December 2006 and January 200i&. second installment for
vessels, the third installment for five vessels tredfourth installment for two vessels in an aggte amount of $109.2 million was paid du
2008. The third installment for one vessel, therttounstallment for four vessels and the delivargtallment for five vessels in an aggre:
amount of $119.1 million, was paid during 2009 apte date of this annual report. The only rema@mpayment is a payment of $14.3 mill
upon delivery of the last of our newbuildings, whis expected to take place during the seconddfi@609.

The vessels' construction installments to date bhaem partially financed by HSH Nordbank, DVB anighfa Bank.
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(3) Operating Leases:

In January 2006, we entered into an agreementieleffice space in Athens, Greece, with an uraglpairty. The office is located
1, Vasilisis Sofias & Megalou Alexandrou Street]1 5 Maroussi, Athens, Greece. The agreement ia thuration of 12 years beginning M
2006 with a lessee's option for an extension ofddrs. The monthly rental is $161,231 (based othikar/Euro exchange rate as of Decen
31, 2008) adjusted annually for inflation increpes 1.0%.

(4) Lease Payments under Sale and Leasebacks:

On April 3, 2009, we entered into an agreementetminate the bareboat charter of M/T Relentless radeéliver the vessel to
owners during the third quarter of 2009.

On June 24, 2009, we terminated the bareboat chartehe vessels M/T Faithful, the M/T Doubtled® M/T Spotless and the NV
Vanguard and redelivered them to their owners.

We will incur minimal, if any, lease payments dgritihe third quarter of 2009 depending on the redeji date of M/T Relentless
its owners.

Other Contractual Obligations:

TOP Tanker Management, our whoblyvned subsidiary, is responsible for the charterapgrational and technical management o
tanker fleet, including crewing, maintenance, rgpeapital expenditures, drydocking, vessel taxeaintaining insurance and other ve
operating expenses under management agreementsuvitlessel owning subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2008, TOP Tanker Managementshhsontracted the day-ttay technical management and crewing of
Handymax tankers to V.Ships Management Limited, hg snanagement company Additionally, TOP Tanker 8pment has al
subcontracted the crewing of three Handymax tanker¥. Ships Management Limited and has also sulpaored the crewing of tv
Handymax tankers and four drybulk vessels to Imiend Maritime Enterprises Inc. TOP Tanker Managetays a monthly fee of $11,¢
per vessel for technical management and crewirtefwo vessels and $3,550 per vessel for the ogewi three vessels under its agreen
with V. Ships Management, and a monthly fee of 8Q,@er vessel for the six vessels under its agreenvéth Interorient Maritime Enterpris
Inc. The agreements between Top Tanker Managearehy.Ships Management Limited and Interorient kitae Enterprises Inc, contin
until written notice of termination is given by fedtr party. In such case, they terminate after sgef two or three months from the date u
which such notice was given. Accordingly, they mo¢included in the table of contractual obligaigmesented above.

Other major capital expenditures include funding maintenance program of regularly scheduled inégliate survey or special sun
dry-docking necessary to preserve the quality of ogsels as well as to comply with international shigpstandards and environmental i
and regulations. Although we have some flexibitiéggarding the timing of this maintenance, the castsrelatively predictable. Managen
anticipates that the vessels that are younger 1barears are required to undergoniater intermediate surveys 2.5 years after a spsaiae)
dry-docking and that such vessels are to be drikebbevery five years, while vessels 15 years oeradde to be dryglocked for an intermedie
survey every 2.5 years in which case the additioriatmediate survey dry-dockings take the placie-afater surveys.

During 2009, one owned tanker vessel has compietespecial survey and one leased vessel is clyrentlergoing its special surv
and we will cover the cost as part of the termovatigreement entered into on June 24, 2009.
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Critical Accounting Policies:

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiind results of operations is based upon ousdatated financial statemer
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAR. dreparation of those financial statements requis to make estimates and judgmr
that affect the reported amount of assets andlitiabj revenues and expenses and related diselafucontingent assets and liabilities at
date of our financial statements. Actual resulty ciffer from these estimates under different agsiimns or conditions.

Critical accounting policies are those that reflsigmnificant judgments or uncertainties, and pa&dlgt result in materially differel
results under different assumptions and conditid¥e. have described below what we believe are owstragtical accounting policies tf
involve a higher degree of judgment and the methafdeir application. For a description of all @fir significant accounting policies, !
Note 2 to our consolidated financial statementtinted herein

Depreciation.We record the value of our vessels at their cosidlwincludes the contract price, ptelivery costs incurred during 1
construction of newbuildings, capitalized interastl any material expenses incurred upon acquisstich as initial repairs, improvements
delivery expenses to prepare the vessel for itminioyage) less accumulated depreciation. We etBgte our vessels on a straidihe basi:
over their estimated useful lives, estimated t@bgears from the date of initial delivery from tt@pyard. Depreciation is based on cost o
vessel less its residual value which is estimatduket$160 per lightveight ton. A decrease in the useful life of thesed or in the residual val
would have the effect of increasing the annual @eption charge. When regulations place limitationsr the ability of a vessel to trade ¢
worldwide basis, the vessel's useful life is adjdsit the date such regulations become effectiveeh®¥e not historically experienced chan¢
estimate used in calculating depreciation and deRrpect to experience changes in estimates ituaefu

Impairment of long-lived assets. We evaluate the carrying amounts and periods edech longlived assets are depreciatec
determine if events have occurred which would regmnodification to their carrying values or usefiwes. In evaluating useful lives a
carrying values of longived assets, we review certain indicators of ptiéimpairment, such as undiscounted projectedaipe cash flow:
vessel sales and purchases, business plans aradl ovarket conditions. We determine undiscountexjgmted net operating cash flows for €
vessel and compare it to the vessel carrying vaNieen the estimate of undiscounted cash flows,ueled interest charges, expected ti
generated by the use of the asset is less thagmitging amount, we should evaluate the asset fioimgairment loss. In the event t
impairment occurred, we would determine the faiugaof the related asset and we record a chargpdoations calculated by comparing
asset's carrying value to the estimated fair maviebde. We estimate fair market value primarilyotigh the use of third party valuatic
performed on an individual vessel basis.

The carrying values of the Company's vessels mayampoesent their fair market value at any pointifime since the market prices
second-hand vessels tend to fluctuate with chaimgesarter rates and the cost of newbuildings.

The Company did not note for 2006 and 2007, anyitsver changes in circumstances indicating that#reying amount of its vess
may not be recoverable. However, in the fourth spranf 2008, market conditions changed significarts a result of the credit crisis
resulting slowdown in world trade. Since the efidhe third quarter of 2008, the charter ratethandrybulk and tanker market have decl
significantly and vessel values must have alsoided!(there have been scarce transactions to doduire) both as a result of a slowdow
the availability of global credit and the signifitadeterioration in charter rates. These are camnmditthat the Company considers to be indic
of potential impairment. The Company performed timeliscounted cash flow test as of December 31, .2008 determine undiscoun
projected net operating cash flows for each vemseglcompare it to the vessel's carrying valueis aksessment is made at the individual v
level since separately identifiable cash flow infiation for each vessel is available. In develogatimates of future cash flows, the Comg
made assumptions about future charter rates, attdiz rates, ship operating expenses, future dokidg costs and the estimated remai
useful lives of the vessels. These assumptionbased on historical trends as well as future egbiecis in line with the Company's histori
performance and our expectations for future fle@ization under our current fleet deployment stgt. The Company determined that
carrying amounts of its vessels held for use weceverable.

Our impairment test exercise is highly sensitivevaniances in the time charter rates, fleet effectitilization rate, estimated sc
values, future drydocking costs and estimated Veggerating costs. Our current analysis, which ngd also a sensitivity analysis
assigning possible alternative values to thesetimpodicates that there is no impairment of indiddl long lived assets. However, there ca
no assurance as to how long term charter ratevessel values will remain at their currently lowéés or whether they will improve by &
significant degree. Charter rates may remain atedsed levels for some time which could adversEgctour revenue and profitability, a
future assessments of vessel impairment.

Derivatives: The SFAS No. 133, " Accounting for Derivative timsnents and Hedging Activities &s amended, establis!
accounting and reporting standards requiring tlvarye derivative instrument be recorded in the bedasheet as either an asset or liat
measured at its fair value, with changes in thévesves’ fair value recognized currently in earnings unlggscific hedge accounting crite
are met.

We have determined fair value of our derivativesaotordance with SFAS No. 157 "Fair value measungstiewhich becarn
effective on January 1, 2008, applies to finanagdets and liabilities and also nfimancial assets and liabilities that are being sneed an
reported on a fair value basis on recurring be8ISAS No. 157 requires disclosure that establishraraework for measuring fair value
generally accepted accounting principles, and edpatisclosure about fair value measurements. Tthierment enables the reader of
financial statements to assess the inputs useevtelap those measurements by establishing a hisréoc ranking the quality and reliability
the information used to determine fair values. FEtetement requires that assets and liabilitiesiezhrat fair value will be classified a
disclosed in one of the following three categories:



Level 1: Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobséavinputs that are corroborated by market data;
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroteard®y market data.

All our interest rate swap payments or receipts, thierefore the fair value of our swaps, dependlmservable market inputs, nam
the 3month LIBOR rate, the 10 year U.S. dollar swap,rtite two year U.S. dollar swap rate, the 10 yaaoEBwap rate and the 2 year E
swap rate, see "ltem 11 quantitative and qualigatlisclosures about market risk". We have therefategorized all our swaps as lev:
items. In regard to the Fair Value Measurememiag also refer to Note 22 in our consolidatechfiiad statements.

We have not applied hedge accounting for our istergte swaps. Additionally, we have not adjuskeifair value of our derivative
liabilities for non-performance risk as we exp&cbé able to perform under the contractual ternmuofderivative agreements, such as making
cash payments at periodic net settlement datepar termination. Also refer to " Item 5 — Liquidiand Capital Resources — Working capital
requirements and sources of capital " for availgbdf capital.

Allowance for doubtful accountsRevenue is based on contracted voyage and tiemectparties and, although our business is
customers who we believe to be of the highest stahdhere is always the possibility of disputejmyaover terms, calculation and paymen
demurrages. In such circumstances, we assessdireerability of amounts outstanding and we estineapgovision if there is a possibility
nontecoverability, combined with the application ohiatorical recoverability ratio, for purposes oftelenining the appropriate provision
doubtful accounts. Although we believe our provisido be based on fair judgment at the time ofr thigation, it is possible that an amc
under dispute is not recovered and the estimatdgion for doubtful recoverability is inadequate.

Fair value of time charter acquiredVhen vessels are acquired with existing time chawnte allocate the total cost between the v
and the fair value of the time charter based orrétettive fair values of the vessel and the timartdr acquired. The fair value of the attac
time charter is computed as the present valueeoflifierence between the contractual amount tcebeived over the term of the time che
and management's estimates of the market timeechate at the time of acquisition. The fair vabfehe time charter is amortized over
remaining period of the time charter to revenues.

New accounting pronouncementdo significant effect from new accounting pronoumesits. See Notes to the December 31,
Financial Statements for a full description of neseounting pronouncements and effect on our firsiCi

G. Safe Harbor

Forward looking information discussed in this It&mncludes assumptions, expectations, projectiorientions and beliefs abc
future events. These statements are intendedasdlfdiooking statements”. We caution that assumptiergectations, projections, intenti
and beliefs about future events may and often ag fram actual results and the differences can béenal. Please see "Cautionary State!
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" in this Repor
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ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
A. Directors and Senior Management
Set forth below are the names, ages and positibosirodirectors, executive officers and key empkg.eMembers of our Board

Directors are elected annually on a staggered asiseach director elected holds office for aglyear term. Officers are elected from tim
time by vote of our Board of Directors and holdieéfuntil a successor is elected.

Name Age Position

Thomas F. Jacksc 61 Director and Chairman of the Boe
Evangelos J. Pistioli 36 Director, President, Chief Executive Offic
Alexandros Tsirikos 35 Director, Chief Financial Office

Vangelis G. lkonomol 44 Director and Executive Vice Preside
Michael G. Dochert 49 Director

Christopher J. Thome 49 Director

Roy Gibbs 59 Director

Stavros Emmanut 66 Chief Operating Officer of TOP Tanker Managemr
Demetris P. Souroulle 46 Vice Presiden

Eirini Alexandropoulot 37 Secretary

Biographical information with respect to each of directors and executives is set forth below.

Thomas F. Jacksorhas served as the Chairman of our Board of Direcsorce July 2004, and has over 28 years experiente
shipping industry. Mr. Jackson is also a DirectbrParalos Finance Corporation, which he established000 as a provider of financ
advisory and consultancy services to select Gragipsg companies. Mr. Jackson commenced his bgnkdmeer with National Westmins
Bank in 1967, and moved to the Piraeus Branch, cg@rae1977. In 1986 he headed the Bank's Operabepartment in Athens, and retur
to Piraeus in 1989 where he assumed the role gidZate and Shipping Marketing Manager. In 1994 he appointed Head of Shipping for
Bank in Greece. Mr. Jackson is an Associate ofitkétute of Financial Services (formerly the Cleaed Institute of Bankers), and is a |
lecturer for the Institutes examinations.

Evangelos J. Pistiolisfounded our Company in 2000, is our President ahigf(Executive Officer and has served on our Boaf
Directors since July 2004. Mr. Pistiolis graduatienin Southampton Institute of Higher Education 892 where he studied shipping operat
and from Technical University of Munich in 1994 wia bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering .chlieer in shipping started in 1!
when he was involved with the day to day operatming small fleet of drybulk vessels. From 199btlgh 1995 he worked at Howe Robin
& Co. Ltd., a London shipbroker specializing in tainer vessels. While studying at the Southamptutitute of Higher Education, M
Pistiolis oversaw the daily operations of Compasgéddl Maritime Container Vessels, a ship managemamipany located in Greece.
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Alexandros Tsirikos has served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceilApy 2009. Mr. Tsirikos, is a UK qualified Charés
Accountant (ACA) and has been employed with TogpShsince July 2007 as the Company's Corporate Deweint Officer. Prior to joinir
TOP Ships, Mr Tsirikos was a manager with PricevtateseCoopers, or PwC, where he worked as a meofitke PwC Advisory team a
the PwC Assurance team thereby drawing experieatteftom consulting as well as auditing. As a memrdfethe Advisory team, he lead ¢
participated in numerous projects in the public g#relprivate sectors, involving strategic plannamgl business modelling, investment ana
and appraisal, feasibility studies, costing andjgmto management. As a member of the Assurance tdém,Tsirikos was part of tt
International Financial Reporting Standards, or 3f-Rechnical team of PwWC Greece and lead numefeRS Iconversion projects for lis!
companies. He holds a Master's of Science in Shipfjirade and Finance from City University of Londand a Bachelor's Degree w
honours in Business Administration from Boston Wmsity in the United States. He speaks Englismdétreand Greek.

Vangelis G. Ikonomouis our Executive Vice President and has servedurrBoard of Directors since July 2004. Prior tanjog the
Company, Mr. lkonomou was the Commercial DirectérPoimal Tankers Inc. From 2000 to 2002, Mr. Ikormmworked with Georg
Moundreas & Company S.A. where he was responsibbléhe purchase and sale of sectiadid vessels and initiated and developed a shi
industry research department. Mr. Ikonomou worlemim 1993 to 2000, for Eastern Mediterranean MatiLtd., a ship management comg
in Greece, in the commercial as well as the safptiyquality departments. Mr. Ikonomou holds a Mastiegree in Shipping Trade and Fine
from the City University Business School in LondenBachelors degree in Business Administration ftbenUniversity of Athens in Gree
and a Navigation Officer Degree from the Highert&tderchant Marine Academy in Greece.

Michael G. Docherty has served on our Board of Directors since July420@r. Docherty is a founding partner of Indepert
Average Adjusters Ltd., an insurance claims adjgstirm located in Athens, Greece, which hefaonded in 1997. Mr. Docherty has 25 y«
of international experience handling maritime iswe claims.

Christopher J. Thomas has served on our Board of Directors since July4208r. Thomas is also the Chief Financial Officé
Paragon Shipping Inc. From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Thomas the Chief Financial Officer of DryShips Inehich is a publicly traded compa
with securities registered under the Exchange Raim 1999 to 2004, Mr. Thomas was the Chief Fir@nOifficer and a director of Exc
Maritime Carriers Ltd., which is also a publichatted company with securities registered under stelh&nge Act. Prior to joining Excel, N
Thomas was the Chief Financial Officer of Cardifaihe Inc. Mr. Thomas holds a degree in BusinesmiAistration from Crawley Universit
England.

Roy Gibbs has served on our Board of Directors since July280r. Gibbs has been the chief executive offides@andard Charter:
Grindlays Bank, Greece, formerly ANZ Grindlays,@n1992. From 1988 to 1992, Mr. Gibbs was the cimahager of domestic banking
ANZ Grindlays, London. Prior to that he was assistdirector for property, construction and shippiegANZ London. Mr. Gibbs joine
National and Grindlays Bank in 19¢

Captain Stavros Emmanuelhas been the Chief Operating Officer of TOP Taranagement since July 2004. He has 33
experience in the shipping industry and expertiseoperation and chartering issues. Prior to joinif@P Tanker Management, Cap
Emmanuel served as General Manager of Primal Tarlker, where his responsibilities included chamgiand operations management. F
to joining Primal Tankers in 2000, Captain Emmanwelrked in various management capacities for Compsited Maritime. Capta
Emmanuel obtained a Naval Officers degree from ARDNautical Academy of Aspropyrgos, Greece and ehm®laster Mariners degree
1971.
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Demetris P. Souroullass Vice President of Top Ships Inc. and has bee¢h air company since 2007. Prior to joining the @any
and from 2001 onwards Mr. Souroullas held the pmsst of Chief Executive Officer for the Fleet of ibros Shipmanagement Co. Ltd .
Technical and General Manager of LMZ Transoil Shapagement S.A. Prior to that Mr. Souroullas workéth the Cyprus Bureau
Shipping where he started in 1988 as a Surveyolefhdth 2001 as the Head of Classification. MruB8nillas holds a Masters degree in N
Architecture from the University of Newcastle up®gne, and a Bachelors degree in Maritime Technolfsgyn the University of Wale
Institute of Science and Technology.

Eirini Alexandropoulou has been our Secretary since August 2004. Mrs.ahldsopoulou's principal occupation for the pase
years is as a legal advisor providing legal ses/toeship management companies with respect toocatgand commercial as well as ship)
and finance law issues in Greece. From 2001 to ,2d0g. Alexandropoulou served as a legal advisduoocarriers SA, a ship manager. h
recently, from 2000 to 2001, Mrs. Alexandropoul@unved as a legal advisor to Belize's ship regisffice in Piraeus. Mrs. Alexandropoul
has been a member of the Athens Bar Associatiae €897 and has a law degree from the Law FactittyeoUniversity of Athens.

B. Compensation

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 200d52R006, 2007 and 2008, we paid to the membeosioéenior management ¢
to our directors' aggregate compensation of $4ldomi $8.1 million, $4.2 million, $4.8 million an®5.6 million, respectively. We do not hi
a retirement plan for our officers or directors.

Equity Incentive Plan

In April 2005 the Board adopted the TOP SHIPS II9005 Stock Incentive Plan, or the Plan, under wbighofficers, key employe
and directors may be granted options to acquirencomstock. A total of 1,000,000 shares of commaokstvere reserved for issuance ui
the Plan, which is administered by the Board. StheePlan's inception, the number of shares of comstock reserved for issuance unde
Plan has been increased to 5,000,000. The Plarpedsales for the issuance of stock appreciatights, dividend equivalent rights, restric
stock, unrestricted stock, restricted stock umits] performance shares at the discretion of ourdBetiDirectors. The Plan will expire 10 ye
from the date of its adoption. On July 11, 2008, @ompany increased the Plan's reserve by 1,008(¢0@s.

Please refer to Note 17 to the consolidated firdmstiatements included in Item 18 describing gramtder the Plan, which he
occurred between April 2005 and January 2008.

On January 22, 2008, the Company granted 197,58@stof restricted common stock of the CompanyStaares, pursuant to |
Company's Plan. These shares were granted to fiieersfand employees and proportionally vest ovpei@od of four years in equal ann
installments with the following provisions: in cagEchange of control or termination of employmeghares will immediately vest, with 1
exception of voluntary resignation or terminatidnemployment for cause, in which event the Shariisbe forfeited. The fair value of ea
Share on the grant date was $6.69.
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On July 1, 2008, the Company increased the Plas&yve by 1,000,000 shares and granted 500,00@sSkparrsuant to the Compat
Plan. All 500,000 Shares were awarded to our CB@ngelos Pistiolis, and issued to Sovereign Hollilmg., a company whollgwned b
Mr. Pistiolis. The restrictions on the shares gedrto the CEO schedule 125,000 shares to vesteogréimt date and schedule the remaind
the shares to vest over a period of three yeaeqral annual installments beginning one year frben dgrant date. However, as the sh
granted to the Company's CEO do not contain anyréuservice vesting conditions, all such sharescarnsidered vested shares on the ¢
date. The fair value of each share on the gramtwas $6.20

On July 10, 2008, the Company granted 2,666 Sharesiant to the Company's Plan. All 2,666 Share® aearded to one of ¢
employees, such Shares to vest over a period afrihm. The fair value of each Share on the gratetwas $5.15.

On September 2, 2008, the Company granted 387,666e$S pursuant to the Company's Plan. 375,000e06ttares from this ds
were granted to our nogxecutive directors, such Shares to vest five yafies the grant date. 10,000 of the Shares frasmdate were grant
to one of our employees, such Shares to vest piiopally over a period of three years in equalalisients, commencing on the grant ¢
2,666 of the Shares from this date were grantezhtiher of our employees, such Shares to vestayeriod of 6 months. The fair value
each Share on the grant date was $5.08.

On September 4, 2008, the Company increased tmesRkserve by 2,000,000 shares and granted 138 &Hares pursuant to
Company's Plan. All 1,472,438 Shares were awardedit CEO, Evangelos Pistiolis in lieu of cash cemgation that would be owed to |
Pistiolis under his employment agreement with tbenfany, or the employment agreement, in the evieamtcbange in control of the Compa
These Shares were issued to Sovereign Holdingsdrmmmpany whollyawned by Mr. Pistiolis. The Shares will vest in theent of a change
control of the Company, as defined in the employinagmeement. The fair value of each Share on thetglate was $5.23.

All share amounts have been adjusted for the ¥/&se stock split effected on March 20, 2008.
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A summary of the status of the Company's vestechandiested Shares as of December 31, 2008 and movelueng the year end
December 31, 2008, is presented below:

Number of non-vested share: Weighted average grant date fair value
per non-vested share
As of December 31, 200 213,333 $23.97
Granted in 200 2,060,331 $5.34
Vested in 200¢ (157,078) $14.56
Forfeited in 2008 (39,322) $12.59
As of December 31, 200 2,077,264 $6.42

Number of vested share:

As of December 31, 200 229,917
Granted in 200! 500,000
Non-vested shares granted in 2007 and 2008, vestenigi2008 157,078
As of December 31, 200 886,995

C. Board Practices
Committees of the Board of Directors

We have established an audit committee compostued members, which pursuant to a written auditrodtee charter is responsi
for reviewing our accounting controls and recomniegdo the Board of Directors, or the Board, thgagement of our outside auditors. E
member is an independent director under the corpaavernance rules of the NASDAQ Global Select kdarThe members of the at
committee are Messrs. Docherty, Gibbs and Thomdsle\the Company is exempt from the requiremerttaee an audit committee financ
expert, both Mr. Thomas and Mr. Gibbs meet the ifjcalions of an audit committee financial expen. June 2007, we establishe
compensation committee and a nominating and goses@ommittee. Both committees are composed of foembers, all of whom &
independent directors. The compensation commitieges out the Board's responsibilities relatingampensation of the Company's exect
and nonexecutive officers and provides such other guidamite respect to compensation matters as the Coeendeems appropriate.
nominating and governance committee assists thedBaoa (i) identifying, evaluating and making recorandations to the Board concerr
individuals for selections as director nomineestfa next annual meeting of stockholders or to milee fill Board vacancies; (ii) developi
and recommending to the Board a set of corporatergance guidelines and principles applicable t® @ompany, and (iii) reviewing t
overall corporate governance of the Company andmetending improvements to the Board from time rizeti

The board has determined that Mr. Thomas and Myb&iwhose biographical details are included elsegvin this Item 6, membe

of our audit committee, qualify as a financial estpeand are considered to be independent undecdhgorate governance rules of
NASDAQ Global Select Marke
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D. Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we had four employees)ewbirr whollyowned subsidiary, TOP Tanker Management, employ&
employees, all of whom are shdvesed. As of December 31, 2008 we employed alss88®@0ing employees, directly and indirectly tigh
our sub-managers.
E. Share Ownership

The common shares beneficially owned by our dimsctmd senior managers and/or companies affiliatiél these individuals a
disclosed in "ltem 7. Major Shareholders and Rdl&arty Transactions".

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets forth information regarmglifi) the owners of more than five percent of oomenon stock that we are aware of anc
the total amount of capital stock owned by ouraaffs and directors as of June 24, 2009. All ofghareholders, including the sharehol

listed in this table, are entitled to one votedach share of common stock held. The percentades bee calculated as of June 24, 2009.

Amount Owned Percent

Title of Class Identity of Person or Grou of Class
Common Stock, par value $.01 per st Sphinx Investment Corp. 4,133,33. 13.99¥%
Maryport Navigation Corp. 4,133,33. 13.99¥%
George Economou 4,133,33 13.99¥%
QVT Financial LP** 2,899,56: 9.81%
QVT Financial GP LLC** 2,899,56: 9.81%
QVT Associates GP LLC* 2,305,80. 7.80%
Kingdom Holdings Inc.*** 1,065,39: 3.60%
Sovereign Holdings**** 2,826,56: 9.57%
Evangelos Pistiolis***** 2,826,56 9.57%
Shares of Officers and directors other than Evargyel
Pistiolis 567,88( 1.92%
All officers and directors as a gro 3,394,44. 11.49v
* As of October 24, 2008. Sphinx Investment Corp.ryart Navigation Corp. and Mr. Economou may cdogtia "group” fol
reporting purposes of Rule 1-5 promulgated under the Exchange /
*x As of January, 16, 2009. QVT Financial LP, QVT Fiaial GP LLC and QVT Associates GP LLC share bem@fownership of thi
shares listed in this tabl
ok A company owned primarily by adult relatives of &resident, Chief Executive Officer, and Directewangelos Pistiolis

kk A company that is wholly owned by Evangelos Pistic
*xek By virtue of the shares owned directly through Seign Holdings Inc

B. Related Party Transactions
For Related Party Transactions please refer to Blétethe consolidated financial statements inaiuiddtem 18.
C. Interests of Experts and Counsel.

Not applicable.

93



npapastratis
Highlight

npapastratis
Highlight


ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION.
Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Inform&on.
See Item 18.

Dividend Policy

The Company paid special dividends of $15.00 paresand $7.50 per share on March 27, 2006 and 2pyiR006, respectively. (
April 6, 2006 our Board decided to discontinue @@mpany's policy of paying regular quarterly divids. The declaration and payment of
future special dividends shall remain subject ® discretion of the Board and shall be based oemgémarket and other conditions incluc

the Company's earnings, financial strength and ceglirements and availability.

We are permitted to pay dividends under the loankbsg as we are not in default of a loan coverantt if such dividend payme

would not result in a default of a loan covenant.
Significant Changes.

Please refer to Note 23 to the consolidated firdrstatements included in Iltem 18.
ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING.

Price Range of Common Stock

The trading market for our common stock is the NA®DGIlobal Select Market, on which the shares astdi under the symt
"TOPS." The following table sets forth the higiddow closing prices for our common stock sinceiaitial public offering of common stock
$33.00 per share on July 23, 2004, as reportethdWASDAQ Global Select Market. The high and lowsahg prices for our common st

for the periods indicated were as follows:

HIGH LOW

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 20( $10.6: $1.4(
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2007* $25.2 $9.0¢
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006* $54.9¢ $13.8:
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2005* $66.0( $36.8:
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2004 (begiimg July 23, 2004)* $72.4. $31.5!
For the Quarter Ended*

March 31, 200¢ $2.3( $0.77
December 31, 2008 $4.6¢ $1.4C
September 30, 2008 $6.31 $3.81
June 30, 2008 $10.2¢ $6.4(
March 31, 2008* $10.6¢ $6.0¢
December 31, 2007* $22.2: $9.0¢
September 30, 2007* $25.2( $14.8¢
June 30, 2007* $22.4; $13.4¢
March 31, 2007* $15.7¢ $13.3¢
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For the Month HIGH LOW

June 2009 (to June 24, 20( $3.52 $1.9¢
May 2009 $1.77 $1.5¢
April 2009 $1.6¢ $0.9¢
March 200¢ $1.0¢ $0.77
February 200! $2.0( $1.2¢
January 200! $2.3( $1.8¢

*Adjusted for the 1:3 reverse stock split effectMarch 20, 200¢
ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A. Share Capital

Not applicable.

B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

Our purpose is to engage in any lawful act or #gtifior which corporations may now or hereafterdrganized under the Marsk
Islands Business Corporations Act, or BCA. Our Adezhand Restated Articles of Incorporation and Adeehand Restated Bsws do nc
impose any limitations on the ownership rights off shareholders.

Under our Amended and Restated IBws, annual shareholder meetings will be held &ma and place selected by our boar
directors. The meetings may be held in or outsidia® Marshall Islands. Special meetings of therahalders, unless otherwise prescribe
law, may be called for any purpose or purposesatiane exclusively by the board of directors. Metof every annual and special meetin
shareholders shall be given at least 15 but noertian 60 days before such meeting to each shdestwfl record entitled to vote thereat.

Directors.  Our directors are elected by a plurality of oges cast at a meeting of the shareholders bidluers of shares entitl
to vote in the election. Our Amended and Restatettlds of Incorporation and Amended and Restatgdal/s prohibit cumulative in tt
election of directors.

The board of directors must consist of at leastroeenber and not more than twelve, as fixed fronetimtime by the vote of not le

than 662 /3% of the entire board. Each director shall betelé:to serve until the third succeeding annualtimgef shareholders and until
successor shall have been duly elected and quhlékcept in the event of his death, resignatiemaval, or the earlier termination of his t
of office. The board of directors has the authotityfix the amounts which shall be payable to themhers of our board of directors, an
members of any committee, for attendance at anyingeer for services rendered to us.

Classified Board

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporapoovide for the division of our board of directamgo three classes of directc
with each class as nearly equal in number as gdessibrving staggered, three-year terms. Approxéainethird of our board of directors w
be elected each year. This classified board pravisbuld discourage a third party from making al&roffer for our shares or attempting
obtain control of our company. It could also dednareholdersvho do not agree with the policies of the boardlioéctors from removing
majority of the board of directors for two years.
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Election and Removal

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatma Amended and Restated lay¥s require parties other than the boar
directors to give advance written notice of nomiora for the election of directors. Our Amended Rastated articles of incorporation pro
that our directors may be removed only for causk @ily upon the affirmative vote of the holdersavieast 80% of the outstanding share
our capital stock entitled to vote for those dioest These provisions may discourage, delay orgmethe removal of incumbent officers |
directors.

Dissenters' Rights of Appraisal and Payment  Under the Business Corporation Act of the Répulf the Marshall Islands,

BCA, our shareholders have the right to dissennhfrk@rious corporate actions, including any mergesale of all or substantially all of ¢
assets not made in the usual course of our busiapdseceive payment of the fair value of thearsk. In the event of any further amendr
of the articles, a shareholder also has the rightissent and receive payment for his or her shiidi® amendment alters certain right:
respect of those shares. The dissenting shareholgstrfollow the procedures set forth in the BCAdoeive payment. In the event that, an
other things, the institution of proceedings in ¢ireuit court in the judicial circuit in the Marah Islands in which our Marshall Islands offic:
situated. The value of the shares of the dissentm@nd any dissenting shareholder fail to agrea price for the shares, the BCA proced
involve shareholder is fixed by the court afteerehce, if the court so elects, to the recommeodsiof a court-appointed appraiser.

Shareholders' Derivative Actions.  Under the BCA, any of our shareholders maygén action in our name to procure a judgr
in our favor, also known as a derivative actiomvidled that the shareholder bringing the actiam limlder of common stock both at the time
derivative action is commenced and at the timénefttansaction to which the action relate.

Anti-takeover Provisions of our Charter Documents.  Several provisions of our Amended and RestAtéidles of Incorporatio
and Amended and Restated by-laws may havetakeiover effects. These provisions are intendeavtid costly takeover battles, lessen
vulnerability to a hostile change of control andhance the ability of our board of directors to nmasizie shareholder value in connection \
any unsolicited offer to acquire us. However, thasé-takeover provisions, which are summarized belowld¢@lso discourage, delay
prevent (1) the merger or acquisition of our conyplay means of a tender offer, a proxy contest bentise, that a shareholder may consid
its best interest and (2) the removal of incumlzgfiters and directors.

Business Combinations
The Company's Amended and Restated Articles ofrparation include provisions which prohibit the Quamy from engaging in
business combination with an interested sharehdtiea period of three years after the date oftthasaction in which the person becam

interested shareholder, unless:

* prior to the date of the transaction that resuitethe shareholder becoming an interested sharehdlie Board approved either
business combination or the transaction that regult the shareholder becoming an interested sbilaiet)

* upon consummation of the transaction that resuftéie shareholder becoming an interested sharehdltke interested sharehol
owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the coapion outstanding at the time the transaction cemeed,;
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 at or subsequent to the date of the transactionrésalted in the shareholder becoming an intedestareholder, the busin
combination is approved by the Board and authoraezh annual or special meeting of shareholdethdwgffirmative vote of at le¢

662/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not ediy the interested shareholder; and
« the shareholder became an interested sharehmideto the consummation of the initial public efing.
Limited Actions by Shareholders

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatim our Amended and Restated Bws provide that any action requirec
permitted to be taken by our shareholders musffeeted at an annual or special meeting of shadshelor by the unanimous written con:
of our shareholders.

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatiod our Amended and Restated IBws provide that only our board of direct
may call special meetings of our shareholders haddtisiness transacted at the special meetingnitedl to the purposes stated in the na
Accordingly, a shareholder may be prevented froftingaa special meeting for shareholder consideratif a proposal over the oppositior
our board of directors and shareholder consideratfa proposal may be delayed until the next ahmegeting.

Blank Check Preferred Stock

Under the terms of our Amended and Restated Asticfencorporation, our board of directors has aritp, without any further vo
or action by our shareholders, to issue up to ZDJWD shares of blank check preferred stock. Oardof directors may issue share:
preferred stock on terms calculated to discourdgkay or prevent a change of control of our compamye removal of our management.

Super-majority Required for Certain Amendments taOBy-Laws

On February 28, 2007, we amended outaws to require that amendments to certain prongiof our by laws may be made w

approved by a vote of not less than%8% of the entire Board of Directors. These praxisi that require not less than BB% vote of th
Board of Directors to be amended are provisionsegung: the nature of business to be transactedimannual meetings of shareholders
calling of special meetings by our Board of Diregstany amendment to change the number of directorstituting our Board of Directors, -
method by which our Board of Directors is electibd nomination procedures of our board of dire¢teemoval of our board of directors ¢
the filling of vacancies on our Board of Directors.

C. Material Contracts
Long Term Debt
As of December 31, 2008 we had long term debt ahitigs under credit facilities with RBS, HSH, DVBMPORIKI and ALPH/

BANK. For a full description of our credit facilés see "Item 5 — Operating and Financial Review Rnakspects Tabular Disclosure 1
Contractual Obligations — Long Term Debt".
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Newbuildings

As of December 31, 2008 we had commitments unaestspbuilding contracts for the construction of iandymax product/chemic
tankers scheduled for delivery during 2009. Foul description of our newbuildings see "ltem S50perating and Financial Review A
Prospects - Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Gibiagns — Newbuildings”.

Office space lease

In January 2006, we entered into an agreementgeleffice space in Athens, Greece, with an ure@lparty. The agreement is fc
duration of 12 years beginning May 2006 with a éess option for an extension of 10 years. For ladegcription of the office space lease
“ltem 5 — Operating and Financial Review And Praspe Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligatien®perating Leases".

Sale and Leaseback

As of December 31, 2008 we had commitments underasal leaseback agreements for five out of thdvewef our vessels unc
management. In March and April of 2006, the sulbsids of the Company had sold and subsequentlgdeaack thirteen vessels for a perio

five to seven years. During 2009, up to the datiisfreport we have terminated or agreed to teatriall five sale and leaseback agreemel
discussed under "ltem 5 — Operating and Finanaaidv And Prospects - Tabular Disclosure of CotracObligations — Operating Leases".
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Stockholders Rights Agreement

We entered into a Stockholders Rights Agreemerit @amputershare Investor Services, LLC, as Riglgsm as of August 19, 20!
Under this Agreement, we declared a dividend payabbne right, or Right, to purchase one ¢in@ssandth of a share of the Company's S
A Participating Preferred Stock for each outstagdihare of Top Ships Inc. common stock, par valug.$0.01 per share. The Rights
separate from the common stock and become exeleisdter (1) the 10th day after public announcentbat a person or group acqu
ownership of 15% or more of the company's commoucksbr (2) the 10th business day (or such latee datdetermined by the compa
Board of Directors) after a person or group annesre tender or exchange offer which would resuthat person or group holding 15%
more of the company's common stock. On the digidhwdate, each holder of a right will be entittedourchase for $25 (the "Exercise Price
fraction (1/1000th) of one share of the company&fgured stock which has similar economic termsas share of common stock. If
acquiring person (an "Acquiring Person") acquiresrenthan 15% of the company's common stock theh batder of a right (except tt
Acquiring Person) will be entitled to buy at theeesise price, a number of shares of the compaytsron stock which has a market valu
twice the exercise price. If after an Acquiring et acquires more than 15% of the company's constomk, the company merges into anc
company or the company sells more than 50% ofsiéeta or earning power, then each holder of rightdpt for those owned by the acqui
will be entitled to purchase at the Exercise Priceaumber of shares of common stock of the surgi@ntity which has a then current ma
value of twice of the Exercise Price. Any time affee date an Acquiring Person obtains more th&t @5the company's common stock
before that Acquiring Person acquires more than 50%he company's outstanding common stock, thepamy may exchange each ri
owned by all other rights holders, in whole or irtp for one share of the company's common stbhk. rights expire on the earliest of
August 31, 2015 or (2) the exchange or redemptfaherights as described above. The company adeera the rights at any time on or p
to the earlier of a public announcement that aqrelas acquired ownership of 15% or more of thepmomw's common stock, or the expira
date. The terms of the rights and the StockholBé@gkts Agreement may be amended without the cordethe rights holders at any time or
prior to the Distribution Date. After the Distribom Date, the terms of the rights and the StockisldRights Agreement may be amende
make changes that do not adversely affect thegighthe rights holders (other than the Acquiriregg®n). The rights do not have any vo
rights. The rights have the benefit of certain costry anti-dilution protections.

D. Exchange controls
The Marshall Islands imposes no exchange controlsonm-resident corporations.
E. Tax Consequences
The following is a discussion of the material MaiHslands and United States federal income taxsitierations relevant to
investment decision by a U.S. Holder and a non H@der, each as defined below, with respect toctiramon stock. This discussion does
purport to deal with the tax consequences of oweimgmon stock to all categories of investors, safehich, such as dealers in secur
and investors whose functional currency is notUnéed States dollar, may be subject to speci@su¥ou are encouraged to consult your

tax advisors concerning the overall tax consequeadsing in your own particular situation underitdd States federal, state, local or fort
law of the ownership of common stock.
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Marshall Islands Tax Consequences

In the opinion of Seward & Kissel LLP, the followgrare the material Marshall Islands tax consequené®ur activities to us a
shareholders of our common stock. We are incorpdrit the Marshall Islands. Under current Marsisidinds law, we are not subject to ta
income or capital gains, and no Marshall Islandffalding tax will be imposed upon payments of dérids by us to our shareholders.

United States Federal Income Tax Consequences

In the opinion of Seward & Kissel LLP, our Unitedags counsel, the following are the material UWhiBtates federal income
consequences to us of our activities and to U.3déte and non U.S. Holders, each as defined badbvwaur common stock. The followil
discussion of United States federal income taxensiis based on the Code, judicial decisions, adtrétive pronouncements, and existing
proposed regulations issued by the United Statgaiment of the Treasury, all of which are subjeathange, possibly with retroactive effi
Treasury Regulations interpreting Code Section 888ame effective on January 1, 2005 for calendar tgexpayers such as ourselves ant
subsidiaries. The discussion below is based, iy parthe description of our business as describé@usiness" above and assumes tha
conduct our business as described in that sedfxeept as otherwise noted, this discussion is baretie assumption that we will not main
an office or other fixed place of business withie United States. References in the following dismn to "we" and "us" are to TOP SH
INC. and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

United States Federal Income Taxation of Our Compay
Taxation of Operating Income: In General

Unless exempt from United States federal incomatiam under the rules discussed below, a foreigparation is subject to Unit
States federal income taxation in respect of angrime that is derived from the use of vessels, filoenhiring or leasing of vessels for use
time, voyage or bareboat charter basis, from théggzation in a pool, partnership, strategic altia, joint operating agreement, code sh:
arrangements or other joint venture it directlyimdirectly owns or participates in that generateshsincome, or from the performance
services directly related to those uses, which eferrto as "shipping income," to the extent that shipping income is derived from soui
within the United States. For these purposes, 50%hipping income that is attributable to transption that begins or ends, but that doe:
both begin and end, in the United States conssititeome from sources within the United Stateschviie refer to as "U.Seurce shippir
income."

Shipping income attributable to transportation thath begins and ends in the United States is dersil to be 100% from sour:
within the United States. We are not permitted &y to engage in transportation that produces inceinieh is considered to be 100% fr
sources within the United States.

Shipping income attributable to transportation esidely between nokk.S. ports will be considered to be 100% deriveanftsource
outside the United States. Shipping income deriveth sources outside the United States will notsbbject to any United States Fed
income tax.

In the absence of exemption from tax under Se@R#8) our gross U.S. source shipping income woulduigect to a 4% tax impos
without allowance for deductions as described below
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Exemption of Operating Income from United StatedefFa@l Income Taxatio

Under Section 883 of the Code and the regulatibasstunder, we will be exempt from United Statekefal income taxation on ¢
U.S.-source shipping income if:

() we are organized in a foreign country, or our couof organization, that grants an "equivalent eggom” to corporations organized
in the United States; ar

(2) either
(A) more than 50% of the value of our stock is ownéebatly or indirectly, by individuals who are "relgints" of our country of
organization or of another foreign country thatgseaan "equivalent exemption" to corporations orgeghin the United
States, which we refer to as the "50% Ownership, Tes
(B) our stock is "primarily and regularly traded onemtablished securities market" in our country gfamization, in anothe

country that grants an "equivalent exemption" tatéthStates corporations, or in the United Statésch we refer to as the
"Publicly-Traded Test"

The Marshall Islands, Cyprus and Liberia, the pigdons where our shipwning subsidiaries are incorporated, each gral
"equivalent exemption" to United States corporatiorherefore, we will be exempt from United Stdesteral income taxation with respec
our U.S.-source shipping income if either the 50%n@rship Test or the Publicly-Traded Test is met.

The regulations provide, in pertinent part, thaicktof a foreign corporation will be consideredlde "primarily traded" on ¢
established securities market if the number ofeshaf each class of stock that are traded duripgiarable year on all established secur
markets in that country exceeds the number of shareach such class that are traded during tteatgme established securities markets in
other single country. Our common stock, which is sale class of issued and outstanding stock, isvaa anticipate will continue to
"primarily traded" on the NASDAQ Global Select Matk

Under the regulations, our common stock will besidered to be "regularly traded" on an establisemlirities market if one or m¢
classes of our stock representing more than 508ti0butstanding shares, by total combined votinggroof all classes of stock entitled to \
and total value, is listed on the market which eferrto as the listing threshold. Since our commstoick, our sole class of stock, is listed or
NASDAQ Global Select Market, we will satisfy theting requiremen

It is further required that with respect to eadrmsslof stock relied upon to meet the listing thoésh(i) such class of stock be tradec
the market, other than in minimal quantities, oteast 60 days during the taxable year or siméhx of the days in a short taxable year; an
the aggregate number of shares of such class df staded on such market is at least 10% of theageenumber of shares of such clas
stock outstanding during such year or as apprayiadjusted in the case of a short taxable year.balieve we will satisfy the tradi
frequency and trading volume tests. Even if thisengot the case, the regulations provide that riding frequency and trading volume t
will be deemed satisfied if, as is the case withaammon stock, such class of stock is traded oessablished market in the United States
such stock is regularly quoted by dealers makintaeket in such stock.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the regulations ey in pertinent part, that each class of our kstedl not be considered to
“regularly traded" on an established securitiesketaior any taxable year in which 50% or more aftealass of our outstanding shares o
stock are owned, actually or constructively ungecified stock attribution rules, on more than hlaéf days during the taxable year by per
who each own 5% or more of the value of each @déssir outstanding stock, which we refer to as"th@ercent Override Rule."

For purposes of being able to determine the perstiesown 5% or more of our stock, or "5% Sharehadehe regulations permit
to rely on those persons that are identified orefule 13G and Schedule 13D filings with the SEChasng a 5% or more beneficial inte
in our common stock. The regulations further previtlat an investment company identified on a SERe&uale 13G or Schedule 13D fili
which is registered under the Investment ComparnyofAd@940, as amended, will not be treated as ab&teholder for such purposes.

In the event the 5 Percent Override Rule is trigdethe regulations provide that the 5 Percent @eRule will not apply if we ce
establish that among the closélgld group of 5% Shareholders, there are suffick¥t Shareholders that are considered to be qud
shareholders for purposes of Section 883 to preahah-qualified 5% Shareholders in the cloded§d group from owning 50% or more of e
class of our stock for more than half the numbetayfs during such year.

We believe that we currently satisfy the Publiiaded Test and are not subject to the 5 Perceetride Rule and we will take tt
position for U.S. federal income tax reporting mses. However, there are factual circumstancesrakegur control which could cause u
lose the benefit of this exemption.

Taxation in the Absence of Code Section 883 Exempti

To the extent the benefits of Code Section 883uaivailable, our U.S. source shipping income, ®dRktent not considered to
"effectively connected" with the conduct of a Utde or business, as described below, would becito a 4% tax imposed by Section
of the Code on a gross basis, without the benéfdealuctions. Since under the sourcing rules desdriabove, no more than 50% of
shipping income would be treated as being derivethfU.S. sources, the maximum effective rate of. fe8eral income tax on our shipp
income would never exceed 2% under the 4% grosds tzasregime.

To the extent the benefits of the Code Sectioné&3dnption are unavailable and our U.S. source stgppcome is considered to
"effectively connected" with the conduct of a Utade or business, as described below, any sufdctizely connected" U.S. source shipy
income, net of applicable deductions, would be ettbjo the U.S. federal corporate income tax ctiyrgmposed at rates of up to 35%.
addition, we may be subject to the 30% "branchifgofaxes on earnings effectively connected whtla tonduct of such trade or busines
determined after allowance for certain adjustmesutsl on certain interest paid or deemed paid atalile to the conduct of its U.S. tradt
business.

Our U.S. source shipping income would be considézéfdctively connected" with the conduct of a Uti&de or business only if:

. We have, or are considered to have, a fixed plateisiness in the United States involved in theniegr of shipping incom
and
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. substantially all of our U.S. source shipping in&oi® attributable to regularly scheduled transpimma such as the operat
of a vessel that follows a published schedule wéheated sailings at regular intervals betweers#imee points for voyag
that begin or end in the United Stat

We do not have currently or intend to have, or penincumstances that would result in having angset operating to the Unit
States on a regularly scheduled basis. Based ofothgoing and on the expected mode of our shippipgrations and other activities,
believe that none of our U.S. source shipping ineavill be "effectively connected" with the condwéta U.S. trade or business.

United States Taxation of Gain on Sale of Vessels

Regardless of whether we qualify for exemption un@ede Section 883, we will not be subject to Uhittates federal incor
taxation with respect to gain realized on a sale wessel, provided the sale is considered to ooatside of the United States under Ur
States federal income tax principles. In generahla of a vessel will be considered to occur detsif the United States for this purpose if
to the vessel, and risk of loss with respect toviingsel, pass to the buyer outside of the UnitateSt It is expected that any sale of a vess
us will be considered to occur outside of the Uhifates.

United States Federal Income Taxation of U.S. Holds
As used herein, the term "U.S. Holder" means afi@akeowner of our common stock that

. is a United States citizen or resident, United &dtarporation or other United States entity taxas a corporation, an es
the income of which is subject to United Statesfatlincome taxation regardless of its source, wust if a court within th
United States is able to exercise primary jurisdicbver the administration of the trust and onenore United States perst
have the authority to control all substantial diecis of the trust

. owns the common stock as a capital asset, gengi@llinvestment purposes, a
. owns less than 10% of our common stock for UnitedeS federal income tax purpos

If a partnership holds our common stock, the teatiment of a partner will generally depend uporsthtus of the partner and upon
activities of the partnership. If you are a partimea partnership holding our common stock, youeareouraged to consult your tax advisor.

Distributions

Subject to the discussion of passive foreign inmesit companies below, any distributions made bwitls respect to our comm
stock to a U.S. Holder will generally constituteidends, which may be taxable as ordinary incoméoalified dividend income™ as descrit
in more detail below, to the extent of our currentaccumulated earnings and profits, as determimeter United States federal income
principles. Distributions in excess of our earniragsl profits will be treated first as a nontaxatd&urn of capital to the extent of the L
Holder's tax basis in his common stock on a dédladollar basis and thereafter as capital gaircaBiee we are not a United States corporz:
U.S. Holders that are corporations will not be tigdito claim a dividends received deduction wihpect to any distributions they receive f
us. Dividends paid with respect to our common stawidkgenerally be treated as "passive categorpine" or, in the case of certain type:
U.S. Holders, "general category income" for purgasiecomputing allowable foreign tax credits foritéd States foreign tax credit purposes.
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Dividends paid on our common stock to a U.S. Holdo is an individual, trust or estate (a "U.S.iundual Holder") should t
treated as "qualified dividend income” that is tarato such U.S. Individual Holders at preferentéd rates (through 2010) provided that
the common stock is readily tradable on an estaddissecurities market in the United States (sudh@iNASDAQ Global Select Market
which our stock is currently traded); (2) we aré agassive foreign investment company for thelibexgear during which the dividend is p
or the immediately preceding taxable year (whichdeelot believe we are, have been or will be); @)dhe U.S. Individual Holder has owr
the common stock for more than 60 days in the 184 kriod beginning 60 days before the date onlwttie common stock becomes ex-
dividend. Legislation has been recently introdugedhe United States Congress, which if enactedsirpresent form, would preclude
dividends from qualifying for such preferentialeatprospectively from the date of enactment. Tleer® assurance that any dividends pai
our common stock will be eligible for these prefaial rates in the hands of a U.S. Individual Holdeény dividends paid by the Compe
which are not eligible for these preferential ratéitbe taxed as ordinary income to a U.S. IndiatHolder.

Special rules may apply to any "extraordinary dévid" generally, a dividend in an amount which igado or in excess of ten perc
of a shareholder's adjusted basis (or, at theieteof the U.S. Individual Holder, the stock's ttfair market value) in a share of common s
paid by us. If we pay an "extraordinary dividend'@ur common stock that is treated as "qualifiaddgind income," then any loss derived |
U.S. Individual Holder from the sale or exchangswéh common stock will be treated as long-ternitablpss to the extent of such dividend.

Sale, Exchange or other Disposition of Common Stock

Assuming we do not constitute a passive foreigrestment company for any taxable year, a U.S. Halgererally will recogniz
taxable gain or loss upon a sale, exchange or diisposition of our common stock in an amount eqaahe difference between the amc
realized by the U.S. Holder from such sale, excbamgother disposition and the U.S. Holder's tasidm such stock. Such gain or loss wil
treated as longerm capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder's lmddperiod is greater than one year at the timthefsale, exchange or ot
disposition. Such capital gain or loss will gengrale treated as U.Seurce income or loss, as applicable, for U.S.idoréax credit purpose
A U.S. Holder's ability to deduct capital lossesubject to certain limitations.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Status andfiemi Tax Consequenc
Special United States federal income tax rulesyafipl U.S. Holder that holds stock in a foreigmpooation classified as a pass
foreign investment company for United States feldereome tax purposes. In general, we will be &dads a passive foreign investn

company with respect to a U.S. Holder if, for aayable year in which such holder held our commonlsteither

. at least 75% of our gross income for such taxablr yonsists of passive income (e.g., dividendsrést, capital gains a
rents derived other than in the active conduct iefrdial business), «

. at least 50% of the average value of the assetsbyethe corporation during such taxable year pcedor are held for tl
production of, passive incom
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For purposes of determining whether we are a padsifeign investment company, we will be treatedeaming and owning o
proportionate share of the income and assets, attgply, of any of our subsidiary corporations ihieh we own at least 25 percent of the v
of the subsidiary's stock. Income earned, or deesaeded, by us in connection with the performarfcgeovices would not constitute pas
income. By contrast, rental income would generathiystitute "passive income" unless we were treateder specific rules as deriving
rental income in the active conduct of a tradeusitess.

As of March 31, 2009, 67% of the average valuewffteet was employed under bareboat chartersahalify as passive income.
our fleet and charter composition remains the sameewould likely be treated as a passive foreigregtment company for our 2009 tax:
year. Nevertheless, it is management's intentiotake necessary steps in order to avoid passiwgiorinvestment company status as
would have the negative tax consequences for a@stors more fully described, below. Remedial asticould involve the sale of pass
income producing vessels or the purchase of nosiyEscome producing assets.

Assuming that such steps are taken and based aruoent operations and future projections, we olobelieve that we are, nor do
expect to become, a passive foreign investment aognpith respect to any taxable year. Althoughetismo legal authority directly on poi
and we are not relying upon an opinion of counsethis issue, our belief is based principally oe fosition that, for purposes of determir
whether we are a passive foreign investment compaeygross income we derive or are deemed to @ the time chartering and voy:
chartering activities of our whollgwned subsidiaries should constitute services imcorather than rental income. Correspondingly,
income should not constitute passive income, aedattsets that we or our whollyvned subsidiaries own and operate in connectiah thi
production of such income, in particular, the véssshould not constitute passive assets for peipo$ determining whether we were a pas
foreign investment company. We believe there istauriiial legal authority supporting our positiomsisting of case law and Internal Reve
Service pronouncements concerning the charactenizaf income derived from time charters and voyelgarters as services income for o
tax purposes. However, there is also authority Wisttaracterizes time charter income as rental ircather than services income for othel
purposes. In the absence of any legal authoritgipally relating to the statutory provisions gemig passive foreign investment compar
the Internal Revenue Service or a court could desagvith our position. In addition, although weeimdl to conduct our affairs in a manne
avoid being classified as a passive foreign investntompany with respect to any taxable year, wea@abe certain that the nature of
operations will not change in the future.

As discussed more fully below, if we were to beateel as a passive foreign investment company fptaable year, a U.S. Holc
would be subject to different taxation rules depegdn whether the U.S. Holder makes an electiotneat us as a "Qualified Electing Fur
which election we refer to as a "QEF election."aksalternative to making a QEF election, a U.S.ddokhould be able to make a "mark-to-
market" election with respect to our common st@skgiscussed below.
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Taxation of U.S. Holders Making a Timely QEF Elewcti

If a U.S. Holder makes a timely QEF election, whi¢ls. Holder we refer to as an "Electing Holdehg Electing Holder must rep
each year for United States federal income tax geep his pro rata share of our ordinary earningscam net capital gain, if any, for ¢
taxable year that ends with or within the taxaldaryof the Electing Holder, regardless of whethanai distributions were received from us
the Electing Holder. The Electing Holder's adjudtax basis in the common stock will be increaseceftect taxed but undistributed earni
and profits. Distributions of earnings and proffiat had been previously taxed will result in aresponding reduction in the adjusted tax t
in the common stock and will not be taxed agairecdistributed. An Electing Holder would generakgognize capital gain or loss on the ¢
exchange or other disposition of our common stéckl.S. Holder would make a QEF election with resgecany year that our company |
passive foreign investment company by filing onpycof IRS Form 8621 with his United States fedémabme tax return and a second cof.
accordance with the instructions to such form. éfwere to be treated as a passive foreign investomenpany for any taxable year, we wc
provide each U.S. Holder with all necessary infdiarain order to make the qualified electing furldlotion described below. It should be nc
that if any of our subsidiaries is treated as gaomation for United States federal income tax pagso a U.S. Holder must make a separate
election with respect to each such subsidiary.

Taxation of U.S. Holders Making a "Mark-to-Marké&tlection

Alternatively, if we were to be treated as a pasg$oreign investment company for any taxable yeak, as we anticipate, our stocl
treated as "marketable stock," a U.S. Holder wdndlcllowed to make a "mark-toarket" election with respect to our common stquohyidec
the U.S. Holder completes and files IRS Form 8&2kdcordance with the relevant instructions andtedl Treasury Regulations. If t
election is made, the U.S. Holder generally wouldude as ordinary income in each taxable yeaeMoess, if any, of the fair market value
the common stock at the end of the taxable year sweh holder's adjusted tax basis in the commockstThe U.S. Holder would also
permitted an ordinary loss in respect of the exdéssy, of the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basithe common stock over its fair market vi
at the end of the taxable year, but only to themrixbf the net amount previously included in incamse result of the mark-toarket election. .
U.S. Holder's tax basis in his common stock wowdddjusted to reflect any such income or loss amd@tain realized on the sale, exchanc
other disposition of our common stock would betdaas ordinary income, and any loss realized ers#le, exchange or other dispositio
the common stock would be treated as ordinary tosthe extent that such loss does not exceed thenaek-tomarket gains previous
included by the U.S. Holder. It should be noted thany of our subsidiaries is treated as a capon for United States federal income
purposes, a U.S. Holder likely will not be ablentake a mark-to-market election with respect to esaath subsidiary.

Taxation of U.S. Holders Not Making a Timely QERark-to-Market Election

Finally, if we were to be treated as a passiveiforénvestment company for any taxable year, a H&der who does not make eit
a QEF election or a "mark-to-market" election foattyear, whom we refer to as a "NBlecting Holder," would be subject to special rulath
respect to (1) any excess distribution (i.e., thetipn of any distributions received by the NBhkecting Holder on our common stock i
taxable year in excess of 125 percent of the aeeasmpual distributions received by the NBlecting Holder in the three preceding taxi
years, or, if shorter, the N-Electing Holder's holding period for the commonc&jp and (2) any gain realized on the sale, exchamgthe
disposition of our common stock. Under these spegles:

. the excess distribution or gain would be allocatatdbly over the Nc-Electing Holders aggregate holding period for
common stock

106




. the amount allocated to the current taxable yearldvbe taxed as ordinary income; ¢

. the amount allocated to each of the other taxablrsywould be subject to tax at the highest rateaxfin effect for th
applicable class of taxpayer for that year, anthterest charge for the deemed deferral benefitidvba imposed with respe
to the resulting tax attributable to each such rotiveable yeatr

These penalties would not apply to a qualified pemsrofit sharing or other retirement trust onet taxexempt organization that ¢
not borrow money or otherwise utilize leverage ammection with its acquisition of our common stottka NonElecting Holder who is ¢
individual dies while owning our common stock, sumdider's successor generally would not receiviejpigp in tax basis with respect to s
stock.

United States Federal Income Taxation of "Non-U.SHolders"

A beneficial owner of common stock that is not & LHolder is referred to herein as a "Non-U.S. idald

Dividends on Common Sto

Non-U.S. Holders generally will not be subject to Udit8tates federal income tax or withholding tax @ndeénds received from
with respect to our common stock, unless that iredreffectively connected with the NahS. Holder's conduct of a trade or business i
United States. If the NobkS. Holder is entitled to the benefits of a Unifdites income tax treaty with respect to thosilends, that incon
is taxable only if it is attributable to a permahestablishment maintained by the Non-U.S. Holdehe United States.

Sale, Exchange or Other Disposition of Common Stock

Non-U.S. Holders generally will not be subject to Udit8tates federal income tax or withholding tax og gain realized upon t
sale, exchange or other disposition of our comntocks unless:

. the gain is effectively connected with the I-U.S. Holder's conduct of a trade or business irlLthiged States. If the N-U.S
Holder is entitled to the benefits of an income ti@aty with respect to that gain, that gain isate& only if it is attributable -
a permanent establishment maintained by the-U.S. Holder in the United States;

. the NonU.S. Holder is an individual who is present in ttrited States for 183 days or more during the txabar o
disposition and other conditions are n

If the NonU.S. Holder is engaged in a United States tradeusiness for United States federal income tax mepothe income fra
the common stock, including dividends and the deom the sale, exchange or other disposition ofstioek that is effectively connected v
the conduct of that trade or business will gengradl subject to regular United States federal iredax in the same manner as discussed
previous section relating to the taxation of U.®ld¢rs. In addition, if you are a corporate Ndr&. Holder, your earnings and profits that
attributable to the effectively connected incoméjoli are subject to certain adjustments, may bgstutp an additional branch profits tax .
rate of 30%, or at a lower rate as may be spedifiedn applicable income tax treaty.
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Backup Withholding and Information Reporti

In general, dividend payments, or other taxabléritistions, made within the United States to yodl Wwe subject to informatic
reporting requirements. In addition, such paymarilihe subject to backup withholding tax if youeaa non-corporate U.S. Holder and you:

. fail to provide an accurate taxpayer identificatrmmnmber;

. are notified by the Internal Revenue Service tloat lyave failed to report all interest or dividemelguired to be shown on y«
federal income tax returns;

. in certain circumstances, fail to comply with applle certification requirement

Non-U.S. Holders may be required to establish theingteon from information reporting and backup withding by certifying thei
status on IRS Form W-8BEN, W-8ECI or W-8IMY, as hpgble.

If you sell your common stock to or through a Uditgtates office or broker, the payment of the pedseis subject to both Unit
States backup withholding and information reportingess you certify that you are a nots. person, under penalties of perjury, or
otherwise establish an exemption. If you sell yommmon stock through a non-United States offica nbnUnited States broker and the s
proceeds are paid to you outside the United Sthessinformation reporting and backup withholdirengrally will not apply to that payme
However, United States information reporting regments, but not backup withholding, will apply tpayment of sales proceeds, even if
payment is made to you outside the United Statgmu sell your common stock through a ndnited States office of a broker that is a Ur
States person or has some other contacts with tfitedJStates. Backup withholding tax is not an iddal tax. Rather, you generally n
obtain a refund of any amounts withheld under bpakithholding rules that exceed your income takiligy by filing a refund claim with th
Internal Revenue Service.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable
G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable
H. Documents on Display.
We file annual reports and other information witle ISEC. You may read and copy any document wenfile the SEC at its publ
reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580sHiMgton, D.C. 20549. You may also obtain copiethif information by mail from tt
public reference section of the SEC, 100 F Stiédf,, Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549, at prbscrirates. Please call the SEC at 1-800

SEC0330 for further information on the operation o thublic reference room. Our SEC filings are algailable to the public at the web ¢
maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov, as agebn our website at http://www.topships.org

l. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable
Incorporation by Reference

This Form 20-F is hereby incorporated by referetacthe registration statement on Forn8 Filed on July 3, 2008 (Registration I
333-152150).
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ITEM11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Our risk management policy

Our primary market risks relate to adverse moveminfreight rates in the product tanker market snithe Handymax and Panamax secto
the drybulk market. In 2008, we started to impletraur strategy of entering into long term perio@utars (either time or bareboat). As of
date of this report, all but one of our vessels@ardéong term period charters with duration of mtiven one year, and therefore we beliew
have mitigated this market risk until the expiratmf each charter.

Our policy is to continuously monitor our expostweother business risks, including the impact cirafes in interest rates, currency rates
bunker prices on earnings and cash flows. We as$isess risks and, when appropriate, enter intosdvie contracts with creditrorthy counte
parties to minimize our exposure to the risks. Widard to bunker prices, as our employment pdbcyur vessels has been and is expect
continue to be with a high percentage of our fteeperiod employment, we are not directly exposét vespect to those vessels to increas
bunker fuel prices, as these are the responsiloiitiie charterer under period charter arrangements

Interest rate risk

We are subject to market risks relating to changésterest rates because we have floating raté aleistanding under our loan agreement
which we pay interest based on LIBOR plus a marginorder to manage our exposure to changes imestteates due to this floating r
indebtedness, we enter into interest rate swapeagsts. Set forth below is a table of our interatt swap arrangements as of Decembe
2007 and 2008 (in thousands).

Interest
Notional Effective Rate Fair Value— Asset
Counterparty Nr Amount Period Date Payable (Liability)
31-Dec-07 31-Dec-08

RBS 1 $ 25,357 4 years 3C-Jur-05 4.6% $ (240) $ (270)
HSH NORDBANK 2 $ 11,19 2 years 12-Dec-08 4.8(% $ (702)
HSH NORDBANK 3 $ 11,19: 2 years 12-Dec-08 4.8(% $ (779 $ (702)
HSH NORDBANK 4 $ 11,19: 2 years 12-Dec-08 4.8(% $ (701)
RBS 5 $ 10,00( 7 years 3C-Sef-06 42:% $ (519 $ (1,857)
RBS 6 $ 10,00( 7 years 3C-Sef-06 4.11% $ (461 $ (1,817
DEUTSCHE 7 $ 50,00( 6 years 28-Sef-07 - 8 (3,530 -
EGNATIA 8 $ 10,00( 7 years 3-Jul-06 47¢% $ (58¢) $ (1,650
HSH NORDBANK 9 $ 15,07: 5 years 27-Mar-08 3.0%% - % (732)
HSH NORDBANK 10 $ 7,44 5 years 27-Mar-08 4.6(% - $ (469)
EMPORIKI 11 $ 20,00( 7 years 15-May-08 5.5(% - $ (3,944
HSH NORDBANK 12 $ 13,35¢ 7 years 15-Jul-08 5.44% - $ (2,349
HSH NORDBANK 13 $ 15,10¢ 4 years 28-Jur-10 > - 3 (1,267)
$ (6,112 $ (16,43¢)
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SWAP Nr 1 This SWAP agreement expired during May 2009.
SWAPS Nr 2, 3, 4,13Under these SWAP agreements, we pay a fixed ratevarreceive variable three month Libor.

SWAPS Nr 5, 6 Under these SWAP agreements, we pay RBS a fixedofa#.23% and 4.11% respectively plus a varialblgign which i
equal to three times the difference between 0.08&«tlae difference of the 10 year U.S. dollar swate and the two year U.S. dollar swap
The coupon payments are capped at 10.25%. We e=freim RBS variable three month Libor.

SWAP Nr 7 In April 2008, we mutually agreed with DeutschanR to terminate the swap. The thautstanding liability of $7,500 was rep
up to September 30, 2008 in varying installments (3l0% of interest.

SWAP Nr 8 Under this SWAP agreement, we pay Egnatia a fixad of 4.70% plus a variable portion which is eguwatwo times th
difference between 0.05% and the difference oflthgear U.S. dollar swap rate and the two year do8ar swap rate. The coupon payme
capped at 8.80%. We receive from Egnatia varidivieet month Libor.

SWAPS Nr 9, 16 Under these SWAP agreements, we pay a fixedofatee threemonth U.S. Dollar Libor multiplied with the fact6r95 pe
annum if the three month U.S. Dollar Libor is betmel.50% and 4.84%. In case the U.S. Dollar Libdower than 1.50% or higher 4.84%,
will pay a fixed rate of 4.60% per annum for thatipd. We receive from HSH Nordbank variable thresnth Libor.

SWAP Nr 11 Under this SWAP agreement, we received an upfrorauat of $1,500. During the first year, we will edoe a fixed rate «
5.25% and pay a fixed rate of 5.50%. From the sgg@ar, we will receive a fixed rate of 5.25% antl pay a rate of 5.10%, if two conditio
are met: i) the difference between the 10 year Bwap rate and the 2 year Euro swap rate is greatsgual than0.15% and ii) the six mon
USD Libor is between 1.00% and 6.00%. Otherwise wilepay the 10.85% less 5.75% multiplied by thember of days that the above !
conditions are not met, divided by the total numifedtays of the period.

SWAP Nr 12 Under this SWAP agreement, we receive the threamdBOR and pay 5.55%, less 2.5% multiplied by tfustient of the
number of days the three month LIBOR and the 10 geap rate is set in fixed ranges.

As of December 31, 2008, our total bank indebteslvess $342.5 million, of which $144.8 million wasvered by the interest r:
swap agreements described above. As set fortreiatibve table, as of December,2008, we paid fixed rates ranging from 3.03% td%:
and received floating rates on the SWAPs that ased on three month LIBOR, of approximately 3.08%.of December 31, 2008 &
March 31, 2009, our interest rate swap agreemeata an average basis, above the prevailing thargh LIBOR rates over which our loi
are priced due to the steep reduction in prevaititerest rates during 2008 and the first quarte@009. Accordingly, the effect of these inte
rate swap agreements in 2008 and the first threghmmf 2009 has been to increase our interestnsepe

Based on the amount of our outstanding indebtedness December 31, 2008, and our interest swamgements as of December
2008, a hypothetical one percentage point increasecrease in the three month U.S. dollar LIBORIMV@ncrease our interest rate expens
2009, on an annualized basis, by approximately 8@llfon and decrease our interest rate expensappyoximately $1.8 million, respective
We have not and do not intend to enter into inteie swaps for speculative purposes.
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Foreign exchange rate fluctuation

We generate all of our revenues in U.S. dollarsii@u2008, almost 16% of our total expenses incluwere in currencies other tt
U.S. dollars, mainly in Euros. For accounting pusg® expenses incurred in other currencies areecaavinto U.S. dollars at the exchange
prevailing on the date of each transaction. We lmtehedged currency exchange risks associatedowitlexpenses and our operating re
could be adversely affected as a result. We cotigtaronitor the U.S dollar exchange rate and wetdrachieve the most favorable exche
rates from the financial institutions we work with.

Based on our total expenses for the year endednilmre31, 2008, and using as an exchange rate B &@rage exchange rate
$1.4709 / 1 Euro, a 5% decrease in the exchangeaadtl.3974 / 1 Euro, which reflects current exgearate levels, would result in an expe
saving of approximately $2.0 million.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURIT IES

Not Applicable.
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Part I
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

As of December 31, 2008 we were in breach of aeri@an covenants (Refer to discussion of covenamddhes under "ltem 5
Operating and Financial Review And Prospects - TeabDisclosure of Contractual ObligationsLeng term debt" above. Despite th
breaches, neither we nor any of our subsidiarée® been subject to a material default in the payrokprincipal, interest, a sinking fund
purchase fund installment or any other materishdiethat was not cured within 30 days..

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HO LDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not Applicable.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls an&rocedures.

Management, under the supervision and with theqiation of the Chief Executive Officer and thei€ftFinancial Officer, evaluat:
the effectiveness of the design and operation efGompany's disclosure controls and procedureuupotdo Rules 13a-15(e) or 138{e’
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 841@he "Exchange Act"), as of the end of the pkdovered by this annual report (a
December 31, 2008).

The term disclosure controls and procedures alieetefinder SEC rules as controls and other proesdufran issuer that are desig
to ensure that information required to be disclobgdhe issuer in the reports that it files or sitenunder the Exchange Act is recorc
processed, summarized and reported, within the pien®ds specified in the SEC's rules and formsclsure controls and procedures incl
without limitation, controls and procedures desiyjt@ ensure that information required to be dismtbly an issuer in the reports that it file
submits under the Act is accumulated and commusiictd the issuer's management, including its pradogéxecutive and principal financ
officers, or persons performing similar functioms, appropriate to allow timely decisions regardieguired disclosure. There are inhe
limitations to the effectiveness of any system ddckbsure controls and procedures, including thesimlity of human error and t
circumvention or overriding of the controls and ggdures. Accordingly, even effective disclosuretma and procedures can only proy
reasonable assurance of achieving their contraabives.

Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executivéc®ffand Chief Financial Officer concluded that @empany's disclosure contr
and procedures are effective as of December 38.200

b) Management's Annual Report on InternalControl over Financial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingraaithtaining adequate internal control over finahoigorting as defined in Rt
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the ErgleaAct.

Internal control over financial reporting is defthen Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d5(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act as a g¢
designed by, or under the supervision of, the Cawyigaprincipal executive and principal financiaficérs and effected by the Compai
Board of Directors, management and other personagfovide reasonable assurance regarding thabilitly of financial reporting and tl
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples and includes those polic
and procedures that:
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. Pertain to the maintenance of records that, inorgsie detail, accurately and fairly reflect trensactions and dispositions
the assets of the Company;

. Provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaceded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples; and that our receipts and expenditures afegbmade only in accordance v
authorizations of Company's management and direciod

. Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventidimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of ot
assets that could have a material effect on ttentiial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. A control systt
no matter how well designed and operated, can geovnly reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatofitrol system's objectives will be n
Our disclosure controls and procedures are desi¢mgiovide reasonable assurance of achieving thigectives. The design of a con
system must reflect the fact that there are resoocomstraints, and the benefits of controls mustdresidered relative to their costs. Furt
because of the inherent limitations in all consgstems, no evaluation of controls can provide labs@ssurance that misstatements di
error or fraud will not occur or that all contr@sues and instances of fraud, if any, within thenGany have been detected. These inh
limitations include the realities that judgmentsdacisionmaking can be faulty and that breakdowns can obegause of simple error
mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by tigévidual acts of some persons, by collusion of wamore people, or by managen
override of the controls. The design of any systdéroontrols is based in part on certain assumptadraut the likelihood of future events, |
there can be no assurance that any design wilesacin achieving its stated goals under all paaéftture conditions. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

Our management with the participation of our CHigkcutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer asses the effectiveness of
Company's internal control over financial reportaggof December 31, 2008. In making this assesstenCompany used the control crit
framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@izptions of the Treadway Commission, or COSO ligludd in its report entitle
Internal Controlhtegrated Framework. As a result of its assessnieatChief Executive Officer and Chief Financidfi€er concluded that tt
Company's internal controls over financial repartare effective as of December 31, 2008.

C) Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
Deloitte, Hadjipavlou, Sofianos and Cambanis Sok.Peloitte., an independent registered public antiag firm, as auditors of o

consolidated financial statements for the year érdecember 31, 2008, has issued the following taties report on the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2008.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of TopS Inc., Majuro, Republic of the Marshall Islands

We have audited the internal control over financégdorting of Top Ships Inc. and subsidiaries (tBempany") as of December 31, 2C
based on criteria established in Internal Controintegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadv
Commission. The Company's management is respenéisl maintaining effective internal control ovendncial reporting and for |
assessment of the effectiveness of internal comver financial reporting, included in the accomygag "management's annual report
internal controls over financial reporting”. Owsponsibility is to express an opinion on the Comyfsainternal control over financial report
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting OversightlBd&nited States). Those standi
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our audituded obtaining an understanding of internal cdrdxer financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etimaduthe design and operating effectiveness ofiratecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considezeessary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis fol
opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed by, or under the supenvis, the company's principal execu
and principal financial officers, or persons pemfiorg similar functions, and effected by the comparoard of directors, management,
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneedieg the reliability of financial reporting anlet preparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles. A company's interr@itml over financial reporting includ
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaihearaintenance of records that, in reasonablel dataurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@ide reasonable assurance that transactionreeseded as necessary to permit prepar
of financial statements in accordance with gengatlcepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are k
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngan@ent and directors of the company; and (3) peviehsonable assurance regar
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asijjon, use, or disposition of the company's as¢lesit could have a material effect on
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal tconover financial reporting, including the pogstlp of collusion or improper managem
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoanover financial reporting to future periods amebject to the risk that the controls r
become inadequate because of changes in conditivttgt the degree of compliance with the policgeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fical reporting as of December 31, 2(
based on the criteria established in Internal @bntr Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpong Organizations of t
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the consolida
financial statements and financial statement sdeeakiof and for the year ended December 31, 2§fG8e Company and our report dated .
26, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on tlios@cial statements and financial statement sdeesiud included an explanatory parag!
regarding substantial doubt about the Companyl#yatai continue as a going concern.

/sl Deloitte. Hadjipavlou, Sofianos, & Cambanis S.A

Athens, Greece
June 26, 2009
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d) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control dvancial reporting that occurred during the peromdered by this annual report t
have materially effected or are reasonably likelyniaterially affect, the Company's internal contreér financial reporting.

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

We have established an audit committee composatreé members that is responsible for reviewing aegounting controls a
recommending to the Board of Directors the engageratour outside auditors. Each member is an iaddpnt director under the corpol
governance rules of the NASDAQ Global Select Markéte members of the audit committee are Messrshéxy, Gibbs and Thomas. Wt
the Company is exempt from the requirement to hameaudit committee financial expert, both Mr. Themend Mr. Gibbs meet t
qualifications of an audit committee financial expe

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

The Board of Directors has adopted a Corporate @ddRusiness Ethics and Conduct that applies temlployees, directors a
officers, that complies with applicable guidelirissued by the SEC. The finalized Code of Ethicshieen approved by the Board of Direc
and was distributed to all employees, directors affiders. We will also provide any person a haopy of our code of ethics free of cha
upon written request. Shareholders may direct tlegjuests to the attention of Ms. Eirini Alexandyojpu at the Company's registered adc
and phone numbers.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL AUDITOR FEES AND SERVICE S

Our principal auditors for the year ended Decen83gr2008 were Deloitte. For the 2008 audit, Deto#tidit fees were $1,375,0
Our principal auditors for the year ended Decen81er2007 were Deloitte. For the 2007 audit, Dedoéttidit fees were $2,191,442. Audit 1
relate to regular audit services, audit of ourrimé controls, services required for follammcommon stock offerings and services relatedg6
comment letters.

Our audit committee pre-approves all audit, auelitted and nomudit services not prohibited by law to be perfalm®y ou
independent auditors and associated fees pritietetigagement of the independent auditor with ct$pesuch services.
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ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDA RDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

See Iltem 16A above.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASES

During the fourth quarter of 2008, our Board ofdaitors authorized a share repurchase program $pQtanillion for a share price
not more than $2.50 per share for the duratiomefyear. Share repurchases started during théhfquerter of 2008 and the transactions
open market based through the NASDAQ under Rule1Bbf the Exchange Act.

As at December 31, 2008 we had repurchased aneltathan amount of 396,949 shares from the opekehat an average price
$1.82. We continued our repurchase program untirlrary 3, 2009 and during the first two months 602 we repurchased an amoun
358,601 shares from the open market at an avenage @f $2.02. The outstanding amount of 358,604re$ was cancelled effective a
February 25, 2009.

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT'S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

Not applicable.
ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has certified to NASDAQ that its cogtergovernance practices are in compliance witt,aaa not prohibited by, t
laws of the Republic of the Marshall Islands. There, the Company is exempt from all of NASDAQ'spmrate governance practices o
than the requirements regarding the disclosure gbiag concern audit opinion, notification of maémon-compliance with NASDA(
corporate governance practices, and the establighamel composition of an audit committee that coesplvith SEC Rule 10/-and a form:
written audit committee charter. The practicesoigkd by the Company in lieu of NASDAQ's corporat@eynance rules are described below.

The practices followed by the Company in lieu of BIRAQ's corporate governance rules are describexvbel

. The Company holds annual meetings of shareholdetsrithe BCA, similar to NASDAQ requiremen

. In lieu of obtaining an independent review of rethparty transactions for conflicts of intereskts tisinterested members
the Board of Directors approve related party tratisas under the BC#A

. In lieu of obtaining shareholder approval priothe issuance of designated securities, the Compamplies with provisior
of the BCA requiring that the Board of Directorpagpves share issuanci

. The Board of Directors does not hold regularly skthed meetings at which only independent direcaoespresen
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PART Il
ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Not Applicable.
ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following financial statements, together witle teports of Deloitte, Hadjipavlou, Sofianos & Gamis S.A., Certified Auditors
Accountants S.A., thereon, are filed as part of thport:
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGERM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of TapS Inc., Majuro, Republic of the Marshall Islands

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Top Ships Inc. and subsidiaries @wripany”) as of December 31, 2i
and 2008, and the related consolidated statemérdpavations, stockholders' equity, and cash fléevseach of the three years in the pe
ended December 31, 2008. Our audits also inclddedinancial statement schedule listed in the xnafeltem 18. These financial statem:
and financial statement schedule are the respdihsibf the Company's management. Our responsgibii to express an opinion on th
financial statements and financial statement sdedulased on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamloUnited States). Those stand
require that we plan and perform the audit to obt@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, onsi lasis, evidence supporting the amounts andodis@s in the financial statements.
audit also includes assessing the accounting piegiused and significant estimates made by maragermas well as evaluating the ove
financial statement presentation. We believe thiataudits provide a reasonable basis for our opini

In our opinion, such consolidated financial stateteepresent fairly, in all material respects, thwaricial position of Top Ships Inc. ¢
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007thenckesults of their operations and their cash sléar each of the three years in the pe
ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with accimgnprinciples generally accepted in the Unitedt&&taf America. Also, in our opinic
such financial statement schedule, when considereglation to the basic consolidated financiatesteents taken as a whole, presents fait
all material respects, the information set forthréin.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue gsiag concern. As discussed in N
3 to the consolidated financial statements, the @om's inability to comply with financial covenantader its current loan agreements ¢
December 31, 2008 and its negative working cappakition raise substantial doubt about its ability continue as a goil
concern. Management's plans concerning these nqatte also discussed in Note 3 to the financékstents. The financial statements dc
include any adjustments that might result fromdb&ome of this uncertainty.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boédnited States), the Compar
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2008, based on the criteria establighédtérnal Control-4ntegrated Framewo
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission and our report dated A6, 2009 expressed an unqual
opinion on the Company's internal control over ficial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte. Hadjipavlou, Sofianos, & Cambanis S.A

Athens, Greece
June 26, 2009
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TOP SHIPS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars - exceptate and per share data)

December 31,

December 31,

2007 2008
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 26,01: $ 46,24:
Trade accounts receivable, net of provision of $80d $3,275 as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, cteply 15,18¢ 4,20¢
Insurance claim 51 173
Inventories (Note 7 7,95¢ 96%
Advances to various credita 1,10¢ 7€
Prepayments and other (Note 5,58( 4,72¢
Vessels held for sale (Note 10) 46,26¢ -
Total current assets } 102,16: 57,08¢
FIXED ASSETS:
Advances for vessels acquisitions / under constmdiNote 9) 66,02¢ 159,97:
Vessels, net (Notes 10, 11 and 553,89: 414,51!
Other fixed assets, net (Note 5) 5,711 6,54t
Total fixed assets i 625,62¢ 581,03:
OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS:
Long-term receivables (Note | 22,62¢ 7,681
Restricted cash (Notes 6 and : 26,50( 52,57¢
Total assets $ 776,91 $ 698,37!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of lon-term debt (Note 12 $ 79,33. % 342,47¢
Debt related to vessel held for sale (Note 28,15¢ -
Current portion of financial instruments (Note : 6,10¢ 16,43¢
Accounts payabl 21,34: 8,96¢
Other current liabilities (Note 1! - 5,00(
Accrued liabilities (Note 14 11,90¢ 7,438
Unearned revenue 6,45( 6,614
Total current liabilities } 153,29( 386,93«
FAIR VALUE OF BELOW MARKET TIME CHARTER (Note 11) ) 29,19¢ 3,911
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, net of current portion (Note 12) ; 10,68 -
LONG-TERM DEBT, net of current portion (Note 12) ; 331,39t -
DEFERRED GAIN ON SALE AND LEASEBACK OF VESSELS (Note 6) . 40,94: 15,47¢
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 16)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 20,000,000 shar#g®rized; none issut - -
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 sharmwazed; 20,508,575
and 29,901,048 shares issued and outstanding &nibexr 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively (Note 20t 28<
Additional paic-in capital (Note 16 216,15( 271,05t



Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 4 24

Retained earnings / (Accumulated deficit) (4,957 20,68t¢
Total stockholders' equity ; 211,40¢ 292,05:
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 776,91 $ 698,37!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktoessolidated financial statements.
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TOP SHIPS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2007 AND 20®

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars - exceptate and per share data)

2006 2007 2008
REVENUES:
Revenues (Notes 4 and 11) 310,04 $ 252,25¢  $ 257,38(
EXPENSES:
Voyage expenses (Note 1 55,35! 59,41« 38,65¢
Charter hire expense (Note 96,30: 94,11¢ 53,68
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaselalessels (Note € (8,110 (15,610 (18,70)
Other vessel operating expenses (Note 66,08: 67,91« 67,11«
Dry-docking costt 39,33 25,09« 10,03¢
Depreciation (Note 1( 35,26¢ 27,40¢ 32,66¢
Suk-Manager fees (Note : 2,75¢ 1,82¢ 1,15¢
Other general and administrative exper 20,26: 22,99¢ 30,31«
Foreign currency (gains) / losses, 2582 17€ (85)
Gain on sale of vessels (Note 10) (12,66) (1,967 (19,17%)
Operating income (loss) 15,21¢ (29,119 61,72:
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):
Interest and finance costs (Notes 12 and (27,030) (19,519 (25,769
Gain / (loss) on financial instruments (Note (2,145 (3,709 (12,02
Interest income 3,02: 3,24¢ 1,831
Other, net (67) 16 (127)
Total other expenses, net (26,220 (19,959 (36,089
Net Income (loss) (11,009 $ (49,076 $ 25,63¢
Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted (Not&8) (1.1¢) $ (4.09 $ 1.01
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic 10,183,42. 11,986,85 25,445,03
Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted 10,183,42. 11,986,85 25,445,03

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.




TOP SHIPS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2007 AND 20®

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars - exceptate and per share data)

Common Stock

Accumulated Retained
Additional Other Earnings /
Comprehensive Paid-in Comprehensive (Accumulated
Income # of Shares Par Value Capital Income (loss) Deficit) Total

BALANCE,
December 31, 2005 9,360,21. $ 9 $ 297,90. $ 98 $ 61,05: $ 359,14
Net loss $ (11,00%) 0 0 0 - (11,009 (11,009
Dividends paid
(US dollars 0.21 per shar 0 0 0 0 - (5,927 (5,927
Dividends paid
(US dollars 5.00 per shar 0 0 0 (141,029 - 0 (141,029
Dividends paid
(US dollars 2.50 per shar 0 0 0 (70,51Y - 0 (70,514
Issuance of restricted
shares, net of forfeiture 0 147,03¢ 1 3,70¢ - 0 3,71(
Issuance of common sto 0 1,302,45. 13 26,90: - 0 26,91¢
Other comprehensive
income

- Accumulated

unrecognized actuarial

losses 0 0 0 0 (6) 0 (6)
- Reclassification of gains

to earnings due to

discontinuance of cash flo

hedges (98) 0 0 0 (98) 0 (99)
Comprehensive loss $ (11,109

BALANCE,

December 31, 2006 10,809,70 $ 106 $ 116,97, $ 6 $ 44,128 $ 161,19¢
Net loss $ (49,07¢) 0 0 0 - (49,07¢) (49,07¢)
Issuance of restricted

shares, net of forfeiture 0 213,00( 2 93z - 0 93t
Issuance of common sto 0 9,485,87: 95 98,24¢ - 0 98,34
Other comprehensive

income

- Accumulated

unrecognized actuarial ga 10 0 0 0 10 0 10
Comprehensive loss $ (49,06¢)

BALANCE,

December 31, 2007 20,508,57 $ 20t $ 216,150 $ 4 3 (4,95) $ 211,40t
Net income $ 25,63¢ - - - - 25,63¢ 25,63¢
Issuance of restricted

shares, net of forfeiture - 2,521,00! 9 5,107 - - 5,11¢€
Cancellation of fractional

shares - (279) - 2 - - 2

Repurchase and

cancellation of common

stock (396.949 share (396,949 (4) (727) (731)
Issuance of common stocl - 7,268,69: 73 50,52¢ - - 50,60:
Other comprehensive

income

- Accumulated

unrecognized actuarial ga 20 - - - 20 - 20

Comprehensive income  $ 25,65¢

BALANCE,
December 31, 2008 29,901,04 $ 28 % 271,05¢ $ 24 $ 20,68t $ 292,05:




The accompanying notes are an integral part oktessolidated financial statements.
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TOP SHIPS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2007 AND 20®

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Cash Flows from (used in) Operating Activities:

Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net ¢
provided by operating activitie
Depreciatior
Amortization and write off of deferred financingste
Stoclk-based compensation expel
Change in fair value of financial instrume|
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaselmdalessels

Amortization of fair value of below market time ctex
(Gain) / Loss on sale of other fixed ass
Gain on sale of vesse
Provision for Doubtful Account
(Increase) Decrease i
Trade accounts receivat
Insurance claim
Inventories
Advances to various credito
Prepayments and oth
Increase (Decrease) i
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revent
Financial instrument termination payme

Net Cash from (used in) Operating Activities
Cash Flows from (used in) Investing Activities:

Principal payments received under capital le
Principal payments paid under capital le
Advances for vessels acquisition / under constouc
Vessel acquisitions and improveme

Insurance claims recoveri

Increase in restricted ca

Decrease in restricted ca

Net proceeds from sale of vess

Net proceeds from sale of fixed ass

Acquisition of other fixed assets

Net Cash from (used in) Investing Activities

Cash Flows used in (from) Financing Activities:

Proceeds from lor-term deb
Principal payments of loi-term debit
Prepayment of lor-term debt

Financial instrument upfront recei
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance ¢
Cancellation of fractional shar

Repurchase and cancellation of common s
Payment of financing cos
Dividends paid

Net Cash used in (from) Financing Activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivakent

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

2006 2007 2008
(11,009 (49,076 25,63¢
35,59: 28,04: 33,47:
4,53¢ 2,081 5,131
3,71( 93t 5,11¢
3,711 4,90¢ 10,65(
(8,110) (15,610 (18,707
(1,419 (21,79¢
(1) 69 12€
(12,667 (1,969 (19,17¢
50€ 1,30: 3,147
11,83: 10,70: 7,83¢
11 (1,656) (3,56¢
(152) (1,499 6,99:
(624) 2,59¢ 332
(4,270) (374) 874
2,58¢ 6,35( (12,42¢
(1,147 (1,460) (4,451
(3,430) 4,77¢ 164
- - (7,50(
21,07 (11,290 11,84,
46,00
- (68,82¢
(28,689 (37,349 (114,26
(18) (355,041 (118,14
= 1,85: 3,447
(36,500) - (26,07¢
- 23,50( ]
599,17 51,97 338,14
25¢ 74 58
(2,639 (3,299 (1,792
531,50: (318,285 58,55/
20,00 316,85 271,15¢
(19,119 (26,95%) (51,41%
(350,399 (65,582) (317,15
8,50( 1,50(
26,91¢ 98,34 50,60:
- - 2
(731
(63) (5,569 (4,12¢
(217,466 -
(540,13) 325,50; (50,16¢
12,53( (3,980) 20,23(
17,46: 29,99: 26,01




Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING ACTIV ITIES
Fair value of below market time charter

Amounts owed for capital expenditures

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetbessolidated financial statements.
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

Basis of Presentation and General Informain:

The accompanying consolidated financial statemarmiside the accounts of Top Ships Inc. (formerlypTbankers Inc. and Oce
Holdings Inc.) and its wholly owned subsidiariesligctively the "Company"). Ocean Holdings Inc. wiasmed on January 10, 20
under the laws of Marshall Islands, was renamebojp Tankers Inc. and Top Ships Inc. in May 2004 Bedember 2007 respective
and is the sole owner of all outstanding sharehefollowing subsidiaries:

Shipowning Companie Date of Country of

with vessels sold Incorporation Incorporation Vessel

Olympos Shipping Company Limited December 199British Cayman Islands Med Prologue (sold to "Olympos Shipping Company iteaf')
Vermio Shipping Company Limited ("FaithfuDecember 200Marshall Islands Faithful (sold to "Gramos Shipping Company IncukyJ2003)
Kalidromo Shipping Company Limited

("Kalidromo") May 2003 Marshall Islands Tireless (sold - September 2004)

Olympos Shipping Company Limited

("Olympos") May 2003 Marshall Islands Med Prologue (sold - December 2004)

Rupel Shipping Company Inc. ("Rupel") January 2003 Marshall Islands Fearless (sold - July 2005)

Helidona Shipping Company Limited

("Helidona") May 2003 Marshall Islands Yapi (sold - September 2005)

Mytikas Shipping Company Ltd. ("Mytikas") February 2004Marshall Islands Limitless (sold - September 2008) (Note 6, 10)

Litochoro Shipping Company Ltd.

("Litochoro") March 2004 Marshall Islands Endless (sold - September 2008) (Note 6, 10)
Vardousia Shipping Company Ltd.

("Vardousia") July 2004 Cyprus Invincible (sold by its new owners - July 2007) (&l6)
Psiloritis Shipping Company Ltd. ("Psiloritis"July 2004 Liberia Victorious (sold by its new owners - August 200Mbte 6)
Menalo Shipping Company Ltd. ("Menalo") July 2004 Cyprus Restless (sold by its new owners - September 2003te 6)
Pintos Shipping Company Ltd. ("Pintos")  July 2004 Cyprus Sovereign (sold by its new owners - August 2008)té\6)
Pylio Shipping Company Ltd. ("Pylio") July 2004 Liberia Flawless (sold by its new owners - September 2(98)e 6)
Taygetus Shipping Company Ltd. ("TaygetuJuly 2004 Liberia Timeless (sold by its new owners - September 2008} 6)
Imitos Shipping Company Limited ("Imitos") November 200Marshall Islands Noiseless (sol- January 2008) (Note 6, 10)

Parnis Shipping Company Limited ("Parnis")November 200Marshall Islands Stainless (sold - January 2008) (Note 6)

Parnasos Shipping Company Limited

("Parnasos") November 200Liberia Faultless (sold by its new owners - March 2008)té\g)
Vitsi Shipping Company Limited ("Vitsi") ~ November 200Liberia Stopless (sold by its new owners - September 200&e 6)
Kisavos Shipping Company Limited

("Kisavos") November 200Marshall Islands Priceless (sold by its new owners - September 2(008{e 6)
Agion Oros Shipping Company Limit("Agion

Oros") February 2005Marshall Islands Topless (sold - December 2006)

F-7
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

Basis of Presentation and General Informatn (continued):

Giona Shipping Company Limited ( " Giona March 2005

Agrafa Shipping Company Limite(' Agrafa

") March 2005

Ardas Shipping Company Limite(" Ardas ") April 2005
Nedas Shipping Company Limite" Nedas " ) April 2005
Kifisos Shipping Company mited ( " Kifisos

") April 2005
Sperhios Shipping Company Limited ("
Sperhios ") April 2005

Noir Shipping S.A." Noir ") June 2007
Shipowning Companies with sold and leas Date of
back vessels at December 31, 2008 Incorporation

Marshall Islands
Marshall Islands
Marshall Islands
Marshall Islands

Marshall Islands

Marshall Islands
Marshall Islands

Country of
Incorporation

Taintless (sold — November 2006)
Soundless (sold — November 2006)
Errorless (sold — April 2007)

Stormless (sold — June 2008) (Note 10)

Edgeless (sold — July 2008) (Note 10)

Ellen P. (sold — September 2008) (Note 10)
Bertram (sold — April 2008) (Note 10, 11)

Vessel

Gramos Shipping Company Inc. ("Gramos")January 2003

Falakro Shipping Company Ltd. ("Falakro™) July 2004

Pageon Shipping Company Ltd. ("Pageon") July 2004

Idi Shipping Company Ltd. ("ldi") July 2004
Parnon Shipping Company Ltd. ("Parnon™) July 2004
Shipowning Companies with vesse Date of

in operations at December 31, 2008 Incorporation

Marshall Islands
Liberia
Cyprus
Liberia
Cyprus

Country of
Incorporation

Faithful (sold and leased back - March 2006) (N&te
Doubtless (sold and leased back - March 2006) (Epte
Vanguard (sold and leased back - March 2006) (Epte
Spotless (sold and leased back - March 2006) (Blote

Relentless (sold and leased back - September 280%¢ 6, 23)

Vessel

Lefka Shipping Company Limited ( " Lefka "March 2005

llisos Shipping Company Limited (" llisos " JApril 2005
Amalfi Shipping Company Limited (" Amalfi
") July 2007
Jeke Shipping Company Limited ( " Jeke ") July 2007
Japan | Shipping Company Limited (" Japar

") August 2007

Japan Il Shipping Company Limited (" Japa
n")
Japan lll Shipping Company Limited (" Japs
")

August 2007

August 2007

Marshall Islands
Marshall Islands

Marshall Islands
Liberia

Liberia

Liberia

Liberia
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Dauntless (acquired — March 2005)
loannis P. (acquired in November 2005)

Amalfi (acquired — December 2007) (Note 11)
Voc Gallant (acquired — February 2008) (Note 10, 11

Pepito (acquired — March 2008) (Note 10)

Astrale (acquired — May 2008) (Note 6, 10)

Cyclades (acquired — December 2007)
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

Basis of Presentation and General Informatn (continued):

Shipowning Companies with vessels unc Date of Country of
construction at December 31, 2008 Incorporation Incorporation Vessel
Warhol Shipping Company Limited (“WarholJuly 2008 Liberia Miss Marilena (delivered - February 2009) (Not&3)
Lichtenstein Shipping Company Limited
("Lichtenstein”) July 2008 Liberia L ichtenstein (delivered February 2009) (Note 8), 2
Banksy Shipping Company Limited ("Banks\July 2008 Liberia lonian Wave (delivered March 2009) (Note 9, 23)
Indiana R Shipping Company Limited ("
Indiana R") July 2008 Liberia Tyrrhenian Wave (delivered March 2009) (Note 9, 23)
Britto Shipping Company Limited ("Britto") July 2008 Liberia Britto (delivered May 2009) (Note 9, 23)
Hongbo Shipping Company Limited
("Hongbo") July 2008 Liberia Hull No. S-1033
Date of Country of
Other Companies Incorporation Incorporation Activity
Top Tankers (U.K.) Limited January 2005 England and Wales = Representative office in London
Top Bulker Management Inc April 2005 Marshall Islands Inactive Management Company
TOP Tanker Management Inc May 2004 Marshall Islands Management Company
lerissos Shipping Inc November 200¢ Marshall Islands Cash Manager

The Company is an international provider of worldevseaborne crude oil and petroleum products toatapn services and of drybi
transportation services, through the ownershipapetation of the vessels mentioned above.

The Company's Manager

Top Tanker Management Inc (the "Manager") is respdadior all of the chartering, operational and tedchh management of t
Company's fleet. The Company's sbipning subsidiaries have a management agreememttivgtManager, under which manager
servi ¢ es are provided in exchange for a fixed tlgriee per vessel.

As of December 31, 2008, the Manager has subcdettabe day to day technical management of cexagsels to unaffiliated st
management companies, V. Ships Management Limitddraerorient Maritime Enterprises Inc. (colleetiy the "SubManagers"). Th
SubManagers provide day to day operational and teelhsiervices to the Company's vessels at a fixedthhofee per vessel. Su
fees for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002@08 totaled $2,755, $1,828 and $1,159 respédgtarel are separately reflec
in the accompanying consolidated statements ofadipaxs. At December 31, 2007 and 2008 the amountalthe SuliManagers totale
$269 and $702 respectively and is included in Aot®&ayable in the accompanying consolidated balaheets.
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2.

(f)

TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

Significant Accounting Policies:

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(€)

()

Principles of Consolidation: The accompanying consolidated financial statembatsee been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles ("US GAA&1d include the accounts and operating resulfSopf Ships Inc. and |
wholly- owned subsidiaries referred t o in Notéritercompany balances and transactions have baeimaled in consolidation.

Use of Estimates :The preparation of consolidated financial statethiém conformity with U.S generally accepted acdmng
principles requires management to keestimates and assumptions that affect the mgh@tnounts of assets and liabilities
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiegh&t date of the consolidated financial statement$ the reported amounts
revenues and expenses during the r e porting pekictdal results could differ from those estimates.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)The Company follows the provisions of Statement-ofancial Accounting Standai
"Statement of Comprehensive Income" (SFAS 130),clwhiequires sepaate presentation of certain transactions, whict
recorded directly as components of stockholdernstyq

Foreign Currency Translation: The Company's functional currency is the U.S. &ollecause all vessels operate in internai
shipping markes, and therefore primarily transact business i8.Dollars. The Company's books of accounts aretaiaied i
U.S. Dollars. Transactions involving other currescduring the year are converted into U.S. Doliesisg the exchange rates
effect at th etime of the transactions. At the balance sheetgjahonetary assets and liabilities, which are aemated in othe
currencies, are translated to reflect the ysrat- exchange rates. Resulting gains or losses eflected separately in t
accompanyin g consolidated statements of opemation

Cash and Cash EquivalentsThe Company considers highly liquid investmentshsas time deposits and certificates of de|
with an originalmaturity of threemonths or less to be cash equivale

RestrictedCash: The Company considers amounts that are pledgeckddo held as cash collateral, required to be ramiat
with a specific bank or be maintained by the Conypasan overall cash position as part of a loaregent, as restricted (Notgs
12 and 13).

Trade Accounts Receivable, nefThe amount shown as Trade Accounts Receivableanetch balance sheet date, incl
estimated recoveries from charterers for hire gfieiand demurrage billings, net of a provision doubtful accounts. At ea
balance sheet date, all potentially wailectible accounts are assessed individually, ioed with the application of a histori
recoverability ratio, for purposes of determinihg &appropriate provision for doubtful accounts.vi#ion for doubtful accounts
December 31, 2007 and 2008 t otalled $801 and $3&@W is summarized as follows:
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwiseated)

Significant Acc ounting Policies - (coirtued):

Provision for
doubtful accounts

Balance, December 31, 2005 316
— Additions 508
— Reversals / write-offs (541)
Balance, December 31, 2006 283
— Additions 1,302
— Reversals / write-offs (784)
Balance, December 31, 2007 801
— Additions 3,866
— Reversals / write-offs (1,392)
Balance, December 31, 2008 3,275

(h) Insurance Claims: Insurance claims, relating mainly to crew mediegpenses and hull and machinery incidents are dec

@

)

(k)

upon collection or agreement with the relevantypaftthe collectible amount.

Inventories: Inventories consist of bunkers, lubricants andscomable stores which are stated at the lower dfaromarket. Cos
which consists of the purchase price, is determimethe first in, first out method.

Vessel Cost: Vessels are stated at cost, w hich consistseo€timtract price, prdelivery costs incurred during the constructio
newbuildings, capitalized interest and any matedgpenses incurred upon acquisition (improvememd delivery costs
Subsequent expenditures for conversions éh major improvements are also capitalized when tggreciably extend the Ii
increase the earning capacity or improve the efficy or safety of the vessels. Repairs and maintenare charged to expens
incurred and are included in Other vessel o pegaipenses in the accompanying consolidated statsro&operations.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets: Longdived assets are reviewed for impairment whenevents or changes in circumstar
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may be recoverable. When the estimate of undigegucash flows, excludii
interest charges is expected to be generated hysthef the asset is less than the asset's camyiogint, the Company perfor
an analysis of the anticipated undiscounted f utatecash flows of the related lotiged assets. If the carrying value of the rel
asset exceeds its undiscounted future net casls fliitwe carrying value is reduced to its fair vaMarious factors including futu
charter rates and vessel @mting costs are included in this analysis. Then@any did not note for 2006 and 2007, any ever
changes in circumstances indicating that the aagrgimount of its vessels may not be recoverablawveyer, in the fourth quart
of 2008, market condtions changed significantly as a result of the itresisis and resulting slowdown in world trade.ater rate
for both drybulk carriers and tanker vessels fgjhgicantly and values of assets were significardffected although there wi
limited t ransactions to confirm that. The Company considérede market developments as indicators of pateintpairment c
the carrying amount of its assets. The Companyopaed the undiscounted cash flow test as of Decelibe2008 for its vess¢
held fo r use and determined that the carryinguarhof those vessels were not impaired.
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwiseated)

Significant Accounting Policies - (contued):

0

(m)

(n)

(0)

(P)

(@)

Assets Held foiSale : It is the Company's policy to dispose of vesselgmvhuitable opportunities occur and naeaessarily t
keep them until the end of their useful life. Then@pany classifies vessels as being held for saEnwimanagement has commi
to a plan to sell the vessels; the vessels ardat@ifor immediate sale in their present conditian act ive program to locate
buyer and other actions required to complete tha pb sell the vessels have been initiated; the afathe vessels is probable,
transfer of the asset is expected to qualify faognition as a completed sale within one yeahe vessels are being activ
marketed for sale at a price that is reasonabtelation to their current fair value and actionguieed to complete the plan to ¢
indicate that it is unlikely that significant chaggto the plan will be made or tha t the plan Wl withdrawn. Londived asset
classified as held for sale are measured at therl@fvtheir carrying amount or fair value less ctossell. These vessels are
depreciated once they meet the criteria to be ifledas held for sale.At December 31, 2007, the tanker vessel M/T Nosselea
classified as held for sale and its carrying amaiir#46,268 is separately reflected in the 200agzanying consolidated balai
sheet. No vessels were determined to be heldiferas Decemb e r 31, 2008.

Vessel Depreciation:Depreciation is calculated using the strailji- method over the estimated useful life of tlessels, aft
deducting the estimated salvage value. Each vessdVage value is equal to the product of itstlighg ht tonnage and estima
scrap rate. Management estimates the useful litaefCompany's vessels to be 25 years from theadatétial delivery from th
shipyard. Second hand vessels are depreciatedtfrendate of their acquisition through their renmimg estimated useful lif
When regulations place limitations over the abitifya vessel to trade on a worldwide basis, itfuldiée is adjusted at the de
such regulations are adopted.

Other Fixed Assets, NeOther fixed assets, net consists of furniture ceffequipment, cars and leasehold improvementgdsé
cost, which consists of the purchase / contracepess accumulated depreciation. Depreciatioal@mutated using the straiglibhe
method over the estimated useful life of the assetile leasehold improvements are depreciated theefease term, as preset
below:

Description Useful Life (years)
Leasehold improvements 12

Cars 6

Office equipment 5

Furniture and fittings 5

Computer equipment 3

Accounting for Dry-Docking Costs: All dry-docking costs are accounted for under the direperese method, under which tl
are expensed as incurred and are reflected selyaratbe accompanying consolidated statementgefations.

Sale and Leaseback Transaction The gains on sale of vessel sale and leasebackattons are deferred and amortize
income over the lease period.

Financing Costs: Fees incurred and paid to the lenders for obtgimew loans or refinancing existing ones are rexwbras
contra to debt and such fees are amortized to
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwiseated)

2. Significant Accounting Policies - (continued):

interest expense over the life of the related deiig the effective interest method. Unamortizessfeelating to loans repaid
refinanced are expensed when a repayment or refimgus made and charged to interest and finanstsco

() Pension and Retirement Benefit Oligations — Crew: The shipewning companies included in the consolidation, kemphe
crew on board, under shagrm contracts (usually up to nine months) and mtingly, they are not liable for any pension ort
retirement benefits.

(s) Staff leaving Indemnities— Administrative personnelThe Company's employees are entitled to termingi&yments in the eve
of dismissal or retirement with the amount of papinearying in relation to the employee's compemsatlength of service a
manner of termination (dismissed or retired). Emgpls who resign, or are dismissed with cause aremtitled to terminatic
payments. The Company's liability on an actuaridiyermined basis, at December 31, 2007 and 2008sted to $288 and $2!
respectively.

(t) Accounting for Revenue and Expense Revenues are generated from voyage and time cleteements. Time charter rever
are recorded over the term of the charter as seigiprovided. Profit sharing represents the exbesseen an agreed daily b
rate and the actual rate generated by the vessg} quarter, if any, and is settled and recorded gnarterly basis. Under a voy.
charter the revenues, including demurrages ancciazssd voyage costs, with the exception of portegges which are recordec
incurred, are recognized on a proportionate perfimece method over the duration of the voyage. A geyia deemed to commel
upon the latest between the completion of dischafgbe vessel's previous cargo and the chartey piate of the current voya
and is deemed to end upon the completion of digehaf the current cargo. Demurrage income represpayments by tl
charterer to the Company when loading or dischargiime exceeded the stipulated time in the voydugmter. Vessel operati
expenses are accounted for on the accrual basearbed revenue represents cash received prioraicepd related to reven
applicable to periods after December 31 of each.yea

When vessels are acquired with time charters atheimd the rates on such charters are below mankéte acquisition date, t
Company allocates the total cost between the vesskthe fair value of below market time chartesdshon the relative fair valt
of the vessel and the liability acquired. The faitue of the attached time charter is computedhaptesent value of the differel
between the contractual amount to be received thesterm of the time charter and management's awsrof the market tin
charter rate at the time of acquisition. The failue of below market time charter is amortized dherremaining period of the tit
charter as an increase to revenues.

(u) Stock Incentive Plan:All share-based compensation related to the griinésiricted shares provided to employees and te no
employee directors, for their services as diregt@sncluded in Other general and administratixpemses in the consolida
statements of operations. The shares that do mahicoany future service vesting conditions aresadgred vested shares .
recognized in full on the grant date. The sharasdbntain a time-based service vesting conditrencansidered nowested shar:
on the grant date and recognized on a straightblasés over the vesting period. The shares, vestdchonvested are measurec
fair value, which is equal to the market valuelaf Company's common stock on the grant date.
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2.

TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

Significant Accounting Policies - (contued):

v)

(w)

x)

v)

Earnings per Share: Basic earnings per share are computed by dividetgncome by the weighted average number of con
shares deemed outstanding during the year. Dilededings per share reflect the potential dilutioat tould occur if securities
other contracts to issue common stock were exetcise

Related Parties: The Company considers as related parties the aaffli of the Company; entities for which investmeare
accounted for by the equity method; principal ovenef the Company; its management; members of theeidate families «
principal owners of the Company; and other parties with whkeh Company may deal if one party controls or sigmificantly
influence the management or operating policiehiefdther to an extent that one of the transactartjgs might be prevented fr
fully p ursuing its own separate interests. Anotleetypalso is a related party if it can significantifluence the management
operating policies of the transacting parties aad significantly influence the other to an extérattone or more of th &ransactin
parties might be prevented from fully pursuingdten separate interests. An Affiliate is a partyttitirectly or indirectly throug
one or more intermediaries, controls, is controbgdor has common control with the Company. Cdrigrothe possession, dirt
or indirect, of the power to direct or cause theeclion of the management and policies of an erigerghrough ownership,

contract and otherwise. Immediate Family is familgmbers whom a principal owner or a member of mamagnt might contrc
or influence or by whom they might be controlledrdtuenced because of the family relationship. kigement is the persons v
are responsible for achieving the objectives ofG@benpany and who have the authority to establidicipe and make decisions
which those objectives are to be pursued. Managemamally includes members of the board of direstehe CEO, the CF
Vice President in charge of principal business fioms and other persons who perform similar potitgking functions. Persol
without formal titles may also be members of mamnaget. Principal owners are owners of record or kmd&neficial owners
more than 10% of the voting interests of the Compan

Derivatives : The SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derative Instruments and Hedging Activities" as amehdestablishe
accounting and reporting standards requiring thatyederivative instrument (including certain dative instruments embeddec
other contracts) be recorded in the balance steeith er an asset or liability measured at its fair valwith changes in tt
derivatives' fair value recognized currently inréags unless specific hedge accounting criteriarae¢. The Company has |
applied hedge accounting for its derivative instemts during the periods presented.

The fair value of derivative liabilities was notjasted for nonperformance risk as the Company nasob the parties to a derivat
transaction expects to be able to perform undecoméractual terms of its derivativagreements, such as making cash payme
periodic net settlement dates or upon termination.

Segment Reporting:In 2007, the Company diversified its fleet porfoby adding drybulk vessels to the Company's |
Management, including the lief operating decision maker, reviews operatinguits by vessel type. As a result the Compi
acquisition of drybulk vessels in the fourth quamé 2007 has resulted in the Company determinirag it operates under t
reportable segments, as a pvider of international seaborne transportation ises; carrying petroleum products and crud:
("Tanker Fleet") and, drybulk commodities for theed, electric utility, construction and adoed industries ("Drybulk Fleet'
Consequently, the Compan gid not present segment information for 2006. HBleeounting policies applied to the reporti
segments are the same as those used in the piepashithe Company's consolidated financial starei&@he Company's chi
operating decision maker started reviewing inteegpense by segment beginning in 2008
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

Significant Accounting Policies - (contiued):

when interest expense for its dry bulk vessels inecaignificant. The 2007 segment disclosure has lagen revised to inclu
interest expense.

The Company reports financial information and estds its operations by charter revenues and nothbylength of shi

employment for its customers (i.e., spot or timartdrs) or by geographical region as the charisrizee to trade the vessel waorl
wide and, as a result, the disclosure of geograpti@mation is impracticable. The Company does Inate discrete financ

information to evaluate the operating results factesuch type of charter. Although revenue candbatified for these types fo
charters, management cannot and does not idemfignses, profitability or other financial informatifor these charters.

(aa) Recent Accounting Pronouncement

(a) FASB Statement No. 157In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153ir 'WValue Measurement” ("SFAS 157

SFAS 157 addresses standardizing the measureméit gélue for companies that are required toai$air value measure
recognition for recognition or disclosure purposHse FASB defines fair value as "the price that ldcue received to sell .
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordetgnsaction between market participants at thesoreadate”. SFAS 157
effective for financial statements issued for flsgears beginning after November 15, 2007. The @amy has adopted SF.
157 effective January 1, 2008 and the adoptiorhisf $tatement did not have a material effect onGbenpany's financi
position, results of operations and cash flowsk-ébruary 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Posi{i6icP") FASB 1572
"Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157" ("FSP3B\157-2"). FSP FASB 15Z; which was effective upon issuar
delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for nonfinalnassets and liabilities, except for items redpgd or disclosed at fi
value at least once a year, to fiscal years beggnaiter November 15, 2008. FSP FASB 15@lso covers interim peric
within the fiscal years for items within the scagfethis FSP. The adoption of this statement infitse quarter of 2009 did n
have a material effect on the Company's financisitjpn, results of operations and cash flows. Grtoer 10, 2008, tl
FASB issued the proposed FSP FAS B57Petermining the Fair Value of a Financial Asgéhen the Market for That As:
Is Not Active", ("FSP FAS 153"), on an expedited basis to clarify the applmatof FASB Statement No. 157, "Fair Va
Measurements”, in a market that is not active awodiges an example to illustrate key considerationdetermining the fa
value of a financial asset when the market for fimgtncial asset is not active. FSP FAS h#as effective upon issuar
including prior periods for which financial statemtg have not been issued. The Company has incdeglotiais new guidan
as it relates to the Company's derivative instrusiefihe adoption of SFAS 15¥-did not have a material impact on
Company's financial statemen
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

2. Significant Accounting Policies - (contued):

(b) FSP EITF 03-6-1: In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. EITF 03-®é&termining Whether Instruments Granted in Share
Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Seslti("FSP EITF 03-6-1"). FSP EITF 03i16€oncludes that unves
share-based payment awards that contain rightscive norforfeitable dividends or dividend equivalents agetigipating
securities, and thus, should be included in thedl@es method of computing earnings per share ("EFSP EITF 03-6t is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Decemb®y 2008, and interim periods within those yekexly application of EIT
03-6-1 is prohibited. It also requires that allopgperiod EPS data be adjusted retrospectively. Thapaoy has adopted EI
03-6-1 effective January 1, 2009 and the adoption of $tiatement will result in a decrease of $0.0h&kasic and dilute
earnings per share for the year ended DecembeP@I8 once retroactively adjusted in 2009. When EO&F6-1 was
retrospectively applied to the years ended DecerBther2006 and 2007 EPS data was not affected ddeetdact that tt
Company was incurring losse

(c) FASB Statement No. 159In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"Fhir Value Option for Financial Ass
and Financial Liabilities" ("SFAS 159"), which peitmentities to choose to measure many financistrimments and cert¢
other items at fair value. SFAS 159 is effectivefithe beginning of an entity's first fiscal yehat begins after November
2007. Earlier adoption is permitted as of the beigig of a fiscal year that begins on or before Noler 15, 2007, provid:
the entity also elects to apply the provisions ABB Statement No. 157, "Fair Value Measurementieé Tompany has r
elected to use the Fair Value Option under SFAS

(d) FASB Statement No. 141RIn December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141Rsitiesss Combinations" ("SFAS 141
SFAS 141R establishes principles and requiremantsowy the acquirer in a business combination reizegrand measures
its financial statements the identifiable assetguaied, the liabilities assumed and any noncontglinterest in the enti
acquired. In addition, SFAS 141R provides guidamtehe recognition and measurement of goodwill aeduin the busine:
combination or a gain from a bargain purchase al§ agewhat information to disclose to enable usefrghe financie
statements to evaluate the nature and financiahamnpf the business combination. SFAS 141R is gffedor fiscal year
beginning after December 15, 2008 and was adoptetidbCompany in the first quarter of fiscal ye@09. The adoption
SFAS 141R did not have a material effect on the @amyg's financial position, results of operationd aash flows.

(e) FASB Statement No. 160In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160n8datrolling Interests in Consolida
Financial Statementsan Amendment of ARB No. 51" ("SFAS 160"). SFAS I&flablishes principles and requirement
how to treat the portion of equity in a subsididimat is not attributable directly or indirectly soparent. This is commor
known as a minority interest. The objective of SFEE) is to improve relevance, comparability, armhéparency concerni
ownership interests in subsidiaries held by pawiter than the parent by providing disclosures thearly identify betwee
interests of the parent and interest of the nomobimg owners and the related impacts on the clidsted statement
operations and the consolidated statement of finhposition. SFAS 160 also provides guidance stldsures related
changes in the parent's ownership interest andndetidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is effecfioefiscal years beginnir
after December 15, 2008, and was adopted by thep@oynin the first quarter of fiscal year 2009. Buoption of SFAS 1¢
did not have a material effect on the Companyarfamal position, results of operations and cashl

() FASB Statement No. 161In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, "isales about Derivative Instruments
Hedging Activities". The new standard is intendedmprove financial reporting about derivative mshents and hedgil
activities by requiring enhanced disclosures tob&nanvestors to better understand their effectsaanentity's financii
position, financial performance, and cash flowss
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwiseated)

Significant Accounting Policies - (contiued):

©)

(h)

effective for financial statements issued for fisg@ars and interim periods beginning after Novemibge 2008, with ear
application encouraged. The adoption of SFAS 16ilndit effect the Company's financial position, Hssof operations ar
cash flows as this statement relates only to firrustatement disclosures.

FASB Statement No. 162In May 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, "The &tieny of Generally Accepted Account
Principles" ("FASB No. 162"). In June 2009 FASBued a Statement, "The Hierarchy of Generally Acegphccountin
Principles—a replacement of FASB Statement No. 162". The rtewdsirds identify the sources of accounting prilesi@n
the framework for selecting the principles usedha preparation of financial statements by esthinlgs two levels of U
GAAP: authoritative and nonauthoritative. This webue accomplished by authorizing the "FASB AccaumtiStandarc
Caodification”. On July 1, 2009, the "FASB AccourgiStandards Codification" will become the singlarse of authoritativ
nongovernmental US GAAP, superseding existing FABBjerican Institute of Certified Public Accountant&lCPA),
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF), and relatecalitee. After that date, only one level of autratiite GAAP will exist. Al
other literature will be considered nanthoritative. The Codification does not change@SAP; instead, it introduces a n
structure-one that is organized in an easily adolessuserfriendly online research system. We do not expkat the ne
FASB Accounting Standards Codification of US GAAR Wwave an effect on our consolidated statemerfinafncial positior
results of operations or cash flov

FASB Statement No. 165 On May 28, 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165%8guent Events"("SFAS 165"), wh
provides guidance on management's assessmentsscglent events. SFAS 1¢

-Clarifies that management must evaluate, as of eggbrting period (i.e. interim and annual), evemtdransactions th
occur after the balance sheet date "through theettiat the financial statements are issued oneaitahle to be issued.”

-Does not change the recognition and disclosure inements in AICPA Professional Standards, AU SectE60
"Subsequent Events" ("AU Section 560") for Typentl & ype Il subsequent events; however, Statementdférs to them .
recognized (Type ) and nonrecognized subsequesttteyType II).

-Requires management to disclose, in addition taibelosures in AU Section 560, the date througitlveubsequent evel
have been evaluated and whether that is the dawuhimh the financial statements were issued or \ageglable to be issued.

-Indicates that management should consider supplémgehistorical financial statements with the pmrnia impact ¢
nonrecognized subsequent events if the event sigsdficant that disclosure of the event could kstbmade through the 1
of pro forma financial data.

SFAS 165 is effective prospectively for interimasmual financial periods ending after June 15, 200@refore, it will be effecti
for the Company beginning with the second quat@009. The Company is currently evaluating theeptill impact, if any, of tt
adoption of this statement on its financial statetse
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

Significant Accounting Policies - (contiued):
(bb) Reclassification of Prior Year Balances:

(i) Beginning in 2008 the Company presented alhgaind losses on a derivative financial instrumasta separate item on the fac
the consolidated statement of operations undehéagling "Gain / (loss) on financial instrumentst.drder for the financials to b
comparative, the Company has retrospectively rsiflad all gains and losses on financial instrureefnbm the line "interest a
financing costs" to "Gain / (loss) on financialtmsnents” for the years ended December 31, 200&2860d . These reclassifications t
no impact on the results of operations of the Caompa

(i) For the year ended December 31, 2008 the Compparately reported a noash provision for doubtful accounts previol
reported in change in trade accounts receivabdeparately report all major classes of reconciliems when presenting adjustment
reconcile net income to net cash provided by opeyaactivities in a consolidated statement of c#etvs. In order for financi:
statements to be comparative, the Company hasaotively reclassified a nooash provision for doubtful accounts for the yesrde:
December 31, 2006 and 2007 to conform with thegmiegion for the year ended December 31, 2008. el hedassifications had
impact on the net cash from (used in) operatinyities in the consolidated statements of cash $low

Going Concern:

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was in bre&dne minimum asset cover ratio and other coveneantained in the Compar
loan agreements relating to the Company's oveuwditanding indebtedness of $342,479. These cotestiuevent of default and co
result in the lenders requiring immediate repaynuérihe loans. As a result of these covenant breemaelnd crosdefault provisions, tf
Company has classified all its debt as currentissudsed in Note 12 to the consolidated finandatesents. A crosdefault provisio
means that if the Company is in default with regada specific loan then it is automatically ifdadgt of all its loans with crosdefaul
provisions. For this reason, the Company is no¢ ablbreakdown its debt obligations into currendl éang term unless it is able
receive waivers for all covenant breaches.The amofifong term debt that has been reclassified pregented together with curr
liabilities amounts to $289,954. The Company haiked waivers for minimum asset cover, as defihgdeach bank, and ott
covenants from two of its lenders and is in negioties with its remaining lenders to obtain waivensd restructure the de
Management expects that the lenders will not denmaydnent of the loans before their maturity, preddhat the Company pays I«
installments and accumulated or accrued interetteasfall due under the existing credit facilitiddanagement plans to settle the |
interest and scheduled loan repayments with egisiash reserves, cash generated from operationgraoeeds of an equity offering
at the market sales which will be initiated duritthg second half of 2009. Management does not expattexisting cash resen
together with cash generated from the operationh®fvessels owned or operated by the Company suffigient to repay the tot
balance of loans in default if such debt is acegést by the lenders. Management believes that gl®@99 the Company may be
breach of covenants relating to minimum liquidig defined by each bank. However, it is manageméelief that banks will n
accelerate their loan repayments as long as Icstaliments are paid on time. Nevertheless, durid@92we expect to be in breact
covenants relating to the minimum liquidity and EBIA as defined by each bank.

The consolidated financial statements have begraped assuming that the Company will continue gsilag concern. Accordingly, t
financial statements do not include any adjustmeelating to the recoverability and classificatioh recorded asset amounts
amounts and classification of liabilities, or arther adjustments that might result should the Caomgze unable to continue as a g¢
concern, except for the current classification ebttdiscussed in Note 12.
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

4.  Segment Reporting:

The following tables present segment results feryibars ended December 31, 2007 and 2008 resggctive

Drybulk Unallocated

Year ended December 31, 2007 Tanker Fleet Fleet () Total
REVENUES:

Revenues 248,94 1,90z 1,41: 252,25¢
EXPENSES:

Voyage expenses 59,25 161 - 59,41
Charter hire expense 94,11¢ - - 94,11¢
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaseliclessels (15,610 - - (15,610
Other vessel operating expenses 67,22¢ 68¢ - 67,91«
Dry-docking costs 25,09/ - = 25,09/
Depreciation 26,56( 84¢ - 27,40¢
Sub-Manager fees 1,821 7 = 1,82¢
Other general and administrative expenses 22,72¢ 267 - 22,99¢
Foreign currency gains (losses), net - - 17¢ 17¢€
Gain on sale of vessels (1,967 - - (1,96))
Operating income (loss) (30,285 (70) 1,237 (29,119
Interest and finance costs (17,469 (2,059 - (19,519
Segment income (loss) (47,749 (2,129 1237 (48,636
Fair value change of financial instruments (3,709
Interest income 3,24¢
Other, net 16
Net Loss (49,076

(1) Unallocated amounts relate to the drybulk visssemortization of the fair value of below market tirolearter contracts acquired
$1,413 less the foreign currency losses, net o6$Ihese amounts are unallocated as they are cloded in the financial informati
used by the chief operating decision maker to atlethe Company’s resources.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
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4. Segment Reporting-(continued):

Drybulk Unallocated

Year ended December 31, 2008 Tanker Fleet Fleet () Total
REVENUES:

Revenues 163,99! 71,59( 21,79¢ 257,38(
EXPENSES:

Voyage expenses 34,21t 4,441 - 38,65¢
Charter hire expense 53,68¢ - - 53,68¢
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaselmclessels (18,707 - - (18,707
Other vessel operating expenses 56,27: 10,84: - 67,11«
Dry-docking costs 9,45( 58€ = 10,03¢
Depreciation 13,86 18,797 - 32,66¢
Sub-Manager fees 1,09¢ 79 (16) 1,15¢
Other general and administrative expenses 22,45¢ 7,85¢ - 30,31«
Foreign currency gains (losses), net - - (85) (85)
Gain on sale of vessels (21,34) 2,16¢ - (19,179
Operating income 13,00: 26,820 21,89¢ 61,72:
Interest and finance costs (11,889 (13,87¢) - (25,769
Segment income 1,11¢ 12,94 21,89¢ 35,95¢
Fair value change of financial instruments (12,029
Interest income 1,831
Other, net (127
Net Income 25,63¢

(1) Unallocated amounts relate to the drybulk visssenortization of the fair value of below markiete charter contracts acquired of
$21,795, the management fees related to the mamagerthird party vessels of $16 less the foragrrency gains, net of $85. These
amounts are unallocated as they are not includétkeifinancial information used by the chief opergdecision maker to allocate the
Company's resources.

During 2008, 17% of the Company's revenues derika@d time charter agreement®uring 2006 and 2007 two charterers, relating
to the Tanker Fleet, individually accounted for mtinan 10% of the Company's revenues and durin§ 208 charterer, relating only
the Tanker Fleet, individually accounted for mdrart 10% of the Company's revenues as follows:

Charterer Year Ended December 31,
2006 2007 2008
A 11% -
B 29% 23% 17%
C - 10%
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Segment Reporting-(continued):

A reconciliation of segment assets, liabilities arash flows to amounts presented in the consotidbtdance sheets and cash 1
statements is as follows for the years ended Deeefth 2007 and 2008 respectively:

Unallocated

Year ended December 31, 2007 Tanker Fleet Drybulk Fleet () Total

Trade accounts receivable, net 14,86 317 15,18¢
Vessel held for sale 46,26¢ 46,26¢
Vessels, net 355,22¢ 198,66 553,89
Long-term debt (2) 305,81¢ 133,06¢ 438,88«
Total assets at December 31, 2007 504,14" 223,18¢ 49,58¢ 776,91°
Cash paid for vessels 187,36( 167,68! - 355,04!

(1) Unallocated mainly relates to cash and caslvatpnts (including restricted cash) of $41,566 atiter fixed assets of $5,711, which
are not allocated to individual segments.

(2) Current and long-term portion of long term date $107,488 and $331,396, respectively.

Drybulk Unallocated
Year ended December 31, 2008 Tanker Fleet Fleet Q) Total
Trade accounts receivable, net 4.41¢ (210 - 4,20¢
Vessels, net 79,05¢ 335,45¢ - 414,51!
Current portion of long-term debt 165,96! 176,51 - 342,47¢
Total assets at December 31, 2008 275,93 351,33: 71,112 698,37!
Cash paid for vessels - 118,14: - 118,14:

(1) Unallocated mainly relates to cash and caslvatpnts (including restricted cash) of $61,389 attter fixed assets of $6,545, which
are not allocated to individual segments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
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Transactions with Related Parties:

(@)

(b)

Pyramis Technical Co. S.Aln January 2006 the Company entered into an agmteiméease office space in Athens, Greece,
an unrelated party. The change in office locatthre to necessary refurbishments, took place inl2ctd006. In April and Augu
2006, the Company entered into an agreement withrfig Technical Co. S.A., for the renovation of ttew premises. As
December 31, 2007, the total contracted cost areduttt Euro 2,499 or $3,686 (based on the Dollankexchange rate as
December 31, 2007), out of which Euro 2,855, ingei®f the applicable VAT, or $3,767 (based on Eradlar/Euro exchange re
as of December 31, 2007) was paid up to Decemhe2@®1/ and is included in the $3,872 renovationksoAs of December 3
2008, the total contracted cost amounted to Eu®82pr $4,112 (based on the Dollar/Euro exchange aa of December &
2008), out of which Euro 3,402, inclusive of the@kgable VAT, or $4,555 (based on the Dollar/Euxaleange rate as of Decem
31, 2008) was paid up to December 31, 2008 amicladed in the $4,698 renovation works. The reriomawvorks are included
Other fixed assets, net, which are separately pteden the accompanying December 31, 2008 coratelilbalance sheet and
depreciated over the lease period, which is 12sy

Cardiff Marine Inc. ("Cardiff"):  Both Cardiff and Sphinx Investment Corp. are cdigtbby Mr. George Economou who |
been a related party since April 2008, when weately placed 7.3 million with various investors (8d.6). As of December &
2008, Sphinx Investment Corp. holds approximatedy82% of the Company's outstanding common stockdi€grovides th
Company with chartering and sale and purchase baigkeservices. During the twelve months ended Dbeerdl, 2008, Card
charged the Company $4,245 and $570 for commissmmnegessels' acquisitions, included in Vessels,aml chartering servic
and in Voyage expenses, respectively. As of Dece®bg2008, the amount due to Cardiff was $197 ciiis included in Accrue
Liabilities.

Leases:

LEASE ARRANGEMENTS, UNDER WHICH THE COMPANY ACTS AS THE LESSEE

)

Sale and Leaseback of Vessels:

The Company entered into sales and leaseback ttansain 2005 and 2006 as follows:

(@)

(b)

In 2005, the Company sold the vessels Restlesser8ign, Relentless, Invincible and Victorious amdlized a total gain
$17,159. The Company entered into bareboat chagteements to leaseback the same five vesselspfeniad of seven year$he
Company and the owner/lessor of vessels InvincMetoriou s, Restless and Sovereign mutually agreed to tatmithe bareba
charters, following the sale of vessels to thirdtipa. The termination of the bareboat chartersatrex effective upon the vess
delivery to their new owners, on July 11, 2007, Asig27, 2007, September 17, 2007 and August 14, 2@8ectively. Followin
the bareboat charter termination in August 20084@®4, net of $480 of sale expenses is includedrmo#ization of deferred ge
on sale of vessels in the 2008 accompanying coitsadd statement of operations.

In 2006, the Company sold the vessels FlawlesselBiss, Priceless, Stopless, Doubtless, Vanguaithfiia Spotless, Limitles
Endless, Stainless, Faultless and Noiseless te tmeelated parties (buyers/lessors) for $550,000;hich 90% or $495,000 w
received upon closing of the sale. Simultaneouh ti¢ sale of the vessels, the Company enteredbareboat charter agreeme
to leaseback the same vessels for a period oftéiveeven years with no lease renewal option. Amatheelated party assumec
June 2006 the rights and obligations of one ofltingers/lessors through a novation agreement witbther changes to the ter
and conditions of the agreemer
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Leases-(continued):

Based on the Memorandum of Agreement dated Mar@0®3, the owner and lessor of M/T Faultless agteexll the vessel tc
third party. The Company and the lessor mutuallse@d to terminate the bareboat charter, on Mar¢t28Qa8, upon the vesst
delivery to its new owners. Following the barebahtrter termination, $62, net of $945 of sale egpsnis included
Amortization of deferred gain on sale of vesselth# 2008 accompanying consolidated statementerfadipns.

Based on the Memoranda of Agreement dated Julg@®18, the owners and lessors of M/T Flawless, Mffi€less, M/T Pricele:
and M/T Stopless agreed to sell the vessels tard plarty. The Company and the lessors mutuallgedto terminate the bareb
charters, on September 18, 2008, upon the veshaigeries to their new owners. Following the bambcharters terminatic
$14,182, net of $12,858 and $1,491 of sale expessggain from thaale of vessels, respectively, is included in Aiaation o
deferred gain on sale of vessels in the 2008 acaagipg consolidated statement of operations.

The bareboat charter agreements are accounted fipexating leases and the gain on the sale wasrééfand is being amortiz
to income over the lease period. The deferred gais calculated by deducting from the sales prieecdrrying amount of tl
vessels, the expenses related to the sale andngiedusales price (which is treated as a residahlevguarantee and will
recognized in income upon collection).

The amortization of the deferred gain on sale aabdback of vessels of $8,110, $15,610 and $1&MOthe years end
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectivebepsarately reflected in the accompanying consaiiatatements of operatic
During the years ended December 31, 2006, 20072808, lease payments relating to the bareboatersaof the vessels we
$96,302, $94,118 and $53,684, respectively andeparately reflected as Charter hire expense imthempanying consolidai
statements of operations.

The sale and leaseback transactions entered @06 contain a requirement to maintaiminimum amount of cash on deposi
the Company during the bareboat charter periodciSpaly, the Company maintained consolidated chatances of $25,000 &
$20,000 as at December 31, 2007 and December B8&,r28pectively.

In addition, the Company has agreed with the lessors through a deppeaformance guarantee deed that it irrevocahb

unconditionally guarantees the prompt and pungiagiment of all sums payable by the Company togksdrs under or pursuan
the sale and leaseba c k agreements. The terre pkttiormance guarantee covers the period of deefe
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Leases-(continued):

Following the sale of M/T Faultless, the Compangereed part of the seller's credit, or $1,960. &wlhg the sale of M/T Flawles
M/T Timeless, M/T Stopless and M/T Priceless, themPany received part of the seller's credit, or,380. Following the
termination of the bareboat charters for Limitle&sdless, Stainless, Faultless, Noiseless, Flawl€neless, Priceless ¢
Stopless a portion of the sales price (represeritii¥g of the gross aggregate sales price of theingmgavessels sold and lea:
back in 2006) in the amount of $10,000, has beehh&ld by the buyers/lessors and will be paid ® @ompany not later th
three months after the end of bareboat chartengher upon the resale of the vessels, if earli@ngeéquently, such unpaid st
price was recorded as a receivable at its discdurgkie. The discount will be accreted through defkgain on sale and leasek
of vessels over the period of the bareboat chageeements or through the date of the resale oWéiseels, if earlier. As
December 31, 2008 the present value of the unadéd price was $7,681.

i) Office lease:

In January 2006, the Manager entered into an agreeto lease office space in Athens, Greece, withraelated party. The offi
is located at 1, Vasilisis Sofias & Megalou Alexemd Street, 151 24 Maroussi, Athens, Greece. Theeagent is for duration
twelve years beginning May 2006 with a lessee'®oodbr an extension of ten years. As of Decemider2007, the monthly re
was Euro 120 or $177 (based on the Dollar/Euro @xgh rate as of December 31, 2007) adjusted agrfoallnflation increas
plus 1%. In November 2007, the agreement was andeadé the new monthly rent starting February 2088me Euro 116
$161 (based on the Dollar/Euro exchange rate &eoémber 31, 2008) with all other terms remaininghanged. Othegenere
and administrative expenses for the years endecerdeer 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 include $1,272, 3249 $2,40!
respectively, of office rentals.

In February 2007, Top Tankers (U.K) Limited entenetd a lease agreement for office space in Londdw agreement was °
duration of 9 months ending November 2007. The higriease was $11 (USD equivalent of GBP 5 as afeb@er 31, 2007)
payable monthly in advance. In May 200&p Tankers (U.K) Limited entered into a new leaggeement for office space
London. The previous lease agreement was earlyiriated and therefore the lease was payable up tu#2007The new leas
agreement is valid from June 2007 and shall coetimutil either party shall give to the other onéndar month written notic
The new annual lease is $29 (USD equivalent to @BRs of December 31, 2008) , payable quarterbdivan ceOther gener:
and administrative expenses for the years endeérger 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 include $175, $129%88, respectively,
office rentals.

iii) Future minimum lease payments:

The Company's future minimum lease payments reguoére made after December 31, 2008, relatedet@tisting at Decemkt
31, 2008 bareboat charter agreements and office laee as follows:
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Leases-(continued):

Year ending December 31, Bareboat Charter Office Lease Total
2009 23,20¢ 2,00« 25,21(
2010 23,20¢ 2,00¢ 25,21(
2011 8,104 2,00< 10,10¢
2012 2,967 2,00¢ 4,971
2013 - 2,00< 2,00¢
2014 and thereafter - 8,68( 8,68(
57,48 18,70( 76,18:

On April 3, 2009, the Company entered into an agesd to terminate the bareboat charter of MT Rédest which has been in fo
since September 7, 2005 between Partankers Il amtb® Shipping Company Limited and would have egin 2012. Under tF
agreement, during the third quarter of 2009 the Gamy will redeliver the M/T Relentless to its owsi@nd pay a termination fee
$2,500. In addition to the termination fee the Camphas undertaken to perform certain works onvtssel prior to its redelive
which will involve additional costs. From the datkethe agreement until the date of redelivery thesboat hire has been set at $7
per day and has been included in the above table.

On June 24, 2009, the Company terminated the batearters and redelivered the vessels M/T Fajttiia M/T Doubtless, the M,
Spotless and the M/T Vanguard to their owners gitgting $11,750 in termination fees and expengeaddlition to the termination fe
and expenses, the Company has forfeited its rgghédeive the seller's credit of $10,000 from thgal sale of the vessels, which wo
have been received upon expiration of the baretlwater, and the Company has undertaken to paphéodrydock of the M/T Spotle:
which is currently in progress. The bareboat chasteuld have expired in 2011. Also, the Company vémain the manager of the
vessels until the expiration of their current tictearters, in early 2010, and will be reimbursedh®y owners for all expenses incur
These were the last leased vessels in the Compest's
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6. Leases-(continued):

B. LEASE ARRANGEMENTS, UNDER WHICH THE COMPANY ACTS AS THE LESSOR
i) Charter agreements:
All of the Company's time charters and bareboattela are classified as operating leases. Revenndsr operating leases
recognized when a charter agreement exists, cheateris fixed and determinable, the vessel is madglable to the lessee ¢
collection of related revenue is reasonably assured
As of December 31, 2008, the Company operated evwadssels, of which seven were owned and five Yeaged pursuant to sales
leaseback arrangements discussed above. As of Decedh, 2008, eleven of the vessels were operatigr longterm time charte

and one under bareboat charter.

Future minimum time-charter receipts, based on elessommitted to nowancellable time and bareboat charter contractsof
December 31, 2008, are as follows:

Year ending December 31, Time Charter receipts
2009 89,65¢
2010 53,46!
2011 30,39¢
2012 18,63(
2013 and thereafter 4,87¢
197,02t
7. Inventories:
The amounts shown in the accompanying consolidadéthce sheets are analyzed as follows:
December 31, 2007 December 31, 2008
Bunkers 5,72% -
Lubricants 1,83¢ 79t
Consumable stores 39¢€ 17C
7,95¢ 96¢
8. Prepayments and Other:
The amounts shown in the accompanying consolidaaéahce sheets are analyzed as follows:
December 31, 2007 December 31, 2008
Prepaid expenses 3,01z 1,08
Other receivables 2,567 3,63
5,58( 4,72¢
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9. Advances for Vessels Acquisitions / und@onstruction:

In October 2006, the Company entered into an ageaeffor the construction of six Handymax Produ€themical tankers. The to
contract price is $285,380 and is payable in fivstdllments as follows: 15% is payable upon arrarege of the refund guarrdee, 159
is payable upon commencement of steel cutting, B08ayable upon keel laying, 20% is payable upandaing and 30% upon delive
of the vessel. The vessels' construction is partfadanced from long-term bank financing discusgedNote 12 . The first installmer
for the six vessels of $42,807 was paid in Decer@B@6 and January 2007. The second installmerdlfwessels, the third installme
for five vessels and the fourth installment for twassels in an aggregate amount of $109,228 waid during 2008. The vessels
expected to be delivered during 2009.

The advances for vessels acquisitions / under agigin as of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008&wa/zed as follows:

Construction Capitalized Capitalized

installments  Acquisitions interest costs Total
Balance, December 31, 2006 28,63¢ - 34 11 28,68
- Additions 14,16¢ 20,25( 2,661 26° 37,34
Balance, December 31, 2007 42,80 20,25( 2,69¢ 274 66,02¢
- Transfer to vessel cost / obligations under ehjease - (20,25() - (65) (20,319
- Additions 109,22¢ 3,87: 1,15¢ 114,26(
Balance, December 31, 2008 152,03¢ - 6,56¢ 1,367 159,97:
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Vessels, net:
The amounts in the accompanying consolidated balaheets are analyzed as follows:

Vessel Accumulated  Net Book

Cost Depreciation Value
Balance, December 31, 2006 331,32 (24,900 306,41t
— Vessel held for sale (48,589 2,314 (46,26¢)
— Acquisitions 371,16: - 371,16:
— Disposals (55,639 5,62¢ (50,019
— Depreciation - (27,409 (27,409
Balance, December 31, 2007 598,26t (44,379 553,89!
— Acquisitions 219,93« - 219,93«
— Disposals (371,039 44,39: (326,641)
— Depreciation - (32,66 (32,664
Balance, December 31, 2008 447,16: (32,646 414,51

On December 6, 2007, the Company entered into eeeagent to sell the vessel M/T Noiseless to anlatee party for a considerati
of $48,000. The gain from the sale of $582 wasgaized upon the delivery of the vessel to the bugerdanuary 30, 2008.

During July 2007, the Company entered into an ages to acquire one 2002 built super Handymax, upgr&max, drybulk vessel
51,200 dwt, built in Chinafrom unrelated third party, with an attached tictearter contract. The vessel (M/V Voc Gallant)
delivered to the Company on February 1, 2008 ansl etwrtered back to the sellers for a period ofrit#ths at a daily net rate
$25,650 on a bareboat basis. The purchase prite afessel with the attached time charter was $84,5

During August 2007, the Company entered into ageserno acquire one 2001 built Panamax drybulk Jess&5,928 dwt, built i
Japan from unrelated third party. The vessel (MApiB®) was delivered to the Company in March 2008 entered into time char
contract. The purchase price of the vessel wa0$04,

On April 1, 2008, the Company entered into an agreenersell the vessel M/V Bertram to an unrelatedypéor consideration «
$46,500. The vessel was delivered to its new owaarépril 16, 2008. A los from the sale of $2,169 was recognized upon Vs
delivery.

On May 1, 2008, the Company took delivery of thgbditk vessel M/V Astrale.

On June 23, 2008, the Company entered into an agraeimesell the vessel M/T Stormless to an unrelgtady for consideration
$47,000. The vessel was delivered to its new owarrdune 26, 2008. A gain from the sale of $1,78% vecognized upon vess'e
delivery.

In June 2008, the Company entered into agreementitthe vessels M/T Edgeless, M/T Ellen P., M/T ltless and M/T Endless
unrelated parties for a total consideration of $208. The M/T Edgeless was delivered to its newersmon July 10, 2008, while tl
remaining three vessels were delivered to their nemers early September 2008. A gain from thesessafl $19,439 was recogni:
upon vessels' deliveries.
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11. Fair Value Of Below Market Time Charter:

In November and December 2007 and February 20@8Ctmpany acquired the drybulk vessels M/V Bertrigty Amalfi and M/V
Voc Gallant, respectively, with attached time caadontracts. As a result, the purchase price®f/dssels was allocated between vi
cost and the fair value of the time charter congrdotaling in aggregate $43,259, which is reiddn Fair Value of Below Market Tir
Charter on the accompanying consolidated balaneetsh Following the sale of the M/V Bertram, on iRnd6, 2008, the the
unamortized fair value of below market time chaér$16,140 was writteff to the loss from the sale of vessel. The liapils
amortized to revenues over the remaining periotheftime charter contracts on a straight-line bdsis the year ended December
2007 and 2008, the amortization of the fair valtithe time charter contracts totaled $1,418l $21,795, respectively and is include
Revenues in the accompanying consolidated stateafiengerations. The remaining unamortized fair gatdi amount $3,911 relates
M/T Voc Gallant and will be amortized during thesfiand second quarters of 2009.
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12. Long-term Debt:

The amounts in the accompanying consolidated balaheets are analyzed as follows:

Borrower(s) December 31, 2007 December 31, 2008
(@) The Company 194,36° 60,59¢
(b) Myticas 27,86 -
(c) Litochoro 27,86: -
(d) Imitos 27,86: -
(e) Parnis 27,86: -
U] Noir 27,82¢ -
(9) Amalfi 57,49( 24,57(
(h) Japan llI 47,74¢ 36,81¢
0] Jeke - 28,07
()] Japan | - 46,52:
(9] Japan Il - 40,53
)] Lichtenstein - 24,48¢
(m) Warhol 22,69°
(n) Indiana 16,26¢
(0) Britto 16,26¢
(p) Banksy 16,16¢
©)) Hongbo 9,47¢
Total 438,88: 342,47
Less current portion (107,488 (342,479
Long-term portion 331,39¢ -

(a) The Company:

At December 31, 2008, the Company had a revolvirgglit facility outstanding of $60,926, maturing August 2013, excludir
unamortized financing fees of $327.

() Revolving Credit Facility: At December 31, 2007, the Company had a revolviegitfacility outstanding of $93,000, exclud
unamortized financing fees of $1,538.March 2008, the Company restructured the remghdredit facility by amending the undra
revolver limit from $65,000 to $30,000. Accordinggn amount of $10,000, $10,000, $8p and $5,000 was drawn to partially fine
the construction of six vessels (Note 9), in Mafday, June and September 2008, respectively. InuAug008 and October 2008,
Company made prepayments amounting to $10,000 50@®0, respectively, dueo refinancing of the first and second construc
installment of the newbuildings. As of December 2008, there was no undrawn amount. Commitment fegd up to the la
drawdown were $72 and are includednterest and Finance Costs in the December 31, 2068mpanying consolidated statemel
operations. The revolving credit facility bearseirgst at LIBOR plus a margin (as of December 3082Be margin was 1.25%). 1
applicable interest rate as of December 31, 2088713%.

The facility contains various covenants, includihgecurity value maintenance whereby the markktevaf the vessels and the ma
value of any additional security are greater thaegual to 130% of the outstanding loan and thevaliue of outsta mliing swaps, il
market value adjusted net worth is greater thamgoral to $250,000 and greater than or equal to 8b8tal assets, and iii) EBITDA
greater than 120% of fixed charges, iv) minimunuiigfunds of $10,000 or $0.5 per group vessel aha minimum balance of $5,0
to be maintained in the operating accounts.
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Long-term Debt-(continued):

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inptiamce with the security value maintenance coverélme Company is curren
in discussions with the bank in order to receivévess until March 31, 2010. The outcome of these@$sions remains unknown.

(i) Loan: The outstanding loan of $102,920, as of Decembe327 was repaid during the twelve months endeceBder 31, 200
due to the sale of vessels Stormless, Edgeleskl&rdP (Note 10).

(b), (), (d), (e) Mytikas — Litochoro — Imitos —alPis: The outstanding aggregate amount of loan of $18 é2cluding unamortizt
financing fees of $1,173, as of December 31, 200&s repaid during the twelve months ended Dece®@be2008, due to the sale
vessels Limitless, Endless, Noiseless and Staifidat® 10).

(f) Noir: The outstanding loans of $28,109, excluding unamedtfinancing fees of $283 as of December 31, 20@5 repaid durir
the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, dueetsale of the vessel Bertram (Note 10).

(g) Amalfi: At December 31, 2008, Amalfi had a loan outstandh@24,808, maturing in December 2014, excludingroortize:
financing fees of $238.

(i) Loan: A loan of $24,808, (which is part of the $95,0068n that was concluded to partially finance theuggition cost of the drybu
vessels Bertram, Amalfi and Voc Gallant — the 'K&ulFinancing"), was drawn down o n December 2D,740riginally amounted 1
$30,250), to partially finance the acquisition cost of tirgbulk vessel Amalfi. Commitment fees paid uptte tast drawdown were $
and are included in Interest and Finance CostsdrDtecember 31, 2008 accompanying consolidateginséat of operations. The cre
facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin (fsDecember 31, 2008 the margin was 1.35%). Thdicgtye interest rate as
December 31, 2008 is 2.82%.

The facility contains various covenants, includingasset maintenance whereby the fair market valtleeovessel and the fair value
swaps are greater than or equal to a required pige. As per the initial loan agreement the mimmraquired percentage had beel
at 130% for the first four yearsand 135% from then on until maturity. During 200@ge figures were adjusted to 140% and 1
respectively as a result of waiver received foreabh of the EBITDA covenant, ii) market value &t net worth greater than oreq
al to $250,000 and greater than or equal to 35%taf assets, and iii) EBITDA greater than 120%ixéd charges, iv) minimum liqu
funds of $25,000 or $500 per group vessel. Duri@@8minimum liquid funds were adjusted to $30,88( result of waver receive
for a breach of the EBITDA covenant. No dividerayput in excess of 70% of net income per year afidlividend restriction in ca:
of breach of covenant.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inptiamce with the asset maintenance and the adjusgedvorth covenants. T
Company has received waivers for both breachesyedisas for EBITDA to fixed charges until March 32010, according to loi
agreement amendment dated May 2009. In the caadja$ted net worth, the minimum of $250,000 haslreplaced by $125,0(
Following discussions with regards to a furtherrdase of minimum adjusted net worth to $75,000,bidwek has not agreed to furt
reduce the minimum from $125,000 but they haveswwasl the Company that they will be accommodatingroviding waivers for ar
breaches until March 31, 2010.
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Long-term Debt-(continued):

The loan agreement amendment provides for theviolig: (1) the Company should maintain a pledgedwamof $6,580 which will &
applied against future installments of the bulkearcing starting from August 2009; 50% pro rataiagt the 12 installments start
from August 2009, and 50% pro rata against all iaing installments of the facility including the llsson, starting from August 20i
(2) a restructuring fee of $150, (3) increase inrgimaof bulker financing from 1.35% to 2.50% until March, 2D10, (4) in the case
sale of vessels financed by the same lender 100%eofale proceeds following debt repayment to gygied towards full covena
compliance, (5) in the case of sale of vesseldfinahced by the same lender, following debt repayintee lender to be allocated
amount of the remaining sale proceeds equal tgptbportion of total outstanding loans due to thedkr over the Company's tc
indebtedness, (6) In the case of a successfulindfethe lender is to be allocated an amount (enbidisis of 50% of offering procee
equal to the proportion of total outstanding lodus to the lender over the Company's our totalliteiness (7) Company cash depc
in addition to the pledged amounts, shall be atlegual to $1,500 (i.e. $750 per vessel) (8) Mummliquidity has been redefined
$25,000 inclusive of all pledged deposits withkalhks (9) cross collateralization with facilitiés (m), (n) and (o).

(i) Loan: In May and September 2008, the Company repaidhtie vutstanding loan of $31,000 that was useplartially finance th
acquisition cost of the drybulk vessels Cyclades amalfi.

In April 2008, the Company agreed to extend theunitgtof this loan until September, for which ther@pany paid a fee of $450.

(h) Japan Ill: At December 31, 2008, Japan Ill had a loan outéanaf $37,000, maturing in December 2015, exclgdinamortize
financing fees of $184.

Loan: The loan of $37,000 (originally amounted to $48)0@as drawn down on December 17, 2007 to partfalgnce the acquisitic
cost of the drybulk vessel Cyclades . The loan swdgect to a fee of 0.50% on the loan amount, dfaihe fee was paid in Novebel
2007 and the other half was paid in January 2088.credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plumargin (as of December 31, 2008
margin was 1.30%). The applicable interest ratef &ecember 31, 2008 is 2.6%.

The facility contains various cosnants, including i) asset maintenance wherebyainemarket value of the vessel is greater the
equal to 130% of the outstanding loan, ii) markate adjusted net worth greater than or equal 59 $®O0 iii) book equity (total ass

less consolid a ted debt) to be greater than $000#nd iv) minimum cash balances of $25,000.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inpliamce with the asset maintenance and the adjustedvorth covenants. T
Company has received waivers for both breachesMatich 31, 2010, according to a supplemental agesg dated April 2009.
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Long-term Debt-(continued):

Th e supplemental agreement signed providersthe following: (1) a cash pledge of $ 4,000b® maintained with the lender; t
amount will be applied towards the financing inead renegotiation or cancellation of the existiilge charter agreement od/V
Cyclades. $2,000 of the pledged cash will be reldam December 31, 2009 subject to the above anothey event of default. T
remaining $2,000 will be released on March 30, 2@iM&n that: a) no renegotiation or cancellationtlé existing time charte
agreement will be effected until then, b) no evehtefault has occurred in the respective loanlifgci(2) increase in margin fro
1.30% to 2.50%, (3) Minimum liquidity is reduced$&5,000 from $25,000 until March 31, 2010, (4)ssraollateralizationof the thi
facility with the facility under (1).

(i) Jeke: At December 31, 2008, Jeke had a loan outstandi$@&432, maturing in February 2015, excludingmpsgized financin
fees of $358.

Loan: A loan of $28,432, (which is part of the $95,00@r that was concluded to partially finance theussition cost of the drybu
vessels Bertram, Amalfi and Voc Gallant) was dralemwn in February, 2008 (originally amounted to $3B), to partially finance tr
acquisition cost of the drybulk vessel Voc Galldrte credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plumargin (as of December 31, 2008
margin was 1.35%). The applicable interest ratef &ecember 31, 2008 is 4.54%.

The facility contains various covenants, including i) asset mainteaamhereby the fair market value of the vesseltaadair value ¢
swaps are greater than or equal to a required pi@e. As per the initial loan agreement the mimmrequired percentage had beei se
at 130% for the first four years and 135% fromntloe until maturity. During 2008 these figures wadjusted to 140% and 14!
respectively as a result of waiver received foreabh of the EBITDA covenant, ii) market value agsjed net worth greater thar
equal to $250,000 and greater than or equal to 86¢6tal assets, and iii) EBITDA greater than 126¢4ixed charges, iv) minimu
liquid funds of $25,000 or $500 per group vesselrimy 2008 minimum liquid funds were adjsted to $30,000 as a result of wa
received for a breach of the EBITDA covenant v) tleidend payout in excess of 70% of net income yar and full dividen
restriction in case of breach of covenant.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was notampliance with the asset maintenance and thestdjuinet worth covenants. 7
Company has received waivers for both breachegdiogpto loan agreement amendment dated May 205iissed under (g) above.

() Japan I: At December 31, 2008, Japan | had a loan outstgndin$46,663, maturing in March 2015, excluding moatizec
financing fees of $141.

Loan: The loan of $46,663 (originally amounted to $50,0@as drawn down in March, 2008 to partially finarthe acquisition cost
the drybulk vessel Pepit@ommitment fees paid up to the last drawdown w8Zdhd are included in Interest and Finance Casts¢
December 31, 2008 accompanying consolidated stateofi@perations. The loan was subject to a fe®1a%, paid on drawdowiThe
credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plus a miar(as of December 31, 2008 the margin was 1.10%8. applicable interest rate a:
December 31, 2008 is 3.88%.

The facility contains various covenants, includipgsset maintenance whereby the fair markelueaof the vessel is greater thar
equal to 125% of the outstanding loan, ii) levereag® (total liabilities divided by total assewdjasted for fair market values of vess
is less than 75% iii) Interest cover ratio of nesleghan 2.5 times (defnied as EBITDA divided by interest expense), iv) imm cas
balances of no less than the aggregate of next@hmmf senior debt principal payments and v) Emgsbat throughout the secul
period, the borrower shall maintain in the earniagsount a v erage monthly balances of $1,000.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inptiamce with the asset maintenance and the leverati® covenants. Tl
Company is currently in the process of receivingvess for these breaches until March 31, 2010.
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Long-term Debt-(continued):

(k) Japan II: At December 31, 2008, Japan Il had a loan outstandf $41,000, maturing in April 2013, excludingammortize:
financing fees of $468.

Loan: The loan of $41,000 (originally amourdeo $48,000) was drawn down in April, 2008 to fadist finance the acquisition cost
the drybulk vessel Astrale. The loan was subject fee of $600, paid on drawdowFhe credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plt
margin (as of December 31, 2008 the margin was¥)7%he applicable interest rate as of Decembef3a8 is 6.25%.

The facility contains various covenants, includipgisset maintenance whereby the fair market vafuthe vessel is greater thar
equal to 140% of the outstandit@an for the first two years and 130% thereafigrm iNet Asset Value that is greater than $125,d0)!
Stockholder's equity to be greater than $100,000,i8 minimum cash balances of $25,000.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inptiamce with the asset maintenance and the net aatge covenants. T
Company is currently in the process of receivingvess for asset maintenance clause and minimunasesdt value, until March
2010. In the case of the asset maintenance clthes€ompany has agreed the following minimum regliralue to loan ratios: 10(
until March 31, 2010, 105% until March 31, 20110%d until March 31, 2012 and 120% thereafter.

(1) Lichtenstein: At December 31, 2008, Lichtenstein had a loan aotihg of $24,796, excluding unamortized finandiees of $307

Loan: The loan of $24,796 (which is part of a $39,008npbwas drawn down in August ($10,626), Septemid&32$7,085) ar
November 2008 ( $7,085) to refinance a portionhef tevolving credit facility undefi) above and to partially finance the third
fourth construction installments of the newbuildiBel026, respectively. The loan was subject toeade$293, paicbn drawdowr
Commitment fees paid up to the last drawdown wé4 &nd are included in Interest and Finance Costhé December 31, 20
accompanying consolidated statement of operatibms.credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plusnargin (as of December 31, 2(
the margin was 1.65%). The applicable interestaatef December 31, 2008 is 2.51%.

The facility contains various covenants, includipgsset maintenance whereby the fair market vafuthe vessel is greater thar
equal to 130% of the outstandingdn, ii) market value adjusted net worth greaten thiaequal to $250,000 iii) book equity (total ds
less consolidated debt) to be greater than $100d3@0iv) minimum cash balances of $25,000.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inptiamce with the market value adjusted net wortheoant. The Company
received a waiver for this breach, as well as f@r &sset maintenance clause until March 31, 20ddhrding to a supplemen
agreement dated April 2009.

The supplemental agreement signed provides fofdlfmwving: (1) increase in margin from 1.65% to 292, (2) Minimum liquidity i
reduced to $15,000 from $25,000 until March 31,®@3) cross coll ateralization of this facilityttvthe facility under (h).
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12. Long-term Debt-(continued):
(m) Warhol: At December 31, 2008, Warhol had a loan outstandfr23,143, excluding unamortized financing feE$4x6.

Loan: The loan of $23,143 (which is part of a $121,28&nl that was concluded to partially finance thestrmction of newbuildings S-
1025, S-1029 and S-1031, the Product Tanker Fingcout of which $16,531 was drawn down in Octab@08 and $6,612 wasrd
awn down in November 2008 to refinance a portiothefrevolving credit facility undgf) above and to partially finance the third
fourth construction installments of the newbuildi@¢lL025, respective\Commitment fees paid up to the last drawdown wérke &
are included in Interest and Finance Costs in theember 31, 2008 accompanying consolidated statesheperationsThe loan wa
subject to a fee of $404, half of it paid in Sepbem2008 and the remaining paid on drawdoWme credit facility bears interest
LIBOR plus a margin (as of December 31, 2008 thegimavas 1.75%). The applicable interest rate e3axfember 31, 2008 is 5.41%.

The facility contains various covenants, includipgsset maintenance whereby the fair market vatithe vessel and the fair value
swaps are greater than or equal to a required pge. As per the initial loan agreement the mimmraquired percentage had beel
at 120% for the first four years and 125% from tle@nuntil maturity. During 200 8these initial required percentage was adjust
125% as a result of waiver received for a breacthefEBITDA covenant, ii) market value adjusted wetth greater than or equal
$250,000 and greater than or equal to 35% of eakts, and iii) E BTDA greater than 120% of fixed charges, iv) minimliquid
funds of $25,000 or $500 per group vessel. Durid@d@minimum liquid funds were adjusted to $30,@80a result of waiver receiv
for a breach of the EBITDA covenant v) No dividgoalyout in e xcess of 70% of net income per year and full divilesstriction ii
case of breach of covenant.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inptiamce with the adjusted net worth covenant. Tloen@any ha
received a waiver for this breach, as well as BITDA to fixed charges until March 31, 2010, acdaglto loan agreement amendrr
dated May 2009. In the case of adjusted net wirhminimum of $250,000 has been replaced by $085 Pollowing discussions wi
regards to a further decrease of minimum adjusetdmorth to $75,000, the bank has not agreed tibdureduce the minimum frc
$125,000 but they have reassured the Companyhbgtwill be accommodating in providing waivers oty breaches until March !
2010. In the case of asset cover ratio, the redyiezcentage has been increased from 120% to 12&PAarch 31, 2010.

The loan agreement amendment provides for theviollg: (1) increase in margin of Product Tanker Ririag from 1.75% t
2.0% until 31 March 31, 2010, thereafter the mangith be reduced to 1.75% until maturity of the towhile each of the vessels
employed under time charter party agreements aalkepto the lender for periods of at least twell/2) (nonths and 1.125% per anr
at all other times. Amendments discussed undealég) apply.

(n) Indiana: At December 31, 2008, Indiana had a loan outstagnair$16,706, excluding unamortized financing feE$440.

Loan: The loan of $16,706 (which is part of a $121,28&nl that was concluded to partially finance thestrmction of newbuildings S-
1025, S-1029 and S-1031), out of which $16,706 avasvn down in October 2008 to refinance a portiothefrevolving credit facilit
under(i) above and to partially finance the third constiurcinstallment of the newbuilding 8329, respectively. The loan was suk
to a fee of $404, half of it paid in September&@@d the remaining paid on drawdov@ammitment fees paid up to the last drawd
were $51 and are included in Interest and Finarasisdn the December 31, 2008 accompanying coraelidstatement of operatic
The credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plusnargin (as of December 31, 2008 the margin was%)7%he applicable interest r.
as of December 31, 2008 is 6.17%.
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12. Long-term Debt-(continued):

The facility contains various covenants, includipgsset maintenance whereby the fair market vafube vessel and the fair value
swaps are greater than or equal to a required pxge. As per the initial loan agreement the mimmequired perc atage had be«
set at 120% for the first four years and 125% fitben on until maturity. During 2008, these initiatjuired percentage was adjuste
125% as a result of waiver received for a breadh®fEBITDA covenant as of September 30, 2008nigrket value adjusted net wa
greater than or equal to $250,000 and greaterdhagual to 35% of total assets, and iii) EBITDAager than 120% of fixed charc
iv) minimum liquid funds of $25,000 or $500 per gpovessel. During 2008 minimum liquidunds were adjusted to $30,000 as a r
of waiver received for a breach of the EBITDA cosetv) No dividend payout in excess of 70% of metoime per year and f
dividend restriction in case of breach of covenant.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inpdiamce with the adjusted net worth covenant. Tlenfany has receivec
waiver for this breach as discussed under (m) above

(o) Britto: At December 31, 2008, Britto had a loan outstanding16,706, excluding unamortized financing fee$440.

Loan: The loan of $16,706 (which is part of a $121,28&nl that was concluded to partially finance thestrmection of newbuildings S-
1025, S-1029 and S-1031), out of which $10,023 dvasvn down in October 2008 and $6,682 was drawwndio November 2008 1
refinance a portion of the revolving credit fagilitnder(i) above and to partially finance the third consinrctinstallment of th
newbuilding S-1031, respectivelZommitment fees paid up to the last drawdown wé&rk &nd are included in Interest and Fin:
Costs in the December 31, 2008 accompanying calaeli statement of operatiofffie loan was subject to a fee of $404, half oait
in September 2008 and the remaining paid on drawd®tve credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plusnargin (as of December !
2008 the margin was 1.75%). The applicable inteastas of December 31, 2008 is 4.93%.

The facility contains various covenants, includipgsset maintenance whereby the fair market vafube vessel and theafr value o
swaps are greater than or equal to a required prRge.

As per the initial loan agreement the minimum regglipercentage had been set at 120% for the divstyfears and 125% from then
until maturity. During 2008, these initial requidepercentage was adjusted to 125% as a result iwEweeceived for a breach of
EBITDA covenant, ii) market value adjusted net vaggteater than or equal to $250,000 and greaterdhaqual to 35% of total ass:
and iii) EBITDA greater than 120%of fixed charges, iv) minimum liquid funds of $2B8®or $500 per group vessel. During 2
minimum liquid funds were adjusted to $30,000 agsult of waiver received for a breach of the HBN covenant v) No divider
payout in excess of 70% of net inc o me per yedrfalh dividend restriction in case of breach ofenant.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inpdiamce with the adjusted net worth covenant. Tlenfany has receivec
waiver for this breach as discussed under (m) above
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Long-term Debt-(continued):
(p) Banksy: At December 31, 2008, Banksy had a loan outstanadfii$y 6,706, excluding unamortized financing feE$587.

Loan: The loan of $16,706 (which is part of a $80,00aniohat was concluded to partially finance t hesturetion of newbuildings S-
1027 and S-1033) was drawn down in October 2008ftpance a portion of the revolving credit fagilitnder(i) above and to partial
finance the third construction installment of trembuilding S-1027, respectively. fle loan was subject to a fee of $500, out of w
$150 was paid in July 2008 and the remaining paidi@awdown.Commitment fees paid up to the last drawdown wé&® &nd ar
included in Interest and Finance Costs in the Ddeer31, 2008 accompanying consolidated statemeop@fations. The credit facil
bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin (as of Decar3ii, 2008 the margin was 1.55%)he applicable interest rate as of Decembe
2008 is 7.33%.

The facility contains various covenas including i) asset maintenance whereby the rfarket value of the vessel is greater the
equal to 110% of the outstanding loan for the plreeley period, 115% for the first five years andb®2 thereafter, ii) a Net Asset Va
that is greater th a $225,000, iii) Stockholder's equity to be greaan $180,000, iv) minimum cash balances of tighdr of $25,00
or $500 per group vessel, and (v) Interest cou# td no less than 1.2 times (defined as EBITD#d#d by interest expense) pre deli
ery and 1.5 times post delivery.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inptiamce with the net asset value covenant. The Gomps currently in th
process of receiving a waiver for this breach uvtirch 31, 2010.

(q) Hongbo: At December 31, 2008, Hongbo had a loan outstanafiij 0,023, excluding unamortized financing feE$®14.

Loan: The loan of $10,023 (which is part of a $80,008nldhat was concluded to partially finance the troetion of newbuildings S-
1027 and S- 1033) was drawn down in October 2008:fimance a portion of the revolving credit fagilunder(i) above of th
newbuilding S1033 respectively. The loan was subject to a feg500, out of which $150 was paid in July 2008 #r&lremaining pa
on drawdown. Commitment fees paid up to the laatvdown were $33 anare included in Interest and Finance Costs in theelhbe
31, 2008 accompanying consolidated statement aftipas. The credit facility bears interest at LIBOR plumargin (as of Decemt
31, 2008 the margin was 1.55%). The applicablaésterate as of December 31, 2008 is 7.6%.

The facility contains various covenants, includipgisset maintenance whereby the fair market vafuthe vessel is greater thar
equal to 110% of the outstanding loan for the pieely period, 115% for the first five years and5%2 thereafter, ii) a Net Asse
Value that is greater than $225,000, iii) Stockledkl equity to be greater than $180,000, iv) mimmeash balances of the highe
$25,000 or $500 per group vessel, and (v) Intereser ratio of no less than 1.2 times (defined BETBA d ivided by interest expens
pre delivery and 1.5 times post delivery.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inptiamce with the net asset value covenant. The Gomps currently in th
process of receiving a waiver for this breach uvtirch 31, 2010.
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Long-term Debt-(continued):
As of December 31, 2008 our total undrawn amoudeuwur newbuildings' financing facilities was $1378.
Loans SecuritiesThe loans are secured as follows:

Mortgages over the Company's vessels;

Assignments of insurance and earnings of thegaged vessels;
Corporate guarantee of TOP Ships Inc;

Pledge over the earnings accounts of the \@ssel

Debt Covenants:

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not inptiamce with certain covenants as discussed alavaccordance with FAS
Statement No. 78, "Classification of Obligationatthre Callable by the Creditor", the Company hassified all its debt obligtions a
current at December 31, 2008 as a result of cressull provisions included in guarantees providgdtiie Company to financi
institutions in favor of its subsidiaries. A crassfault provision means that if the Company defaalt one loant immediately defaul
on all loans that contain such a provision.

During 2009, the Company may also be in breacigafdity and minimum cash covenants as a resulisirig its restricted cash.

Interest Expenselnterest expense for the years ended Decembel086, 2007 and 2008, amounted to $$20,750, $15,862%49,64
respectively and is included in interest and firaoosts in the accompanying consolidated statenoéiojzerations (Note 20).

The weighted average interest rates, as of Decethb&008, excluding all swaps, for 2006, 2007 2008 were 5.32%, 6.12% and
4.41%, respectively.

Scheduled Principal Repayment The annual principal payments required to be nadide December 31, 2008, are as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2009 346,90°

Excluding unamortized financing fees (4,428
342,47
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Long-term Debt-(continued):

Interest Rate Swaps The fair value of the interest rate swaps in tt@oepanying consolidated balance sheets are amehsztollows:

SWAP Notional Amount  Period Effective Date Interest Rate Fair Value - Asset
Payable (Liability)
December December
31,2007 31,2008

0) $25,357 4 years June 30, 2005 4.66% ($240 ($270
$11,193 2 years December 12, 2008 4.80% ($701)
(if) $11,193 2 years December 12, 2008 4.80% ($779) ($701)
$11,193 2 years December 12, 2008 4.80% ($701)
(iii) $10,000 7 years September 30, 2006 4.23% ($514 ($1,852
(iv) $10,000 7 years September 30, 2006 4.11% (%461 ($1,812
(v) $50,000 6 years September 28, 2007 - ($3,530 -
(vi) $10,000 7 years July 3, 2006 4.76% ($588 ($1,650
(vii) $15,072 5 years March 27, 2008 3.03% - ($732
(viii) $7,443 5 years March 27, 2008 4.60% - ($468
(ix) $20,000 7 years May 15, 2008 5.50% - ($3,944
(x) $13,359 7 years July 15, 2008 5.44% - ($2,344
(xi) $15,108 4 years June 28, 2010 - - ($1,263
($6,112 ($16,438

In March 2008, the Company entered into two interate swap agreements for an initial aggregatéomalt amortizing amount
$26,239 (swaps (vii) and (viii)), for a five yeaermpd. Based on this agreement, the Company wjllpéixed rate of the thremontt
U.S. Dollar Libor multiplied with the factor 0.9%pannum if the three month U.S. Dollar Libor isvieen 1.50% and 4.84%. In ¢
the U.S. Dollar Libor is lower than 1.50% or higle84%, the Company will pay a fixed rate of 4.60&6 annum for that period.

In April 2008, the Company mutually agreed with bank for the termination of the swap (v).
The then outstanding liability of $7,500 was repaidto September 30, 2008, in varying installmefts 10% of interest.

In May 2008, the Company entered into an interatt swap agreement for a notional amount of $20f60@ seven year period,
order to hedge the exposure of interest rate fatiwins associated with the cash flows on a powiotihe Company's variable rate Ic
discussed under Note 12(j). Based on this agreerttemtCompany received an upfront amount of $1,50@ing the first year tt
Company will receive a fixed rate of 5.25% and pdixed rate of 5.50%. From the second year, the@my will receive a fixed rs
of 5.25% and will pay a rate of 5.10%, if two camnmlis are met: i) the difference between the 10 ¥aao swap rate and the 2 y
Euro swap rate is greater or equal th@ri5% and ii) the 6 month USD Libor is between ¥0@nd 6.00%. Otherwise, the Comp
will pay the 10.85% less 5.75% multiplied by therher of days that the above two conditions arenmett divided by the total numt
of days of the period.

In July 2008, the Company entered into two interagt swap agreements (swaps (x) and (xi)), desttréds followsi) for an initia
notional amortizing amount of $14,654 for a sevearyperiod starting in July 2008, in order to hetlye exposure of interest r
fluctuations associated with the cash flows on di@o of the Company's variable rate loan, discdasaeder Note 12(i). Based on {
agreement, the Company will receive the 3 montiBIR and pay 5.55% less 2.5% multiplied by the ardtof the number of days
3 months LIBOR and the 10 year swap rate is sék@u rangesii) for an initial notional amortizing amount of $158Lfbor a four yee
period starting in June 2010, in order to hedgeettposure of interest rate fluctuations associaftigil the cash flows on a portion of -
Company's variable rate loan, discussed under Latg). Based on this agreement, the Company will pdixed rate of 4.73% a
receive the 3 months LIBOR.
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Long-term Debt-(continued):

With value December 12, 2008, the Company dividedhuhree equal interest rate swaps (divisionaifamal amounts) (swap (ii)) t
interest rate swap agreement with declining notibatances that it had entered into in order togeeits variable interest rate expos
with effective date January 30, 2006, for an ihitiational amount of $ 45,000 and for a periodieéfyears, with a fixed interest rate
4.8% plus the applicable bank margin, in connectiith the loan discussed under Note 12 (a) (ii).

As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, the financiarumsents’ fair values (including the interest rderivative product fair vall
discussed in Note 13) are liabilities of $16,788 &21,438. As of December 31, 2007 $6,105 and 8B0;épresent their current ¢
long-term portion. As of December 31, 2008 the totdbility of $21,438 is current.. As of December 300Z and 2008, the financ
instruments' fair values of $16,788 and $21,438unted $10,676 and $5,000, respectively, represgrkia fair value of the derivati
instrument discussed in Note 13. The fair valuengeafor the year ended December 31, 2008 on tlggrsements is separately reflec
in the accompanying consolidated statements ofatipais.

Other current Liabilities:

Interest Rate Derivative Product In November 2007, the Company entered into anrdsteratederivative product. Under tt
agreement, the Company received an upfront paymiefi8,500 and would have to pay five annual intes/ments on a notior
amount of $85,000. Based on the cumulative perfoo@af a portfolio of systematic foreign exchangeling strategies, the inter
payments would have a minimum floor at 0.00% acdm@mat 7.50%.

On September 15, 2008, the parent company of theterparty in this derivative product, announcedritention to file a petition unc
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code with thetéthiStates Bankruptcy Court for the Southern @isof New York. Soon after tt
announcement, the Company initiated discussions tivé counterparty in order to examine the potésffact of this bankruptcy on t
Company's liability.

On December 30, 2008 the Company signed an agreemiterthe counterparty terminating the interesé rderivative product agains
one-off termination payment of $5,@by the Company. As of December 31, 2008 the Commdassified the $5,000 terminat
payment within its current liabilities representitige fair value of the interest rate derivativedurat as of that date. This payment
made on January 5, 2009.

The termination of the interest rate derivativeduat resulted in a gain of $10,215 recorded underfair value change of financ
instruments (discussed in Note 12), which is sephraeflected in the accompanying consolidatetest@nts of operat ions.
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Accrued Liabilities:
The account consisted of:

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2008

Interest on long- term debt 2,261 2,28¢
Vessel operating and voyage expenses 6,93t 3,25¢
General and administrative expenses 2,71( 1,891

Total 11,90¢ 7,43F

Commitments and Contingencies:

As at December 31, 2008 the Company had underromtish six Handymax product / chemical tankersesiehed for delivery betwe
February and June 2009, at a total cost of $285;B88 remaining expected payments as of Decemhe208B are $133,330 in 2 009.

In March and April 2006, the Company entered inddeSand Leaseback agreements for 13 vessels feriedpof five to seven yea
According to the terms of the transactions, 10%hefgross aggregate sales price (“seller's credi8%,000, has been withheld by
purchaser to serve as security for the due andtpahngerformance and observance of all the terndscanditions of the Company uni
the agreements. Following the aequisition of the four vessels in May 2007, 10%hs unpaid sales price of $20,640, was us
partially finance the re-acquisition. On March 2008,the owner and lessor of M/T Faultless agreed totiselvessel to a third par
The Company and the lessor mutually agreed to textmithe bareboat charter. The Co mpanyduwdd the vessel in 2006 in a sale
lease-back transactioRollowing the sale of M/T Faultless, the Compangereed part of the seller's credit, or $1,960. &wihg the
sale of M/T Flawless, M/T Timeless, M/T Stoplessl W/ T Priceless, th€ompany received part of the seller's credit, at,$30
Consequently the amount that is currently withisltdhe purchaser is $10,000. Not later than threaths after the end of the baret
charter period or upon the resale of the vessethdpurchaser, if earlier, $10,000 will becomegidg to the Company.

In December 2006, the Company and certain of iecetve officers and directors were named as defietsdin various class acti
securities complaints brought in the United Stddéstrict Court-for the Southern District dflew York, alleging violations of tt
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 pitgated thereunder, which were subsequently catesteld under the captidin
re: Top Tankers, Inc. Securities Litigation,Case no. 06-c-3761 (CM), which we refer to as the Putative Ckasgon. On Decemb:
18, 2007, the Court denied the motion to dismissight by the Company and other defendants in cdiomewith the Putative Cla
Action. On or about January 18, 2008, the partezched a settlement agreement in principle whetkbyplaintiff, on behalf «
members of the Class who do not opt out, would disrall claims against the Company with prejuditceexchange for a settlem
payment of $1.2 million. On April 28, 2008, the Cbantered an order preliminarily approving thegwsed settlement and direct
that notice be given to all potential members & @lass of the proposed settlement. The Court eddarhearing on July 31, 200¢
determine whether the settlement should be apprdveal settlement hearing took place as schedufetJadge McMahon approved
settlement and award of attorney's fees to clasesa. The clerk of the court terminated the casduy 31, 2008. The settlement
funded by the Company's directors and officersiriasce carriers.
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Commitments and Contingencies-(continued)

Various claims, suits, and complaints, includingsth involving government regulations and prodwdiility, arise in the ordinary coul
of the shipping business. In addition, losses muage from disputes with charterers, agents, imagand other claims with suppli
relating to the operations of the Company's ves&&lsrently, management is not aware of any suahma or contingent liabilitie
which should be disclosed, or for which a provisétiould be established in the accompanying coregelitifinancial statements.

The Company accrues for the cost of environmerghllities when management becomes aware thabditjais probable and is able
reasonably estimate the probable exposure. Cuyreninagement is not aware of any such claims wtiregent liabilities, which shou
be disclosed, or for which a provision should balegshed in the accompanying consolidatéthhcial statements. A minimum of ug
$1 billion of the liabilities associated with thedividual vessels actions, mainly for sea pollutiare covered by the Protection
Indemnity (P & I) Club insurance.

Common Stock and Additional Paid-In Capital

Reverse Stock Splion March 20, 2008, the Company effected a 13foeverse stock split of its common stock. Thers wa chanc
in the number of authorized common shares of thagzmy.

Private placementin April 2008, the Company privately placed 7,282 6&ommon unregistered shares for aggregate nee@ads ¢
$50,601 with various investors. The shares werd &ml $7.00 per share, which represents a discotiis.5 percent based on
closing share price of $8.28 on April 23, 2008. duty 3, 2008 the Company filed a registration steet on form F3 to register thos
shares, which was declared effective on July 18820

Share Repurchase ProgramDuring the fourth quarter of 2008, the Board ofdaitorsauthorized a share repurchase program up t
million for a share price of not more than $2.50 gfeare for the duration of one year.

Share repurchases started during the fourth quaft2008 and he transactions were open market based througNASDAQ unde
Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act.

As at December 31, 2008 the Company, has repurdtaaskcancelled an amount of 396,949 shares frenoplen market at an aver.
price of $1.82. As a result, the Company's comntocksand additional paid-in capital were reduced®yand $727 respectively.

The Company continued its repurchase program Eebruary 3, 2009. During the first two months 002@he Company repurcha:
an amount of 358,601 shares from the open markat average price of $2.02.

All the outstanding shares that have been repuechasder this program are held initially as Trepsttock and are subseque
cancelled. Consequently, the outstanding amouBb8f601 shares was cancelled effective as of FgbAfa 2009.
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Stock Incentive Plan:

On July 1, 2005, January 3, 2006 and July 6, 286 "grant dates") the Company granted restrictedes pursuant to the Compa
2005 Stock Incentive Plan (“the Plan"), which wdsgted in April 2005 to provide certain key ®ns (the "Participants”), on whi
initiatives and efforts the successful conducthef Company's business depends, and who are relsjgoftgi the management, gro
and protection of the Company's business, withrtices to: (a) enteinto and remain in the service of the Company, angany"
subsidiary, or Company's joint venture, (b) acqairgroprietary interest in the success of the Comp@) maximize their performan
and (d) enhance the long-term pe rformance of tbengany (whether directly or indirectly) through anhking the longermr
performance of a Company subsidiary or Companyt jeémture. The granted shares have no exercise prid constitute a bonus
nature.

On January 3, 2006, the Company's Board of Diredttentified 29 key persons (including the Compsu@EO and other 8 officers ¢
independent members of the Board) to whom sharesstificted common stock of the Company were gdarier this purpose 4,66¢
new shares were granted, out of which 26,666 shagees granted to the Company's CEO, 12,666 shar8fficers and independ:
members of the Board and the remaining 2,334eshaere granted to 20 employees. From the totdl5¢00 shares gramtd tc
officers, independent members of the Board and eyels, 366 shares were forfeited prior to the ngsdate.

On July 6, 2006, the Company's Board of Directdemntified 60 key persons (including the CompanyEOCand other 8 officers a
independent members of the Board) to whom shares of réstficommon stock of the Company were granted. lismurpose 106,6!
new shares were granted, out of which 73,750 shaees granted to the Company's CEO, 22,666 shar8wfficers and independ:
me m bers of the Boardand the remaining 10,250 shares were granted tenfdloyees. From the total of 32,916 shares gratu
officers, independent members of the Board and eyegls, 916 shares were forfeited prior to the ngsiate.

The "Restricted StockAgreements" were signed between the Company anédnticipants on the respective grant dates. Uttt
agreements, the Participants have the right tawvedividends and the right to vote the Sharesjesilbo the following restrictions:

i. Grantsto Company's CE@he Company's CEO shall not sell, assign, exchangesfer, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dis
of or encumber any of the Shares other than tareay, which is wholly owned by the Company's CEfe restrictions lapse
the earlier of (i) one year from the grant datg(iprtermination of the Company's CEO employmenthwmthe Company for ai
reason.

i. Grants to Other Participants. The Participantsfitefs, independent members of the Boardi Company's employees) shall
sell, assign, exchange, transfer, pledge, hypotberaotherwise dispose of or encumber any of therés. The restrictions lapse
one year from the grant date conditioned upon theidpant's continued employment with the Compénayn the date of tf
agreement (i.e. July 1, 2005, January 3, 2006ulgra]l 2006) until the date the restrictions laftbe "restricted period™).

As the shares granted to the Company's CEO doamtin any future service vesting conditions, alths shares are conside
vested shares on the grant date.

On the other hand, in the event another Participarhployment with the Company terminates for aagson before the end of
restricted period, that Participant shall forfditraghts to all Shares that have not yet vesteafasuch date of termination. Divider
earned during the restricted period will not baune¢d to the Company, even if the unvested shaeeslimately forfeited. As the
Shares granted to other Participants contain aiased service vesting condition, such sharesarsidered nomvested shares on
grant date.

On July 11, 2007, the Company granted 213,333ice=dr shares pursuant to the Plan. Of the 213,388 shares granted, 113,
shares were granted to 6 Directors and the rentat®,000 shares were granted tofficers and employees. From the total of 213
shares granted to officers, independent membertheofBoard and employees, 13,432 shares were ffeltring the year end
December 31, 2008.
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Stock Incentive Plan-(continued):

The shares will vest proportionally over a peridddoyears in equal installments. The following psdens apply for the followin
categories: i) Executive Directorst case of change of control or termination of esgpient contract shares will immediately vest, '
the exception of voluntary resignation or termioatiof employment for cause, in which event the ehawill be forfeited; ii)_Non
executive Directorsin case of change of control or a director, ceaginige a director, shares will vest, with the exiepof voluntan
resignation or dismissal for cause, in which evbatshares will be forfeited; iii) Officers and eloyees:In case of change of control
termination of employment, shares will vest, witte texception of voluntary resignation or terminatf employment for cause,
which event the shares will be forfeited.

The fair value of each share on the grant date$28<97. The initial fair value of the narested shares granted amounted to $5,11
will be recognized as compensation expense in theerOgeneral and administrative expenses of thesalmtated statements
operations over the four-year vesting period quigra sixteen equal installments.

On January 22, 2008, the Company granted 197,54fated shares pursuant to the Plan. These Shemesgranted to two officers &
employees and proportionally vest over a periodoof years in equal annual installmersom the total of 197,560 shares, 25,
shares were forfeited during the year ended DeceBhe2008In the event of change of control or terminatioreaiployment, shar
will vest, with the exception of voluntary resigiwat or termination of employment for cause, in whavent the shares will be forfeit
The fair value of each share on the grant date$6689. The initial fair value, of the narested shares granted amounted to $1,32
will be recognized as compensation expense in @#ner general and administrative expenses" in thesaidated statements
operations over the four-year vesting period.

On July 1, 2008, the Board of Directors of the Campapproved the increase of the number of shaakahble for issuance under
Plan, by 1,000,000 shares. Of the new 1,000,08feshmade available by the Board of directors, @Drestricted shares were grai
to the Company's CEO. The restrictions on the shgranted to the CEO schedule 125,000 sharesedted on the grant date and
remainder of the shares to be vested over a pefitkdree years in equal annual installments begmmine year from the grant d:
However, as the shares granted to the Company's @&E@ot contain any future service vesting condgjoall such shares i
considered vested shares on the grant date. Tihealaie of each share on the grant date was $6talng an aggregate of $3,100
was recognized as compensation expense in "Othreargleand administrative expenses” in the condepsedolidated statement
operations in the third quarter of 2008. In additithe Board of Directors of the Company approvesigranting of cash compensa
of Euro 500 or $794 to be distributed to the ConyfmBExecutive Directors, excluding the Company'©OC®&hich has been includec
"Other general and administrative expenses" otthesolidated statements of operations for the ggded December 31, 2008.

On July 10, 2008, the Company granted to an off&;@866 restricted shares pursuant to the Planshibees will vest over a period ¢
months. The fair value of each share on the grate @as $5.15. The initial fair value, before aasfditure, of the norvested shar
granted amounted to $14 and was recognized as cwajien expense in the "Other general and admatistr expenses” in t
consolidated statements of operations over thensimth vesting period.

On September 2, 2008, the Company granted to &eoft,666 restricted shares pursuant to the Hlaa.shares will vest over a per
of 6 months. The fair value of each share on tlentgdate was $5.08. The initial fair value, befarg forfeiture, of the nomeste:
shares granted amounted to $13 and will be recedras compensation expense in the "Other genedah@ministrative expenses"
the consolidated statements of operations ovesitamonth vesting period.

On September 2, 2008, the Company granted to atogeg 10,000 restricted shares pursuant to the. Fla@ shares will vest ove
period of 3 years. The fair value of each sharahengrant date was $5.08. The initial fair valuetlté nonvested shares gran
amounted to $51 and will be recognized as compiamseakpense in the "Other general and adminiseatixpenses" in the consolide
statements of operations over the three-year \@eptniod.

On September 2, 2008, the Company granted to theexecutive directors 375,000 restricted shares jpmtsto the Plan. The sha
will vest over a period of 5 years. The fair vabfeesach share on the grant date was $5.08.Thalifdir value of the norested shari
granted amounted to $1,905 and will be recognizedaenpensation expense in the "Other general amihadrative expenses" in t



consolidated statements of operations over theyfear vesting period.

On September 4, 2008, the Company's CEO waivedidtis to receive pursuant to his employment contreith the Company thr
years' annual base salary in the event of a changentrol of the Company in exchange for receivind72,438 shares, which

restricted shares and which will vest in the ewansuch change of control. Consequently, the corsgion expense for these sh
will not be recognized until the vesting becomesbable. In addition, the dividends that might belaed in the future on those sh:
will be recognized in the consolidated financishtstments as additional compensation expense incahsolidated statement
operations, since the vesting period of those shiarmdefinite. The fair value of each Share anghant date was $5.23.

All share amounts have been adjusted for the ¥&se stock split effected on March 20, 2008.

A summary of the status of the Company's vestednand/ested shares as of December 31, 2008 and moveleng the years end
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, is presentetbelo
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17.  Stock Incentive Plan-(continued):

Weighted average grant

Number of non-vested date fair value per

shares non-vested share
As of December 31, 2007 213,333 $23.97
Granted in 2008 2,060,331 $5.34
Vested in 2008 (157,078) $14.56
Forfeited in 2008 (39,322) $12.59
As of December 31, 2008 2,077,264 $6.42

Number of vested shares

As of December 31, 2007 229,917
Granted in 2008 500,000
Non-vested shares granted in 2007 and 2008, vestéuyd2008 157,078
As of December 31, 2008 886,995

The compensation expense recognized in the inghesyended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 was5$31$935 and $5,116 anc
included in the Other general and administrativpesises in the consolidated statements of operatfhsef December 31, 2008, -
total unrecognized compensation cost related tewested share awards is $5,268, which is expected tecognized by September
2013.

The total fair value of shares vested during theryended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 wa845%378, $3,770 respectively.

The dividends declared on shares granted undePltreare recognized in the consolidated finand&tkements as a charge to reta
earnings.

The Company estimates the future forfeitures of meated shares to be immaterial. The Company Wwilyever, reevaluate th
reasonableness of its assumption at each repqéirgd.

The amount of dividends on the granted sharesgrezed as a charge to retained earnings, is pregémthe following table:

Type of Quarterly Special Total Dividends

Shares Dividend Dividend Paid in year ended

granted per share per share December 31, 2006
\Vested 0.63 22.50 2,082
Non-vested 0.63 22.50 807

No dividends were paid in the years ended Dece@be?007 and 2008.
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Earnings (loss) Per Common Share:

All shares issued (including norested shares issued under the Company's 2005 Bimektive Plan) are the Company's common ¢
and have equal rights to vote and participate wddnds. However, for the purposes of calculatingid earnings per share, such non-
vested shares are not considered outstandingthetiime-based vesting restrictions have lapsed.

For purposes of calculating diluted earnings pearestthe denominator of the diluted earnings perestalculation includes t
incremental shares assumed issued under the tyestegck method weighted for the period the mested shares were outstanding,
the exception of the 1,472,438 shares, grantededCompany's CEO, which will vest in the eventloinge of control. Consequen
those shares are excluded from the diluted EPSileditoen.

The components of the calculation of basic andt@dearnings per share for the years ended Dece3ih@006, 2007 and 2008 ar¢
follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2007 2008
Net Income (loss) as reporte $ (11,009 $ (49,07¢) $ 25,63¢
Less: Dividends declared during the year for nested share (807) = >
Net income (loss) available to common sharehol $ (11,819 $ (49,076 $ 25,63¢
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic 10,183,42. 11,986,85 25,445,03
Add: Dilutive effect of non-vested shares - - -
Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted 10,183,42 11,986,85 25,445,03
Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted $ (1.1¢) $ (4.09 $ 1.01

For the years ended December 31 2006, 2007 and 26(856, 213,333 and 2,077,264, shares respagtiviich constitute the numk
of nonvested shares as at each of the year end as maderthe table under Note 17 above, were not deduin the computation
diluted earnings per share because to do so wawe been antidilutive for the periods presented.
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Voyage and Other Vessel Operating Expenses:

The amounts in the accompanying consolidated stattsrof operations are as follows:

Voya ge Expenses

Port charges
Bunkers
Commissions

Total

Other Vessel Operating Expenses

Crew wages and related costs
Insurance
Repairs and maintenance
Spares and consumable stores
Taxes (Note 21)

Total

Interest and Finance Costs:

Year Ended December 31,

The amounts in the accompanying consolidated s&ategmof operations are analyzed as follows:

Interest on long- term debt (Note 12)
Less: Capitalized interest (Note 9)
Interest on capital leases (Note 6)
Commitment fees

Bank charges

Amortization and write- off of financing fees

Total

2006 2007 2008
11,26¢ 15,47 5,371
33,937 36,861 23,871
10,14¢ 7,074 9,40z
55,35: 59,41« 38,65¢

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2007 2008

26,91¢ 27,721 26,67:
7,00( 6,191 7,21(
16,33( 18,75¢ 19,791
15,66¢ 15,177 13,29
165 67 14€
66,08 67,914 67,11«
Year Ended December 31,

2006 2007 2008

21,37: 19,22 22,14:
(34) (2,66)) (3,879

- - 1,21¢

392

1,15¢ 87E 752
4,53¢ 2,081 5,131
27,03( 19,51¢ 25,76¢
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Income Taxes:

Marshall Islands , Cyprus and Liberia do not is®@ tax on international shipping income. Under ldtws of Marshall Islands
Cyprus and Liberiathe countries of the companies' incorporation\astels' registration, the companies are sulgagtdistration ar
tonnage taxes, which have been included in vesgadsating expenses in the accompanying consotiddastements of operations.

Pursuant to the United States Internal Revenue Cod#986, as amended (the "Code"), U.S. source incanre the internation
operations of ships is generally exempt from UaR.it the company operating the ships meets bothefollowing requirements,d)
the Company is organized in a foreign country tirahts an equivalent exception to corporationsegal in the United States and
either (i) more than 50% of the value of the Conymstock is owned, directly or indirectly, by imdiuals who a e "residents" of tt
Company's country of organization or of anotheeiign country that grants an "equivalent exemptimntorporations organized in
United States (50% Ownership Test) or (ii) the Camys stock is "primarily and regularly traded aan established securities marl
in its country of organization, in another countimat grants an "equivalent exemption" to Unitedt&tacorporations, or in the Unii
States (Publicly-Traded Test).

Underthe regulations, a Company's stock will be congiddp be "regularly traded" on an established sgesimarket if (i) one ¢
more classes of its stock representing more thapeb€ent of its outstanding shares, by voting poavet value, is listed on the mat
and is traded on the market, other than in miniguantities, on at least 60 days during the taxgbée; and (ii) the aggregate numbe
shares of stock traded during the taxable yearlsaat 10% of the average number of shares ofttiek outstanding during the taxe
year.

The Marshall Islands, Cyprus and Liberia, the idSons where the Company and its shipning subsidiaries are incorporated, g
an "equivalent exemption" to United States corponst Therefore, the Company is exempt from Unféates federal income taxat
with respect to U.S.-source shipping income ifeitthe 50% Ownership Test or the Publighaded Test is met. The Company belit
that for periods prior to its initial public offexy in July 2004, it satisfied the 50% OwnershiptT&he Company also believes that
periods subsequent to its initial public offeririgsatisfies the Publicly-raded Test on the basis that more than 50% ofdhee of it
stock is primarily and regularly traded on the NapdNational Market and, therefore, the Company igmdubsidiaries are entitled
exemption from U.S. federal income tax, in respé¢heir U.S. source shipping income.

Financial Instruments:

The principal financial assets of the Company cxinsf cash on hand and at banks and accounts adteidue from charterers. 1
principal financial liabilities of the Company castsof | ongterm bank loans, accounts payable due to suppligexest rate swi
agreements and an interest rate derivative product.

(&) Interest rate risk: The Company's interest rates and long-term lopayment terms are described in Note 12.

Concentration of Credit risk: Financial instruments, which potentially subjdat Company to significant concentrations of ci
risk, consist principally of cash and trade acceueiceivable. The Company places its temporary gasfstments, consistig
mostly of deposits, with high credit qualified fim@al institutions. The Company performs periodialeations of the relative cre
standing of those financial institutions with whiitlplaces its temporary cash investments. The Gomimits its credit risk witt
accounts receivable by performing ongoing cred#leations of its customers' financial condition ayeherally does not requ
collateral for its accounts receivable.
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22.

Financial Instruments-(continued):

(c) Fair value : The carrying values of cash and cash equivalentsumnts receivable and accounts payable are reasoestieate
of their fair value due to the short-term naturehase financial instruments. The fair value ofgaéerm bank loans discussec
Note 12 bearing interest at variable interest rafgsroximat es the recorded value. The carrying value of therést rate swe
agreements and the interest rate derivative prodycesents their fair value as the fair valuenesties the amount the Comp
would have paid, had the interest rate swap agnmetsngnd the interest rate derivative product been terteshan the balan

sheet date

The estimated fair values of the Company's findriegruments, seen below, equal carrying values.

@)
(ii)

(iii)
(iv)
V)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)
()

SWAP  Notional Amount  Period
$25,357 4 years
$11,193 2 years
$11,193 2 years
$11,193 2 years
$10,000 7 years
$10,000 7 years
$50,000 6 years
$10,000 7 years
$15,072 5 years

$7,443 5 years
$20,000 7 years
$13,359 7 years
$15,108 4 years

(xi)

Effective Date

June 30, 2005
December 12, 2008
December 12, 2008
December 12, 2008

September 30, 2006

September 30, 2006

September 28, 2007
July 3, 2006

March 27, 2008

March 27, 2008

May 15, 2008

July 15, 2008

June 28, 2010
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Interest Rate
Payable

4.66%
4.80%
4.80%
4.80%
4.23%
4.11%

4.76%
3.03%
4.60%
5.50%
5.44%

Fair Value - Asset

(Liability)
December December
31, 2007 31, 2008
($240 ($270
($701)
($779) ($701)
($701)
($514 ($1,852
($461 ($1,812
($3,530 -
($588 ($1,650
- ($732
- (%468
= ($3,944
- ($2,344
= ($1,263
($6,112 (916,438
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TOP SHIPS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2008
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollarsexcept share and per share data, unless otherwisiated)

Financial Instruments-(continued):

The fair value of the Company's credit facilitiexs (further discussed in Note 12) is estimated basedurrent rates offered to
Company for similar debt of the same remaining mis. The carrying value approximates the fairkeavalue for the variable re
loans. The fair value of the Company's financialtrimments, is the estimated amount the Companydypay to terminate the rela
agreements at the reporting date, taking into aticourrent interest rates and the current creditthiness of the Company and
counter-parties.

The Company follows SFAS No. 157, which becamectiffe on January 1, 2008, applies to financial @saerd liabilities and also non-
financial assets and liabilities that are being sneaed and reported on a fair value basis on remutrasis. SFAS No. 157 requi
disclosure that establishes a framework for meagufair value in generally accepted accounting gipies, and expands disclos
about fair value measurements. This statement esdbé reader of the financial statements to askessputs used to develop th
measurements by establishing a hierarchy for rankie quality and reliability of the informationadto determine fair values. 1
statement requires that assets and liabilitiesezhat fair value will be classified and discloseane of the following three categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active marketddentical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobségvinputs that are corroborated by market data,;
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corrotear&dy market data.

The Company's interest rate swaps are pay-fixegivevariable based on the LIBOR swap rates. LIBOR sveags are observable
commonly quoted intervals for the full terms of th@aps and therefore are considered level 2 it€misthe interest rate derivat
product the Company would pay interest based orctineulative performance of a portfolio of systemdticeign exchange tradi
strategies, an index which was publicly availafilee fair values of those financial instruments dateed through Level 2 of the fi
value hierarchy as defined in SFAS 157 as suchviaines are derived principally from or corrobodat®y observable market de
Inputs include quoted prices for similar assetbhilities (risk adjusted) and marketrroborated inputs, such as market compar:
interest rates, yield curves and other items thatvavalue to be determined.

As of December 31, 2008, no fair value measuremfentassets or liabilities under Level 1 or levek8re recognized in the Compal
consolidated financial statements.

Subsequent Events:

(a) Payment of termination fee for interest rate dertixge: On January 5, 2009he Company madepaymeniof $5,000 as a or-off
termination fee in relation to an interest rateiddive product (Note 13

(b) Loan drawdown for newbuildings During 2009, an amount of $17,003 and $14,204 wleasvn down tdiinance the delivel
installments of Hull S-1025 and Hull S-1026, regjwety. Furthermorean amount of $17,044, $12,549 and $18,494 weren
down to finance the fourth and the delivery inst&lhts of Hull S-1027, Hull S-1029 and Hull S-108dspect ively. Finallyar
amount of $13,364 was drawn doto finance the third and fourth installment of HE-1033(Note 12).
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Subsequent Events-(continued):

(©

(d)

()

(f)

()

(h)

Restricted cash changeOn January 9, 2009, t he Company entered into plemgntal agreement relevant ttee sale ar
leaseback transactionhancial covenants. Specifically, it was agreedtth minimum cash of $5,000 shall be maintaine
deposit by the Company during the bareboat ch@eeod. As at December 31, 2008, the Company wasi red to maintai
consolidated cash balances of $20,in connection with these financial covena(Note 6).

Share buybackDuring 2009, the Company repurchased an amourb&681 shares from the open market at an averacge qifrd
2.02. The shares repurchased under the buybackapnagf 358,601 were cancelled effective on Febr@éry2009

Delivery of newbuildingsDuring 2009, the Company took delivery of five adtsix 50,000dwt product / chemical tankers f
SPP Plant &Shipbuilding Co., Ltd of the Republic of Korea,faows: On February 19, 2009, the Company toolkveey of the
M/T "Miss Marilena", which is employed on a barebbae-charter for a period of 10 years at a daily rat8f,400. On Februs
23, 2009 , the Company took delivery of the M/Tichtenstein”, which is employed on a bareboat taharter for a period of :
years at a daily rate of $14,550. On March 19, 2809 March 26, 2009, the Company took deliveryhefM/T "lonian Wave" ar
the M/T "T y rrhenian Wave", which are employedahareboat timeharter for a period of 7 years at a daily rat&bt,300, witl
three successive ongear options at a higher daily rate. Finally, ony\22, 2009, the Company took delivery of the M/Trit®",
whichis employed on a bareboat ti-charter for a period of 10 years at a daily ratgbf,550

Renegotiation with charterer On February 25, 2009, tl@ompany agreed with the charterer of M/V AstralenAda Singapor
to lower the daily hire from $72 to $40. In exchanthe charterer prepaid the full hire under the rege though the earliest date
expiry of the time charter, April 18, 20C

Amendment and Termination of Lease Agreemer On April 3, 2009, the Company entered into an aped to terminate tl
bareboat charter of MT Relentless, which has beeforice since 2005 and would have expired in 2048t€ 6). Under th
agreement, during the third quarter of 2009 the gamy will redeliver the M/T Relentless to its owsi@nd pay a termination |
of $2,500. In addition to the termination fee thentpany has undertaken to perform certain workshenviessel prior to i
redelivery which will involve additional costs. Fnothe date of the agreement until the date of reelgl the bareboat hire has b
set at $7,000 per day and has been included iattbee table. On June 24, 2009, the Company teredrtae bareboat charters
redelivered the vessels M/T Faithful, the M/T Ddess$, the M/T Spotless and the M/T Vanguard tortbeiners after payir
$11,750 in termination fees and expenses. In addith the termination fee and expenses, the Compasyorfeited its right -
receive the Seller's credit of $10,000 from theiahisale of the vessels, which would have beerived upon expiration of tl
bareboat charter, and the Company has undertakeaytfor the drydock of the M/T Spotless which is currently in pregs. Th
bareboat charter would have expired in 2011. Allse,Company will remain the manager of these veasatil the expiration «
their current time charters, in early 2010, and & reimbursed by the owners for all expensesriecu These were the last lea
vessels in the Company's fle

New Time Charter: In June 2009, th€ompany's vessel M/V Astrale entered into a timarteln agreement for two years, star
in July 2009, at a gross daily rate of $18,(C
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Schedule I- Condensed Financial Information of Togships Inc. (Parent Company Only)

Balance Sheets
December 31, 2007 and 2008
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars — excaptliare and per share data)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from subsidiaries
Other current assets
Total current assets
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries
Restricted cash
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current portion of long term debt
Due to subsidiaries
Current portion of financial instruments
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long term debt, net of current portion
Financial instruments
Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 20,000,000 shard®rized; none issued
Common stock $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shartherdzed
20,508,575 and 29,901,048 shares issued and aditsjeett December 31, 2007 and 2008
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings / Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
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December 31,

2007 2008
22,54 49,15
394,48: 301,54:
314 68€
417 34: 351,38
518,64( 311,17¢
15,08: 5,081
8 11¢
533,73 316,37
951,07 667,76
10,44( 60,59¢
524,85 302,86:
6,10¢ 5,58¢
3,621 6,62:
545,02 375,66t
183,92 0
10,68: 0
38 41
194,644 41
0 0

20E 282
216,15( 271,05
4 24
(4,951) 20,68t
211,40 292,05
951,07 667,76




Schedule I- Condensed Financial Information of Togships Inc. (Parent Company Only)
Statements of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 200

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars — excaptliare and per share data)

December 31,

EXPENSES
General and administrative expenses
Foreign currency (gains) / losses, net
Operating loss

OTHER INCOME / (EXPENSES)
Interest and finance costs
Gain / (loss) on financial instruments
Interest income
Total Other (expenses), net

Equity in earnings / (loss) of subsidiaries
Net Income (Loss)

Earnings / (loss) per share, basic and diluted
Weighted average number of shares, basic and dilute
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2006 2007 2008
10,64" 9,49: 14,36¢
66 49 (96)
(10,719 (9,542 (14,269
(25,420 (11,269 (6,896)
(2,122 (3,709 (3,709
2,26€ 2,14: 1,25:
(25,279 (12,826 (9,345)
24,98¢ (26,708 49,25:
(11,00 (49,076 25,63¢
(1.16) (4.09 1.01
10,183,42 11,986,85 25,445,03




Schedule I- Condensed Financial Information of Togghips Inc. (Parent Company Only)
Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2007 and 200

(Expressed in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

December 31,

2006 2007 2008
Net cash (used in) / provided by Operating Activits 163,24: (45,569 (77,479
Cash flows from Investing Activities
Return of investment from subsidiaries 398,86( 75,954 243,53:
Investment in subsidiaries (28,687) (129,277) (64,217
Decrease (Increase) in Restricted cash (6,87¢) 0 10,00(
Acquisition of fixed assets 0 0 (112)
Net cash (used in) / provided by Investing Activigés 363,30: (53,319 189,20t
Cash flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term debt 0 10,00( 30,00(
Principal payments of long-term debt (297,25} (34,080 (164,999
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 26,91¢ 98,34 50,60:
Repurchase and cancellation of common stock (739
Dividends paid (217,46¢) 0 0
Financial instrument upfront receipt 0 8,50( 0
Payment of financing costs (63) 0 0
Net cash (used in ) / provided by Financing Activies (487,86%) 82,76 (85,12¢)
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivate 38,67« (16,12¢) 26,60¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 0 38,67« 22,54¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 38,67 22,54¢ 49,15¢
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Schedule I- Condensed Financial Information of Togships Inc. (Parent Company Only)
(Figures in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

In the condensed financial information of the Pa@ompany, the Parent Company's investment in diglvaas is stated at cost plus equity in
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries less eqnityndistributed loss of subsidiaries, distribudrom subsidiaries as return on investment and
return of investment.

The Parent Company's subsidiaries made the folpwistributions to the Parent Company during theryended December 31, 2006, 2007
and 2008:

2006 2007 2008
Return on Investment 98,60¢ 19,45¢ 96,77¢
Return of Investment 398,86( 75,95¢ 243,53:
Total Cash from subsidiaries 497,46t 95,41( 340,30!

The Parent Company is a borrower under the RB8tfaand guarantor under the remaining loans ontitey at December 31, 2008. Refer to
Note 12 "Lon+term Debt" to the consolidated financial stateraémtormation.

The principal payments required to be made aftexeD#er 31, 2008 for these are as follows:

Year ending December 31, 2009 346,90°
Less financing fees (4,428
342,47¢

The vessel-owning subsidiary companies with outhitanloans had restricted net assets amountind@0,375 as of December 31, 2008.
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Item 19.

EXHIBITS

(Note: Current name "TOP SHIPS INC." is used beddtivough documents may refer to prior name "TORNKERS INC.")

Number

11

1.2

13

14

15

2.1

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

44.1

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

Description of Exhibits
Amended and Restated Atrticles of Incorporation O©PTSHIPS INC. (1)
Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of lpaa@tion of TOP SHIPS INC. (2)
Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of lpaa@tion of TOP SHIPS INC
Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of Ipa@tion of TOP SHIPS INC
Amended and Restated -Laws of the Company, as adopted on February 28 28X
Form of Share Certificate
TOP SHIPS INC. 2005 Stock Option Plan (4)

Loan Agreement between the Company and the Royat B&Scotland plc dated August 10, 2004 and supefeed
September 30, 2004 (5)

Loan Agreement between the Company and DVB Banéddltarch 10, 2005(6).

Credit Facility between the Company and the RoyailBof Scotland dated November 1, 2005 (7)

Supplement to credit facility between the Compamy the Royal Bank of Scotland dated December 206 Z8)
Credit Facility between the Company and HSH NORDBANG, dated November 7, 2005(9)

Sales Agreement between the Company and Cantgelritd & Co. dated April 13, 2006(10)

Shareholder Rights Agreement with Computersharedtor Services, LLC, as Rights Agent as of Aug@s2D05 (11)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between KisavospggpCompany Limited and Komarf Hope 27 Shipping
Company dated March 9, 2006 relating to the purelaas sale of the M/T Priceless (12)

Charter party by and between Kisavos Shipping Camppémited and Komarf Hope 27 Shipping Companystation
to the M/T Priceless, dated March 9, 2006 (13)

Quadripartite Agreement by and among the Compaisgus Shipping Company Limited, Komarf Hope 27pphig
Co. and Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. dated MarchZ®6 relating to the M/T Priceless (14)

Guarantee given by the Company to Komarf Hope 2@ty Co. dated March 15, 2006 in connection lia charter
party relating to the M/T Priceless (15)




4.12

4.13

414

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

4.25

4.26

4.27

4.28

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Taygetysp8ig Company Limited and Komarf Hope 28 Shippirg C
dated March 9, 2006 relating to the purchase aledodahe M/T Timeless (16)

Charter party by and between Taygetus Shipping Gomhimited and Komarf Hope 28 Shipping Co. in fielato the
Timeless, dated March 9, 2006 (17)

Quadripartite Agreement by and among the Compaaygéatus Shipping Company Limited, Komarf Hope 2§ging
Co. and Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. dated March2l®6 relating to the M/T Timeless (18)

Guarantee given by the Company to Komarf Hope 2Bty Co., dated March 15, 2006 in connection \tlith charter
party relating to the M/T Timeless (19)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Pylio Shigp@ompany Limited and Komarf Hope 29. Shipping @atec
March 9, 2006 relating to the purchase and satkeoM/T Flawless (20)

Charter party by and between Pylio Shipping Comdamjted and Komarf Hope 29 Shipping Co. in relatio the M/T
Flawless, dated March 9, 2006 (21)

Quadripartite Agreement by and among the Compaylio Bhipping Company Limited, Komarf Hope 29 Skhiipp Co.
and Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. dated March 1®)@fklating to the M/T Flawless (22)

Guarantee given by the Company to Komarf Hope 2pdig Co., dated March 15, 2006 in connection \lith charter
party relating to the M/T Flawless (23)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Vitsi Simggompany Limited and Komarf Hope 30 Shipping @ated
March 9, 2006 relating to the purchase and satkeoM/T Stopless (24)

Charter party by and between Vitsi Shipping Complainyited and Komarf Hope 30 Shipping Co. in relatio the
Stopless, dated March 9, 2006 (25)

Quadripartite Agreement by and among the Compaitgi Shipping Company Limited, Komarf Hope 30 ShigpCo.
and Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. dated March 18)&@fklating to the M/T Stopless (26)

Guarantee given by the Company to Komarf Hope 3pdig Co., dated March 15, 2006 in connection \lith charter
party relating to the M/T Stopless (27)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Parnas@piigiCompany Limited Partankers Il AS, dated Agri200€
relating to the purchase and sale of the M/T Fesdt(28)

Charter party by and between Parnasos Shipping @oynpimited and Partankers Ill AS, in relation lbe tM/T
Faultless, dated April 4, 2006 (29)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Imitos Ship@ompany Limited Partankers 1l AS, dated Agril2006
relating to the purchase and sale of the M/T Neise(30)

Charter party by and between Imitos Shipping Corggamited and Partankers 11l AS, in relation to thi¥T Noiseless,
dated April 4, 2006 (31)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Parnis 8tggpompany Limited Partankers Il AS, dated Agril2006
relating to the purchase and sale of the M/T Stam(32)




4.29

4.30

4.31

4.32

4.33

4.34

4.35

4.36

4.37

4.38

4.39

4.40

4.41

4.42

4.43

4.44

4.45

Charter party by and between Parnis Shipping Companited and Partankers Il AS, in relation to thkéT Stainless,
dated April 4, 2006 (33)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Mytikas @hgpCompany Limited and Partankers Il AS datedilAy
2006 relating to the purchase and sale of the Mifitless (34)

Charter party by and between Mytikas Shipping Camdamited and Partankers Il AS in relation tethl/T
Limitless, dated April 4, 2006 (35)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Litochoripi@hg Company Limited and Partankers 11l AS dafextil 4,
2006 relating to the purchase and sale of the Midl&ss (36)

Charter party by and between Litochoro Shipping @any Limited and Partankers Il AS in relation bhe tM/T Endles:
dated April 4, 2006 (37)

Guarantee given by the Company to Partankers IlinPA&®nnection with the charter parties relatinght® M/T Faultless
M/T Stainless, M/T Noiseless, M/V Limitless, M/V Hless dated April 4, 2006 (38)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Idi Ship@ioghpany Limited and Kemp Maritime S.A. dated Matdh
2006 relating to the purchase and sale of the MYdtl8ss (39)

Charter party by and between Idi Shipping Compainyited and Kemp Maritime S.A. in relation to theTspotless,
dated March 14, 2006 (40)

Quadripartite Agreement by and among the Compatiyghipping Company Limited, Kemp Maritime S.A. dfadrtis
Bank (Nederland) N.V. dated March 15, 2006 relatmthe M/T Spotless (41)

Second Priority Quadripartite Agreement by and agriie Company, Idi Shipping Company Limited, Kempriime
S.A. and Mass Capital Investments B.V. dated Ma%2006 relating to the M/T Spotless (42)

Guarantee given by the Company to Kemp Maritime. 8ated March 14, 2006 in connection with the argparty
relating to the M/T Spotless (43)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between FalarkogatgpCompany Limited and Tucker Navigation Co. date
March 14, 2006 relating to the purchase and saleeoM/T Doubtless (44)

Charter party by and between Falarko Shipping Comphamited and Tucker Navigation Co. in relationtb@ M/T
Doubtless, dated March 14, 2006 (45)

Quadripartite Agreement by and among the Compaalarko Shipping Company Limited, Tucker Navigatioo. and
Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. dated March 15, 208iating to the M/T Doubtless (46)

Second Priority Quadripartite Agreement by and agribie Company, Falarko Shipping Company Limited;Keu
Navigation Co. and Mass Capital Investments B.\eddarch 15, 2006 relating to the M/T DoubtlesB)

Guarantee given by the Company to Tucker Navigafiondated March 14, 2006 in connection with thertdr party
relating to the M/T Doubtless (48)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Pageon Bhigiompany Limited and Comoros Shipping Limitededia
March 14, 2006 relating to the purchase and salkeoM/T Vanguard (49)




4.46

4.47

4.48

4.49

4.50

4.51

4.52

4.53

4.54

4.55

4.56

4.57

4.58

4.59

4.60

4.61

Charter party by and between Pageon Shipping Coynpamited and Comoros Shipping Limited. in relatitmthe M/T
Vanguard, dated March 14, 2006 (50)

Quadripartite Agreement by and among the Compaage&on Shipping Company Limited, Comoros Shippiimgjted
and Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. dated March 1®)@felating to the M/T Vanguard (51)

Second Priority Quadripartite Agreement by and agnive Company, Pageon Shipping Company Limited, @om
Shipping Limited and Mass Capital Investments Bigted March 15, 2006 relating to the M/V Vangud®)(

Guarantee given by the Company to Comoros Shiplpimged dated March 14, 2006 in connection with tharter
party relating to the M/V Vanguard (53)

Memorandum of Agreement by and between Gramos 8igpgpompany Inc. and Starcraft Marine Co. dateddidr4,
2006 relating to the purchase and sale of the Miithful (54)

Charter party by and between Gramos Shipping Cognpram and Starcraft Marine Co. in relation to MET Faithful,
dated March 14, 2006 (55)

Quadripartite Agreement by and among the Compargm@s Shipping Company Inc., Starcraft Marine @l Bortis
Bank (Nederland) N.V. dated March 15, 2006 relatmthe M/T Faithful (56)

Second Priority Quadripartite Agreement by and agntbe Company, Gramos Shipping Company Inc., Stirbtarine
Co. and Mass Capital Investments B.V. dated Mag;2006 relating to the M/T Faithful (57)

Guarantee given by the Company to Starcraft Ma@ioedated March 14, 2006 in connection with thertengarty
relating to the M/T Faithful (58)

Supplemental Agreement relating to the Memorandfifgoeement dated March 14, 2006 relating to th® I8potless
made by and among Idi Shipping Company Limited, Kevaritime S.A. and ICON Spotless, LLC dated JuGe2D06
(59)

Addendum No. 1 to charter party by and betweeishdpping Company Limited and Kemp Maritime S.Aréfation to
the M.V. Spotless, dated March 14, 2006 dated 16n2006 (60)

Quadripartite Agreement by and among the Compatiyghipping Company Limited, ICON Spotless, LLC drattis
Bank (Nederland) N.V. dated June 16, 2006 relatirpe M/T Spotless (61)

Guarantee given by the Company to ICON Spotles§ dated June 13, 2006 in connection with the chagey
relating to the M/T Spotless (62)

Supplemental Agreement relating to the Memorandfifggoeement dated March 14, 2006 relating to th& M/
Doubtless made by and among Falarko Shipping Coynpianited, Tucker Navigation Co. and ICON DoubtlessC
dated June 16, 2006 (63)

Addendum No. 1 to charter party by and betweenrkal&hipping Company Limited and Tucker Navigato. in
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SIGNATURES
The registrant hereby certifies that it meets ithe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdtas duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its Hehal
TOP SHIPS INC.
(Registrant)

Date: June 29, 2009 By: /s/ Evangelos Pistiolis

Evangelos Pistiolis
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
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